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Bell is a restructured and re-energized competitor dedicated 
to returning value to shareholders. 

Backed by a prudent capital markets strategy and a new 
culture of cost efficiency, the Bell team executed our service 
and investment focused strategy to make strong progress 
toward our goal in 2009.

Bell’s goal: To be recognized by customers as Canada’s 
leading communications company.

 The 5 Strategic Imperatives we are executing to achieve it:
 1 Improve customer service
2 Accelerate wireless
3 Leverage wireline momentum
4 Invest in broadband networks and services
5 Achieve a competitive cost structure
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The New Network

Bell launched Canada’s Best Network in November, 
offering 93% of Canadians access to the country’s 
fastest and largest mobile network. Bell’s state-of-
the-art HSPA/HSPA+ network covers more than a mil-
lion square kilometres, offers roaming in more than 
200 countries around the globe and supports the 
world’s most in-demand smartphones and turbo sticks.
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Financial and  
Operational Highlights

BCE subscribers (in thousands) 2009    2008   2007 

Wireless  6,954 6,611 6,311

High-speed Internet  2,867 2,811 2,693

TV    1,982 1,874 1,833

Local telephone 9,788 10,391   10,936

BCE operations

Revenue (in millions)  17,735    17,661   17,707

EBITDA(1) (in millions)  7,089  7,004  6,991

Operating income (in millions)  3,191  2,869  3,479

Net earnings applicable to common shares (in millions)  1,631    819  3,926

Adjusted net earnings (1, 2) (in millions)  1,929  1,811  1,884 

Net earnings per common share  2.11  1.02   4.88 

Adjusted net earnings per common share (1, 2)  2.50    2.25   2.34 

Dividends declared per common share  1.58  0.73   1.46 

Adjusted common dividend payout ratio 65%  32%  61%

Free cash flow (1) (in millions)

 – before voluntary pension funding and spectrum purchases 1,996 2,430 1,960

 – after voluntary pension funding and spectrum purchases 1,456 1,689 1,960

Cash flows from operating activities (in millions)  4,884  5,909   5,730

Capital expenditures (in millions)  2,854  2,986  3,140 

Capital intensity (as a percentage of revenue)  16.1%  16.9%  17.7%

BCE financial position 

Total assets (in millions)  38,050  39,663   38,230

Common shareholders’ equity (in millions)  14,204    14,541   14,462

Preferred shares (in millions)  2,770    2,770 2,770

Total debt to total assets (times)  0.29  0.31  0.30 

Long-term debt to total shareholders’ equity (times) 0.64    0.70  0.65

Market capitalization (in millions)  22,249   20,182   31,930

(1)  The terms EBITDA, Adjusted net earnings and free cash flow are non-GAAP financial measures. Refer to the section entitled Non-GAAP Financial Measures in  
the Management’s Discussion and Analysis contained in this annual report for more details concerning such non-GAAP financial measures, including a  
reconciliation to the most comparable Canadian GAAP financial measures.

(2) Net earnings before restructuring and other and net (gains) losses on investments.
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 Dear Fellow 
Shareholders

BCE entered 2009 with the uncertainty over our own-
ership structure resolved and a firm commitment to 
compete as a high-performance operating company 
focused on returning value to our shareholders.

A revitalized Bell led by President and CEO George 
Cope is vigorously executing a straightforward market 
strategy in pursuit of a clear goal – for Bell to be rec-
ognized by customers as Canada’s leading communi-
cations company. With strong execution of 5 Strategic 
Imperatives across the business, Bell made solid oper-
ational progress in 2009 and met or exceeded all of 
its increased financial targets for the year.

As you will see in the balance of this report, Bell 
implemented its strategy and an ongoing series of 
net work and other initiatives to achieve value creation 
in the midst of a tough global economic environment 
and within an increasingly competitive and evolving 
marketplace.

Bell’s accelerating business performance supports 
a capital markets strategy focused on maintaining a 
strong credit profile with investment grade metrics, 
ample liquidity and sustainable free cash flow. A sound 
balance sheet and ongoing operational progress sup-
porting growth in Adjusted EPS and free cash flow 
allow us to build on our new track record of consistent 
and sustainable shareholder returns.

BCE increased its common share dividend three times 
since Q4 2008, for a total dividend increase of 19%  
in a year; completed a $1 billion normal course issuer 
bid (NCIB) program in May 2009; and, in December, 
announced a further common share buyback of up to 
$500 million to be executed over the course of 2010.

Clearly, Bell’s development is built on a straightfor-
ward operating plan and prudent capital structure, a 
motivated and committed senior leadership team, and 
the hard work of the tens of thousands of Bell team 
members dedicated to delivering a better customer 
experience every day.

And it is supported by BCE’s strict adherence to the 
most rigorous standards of corporate governance, 
ethical business conduct and sustainable develop-
ment. Indeed, Bell is proud to be the first telecom-
munications company in Canada to obtain ISO 14001 
certification for our industry-leading environmental 
management systems.

I would like to personally thank two members of  
the board of directors for the strong guidance they 
have given your company, Paul Tellier and Vic Young, 
who will be departing the board following the Annual 
General Meeting. They have served you admirably as 
directors and as members of the standing committees 
of your board, and they have our sincere appreciation 
for their distinguished service.

We are also proud to introduce Sophie Brochu, 
President and Chief Executive Officer of Gaz Métro, 
who has been nominated for election to the board  
at the Annual General Meeting. I am confident our 
company will benefit greatly from the experience and 
proven insight of such a seasoned leader.

In 2009, Bell accomplished a great deal in a chal-
leng ing economy and increasingly competitive mar-
ketplace, and is well positioned to build on its market 
success in 2010 to deliver the benefit of improving 
results to you, our shareholders.

Thank you for your belief in and support of our 
company and its plan as we move forward together. 
With continued strong execution of this transforma-
tional strategy, the Bell team will cement the reputa-
tion of Canada’s largest communications company as 
Canada’s best.

(signed) Thomas C. O’Neill 
Chair of the Board 
BCE Inc.

THOMAS C. O’NEILL 

LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS
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 Hello  
 Everyone

2009 was truly a transformational year for Bell. It  
was our first full year of execution of our 5 Strategic 
Imperatives, supported by the restructuring and refo-
cus ing of the organization and our introduction of 
multiple game-changing service, network and product 
initiatives.

An intense focus on execution is delivering a better 
Bell customer experience, increasing our competitive-
ness in a relentless communications marketplace and  
driving our ability to deliver sustainable returns to  
our shareholders. Backed by our sound capital mar-
kets approach, strong operational execution in 2009 
moved us forward to achieving Bell’s goal: To be  
recognized by customers as Canada’s leading com-
munications company.

Bell made significant strides as a service provider in 
2009. Substantial investment in customer service and 
broadband networks supported the team’s improving 
execution of our Improve Customer Service imperative, 
placing us on a positive service trajectory.

Our Same Day Next Day service and Full Install pro-
grams drove higher customer satisfaction with service 
teams while reducing our overall costs. Investment in 
new IT and training programs improved call centre 
and store service capabilities, and a new technology-
loaded service fleet enhanced the productivity of our 
field services team. We plan to invest more in service 
pro grams in 2010 to build on our momentum going 
forward.

Service enhancement and broadband network 
expan sion allow us to compete with the best new 
mobile, TV and Internet products in Canadian commu-
nications. Bell turned on the world’s most advanced 
wireless infrastructure in November, offering clients 
access to Canada’s fastest and largest mobile net-
work, full global roaming and the world’s most in-
demand smartphones and other data devices. 

We rolled out new broadband fibre across Québec 
and Ontario, enabling new high-speed Internet ser-
vices for both business and consumers. Wireline  
network enhancements helped Bell grow its share of 

the household – building on our position as Canada’s 
#1 Internet service provider and seeing Bell TV become 
the fastest-growing television service in the country. 
Bell Business Markets maintained its market share and 
won key new customer contracts even in a challeng-
ing business market.

With capital intensity in line with our global telco 
peers, Bell is rapidly expanding our nation’s broadband 
infrastructure. Bell has already announced a bold new 
fibre-to-the-home (FTTH) deploy ment initia tive and 
new broadband product introductions, such as IPTV, 
for the coming year. Bell’s extensive network invest-
ments as the exclusive telecom partner to the 2010 
Winter Olympics in Vancouver delivered Canada’s 
golden Games to the world, and leave a lasting legacy 
of enhanced broadband capability in British Columbia.

Bell’s acquisition initiatives in 2009 rapidly grew 
wireless and residential product distribution with the 
purchase of The Source – making Bell the top commu-
nications retailer in Canada – while our Virgin Mobile 
Canada acquisition boosts our competitiveness in the 
mobile flanker-brand and youth segments.

Executing our cost structure imperative, we reduced 
the cost of debt, cut discretionary spending at all  
levels, aggressively renegotiated supplier contracts 
and undertook broad cost-efficiency initiatives, such 
as the integration of multiple business operations into 
a single, focused Bell Business Markets unit. The new 
culture of cost control at Bell supports our market 
competitiveness and enables us to take full advantage 
of an improving business climate in 2010.

We have work ahead on our journey to achieving 
Bell’s goal, but we made great strides in 2009 thanks 
to the commitment, skill and adaptability of Bell’s 
employees across Canada. It is my privilege to lead 
this re-energized and enthusiastic team as we con-
tinue to move your company forward.

(signed) George A. Cope 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
BCE Inc. and Bell Canada

GEORGE A. COPE 

LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS
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STRATEGIC IMPERATIVE 1: 

 Improve Customer 
Service

Bell is working to provide a better customer experi-
ence through strong execution of our unique service 
programs, such as Same Day Next Day service, enabled 
by investment in new information technology and 
training support for our call centre, field services and 
channel teams. We are seeing positive momentum – 
residential call centre volumes dropped 16% in 2009 
even as we experienced strong product growth, while 
satis faction with our residential help desk agents 
increased by three percentage points to 82%.

We’ve enhanced our field services operations with 
a more efficient, team-based support structure, and 
equipped the team with 2,000 new service vehicles 
carrying global positioning systems and mobile lap-
tops to enhance service speed and employee pro-
ductivity. Equipped with newly branded vehicles and 
uniforms, our field technicians served as true ambas-
sadors of the new Bell as they grew customer satis-
faction with their work to greater than 90%.

The team can move fast too. During the short but 
busy July move period in Québec, Bell team members 
completed thousands of new residential installs, 99.9% 
of them within 24 to 48 hours and much more quickly 
than our competitors. Move periods are critical because 
when customers change their addresses, they have a 
prime opportunity to consider other communications 
service providers too.

Recognizing that complex customer issues, such as 
those related to high-speed Internet service, are bet-
ter handled closer to home, we also began to make 
changes to our outsourcing approach in 2009. That 
includes returning onshore approximately one million 

As the communications marketplace con-
tinues to provide more choices for customers, 
delivering exceptional service becomes 
all the more important in Bell’s efforts to 
increase its competitiveness.

customer service calls previously handled at outsourced 
call centres in India. 

Underpinning our front-line service efforts are the 
ongoing investments we are making in our broadband 
networks and services. Alongside strong execution, 
enhancements to our product offerings contribute to 
reductions in call centre volumes and have dramati-
cally reduced downtime for key clients. In 2009, we 
reduced business customer outages in our core data 
and broadband services by approximately 30%.

When customers come to our stores, they are notic-
ing multiple changes for the better. In addition to the 
bold new branding, customer-friendly store layouts 
and fast-growing product selection, Bell launched more 
than 500 Product Assistance Centres in corporate and 
dealer stores. On-site product experts provide custom-
ized assistance, while new point-of-sale (POS) systems 
and mobile POS devices reduced customer service times 
by 15% in 2009.

Improving Customer Service is Bell’s top imperative, 
intimately connected with every element in our strat-
egy. While we are not yet where we need to be in 
terms of consistent and exemplary service delivery, 
strong execution and ongoing investment in service 
pro grams and broadband networks mean all of us  
on the Bell team can say that service just got better  
at Bell.

Execution of new service programs like Full Install increased customer 
satisfaction – including during the critical Québec move period in July.
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STRATEGIC IMPERATIVE 2: 

Accelerate  
Wireless

In July we significantly enhanced our position in  
the competitive flanker-brand market and fast-growing 
youth segment with Bell’s acquisition of the 50% of 
Virgin Mobile Canada we did not already own and a 
long-term marketing relationship with the Virgin Group. 

Our broadband networks support leading mobile 
services such as our exclusive NHL content partnership, 
offering mobile TV, radio and Internet access to league 
games. Our acquisition of a minority investment in the 
Montréal Canadiens Hockey Club and the Bell Centre 
allows us to leverage the strength of the Canadiens 
brand and content on mobile phones, TV and online. 
And Bell’s exclusive mobile content from seven broad-
cast networks during the 2010 Winter Olympic Games 
gave clients across Canada a virtual front-row seat to 
all the action.

Our acquisition of The Source and its network of 750 
retail stores across Canada made Bell Canada the lead-
ing retailer of communications prod ucts and services 
overnight. As promised, Bell Mobility and Virgin Mobile 
were available in The Source stores in January 2010 
alongside Bell TV and Bell Internet products.

Wireless is an important driver of Bell’s 
growth across both our consumer and busi-
ness markets, and we intend to capture our 
fair share of strong growth in data usage 
and global and inbound roaming.

Bell is executing its Accelerate Wireless imperative 
with heavy investment in state-of-the-art broadband 
networks, new data devices and services that lever-
age our speed and coverage leadership, and enhanced 
client service and distribution initiatives.

In November, Bell launched its new HSPA/HSPA+ 
network, offering clients access to the fastest and 
largest mobile network in Canada and international 
roaming to more than 200 countries around the globe. 
Built around a world-leading all Internet Protocol (IP) 
infrastructure, the new network’s broadband data 
speeds maximize the power of a new range of smart-
phone and turbo stick options for business and con-
sumer clients.

The new network covers 93% of the Canadian pop-
ulation across more than a million square kilometres, 
an area at least four times larger than our major com-
petitor’s at the end of 2009. The new network enables 
clients in urban, rural and remote locations to do more 
with the latest mobile devices, more quickly and in
more places than ever before.

Even though it was operational for just the last two 
months of the year, the new network contributed to 
Bell’s best Q4 gross wireless activations ever and Q4
mobile data revenue growth of 32%. 

Turbo Stick U998

Canada’s fastest and  
largest wireless network 
supports the latest smart  - 
phones and turbo sticks  
for Bell Mobility’s business 
and consumer clients.

The iconic  
Apple iPhone
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Joannie Rochette 
Bell Champion

Joannie Rochette  
inspired the nation  
and the world  
with her Olympic  
medal win.
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 Leverage Wireline  
 Momentum

STRATEGIC IMPERATIVE 3: 

Bell’s broad wireline network and service 
offerings are an integral part of millions 
of Canadian homes and the infrastructure 
on which the nation’s business runs. More 
of Canada’s largest companies and 
organ izations turn to Bell to meet their 
com mu nications needs than any other 
service provider.

We are executing our strategic imperative to Leverage 
Wireline Momentum with investment in broadband net-
works and services, strong execution in the market-
place and enhanced service initiatives. We’re seeing 
clear progress, with solid growth in bundling and over-
all household revenue, improving residential landline 
losses (12.6% fewer lines lost than the year before), 
strong growth in residential Bell Internet subscribers – 
and a Bell TV service that now leads its industry.

In an economy that has impacted business clients 
particularly hard, Bell Business Markets maintained its 
market share with large business customers and won 
key new customer contracts through the year, thanks 
to the strength of our leading IP Multi-Protocol Label 
Switching (MPLS) network and broad range of infor-
mation and communications technology (ICT) services. 
Our business group’s focus on operational efficiency 
and productivity improvement in 2009 will allow us to 
take full advantage of an improved business climate 
this year. 

Thanks to our focus on leadership in the fast-grow-
ing High Definition (HD) television market, Bell TV 
became the leading television provider in the country, 
outperforming the competition on all fronts. In 2009, 
our 113,000 net customer additions were more than 
double the net additions of all our cable competi tors 
combined.

Bell TV now offers well over 100 HD chan nels, more 
than any other TV provider in Canada and with picture 
quality up to ten times better than regular cable. Bell 
TV also provides customers with the best HD personal 

video recorders (PVRs) available, includ ing the only nine- 
day programming guide and expandable recording 
capacity. We increased the pene tration of HD set-top 
boxes to over 40% and PVR penetration to about 30%.

As we entered 2010, Bell TV became the first pro-
vider to offer a Remote PVR service that enables  
subscribers to manage their TV recordings from their 
Bell Mobility smartphones or from any computer with 
an Internet connection. Bell’s television innovation 
con tinues, with the announcement of Internet Protocol 
television (IPTV) service in 2010. A complement to Bell 
TV’s existing digital service, IPTV will further enhance 
the company’s competitive momentum in core urban 
markets like Montréal and Toronto this year.

IPTV and other new services such as Fibe Internet –  
offering the industry’s fastest uploads and download 
speeds of up to 25 megabits per second – spring from 
the ambitious investments Bell has poured into its 
wire line fibre networks. We are deploying fibre  
rap idly to residential neighbourhoods, condominium 
and apart ment buildings, and later this year, to new 
hous ing devel opments across Ontario and Québec. 
The number of Bell customers taking advantage of our 
fibre-to-the-node (FTTN) network was up 46% in 2009, 
to approximately 500,000 customers.

Bell TV became the fastest-growing 
television service in Canada thanks to our 
leadership in HD programming and PVRs.
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Invest in Broadband 
Networks and Services

STRATEGIC IMPERATIVE 4: 

Bell’s broadband networks are the foun da-
tion of our consumer and business serv ices, 
improving the customer experience now 
and enabling competitive growth in wireless 
and wireline services into the future.

We are executing our broadband imperative with  
significant infrastructure investment that will keep  
Bell and Canada at the forefront of the global com-
munications industry. BCE’s capital expenditures were 
approximately $2.9 billion in 2009.

Bell Mobility launched its world-leading new mobile 
network in November, offering our business and con-
sumer clients access to the largest and fastest wireless 
network in the industry, and offering Bell an efficient 
path to the global fourth-generation (4G) high-speed 
wireless standard in coming years.

The new HSPA/HSPA+ network’s all-IP infrastructure 
is built around a fibre core – indeed enough new  
broadband fibre to wrap halfway around the globe – 
ensuring the best wireless experience possible. The 
largest privately funded wireless network in the  
world, the new network’s state-of-the-art infrastruc-
ture deliv  ers enhanced call clarity, better in-building 
coverage and fewer dropped calls, while maximizing 
the capabilities of the latest smartphones and other 
mobile devices.

We also substantially advanced the build-out of our 
FTTN network that puts broadband Internet access 
within reach of millions of homes and businesses. At 
the end of 2009, 2.9 million homes were within our 
FTTN footprint, up from 2.5 million a year ago. We plan 
to cover 3.6 million homes by the end of 2010 and  
5 million homes by the end of 2012. We will also 
expand our fibre-to-the-building (FTTB) program to a 
total of 1,600 new apartment and condominium build-
ings by the end of 2012.

Bell is rapidly advancing the deployment of high-
speed VDSL2 technology, which enables new broad-
band consumer services such as IPTV and Fibe Internet. 
Fibe offers the fastest upload speeds in the market, 
reflecting the shift to an active Internet with the explo-
sion of social networking and online com munities. 
We’ve advanced VDSL2 to 1.8 million homes and plan 
to have 100% of our network VDSL2 capable by the 
end of 2010.

As FTTN reaches critical mass in urban areas, Bell 
has unveiled plans to take the speed and reliability  
of fibre to the next level – directly to the home – in 
areas where it makes economic sense. That includes 
new developments and regions largely served with  
existing above-ground – also known as aerial –  
infrastructure.

Bell has now announced plans to deploy FTTH in the 
Québec City region and to new urban and suburban 
housing developments across our Ontario and Québec 
territories. FTTH will offer con sumer and business  
customers Internet download speeds of 100 Mbps and 
upload speeds of at least 20 Mbps.

Canadian broadband innovation: Bell’s new all-IP wireless network
is the most advanced in the world.



Sidney Crosby 
Bell Champion

Sidney Crosby’s thrilling 
overtime goal won hockey 
gold for Canada – and 
immediately drove the 
highest voice and text 
traffic in Bell’s history.
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Achieve a Competitive 
Cost Structure

STRATEGIC IMPERATIVE 5: 

Today’s extremely competitive commu-
nications environment demands that Bell 
not only invest and innovate to deliver a 
better customer experience, but that we  
do so with the maximum efficiency and 
productivity.

As we execute our imperative to Achieve a Competi-
tive Cost Structure, we are able to devote more of our 
resources to enabling our other imperatives, including 
investment in customer service programs and broad-
band networks and products.

Our cultural commitment to cost control now touches 
every part of Bell, and encompasses efficiency initia-
tives large and small. For instance, we eliminated 
7,000 employee credit cards and all costs associated 
with them in 2009. We have reduced travel, entertain-
ment and related discretionary spending by 17%, while 
increasing the team’s use of the videoconferencing 
and other communications products we provide.

We reduced operating expenses related to wireline 
field services, IT, network and corporate support by 
approximately $100 million over 2008. We renego-
tiated contracts with key IT and outsource suppliers, 
reducing IT and network supply chain costs by 15% 
since 2008.

Working capital has improved through tighter col lec-
 tion of accounts receivable, payables and inventory 
man agement. Bell’s Accounts Receivable balance was 
reduced by approximately $100 million in 2009 and 
Days Sales Outstanding improved by almost five days.

We achieved significant savings by con solidating 
the three Bell teams serving business customers. Inte-
grating Enterprise, Small and Medium Business, and 
Bell West into the highly efficient Bell Business Markets 
group eliminates costs and duplication and greatly 
simplifies our approach to business customers.

Labour costs have been reduced significantly 
across Bell. Since June 2008, Bell has reduced its 
workforce by 5,800 (excluding the additions of The 

Source and Virgin Mobile Canada), primarily in non-
customer-facing management ranks. About 2,500 of 
these reduc tions occurred in 2009, including a further 
5% reduction in management and an incentive offer  
to unionized team members to retire early. Approxi-
mately 1,300 unionized employees took advantage of 
the program in 2009.

Bell made a voluntary contribution of $500 million 
to the defined benefit pension fund in 2009. This not 
only improves the security of pension benefits for all 
retirees and team members in the defined benefit 
pension plan, it also results in annual savings in pen-
sion expenses. 

In June 2009, Bell raised $1 billion of debt at attrac-
tive terms and used the proceeds to redeem $600 mil-
lion of debt prior to maturity as well as to refinance 
approximately $400 million of debt maturing in 2010. 
The lower cost of debt from this refinancing will result 
in annual interest savings of $25 million.

Clara Hughes 
Bell Champion

Winter and summer 
games medalist  
Clara Hughes 
inspires us by 
executing with  
both grace and 
intense efficiency.



Bell Delivers 
a Golden Games

As the exclusive telecommunications partner to the 
Vancouver 2010 Olympic and Paralympic Winter Games, 
Bell built the communications network that brought 
Canada’s Games to the world. Every Olympic image 
seen on television, every real-time score transmitted 
and every story read around the world traversed the 
integrated Vancouver 2010 network designed and 
delivered by Bell.

These were the most-watched Games of all time 
according to the International Olympic Committee – we 
delivered 24,000 broadcasting hours to an estimated 
3.5 billion viewers worldwide, a 50% increase over the 
last Winter Games in Torino in 2006, and 25% more 
than even the vast 2008 Summer Games in Beijing.

Bell was the first Olympic telecom partner to deliver 
both wireless and wireline connectivity and had our 
environmentally sustainable network Games-ready 
faster than in any other host country before. Bell 
deployed more than a million metres of cabling con-
necting 130 Games venues and support sites, includ ing 
300 kilometres of new broadband fibre linking Van-
couver and Whistler. 

This was Canadian communica tions innovation at its 
best, and provides a legacy of enhanced broadband 
connec tivity for British Columbia.

The volume of communications traffic carried is 
stag gering – more than a trillion packets of data tra-
versed Bell’s Vancouver network during the Games,  
90 million minutes of mobile voice traffic, 30 million 
megabytes of mobile data, 65 million text messages 
and 750,000 calls from thousands of Bell-provided 
landline IP phones.

In fact, Bell handled more total phone calls and moved 
more text messages nationwide than ever before after 
Bell-sponsored Olympian Sidney Crosby scored in over-
time to win hockey gold for Canada.

Bell was also the highest-profile advertiser through-
out the Games. We leveraged approximately 50 dif-
ferent television commercials over our more than 

VANCOUVER 2010
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2,000 TV spots to bring Bell’s 5 Strategic Imperatives 
to life, marketing our customer service enhancements, 
extensive broadband network investments, and lead-
ing-edge TV, Internet and wireless products (including 
the popular Olympic mobile TV service that offered 
Mobility clients across Canada a unique “virtual front-
row seat” to the Games).

We celebrated our Bell Champion athletes too, part 
of a Canadian team that won more gold medals than 
any country in Winter Olympics history. Our athletes 
program has supported the development of leading 
Olympians such as Sidney Crosby, Clara Hughes, Ash-
leigh McIvor, Steve Omischl and Joannie Rochette, all 
of whom captured the hearts of Canada and the world 
with exceptionally strong performances, often in the 
face of real adversity.

The performances of these amazing athletes and 
their fellow competitors ensured the eyes of the world 
were on Canada for 17 glorious days in February. The 
Bell team is proud to have flawlessly delivered our 
country’s golden Games to them all.

The Bell team delivered Canada’s Games to the nation and the world 
while providing a lasting legacy of enhanced broadband capability.

Bell Champion Ashleigh McIvor  
won gold on all three screens.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

In this management’s discussion and analysis of financial 
condition and results of operations (MD&A), we, us, our and 
BCE mean BCE Inc., its subsidiaries and joint ventures. Bell 
Canada is, unless otherwise indicated, referred to herein  
as Bell, and comprises our Bell Wireline and Bell Wireless  
segments. Bell Aliant means Bell Aliant Regional Communica-
tions Income Fund and its subsidiaries.

All amounts in this MD&A are in millions of Canadian  
dollars, except where noted. Please refer to our glossary on 
page 123 for a list of defined terms.

Please refer to BCE Inc.’s audited consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended December 31, 2009 when 
reading this MD&A. In preparing this MD&A, we have taken 
into account information available to us up to March 11, 2010, 
the date of this MD&A, unless otherwise stated.

You will find BCE Inc.’s audited consolidated financial state-
ments for the year ended December 31, 2009 and BCE Inc.’s 
annual information form for the year ended December 31, 
2009 dated March 11, 2010 (BCE 2009 AIF) and recent financial 
reports, on BCE Inc.’s website at www.bce.ca, on SEDAR at 
www.sedar.com and on EDGAR at www.sec.gov.

This MD&A comments on our operations, performance and 
financial condition for the years ended December 31, 2009, 
2008 and 2007.

ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

BCE’s 2009 annual report including this MD&A and, in par-
ticular, but without limitation, the sections of this MD&A enti-
tled Strategic Imperatives, Business Outlook and Assumptions 
and Financial and Capital Management – Liquidity contain 
forward-looking statements. These forward-looking state-
ments include, but are not limited to, BCE Inc.’s dividend pol-
icy, the business outlook for BCE’s segments, BCE’s business 
objectives and strategies, the sources of liquidity we expect 
to use to meet our 2010 cash requirements, our fibre-optic 
deployment plans, and our plan to introduce Internet Proto-
col Television (IPTV) in the course of 2010. Forward-looking 
statements also include any other statements that do not 
refer to historical facts. A statement we make is forward-
looking when it uses what we know and expect today to 
make a statement about the future. Forward-looking state-
ments may include words such as aim, anticipate, assump-
tion, believe, could, expect, goal, guidance, intend, may, 
objective, outlook, plan, project, seek, should, strategy, strive, 
target and will. All such forward-looking statements are 
made pursuant to the ‘safe harbour’ provisions of applicable 
Canadian securities laws and of the United States Private 
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.

Unless otherwise indicated by us, forward-looking state-
ments in BCE’s 2009 annual report, including in this MD&A, 
describe our expectations at March 11, 2010 and, accordingly, 
are subject to change after such date. Except as may be 

required by Canadian securities laws, we do not undertake 
any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking 
statements, whether as a result of new information, future 
events or otherwise. 

Forward-looking statements, by their very nature, are sub-
ject to inherent risks and uncertainties and are based on sev-
eral assumptions which give rise to the possibility that actual 
results or events could differ materially from our expectations 
expressed in or implied by such forward-looking statements 
and that our business outlook, objectives, plans and strategic 
priorities may not be achieved. As a result, we cannot guar-
antee that any forward-looking statement will materialize 
and you are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these 
forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are 
provided in BCE’s 2009 annual report, including in this MD&A, 
for the purpose of giving information about management’s 
current strategic priorities, expectations and plans and allow-
ing investors and others to get a better understanding of our 
business outlook and operating environment. Readers are 
cautioned, however, that such information may not be appro-
priate for other purposes.

Forward-looking statements made in BCE’s 2009 annual 
report, including in this MD&A, are based on a number of 
assumptions that we believed were reasonable on March 11, 
2010. Refer, in particular, to the section of this MD&A entitled 
Business Outlook and Assumptions for a description of certain 
key economic, market and operational assumptions we have 
used in making forward-looking statements contained in this 
annual report and, in particular, but without limitation, con-
tained in this MD&A in the sections entitled Strategic Impera-
tives, Business Outlook and Assumptions and Financial and 
Capital Management – Liquidity. If our assumptions turn out 
to be inaccurate, our actual results could be materially dif-
ferent from what we expect. 

Important risk factors that could cause actual results or 
events to differ materially from those expressed in or implied 
by the above-mentioned forward-looking statements and 
other forward-looking statements included in BCE’s 2009 
annual report include, but are not limited to: the intensity of 
competitive activity, including the increase in wireless com-
petitive activity that is expected to result from Industry Can-
ada’s licensing of advanced wireless services (AWS) spectrum 
to new wireless entrants, and the resulting impact on our 
ability to retain existing, and attract new, customers, and on 
our pricing strategies and financial results; general economic 
and financial market conditions, the level of consumer confi-
dence and spending, and the demand for, and prices of, our 
products and services; our ability to implement our strategies 
and plans in order to produce the expected benefits; our 
ability to continue to implement our cost reduction initiatives 
and contain capital intensity while seeking to improve cus-
tomer service; our ability to respond to technological changes 
and rapidly offer new products and services; increased  
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contributions to employee benefit plans; events affecting  
the functionality of, and our ability to protect, maintain and 
replace, our networks, information technology (IT) systems 
and software; events affecting the ability of third-party sup-
pliers to provide to us essential products and services; the 
quality of our network and customer equipment and the 
extent to which they may be subject to manufacturing 
defects; labour disruptions; the potential adverse effects  
on our Internet and wireless businesses of the significant 
increase in broadband demand; our ability to raise the capi-
tal we need to implement our business plan, including for BCE 
Inc.’s share buy-back program and dividend payments and 
to fund capital and other expenditures and generally meet 
our financial obligations; our ability to discontinue certain 
traditional services as necessary to improve capital and 
operating efficiencies; regulatory initiatives or proceedings, 
litigation and changes in laws or regulations; launch and  
in-orbit risks of satellites used by Bell ExpressVu Limited 
Partnership (Bell TV); competition from unregulated U.S. direct- 
to-home (DTH) satellite television services sold illegally in 
Canada and the theft of our satellite television services; BCE 
Inc.’s dependence on the ability of its subsidiaries, joint ven-
tures and other companies in which it has an interest to pay 
dividends and make other distributions; there can be no cer-
tainty that dividends will be declared by BCE Inc.’s board of 
directors or that BCE Inc.’s dividend policy will be maintained; 
stock market volatility; our ability to maintain customer  
service and our networks operational in the event of the 
occurrence of epidemics, pandemics and other health risks; 
health concerns about radio frequency emissions from wire-
less devices; and loss of key employees. 

These and other risk factors that could cause actual results 
or events to differ materially from our expectations expressed 
in or implied by our forward-looking statements are discussed 
throughout this MD&A and, in particular, under Our Competi-
tive Environment, Our Regulatory Environment and Risks that 
Could Affect Our Business and Results.

We caution readers that the risks described above are not 
the only ones that could impact us. Additional risks and uncer-
tainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem 
to be immaterial may also have a material adverse effect on 
our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Except as otherwise indicated by us, forward-looking 
statements do not reflect the potential impact of any non-
recurring or other special items or of any dispositions, mon-
etizations, mergers, acquisitions, other business combinations 
or other transactions that may be announced or that may 
occur after March 11, 2010. The financial impact of these 
transactions and non-recurring and other special items can 
be complex and depends on the facts particular to each of 
them. We therefore cannot describe the expected impact in a 
meaningful way or in the same way we present known risks 
affecting our business.

ABOUT OUR BUSINESS

BCE is Canada’s largest communications company. We are  
a comprehensive provider of wireline voice and wireless 
communications services, Internet access, data services and 
video services to residential, business and wholesale custom-
ers. In 2009, we reported the results of our operations in 
three segments: Bell Wireline, Bell Wireless and Bell Aliant. 
Bell, which encompasses our core operations, is the largest 
local exchange carrier in Ontario and Québec, and is com-
prised of our Bell Wireline and Bell Wireless segments. We 
also own a 44.1% interest in, and, through our right to appoint 
a majority of the directors and trustees, control, Bell Aliant, 
the incumbent carrier in Canada’s Atlantic provinces and  
in rural and regional areas of Ontario and Québec. For the 
year ended December 31, 2009, we generated consolidated 
operating revenues of $17,735 million, consolidated operat-
ing income of $3,191 million, and consolidated EBITDA (1) of  
$7,089 million.

Our reporting structure reflects how we manage our busi-
ness and how we classify our operations for planning and 
measuring performance. We discuss our consolidated oper-
ating results in this MD&A, as well as the operating results of 
each segment. See Note 2 to the consolidated financial state-
ments for additional information about our segments. We 
also discuss our results by product line to provide further 
insight into our operations.

Returning Value to Shareholders

In 2009, BCE Inc. has announced three increases in the annual 
dividend payable on BCE Inc.’s common shares, delivering a 
19% increase overall. The three increases during the course of 
2009 were as follows:

on February 11, 2009, we announced a 5% increase from 
$1.46 to $1.54 per common share, starting with the quarterly 
dividend payable on April 15, 2009

on August 6, 2009, we announced a 5% increase from  
$1.54 to $1.62 per common share, starting with the quarterly 
dividend payable on October 15, 2009

on December 17, 2009, we announced a 7% increase from 
$1.62 to $1.74 per common share, starting with the quarterly 
dividend payable on April 15, 2010. 

These dividend increases announced in 2009 were consistent 
with BCE Inc.’s common share dividend policy of a target 
payout ratio of 65% to 75% of Adjusted net earnings per 
share (Adjusted EPS) (2). This dividend policy was adopted by 
the board of directors of BCE Inc. with the objective of allow-
ing sufficient financial flexibility to continue investing in BCE’s 
business while growing returns to shareholders. Under this 
dividend policy, increases in the common share dividend are 
directly linked to growth in BCE Inc.’s Adjusted EPS. The target 
payout ratio also allows flexibility so that any surplus cash 

(1) EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization of intangible assets) is a non-GAAP financial measure. See Non-GAAP Financial Measures – 
EBITDA in this MD&A for more details, including a reconciliation to the most comparable Canadian GAAP financial measure.

(2)  Adjusted net earnings and Adjusted EPS are non-GAAP financial measures. See Non-GAAP Financial Measures – Adjusted net earnings in this MD&A for more details, 
including a reconciliation to the most comparable Canadian GAAP financial measure.
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flow can be directed to share repurchase programs. BCE Inc.’s 
dividend policy and the declaration of dividends are subject 
to the discretion of BCE Inc.’s board of directors.

On May 5, 2009, BCE Inc. completed the repurchase and 
can cellation of 40 million common shares under its normal 
course issuer bid (NCIB) program announced on December 12, 
2008 (2008/2009 NCIB) for a total cost of $986 million. On 
December 17, 2009, BCE Inc. announced that it had received 
approval from the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSX) in respect  
of its notice of intention to make a new NCIB under which 
BCE Inc. may purchase for cancellation up to 20 million com-
mon shares, subject to a maximum aggregate purchase price 
of $500 million, over the twelve-month period starting Decem-
ber 29, 2009 and ending on December 28, 2010, representing 
approximately 2.6% of BCE Inc.’s issued and outstanding 
common shares at December 11, 2009 (2010 NCIB). Purchases 
may be made through the facilities of the TSX and/or the 
New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) or by such other means as 
may be permitted by the TSX and/or NYSE. BCE Inc.’s board 
of directors has authorized this program because, in its  
opinion, the repurchase by BCE Inc. of its common shares 
represents an appropriate use of funds to increase share-
holder value. At February 28, 2010, 2.6 million common shares, 
representing approximately 15% of the NCIB, had been repur-
chased under BCE Inc.’s 2010 NCIB. 

Bell Wireline Segment

Our Bell Wireline segment provides local telephone, long dis-
tance, data (including Internet access and information and 
communications technology (ICT) solutions) and other com-
munications services to residential and business customers 
primarily in the urban areas of Ontario and Québec. We also 
offer competitive local exchange carrier (CLEC) services to 
business customers in Alberta and British Columbia.

We sell local telephone and long distance services under 
the Bell Home phone brand and Internet access under the 
Bell Internet brand. We also provide DTH television services 
on a nationwide basis under the Bell TV brand, allowing us to 
provide a comprehensive quadruple-play bundle of commu-
nications services.

Also included in this segment are the results of our whole-
sale business, which provides local telephone, long distance, 
data and other services to resellers and other carriers, and 
the wireline operations of Northwestel Inc. (Northwestel), 
which provides telecommunications services to less popu-
lated areas of Canada’s northern territories. 

Our Bell Wireline segment also includes wireline-related 
product sales from our wholly-owned subsidiary, national 
consumer electronics retailer The Source (Bell) Electronics Inc. 
(The Source), the assets of which we acquired on July 1, 2009.

Bell Wireless Segment

Our Bell Wireless segment provides wireless voice and data 
communications products and services to residential and busi-
ness customers across Canada. Our wireless services, offered 
over technologically advanced national wireless networks, 
are available to virtually all of the Canadian population. At 
December 31, 2009, we had more than 6.8 million wireless 
subscribers, 74% of which were postpaid customers. Bell 
Wireless includes the results of operations of Bell Mobility Inc. 
(Bell Mobility), Virgin Mobile Canada (Virgin), wireless product 
sales from The Source and the wireless operations of North-
westel. On July 1, 2009, we completed the acquisition of the 
remaining 50% of the equity of Virgin not already owned by 
Bell, which included a long-term brand licensing agreement 
with the Virgin Group.

Bell Aliant Segment

Our Bell Aliant segment provides local telephone, long dis-
tance, Internet, data, video, wireless, IT services and products 
and other ICT services to residential and business customers 
in Canada’s Atlantic provinces, and in rural and regional areas 
of Ontario and Québec. Formed on July 7, 2006, Bell Aliant is 
one of the largest regional telecommunications service pro-
viders in North America. At December 31, 2009, BCE owned 
approximately 44.1% of Bell Aliant, with the remain ing 55.9% 
publicly held. BCE has the right to elect a majority of the board 
of directors of Bell Aliant Regional Communications Holdings 
Inc. and, therefore, controls Bell Aliant.
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Bell Products and Services

The following table shows selected data on Bell’s operations from 2007 to 2009.

BELL WIRELINE      2009 2008 2007

WIRELINE 

Local net access services (NAS) net losses (thousands) (1)        (447) (436) (525)

Local NAS (thousands) (1)         6,862 7,309 8,062

Adjusted local NAS net losses (thousands) (2)        (447) (436) (594)

Adjusted local NAS (thousands) (2)        6,862 7,309 7,745

Long distance conversation minutes (millions)        11,248 11,771 12,500

Long distance average revenue per minute (cents)        8.3 8.9 9.1

DATA 

High-speed Internet net activations (thousands)         38 50 124

High-speed Internet subscribers (thousands) (1)        2,057 2,054 2,004

VIDEO 

Video net activations (thousands)        113 30 2

Video subscribers (thousands) (1)        1,949 1,852 1,822

Average revenue per subscriber ($/month)        69.59 65.37 59.69

Churn (%) (average per month)        1.2% 1.2% 1.2%

BELL WIRELESS

WIRELESS

Gross activations (thousands) (3)        1, 794 1,651 1,640

Net activations (thousands) (3)        373 351 408

Subscribers (thousands) (3) (4)        6,833 6,497 6,216

Average revenue per unit ($/month) (5)        51.70 54.29 53.92

Churn (%) (average per month) (5)         1.7% 1.6% 1.7%

Cost of acquisition (COA) ($/subscriber) (5)        350 395 404

Proforma: (6)   

Average revenue per unit ($/month) (6)        50.88 52.70 52.75

Churn (%) (average per month) (6)         1.8% 1.7% 1.7

Cost of acquisition ($/subscriber) (6)        336 373 380

(1) In 2009, following a company-wide review of subscriber metrics, our 2007 NAS customer base was reduced by 100,000, with related adjustments to previously reported  
NAS net (losses)/activations. Additionally, our Internet and video customer base were reduced by 35,000 and 16,000, respectively, at the end of 2009.

(2) 2007 adjusted NAS excludes the impact of: 
 (a)  a reduction of 44,000 lines made at the beginning of 2008 to our NAS customer base, reflecting an extensive review of our historical customer account records. 
 (b)  an adjustment in 2008 to our beginning-of-period business NAS customer base to write-off 273,000 lines following formal notification received from a major whole-

sale customer in 2007 that it was in the process of migrating all of its subscribers onto its own network facilities.
(3) Total wireless gross activations, net activations and end of period (EOP) subscribers include 100% of Virgin Mobile’s subscribers.
(4) In 2009, following a company-wide review of subscriber metrics, we reduced wireless subscribers by 37,000 at the end of 2009.
(5) Beginning in the third quarter of 2009, wireless average revenue per unit, churn and (COA) reflect 100% of Virgin’s results due to our acquisition on July 1, 2009 of the 

remaining 50% not already owned. All prior periods reflect the original 50% ownership.
(6) Wireless average revenue per unit, churn and COA in the prior years have been restated to include 100% of Virgin’s results, rather than 50%.

Bell is our primary operational focus and the largest compo-
nent of our business. 

Traditional legacy telecommunications services (legacy 
ser vices), as referred to in this MD&A, are those services, such 
as long distance and local telephone services, voice private 
lines and dedicated digital private line services, that we offer 
over our traditional circuit-switched voice and data networks. 
Growth services, as referred to in this MD&A, are made up of 
our wireless, video, high-speed Internet and other services, 
including ICT solutions.

Our Bell Wireline segment generates revenues from the 
following five major lines of business: 

local and access services 
long distance services 
data services 
video services 
equipment and other.
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Local and Access Services

Bell operates an extensive local access network that pro-
vides local telephone services to residential and business 
customers primarily in the urban areas of Ontario and Qué-
bec including major urban centres such as Toronto, Montréal, 
Ottawa, Québec City, Hamilton and London. We also provide 
local telephone services to business customers in Alberta and 
British Columbia and to less populated areas of Canada’s 
northern territories through Northwestel. The 6.9 million NAS 
lines we provide to our customers are a key factor in estab-
lishing customer relationships and are the foundation for the 
other products and services we offer. Local telephone service 
is the main source of local and access revenues. Other sources 
of local and access revenues include: 

value-added services (VAS) such as call display, call wait-
ing and voicemail 

services provided to competitors accessing our local 
network 

connections to and from our local telephone service cus-
tomers for competing long distance service providers 

subsidies from the National Contribution Fund to support 
local service in high-cost areas.

We offer a variety of Bell Home phone packages that include 
unlimited local phone calling with a number of different VAS 
depending on the package chosen by the customer. When a 
Bell Home phone package is combined with our other prod-
ucts to form a service bundle, a customer is eligible to receive 
a monthly discount. To qualify, a customer must subscribe to 
at least two of the following products: Bell Home phone, Long 
Distance, Bell Internet, Bell TV and Bell Mobility. Customers 
subscribing to one of our bundle-eligible plans receive a  
single bill for all of their Bell services. 

We faced a significantly high level of competitive intensity 
from cable companies in 2009 as a result of them offering 
voice services over their networks, which continued to place 
downward pressure on our local telephony market share, 
especially in the residential market. Cable telephony in par-
ticular is being driven by its inclusion in discounted bundles 
and is now offered by cable operators in most major and 
mid-sized communities, as well as in many smaller communi-
ties. In addition, increased customer adoption of wireless 
telephony as their primary means of voice communication is 
resulting in a reduced number of primary NAS lines and con-
tributing to a higher rate of wireless substitution.

The Canadian Radio-television and Telecommunications 
Commission (CRTC) regulates rates for services in our incum-
bent territories that are subject to regulation. While the mar-
ket for telephone services in Canada has seen increased 
competition since 2005 due mainly to the launch and expan-
sion of telephony services by cable operators, past regula-
tory changes have improved the competitive environment for 
Bell from one that heavily favoured its competitors to a more 
level playing field. Prior to these changes, Bell’s marketing, 
pricing, bundling and customer winback strategies relating to 
local services were restricted, limiting our ability to compete 
against cable telephony and Voice over Internet Protocol (VoIP) 

providers which did not face such restrictions. On April 4, 
2007, the Canadian Minister of Industry eliminated customer 
winback and promotional restrictions for local exchange ser-
vices. We believe that these changes, along with decisions 
made by the CRTC since then, deregulating over 90% of Bell 
Canada’s residential telephone access lines and over 80% of 
Bell Canada’s business telephone access lines in Ontario and 
Québec, allow for significant improvements in our operating 
flexibility and have improved our ability to compete effec-
tively with other local service providers, bundle our services 
and offer more value to our customers.

Long Distance Services

We provide domestic and international long distance voice 
services to residential and business customers. These ser-
vices include a wide variety of subscription plans ranging 
from monthly unlimited provincial or North American calling 
plans catering to heavy callers to pay-per-minute plans for 
more casual callers.

We also provide wholesale access service to other carriers 
and resellers, and receive settlement payments from other 
carriers for completing their customers’ long distance calls in 
our territory.

We offer large usage long distance packages for a set 
monthly price to Bell Home phone customers, allowing for 
affordable long distance calling across North America.

We also offer an unlimited world long distance plan to Bell 
Bundle customers that allows for unlimited long distance 
calls to more than 50 countries, including within Canada and 
the United States, for one set monthly price.

We experience significant competition in the provision of 
long distance service from VoIP service providers and cable 
companies and others, dial-around providers and prepaid 
card providers, as well as from traditional competitors such 
as inter-exchange carriers and resellers. We also experience 
competition from telecommunications providers such as Skype 
Technologies (a division of eBay) that provide long distance 
service at low prices using personal computers and broad-
band connections.

Competition for contracts to supply long distance services 
to large business customers is very intense. Customers may 
choose to switch to competitors that offer lower prices to 
gain market share. Such competitors may be less concerned 
about the quality of service or impact on their margins than 
we are.

Data Services

We provide high-speed Internet access service under the Bell 
Internet brand for residential and business customers. At 
December 31, 2009, we provided high-speed Internet access 
to more than two million customers, whether through digital 
subscriber line (DSL) technology, fibre-optic or wireless 
broadband service. Our high-speed Internet access footprint 
in Ontario and Québec reached more than 93% of our homes 
and business lines passed at December 31, 2009.
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We currently offer three DSL packages for the light to mod-
erate user, marketed as Essential, Essential Plus and Perfor-
mance, which provide download speeds of up to 500 kilobits 
per second, 2 megabits per second (Mbps) and 7 Mbps, respec-
tively. For the moderate to heavy user, we launched Bell Fibe 
Internet service on February 4, 2010 in the Montréal and 
Greater Toronto areas. Fibe Internet provides customers access 
to download speeds of up to 25 Mbps and upload speeds of 
up to 7 Mbps. Fibe Internet is enabled by advanced very high- 
speed digital subscriber line 2 (VDSL2) technology enhance-
ments to Bell’s fibre-to-the-node (FTTN) network.

We also offer wireless Internet through our Bell Wireless 
segment, which provides high-speed Internet access from 
personal desktop computers or laptops at speeds of up  
to 21 Mbps, using a mobile Internet universal serial bus  
(USB) stick.

In addition, we offer a nationwide portable wireless broad-
band service that delivers wireless Internet access using 
worldwide interoperability for microwave access (WiMAX) 
technology with speeds of up to 3 Mbps. This service is 
enabled through the network provider Inukshuk Wireless Inc. 
(Inukshuk), a joint venture between Bell Canada and one of 
our cable competitors.

We run Canada’s largest general interest portal, Sympa-
tico.ca. The portal receives about 20 million unique visitors per 
month and reaches approximately 80% of online Canadians. 

We also sell a full range of data services to business cus-
tomers. In addition to Internet access, some of the services 
we offer include: 
 Internet protocol (IP)-based Services – Bell manages the 
largest IP multi-protocol label switching (MPLS) footprint of 
any Canadian provider, enabling us to offer customers a  
virtual private network (VPN) service for IP traffic and to 
optimize bandwidth for real-time voice and video. Our IP-
based services include IP virtual private networks, Ethernet, 
business Internet and VoIP.
 ICT Solutions – Bell provides ICT solutions that include pro-
fessional, managed and infrastructure services.

We also continue to offer legacy data services, such as  
integrated services digital network, frame relay and ATM 
services to existing customers. The market for these services 
is declining over time as customers migrate to newer 
technologies.

Video Services

We are Canada’s largest digital television provider, nation-
ally broadcasting more than 500 all-digital video and audio 
channels and a wide range of domestic and international 
programming. We currently distribute our video services to 
more than 1.9 million customers.

Our primary video operations are marketed nationally 
under the Bell TV brand and carried out through our wholly-
owned Bell TV subsidiary, which has been offering DTH sat-
ellite service since 1997. Our DTH operations currently use 
three satellites. Telesat Canada (Telesat), our former subsid-
iary, operates or directs the operation of these satellites. We 

have leveraged this satellite capacity to offer a menu of pro-
gramming options, such as a wide range of over-the-air and 
specialty programming, more than 100 high-definition (HD) 
channels with TV shows, movies, sports and other enter-
tainment options and a broad selection of pay-per-view  
service offers. 

We also offer hardware, including personal video record-
ers (PVRs), Bell TV Online subscription video-on-demand and 
the most HD channels in Canada.

The other components of our video offering that comple-
ment our DTH service include:
 Very high-speed digital subscriber line (VDSL) – We  
currently offer VDSL-based video services within certain 
multiple-dwelling units (MDUs) in select urban centres in 
Ontario and Québec. This service is a wireline-based video 
offering, providing subscribers with a competitive, fully digi-
tal video solution over a DSL line. This technology has been 
deployed in urban areas as an alternative to DTH service 
within the MDU market.
 Hybrid fibre co-axial cable – We sell residential video ser-
vices through Cable VDN, a Montréal-based cable business 
that offers competitive analog and digital video services 
within certain neighbourhoods in the Greater Montréal area 
via its proprietary co-axial fibre network.
 IP television – We currently offer IP-based television ser-
vices on a limited trial basis in selected Toronto and Montréal 
neighbourhoods. The service trial is designed to acquire valu-
able operational and marketing insights and to ensure that 
the IP television platform and service offering are stable and 
robust prior to our commercial launch expected in 2010.

Equipment and Other

This category includes revenues from a number of other 
sources, including:
 renting, selling and maintaining business terminal equipment
 video set-top box (STB) sales
 network installation and maintenance services for third 
parties
 product sales, other than wireless products, at national 
consumer electronics retailer The Source.

Wireless Services

We offer a broad range of wireless voice and data communi-
cations products and services to consumer and business  
customers across Canada. We also provide an array of VAS 
such as call display and voicemail, e-mail, text, picture and 
video calling and messaging, music downloads, ringtones 
and games, video streaming, live TV, as well as roaming ser-
vices with other wireless service providers. Customers can 
choose to pay for their services through a monthly rate plan 
(postpaid) or in advance (prepaid). Our postpaid rate plans, 
payable on a monthly basis, are available with a one, two or 
three-year contract that offer handset discounts, but also 
can be obtained without a contract. At December 31, 2009, 
we served more than 6.8 million wireless customers, of which 
approximately 5.0 million subscribed to postpaid rate plans.
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We provide wireless communications services under the 
Bell, Solo Mobile and Virgin Mobile brands. Solo Mobile is a 
brand, owned and operated by Bell Mobility, positioned to 
compete against other flanker brands in Canada. 

We offer a wide variety of single-user and shared post-
paid rate plans, designed for local and long distance service. 
Data also can be added to voice service. We provide a wide 
range of wireless data services to consumers and business 
clients, including text and e-mail services, picture and video 
messaging, Internet browsing, ring tunes, ringtones and screen-
savers, social networking, instant messaging, multimedia 
such as music downloads (including Canada’s largest mobile 
music catalogue), video streaming, TV (including exclusive HBO 
programming), full-length movies and other services such as 
GPS navigation and location-based services. Mobile business 
services include sales force automation and customer rela-
tionship management tools, field service automation, and 
resource and asset tracking tools.

On November 4, 2009, we participated in the launch of  
a new wireless high-speed packet access (HSPA)/HSPA+  
network (the HSPA/HSPA+ network), capable of delivering 
high-speed mobile access of up to 21 Mbps to 93% of the 
Canadian population and covering almost 20,000 cities and 
towns in both urban and rural locations. The HSPA/HSPA+ 
network supports full global roaming, as well as a wide range 
of new smartphones, wireless Internet sticks and other  
leading-edge mobile devices. The new network also supports 
international roaming in more than 200 countries, including  
a preferred roaming agreement with AT&T Inc. (AT&T), the 
largest HSPA operator in the United States. The vast majority 
of the site connectivity for the new network was built with 
high-speed fibre and an all-IP architecture for enhanced  
reliability. The new HSPA/HSPA+ network joins our existing 
national 3G code division multiple access (CDMA)/evolution, 
data optimized (EVDO) network, which Bell currently plans to 
continue to operate alongside the new network.

Our CDMA wireless network covered 99% of Ontario’s and 
Québec’s population and approximately 97% of Atlantic Can-
ada’s population at December 31, 2009. Our CDMA network 
also covers major cities in the provinces of Alberta and Brit-
ish Columbia. In response to the proliferation of wireless data 
service, we continue to expand our EVDO network launched 
in October 2005. At the end of 2009, Bell’s EVDO network 
covered 90% of the Canadian population. EVDO delivers 
high-speed mobile services with data-rich content such as 
e-mail, video messaging, gaming, video conferencing, tele-
matics and streaming entertainment.

With our dual high-speed data networks, we are able to 
offer Canadian consumers the broadest range of choice in 
wireless smartphones, including the Apple iPhone 3GS, RIM 
BlackBerry devices and the Palm Pre, as well as other 
QWERTY-keyboard and touch screen smartphones designed 
for data services such as e-mail, messaging, Internet access 
and social networking.

Employees

At December 31, 2009, BCE employed 50,662 people on a full- 
or part-time basis, compared with 49,536 at the end of 2008. 

The total number of Bell employees at the end of 2009 was 
42,597, up from 40,779 on December 31, 2008. The increase  
in Bell’s headcount was primarily the result of the acqui-
sitions on July 1, 2009 of The Source and Virgin. Excluding 
these acquisitions, Bell’s workforce decreased 6.1%, or by 
2,492, to 38,287 employees in 2009, driven by productivity 
improvements in our field services and customer contact 
centres, efficiencies achieved from the integration of our 
Enterprise, SMB and Bell West units into a single unit called 
Bell Business Markets, a retirement incentive offered to qual-
ifying employees represented by the Communications, Energy 
and Paperworkers’ Union of Canada (CEP), and a manage-
ment downsizing during the second half of the year focused 
on achieving a competitive cost structure. The number of 
management departures at Bell in 2009 totalled approxi-
mately 1,200, representing about 3% of the total Bell work-
force or 8% of management. We signed collective bargaining 
agreements in 2009 with varying expiration dates through 
July 6, 2014, covering approximately 10,000 of Bell’s more 
than 18,000 union employees. Approximately 43% of Bell 
employees are represented by labour unions. Since June 2008, 
excluding the impact of acquisitions, Bell has reduced its 
workforce by 5,800, primarily in the non-customer-facing 
management ranks, which were reduced by 22%.

At Bell Aliant, the total number of employees decreased to 
8,065 in 2009 from 8,757 in the previous year, due mainly to 
workforce reduction programs initiated in the fourth quarter 
of 2008 and throughout 2009 that further streamlined Bell 
Aliant’s organizational structure.

STRATEGIC IMPERATIVES

This section contains forward-looking statements concern - 
ing our business objectives and strategies. For a descrip tion  
of assumptions underlying certain of such forward-looking 
statements, refer to Business Outlook and Assumptions. For  
a description of certain risk factors that could cause actual 
results or events to differ materially from our expectations 
expressed in or implied by such forward-looking statements, 
refer in particular to Our Competitive Environment, Our Reg-
ulatory Environment and Risks that Could Affect Our Business 
and Results.

Our goal is to be recognized by customers as Canada’s 
leading communications company. Our primary business 
objective is to maximize subscribers, revenues, operating 
profit, free cash flow and return on invested capital by  
further enhancing our position as a foremost provider of 
comprehensive communications services to residential and 
business customers. We seek to take advantage of opportu-
nities to leverage our networks, infrastructure, sales chan-
nels, and brand and marketing resources across our various 
lines of business to create value for both our customers and 
other stakeholders. 
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Our strategy to deliver a better customer experience at 
every level is enabled by our five strategic imperatives: 

Improve Customer Service
Accelerate Wireless  
Leverage Wireline Momentum 
Invest in Broadband Networks and Services 
Achieve a Competitive Cost Structure. 

These strategic imperatives are rooted in efficiently and cost 
effectively delivering consistent, reliable, high-quality commu-
nications services to customers, proactively managing legacy 
revenue erosion and profitably expanding our customer base. 

Our ability to return cash to shareholders now and in the 
future is directly supported by accelerating our business 
performance. The Bell team’s progress in executing our cus-
tomer-focused strategy in 2009 supports the financial flexi-
bility required to continue to create value for shareholders, 
to maintain a strong balance sheet and to invest significantly 
in network and service program expansion. We intend to 
execute our business plan in 2010 on the basis of disciplined 
market leadership behaviour, while maintaining a balance 
between profitable growth and market share in each of our 
lines of business.

The following table highlights some of the important steps we took in 2009 to address each of our 5 Strategic Imperatives.

STRATEGIC 

IMPERATIVE OBJECTIVES 2009 ACCOMPLISHMENTS

Improve

customer 

service

Improved service delivery by meeting more than 90% of our 
commitments for Same Day Next Day service for all our  
residential home products 

Reduced residential call centre volumes by 16% year over year

Improved help desk agent satisfaction by three percentage points, 
from 79% to 82%

73% of all new high-speed Internet service customers used our 
Full Install service

Invested significantly in our field services operations, with  
2,000 new service vehicles equipped with GPS and laptops  
and a new team-based support structure to drive speed  
and productivity

Customer satisfaction with our field technicians exceeded 90%

Reduced business customer outages in our core data and 
broadband services by approximately 30%

Provided upgraded online and over-the-phone options to  
Bell’s wireless customers, allowing them to take advantage  
of self-service capabilities for basic service issues, which  
improved overall customer satisfaction levels while saving  
costs for the company

Deliver the programs and investments we 
need to improve our front-line service  
capabilities, our networks, our products  
and our distribution channels to win and 
keep customers

Enhance customers’ overall experience with 
Bell by delivering the service basics in terms 
of call centre efficiency, meeting commit-
ments for the installation and timely repair  
of services, increasing network quality, and 
implementing process improvements to 
simplify customer transactions and inter-
actions with our front-line employees, all  
of which will help differentiate us from  
our competitors and gain long-term  
customer loyalty
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STRATEGIC 

IMPERATIVE OBJECTIVES 2009 ACCOMPLISHMENTS

Accelerate 

wireless

Leverage 

wireline  

momentum 

Participated in the launch of a new national HSPA/HSPA+ wireless 
network, the broadest in Canada

Offered the widest range of choice in wireless devices with more 
than 50 different mobile device options available to customers, 
including smartphones such as the Apple iPhone 3GS, RIM 
BlackBerry Bold and the Palm Pre

Acquired consumer electronics retailer The Source and its 
approximately 750 retail stores, giving us a national presence in 
Canada’s highest-traffic mall locations and effectively increasing 
the number of places where customers can buy Bell products  
and services. Bell Mobility and Virgin Mobile launched at The 
Source in January 2010.

Acquired the remaining 50% of the equity of Virgin not already 
owned, along with a long-term brand licencing agreement with 
the Virgin Group. We believe that full ownership of this asset 
enhances our competitive market position by allowing us to 
compete more effectively with the Canadian industry’s other 
flanker brands.

Mobile data revenue grew 32%, accounting for 18% of wireless 
service revenues by the end of 2009

Announced the signing of a preferred reciprocal wireless roaming 
agreement with AT&T, the largest HSPA operator in the United 
States, that will enable AT&T wireless customers to roam on the  
new wireless HSPA/HSPA+ network while providing Bell customers  
with access to AT&T’s GSM and 3G wireless networks in the  
United States

Profitably grow our wireless business by 
capturing our fair share of the postpaid 
market, maximizing average revenue per unit 
(ARPU) by targeting high-value subscribers, 
increasing our share of in-bound global 
roaming, driving higher wireless data 
penetration and usage, and leveraging the 
HSPA/HSPA+ network and footprint 
advantage

The key elements of our wireless strategy are 
as follows:

focusing on voice and data services that 
are attractive to both residential and 
business customers

maintaining the most technologically 
advanced, high-quality and pervasive 
wire less network possible

offering a wide range of high-quality 
handsets

improving customer service while reducing 
churn

expanding sales distribution channels to 
increase points of presence and retail traffic.

Reduced the number of residential line losses by 12.6% over  
2008 through improving service delivery, winbacks and  
service bundling

Maintained our industry leadership in HD by offering over 100 HD 
channels, the most in Canada. With Bell TV’s market leadership  
in HD, we became the fastest-growing TV service in Canada.

Residential Internet subscribers were up 25% year over year

ARPHH increased 9%

No major large business customer contracts lost in 2009

Maintained our market share of the mass and mid-sized business 
market segments

Made a minority interest investment in the Montréal Canadiens 
Hockey Club and the Bell Centre, allowing us to leverage the 
marketing power of the Canadiens name and the popularity of  
the Canadiens content on TV, online and on mobile phones

Reduce the rate of local residential line  
losses through winbacks, driving higher multi-
product home penetration, and increasing 
household-move wins and retentions. Our TV 
and broadband Internet services remain  
critical components of our service bundling 
strategy, which we intend to further leverage  
in order to drive subscriber acquisition and 
retention, and to maximize average revenue  
per household (ARPHH).

In our business markets, our focus will remain 
on retaining small business customers and 
winning important large business customer 
contracts. This will be supported by the 
strength of our IP MPLS network and the 
breadth of our ICT services, which should 
help moderate the decline in voice and data 
revenues.



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BCE INC. 2009 ANNUAL REPORT  27

STRATEGIC 

IMPERATIVE OBJECTIVES 2009 ACCOMPLISHMENTS

Invest in 

broadband  

networks and  

services 

Continue investing in fibre build-outs and 
pursue advanced network enhancements  
to further grow our base of subscribers on 
broadband platforms

We also aim to roll out thousands of new 
FTTN network locations serving millions of 
households and businesses, enabling new 
online video, networking and other rich, 
high-speed IP-based services

With respect to our wireless business, 
leverage the advantages of the HSPA/HSPA+ 
national network.

Participated in the launch of a new national HSPA/HSPA+ wireless 
network, the broadest deployment in Canada

Expanded our high-speed fibre optic capabilities through our  
FTTN rollout to residential neighbourhoods and to MDUs through-
out the Québec-Windsor corridor. At the end of 2009, our FTTN 
network reached 2.9 million homes out of a total of approximately 
6.4 million households in Bell’s incumbent territories.

Substantially advanced the deployment of VDSL2 technology,  
with close to two million homes passed offering up to 25 Mbps  
service capability

Increased our base of FTTN subscribers by 46% in 2009  
to 500,000.

Subsequent to the end of 2009, we have:
 announced our plan to deploy fibre-to-the-home (FTTH) in 
Québec City. Québec City is the largest urban centre in Canada  
to be selected to date for the deployment of FTTH, which will offer 
consumers and business customers download speeds of at least 
100 Mbps.
 announced the deployment of FTTH in all new urban and 
suburban housing developments in Ontario and Québec beginning 
in the second half of 2010. This is in addition to our deployment  
of fibre-to-the-building (FTTB) to MDUs already underway. At the 
end of 2009, 360 MDUs were equipped with Bell fibre, primarily  
in Toronto and Montréal.
 launched our new Bell Fibe high-speed Internet service, 
providing customers access to enhanced download speeds of  
up to 25 Mbps and the fastest upload speeds available in the 
market at up to 7 Mbps
 announced the launch of competitive Bell IPTV services in 
Toronto and Montréal starting in 2010, which is expected to 
enhance Bell’s competitive position in these core urban markets 
and complement our existing Bell TV DTH-based service.

Achieve a 

competitive  

cost structure 

Cost containment is a core element of our 
financial performance and remains a key 
factor in our objective to maintain margins  
in the face of both the expected continued 
decline in legacy revenues and a further shift 
in product mix towards growth services

We aim to accomplish this through building 
the most cost-effective structure possible to 
extract maximum operational efficiency and 
productivity gains throughout our business.

Reduced Bell’s total workforce by 2,500 in 2009 (excluding the 
increase in Bell’s workforce due to the acquisitions of The Source 
and Virgin)

Combined our Enterprise, SMB and Bell West units into a single, 
business-focused unit called Bell Business Markets to improve 
customer focus and optimize efficiency

Reduced operating expenses related to wireline field services,  
IT, network and corporate support by approximately  
$100 million over 2008

Renegotiated contracts with our key IT and outsource suppliers. 
Since 2008, we have reduced IT and network supply chain  
costs by 15%

Improved working capital through tighter collection of accounts 
receivable, and accounts payable and inventory management.  
We lowered Bell’s accounts receivable balance by approximately 
$100 million in 2009 and improved Days Sales Outstanding by 
approximately five days.

Reduced travel and entertainment expenses by 17%

Completed a $1 billion public debt offering which replaced  
existing debt with new debt at a significantly lower cost.
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Many of our residential market product lines demonstrate 
a good level of inelasticity to a downturn in the economy. 
However, with an expected increase in housing starts and 
residential moves as the economy improves, we could expe-
rience higher customer turnover. 

Although we will continue to incur local line losses, primarily 
as a result of cable telephony competition, we are targeting 
a relatively stable rate of residential NAS erosion based on 
the assumption that targeted retention and service bundle 
offers, customer winbacks and better service execution will 
maintain residential customer NAS line losses steady year 
over year. However, aggressive marketing actions from the 
new wireless entrants, which may include offering low-priced 
wireless home phone replacement plans, could also result in 
higher residential customer NAS line losses.

At Bell TV, we intend to leverage our market leadership 
position in HD programming, seek greater penetration within 
the MDU market and capitalize on our ownership of The 
Source to drive subscriber acquisition and higher ARPU, while 
proceeding with a measured launch of IPTV. Our focus at Bell 
Internet will centre on expanding our FTTN customer base, 
building out FTTH in targeted markets, and pursuing usage-
based pricing in order to grow revenues. We also intend  
to achieve service improvements by further enhancing the 
speed and reliability of our broadband Internet network, 
while continuing to offer full installation and customer sup-
port for new subscribers.

Business market demand was adversely affected in 2009 
as business clients curtailed their spending and investment 
plans due to tighter credit availability, economic uncertainty, 
continued competition from offshore manufacturing and 
reduced employment levels. It is expected that these trends 
will continue to have a negative impact on demand at least 
through the first two quarters of 2010. As the economy 
strengthens, we expect that the performance of our Business 
Markets unit, including business NAS line losses, will improve 
gradually, based on an assumption of increased customer 
spending, new business formation and higher demand for 
basic connectivity and ICT services. However, even with a 
recovery in the economy, more conservative strategies by 
large business customers may result in lower capital spending 
requirements and the deferral of ICT projects. Furthermore, 
any additional softening in employment levels or new busi-
ness starts in the small and medium sized business segment 
of the market in Ontario and Québec could drive business 
NAS erosion higher. 

Through our Business Markets unit, we will continue to 
deliver network-centric ICT solutions to large business and 
public sector clients that increase the value of connectivity 
services. We expect to experience continued competitive 
intensity in all business markets as cable operators continue 
to transition from consumer-only plays and other telecom 
competitors seek to grow their business in these markets. We 

BUSINESS OUTLOOK AND ASSUMPTIONS

This section contains forward-looking statements concerning 
the business outlook of our Bell Wireline, Bell Wireless and Bell 
Aliant segments. This section also describes certain key eco-
nomic, market and operational assumptions we have used in 
making such forward-looking statements and other forward-
looking statements contained in this MD&A. For a description 
of risk factors that could cause actual results or events to 
differ materially from our expectations expressed in or implied 
by such forward-looking statements, refer in particular to 
Our Competitive Environment, Our Regulatory Environment 
and Risks that Could Affect Our Business and Results.

Based on the estimates of the six major banks in Canada 
at the end of 2009, the Canadian economy is expected to 
grow, on average, by 2.6% in 2010. Consistent with this con-
sensus view, we have assumed a gradual improvement in the 
Canadian economic environment with momentum beginning 
in the second half of 2010.

In addition, we have made certain market assumptions  
in preparing our business outlook for 2010, including the 
following:

increased spending and investment by business customers 
as the economic environment strengthens

revenues generated by the residential voice telecommuni-
cations market in Canada to continue to decrease due, in 
part, to land line substitution to competing technologies such 
as wireless, which is expected to increase in 2010 particularly 
as a result of aggressive competitive activity by new wireless 
entrants having purchased AWS spectrum, and VoIP and other 
factors including e-mail and instant messaging substitution

current levels of competition to continue for residential 
and business local voice telephony, as cable operators and 
other telecom service providers maintain the intensity of 
their marketing efforts and continue to leverage their net-
work footprints to pursue market share in our regions

wireless industry penetration growth in 2010 similar to 
2009, and

TV and Internet market growth at levels slightly lower than 
2009, given the relatively high penetration rates and matu-
rity levels for these products.

Our business outlook is also based on certain operational 
assump tions and other market assumptions that are dis-
cussed below.

Bell Wireline

In both our residential and business markets for 2010, we will 
seek to minimize the decline in revenues from legacy voice 
and data services mainly through ongoing service and prod-
uct value enhancements, targeted marketing initiatives to 
slow the rate of NAS erosion, and leveraging the strength of 
our core connectivity services portfolio.
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and community portals such as Facebook and YouTube. We 
also have assumed that we will benefit from ongoing techno-
logical improvements by manufacturers in our handset and 
device lineup and from faster data speeds that are allowing 
our clients to optimize the use of our services.

We intend to continue introducing new products and ser-
vices to the market in a timely manner, balancing innovation 
with profitability. The development of wireless data trans-
mission technologies has led to the development of more 
sophisticated wireless devices with increasingly advanced 
capabilities, including access to e-mail and other corporate 
IT platforms, news, sports, financial information and services, 
photos, music and streaming video clips, TV and other func-
tions. We believe that the introduction of such new applica-
tions will drive the growth for data transmission services. As 
a result, we aim to introduce additional high-speed enabled 
data applications and other services to our wireless custom-
ers in order to deliver increasing value to them. However, the 
proliferation of these relatively more expensive and sophisti-
cated devices, as well as heightened competitive activity, is 
expected to exert pressure on EBITDA, due mainly to increased 
handset subsidization resulting in higher subscriber acquisi-
tion and retention costs.

We have moderate wireless subscriber growth expecta-
tions for 2010 that assume a significant increase in our points 
of sale due to the launch of Bell Mobility and Virgin at The 
Source in January 2010 and that also take into account the 
impact of new entrants. Our 2010 financial outlook for Bell 
Wireless assumes a view that requires diligent expense  
management to moderate the impact of aggressive discount 
brand and new entrant pricing, higher retention spending 
and increased acquisition costs driven by increased smart-
phone customer penetration.

Bell Aliant

Bell Aliant intends to continue to pursue the five strategic 
objectives it identified in 2009. Firstly, it intends to improve 
the customer experience through improvements to service 
fundamentals supported by operational improvements to its 
processes, tools and training. Secondly, it intends to mitigate 
customer churn through increasing its retention efforts and 
increasing the penetration of service bundles. Bell Aliant also 
intends to make enhancements to its value packages and 
bundle offers in 2010 as these have proven to be effective 
churn-reduction tools in the past. Thirdly, Bell Aliant plans to 
focus on growing its broadband business by increasing its 
investment in FTTH technology in 2010. This increased invest-
ment should enable Bell Aliant to provide Internet speeds 
exceeding those of its competitors in those markets where 
the technology has been deployed, increase Bell Aliant’s IPTV 
footprint and allow for more IP service development. Bell 
Aliant’s fourth strategic objective is to become more profitable 
and more competitive through resetting its cost structure.  
As a result of organizational restructurings implemented  
at the end of 2008 and throughout 2009, Bell Aliant is  

also intend to introduce service offerings that help drive 
innovative solutions and value for our small and mid-sized 
customers, while focusing on growing overall profitability 
through customer retention, maintaining ARPU levels and 
optimizing operations to further reduce costs. 

Other areas of focus at Bell Wireline for 2010 include ongo-
ing improvements in customer experience and the introduc-
tion of new products in our markets, including the launch of 
Bell Fibe, a new high-speed Internet service enabled by our 
extensive broadband fibre footprint that is expected to 
encompass 3.6 million homes by the end of 2010 and offer 
download speeds of up to 25 Mbps to a majority of our cus-
tomers, and the anticipated launch of Bell IPTV services in 
Toronto and Montréal. These initiatives, as well as ongoing 
investment in our fibre optic network to further expand our 
wireline broadband footprint, are expected to strengthen our 
competitive position versus the cable companies.

We also intend to maintain a strong focus on cost control 
in order to support the objective of maintaining stable EBITDA 
margins. This assumes that we will be able to achieve expense 
savings from renegotiated contracts with all our key IT ven-
dors and outsource suppliers, the flow-through from labour 
force reductions in 2009, field workforce productivity improve-
ments, leveraging operational synergies from the integration 
in 2009 of our business customer-facing units, controlling 
network maintenance costs, and reducing traffic that is not 
on our own network.

Bell Wireless

We expect higher wireless usage and roaming revenues year 
over year, based on higher employment levels, increased dis-
cretionary spending and the resumption of travel consistent 
with our assumption that the economic environment improves 
in the second half of 2010. As a result of new wireless entrant 
competition, which should intensify progressively throughout 
the course of 2010 as additional service providers come to 
market, we expect added pressure on ARPU and customer 
churn, highlighting the critical importance of continuing to 
improve customer satisfaction and proactively focusing on 
customer retention. This is expected to be mitigated in part 
by the impact of the recently launched HSPA/HSPA+ network, 
which should drive increased smartphone device penetration 
and incremental growth in data usage and roaming.

We expect that our Wireless unit will continue to be a key 
contributor to Bell’s revenue and EBITDA results in 2010. The 
financial performance of Bell Wireless is based on its contin-
ued ability to focus on profitable growth and execute its 
market strategies. We have assumed that our wireless reve-
nue growth will be driven by ARPU from new services, careful 
price management and continued disciplined expansion of 
our subscriber base. We will seek to achieve our ARPU objec-
tives through data revenue growth, supported by the new 
HSPA/HSPA+ network, higher demand for data services and 
increasing usage from wireless services such as text and pic-
ture messaging, web browsing, music and video downloads 
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well-positioned to operate more efficiently in the future. Bell 
Aliant plans to focus on increasing productivity by concen-
trating on continued cost containment, procurement improve-
ments and gains in process and operational efficiency. Finally, 
in 2010, Bell Aliant will maintain its performance-based cul-
ture by more closely aligning personal performance with 
corporate objectives. Building on current learning programs, 
it will aim to invest in new learning opportunities for its lead-
ers and front-line managers.

2009 OPERATING HIGHLIGHTS

Our operating results for 2009 reflect improved year-over-
year wireline performance, growing momentum in our TV 
business, disciplined execution of our wireless strategy, and 
diligent cost management that delivered strong earnings and 
substantial cash flow to support investment in the business, 
increases to BCE Inc.’s common share dividend and share 
buy-back programs.

Top-line growth of 1.0% at Bell in 2009 was driven largely 
by the inclusion of revenues from the acquisitions of The 
Source and Virgin. Increased revenues from our TV, Internet, 
wireless data and IP broadband connectivity services also 
contributed to overall growth in 2009. 

The weak economy adversely impacted the revenue per-
formance of our Business Markets unit in 2009, which expe-
rienced higher NAS line disconnections, fewer new installations, 
lower equipment sales, as well as reduced demand for basic 
connectivity service as business customers deferred spend-
ing and lowered usage. However, our residential business 
was less affected by the economic downturn and also effec-
tively managed the competitive pressures of cable telephony, 
as evidenced by the year-over-year improvement in resi-
dential local line losses. Our home services bundling strategy, 
together with improvements in service delivery, helped reduce 
the total number of residential NAS losses by 13% in 2009, 
while contributing to a 9% increase in ARPHH and higher TV 
and residential high-speed Internet net subscriber activations. 

Notwithstanding strong postpaid subscriber growth, higher 
wireless data usage and the additional revenues from own-
ing 100% of Virgin, Bell Wireless operating revenues grew 
modestly in 2009, mainly as a result of lower voice usage 
and decreased roaming consistent with reduced travel, 
employment levels and discretionary spending in a soft 
economy. Although ARPU decreased in 2009, the year-over-
year decline progressively improved in the second half of the 
year, providing some evidence that the economy is begin-
ning to stabilize.

Led by the performance of Bell Wireless, we enjoyed 
improved subscriber acquisitions in 2009 from our growth 
services, comprised primarily of wireless, video and high-
speed Internet, despite weak economic conditions and com-
petitive pressures across all product lines.

Total wireless net activations increased 6.3% in 2009, sup-
ported by strong postpaid growth in the second half of the 
year. This result reflected the positive consumer response to 
our expanded lineup of mobile devices, driven largely by the 
launch of the new HSPA/HSPA+ network, the growing popu-
larity of wireless Internet sticks, the attractiveness of our 
promotional offers, and better sales execution through our 
independent retail channels. Although postpaid net activa-
tions in 2009 were essentially unchanged compared with the 
previous year, we experienced improved postpaid subscriber 
acquisition momentum as the year progressed, highlighted 
by a 20% year-over-year increase in the second half of 
2009. Postpaid subscriptions represented 89% of our total 
wireless net activations in 2009.

Our Bell TV unit added 113,000 net video subscribers in 
2009 compared with 30,000 in the previous year. Success 
was driven by strong direct and retail sales channel results 
as we continue to leverage our position as the industry leader 
in HD programming, as well as by increased customer sub-
scriptions from MDUs. Video ARPU increased 6.5% in 2009, 
reflecting a shift in customer mix to HD and upgrades to  
premium programming pack ages.

In a maturing Canadian Internet market, which has resulted 
in slower high-speed Internet subscriber growth for the over-
all industry and aggressive acquisition offers from the cable 
TV competitors, we added 38,000 net high-speed Internet 
subscribers in 2009. Although this represents 12,000 fewer 
new net subscriber activations compared with 2008, due to 
higher business customer deactivations as a result of the 
weak economy, our residential high-speed Internet net acti-
vations increased year over year. Improved residential sales 
were driven largely by our competitive product offers that 
are supported by full installation service and an increased 
number of customers using our FTTN network.

Our residential local voice business continued to perform 
solidly, despite ongoing aggressive competition particularly 
from the cable operators, due mainly to a higher number of 
customer winbacks and effective marketing. Our residential 
services bundling strategy, together with improvements in 
service delivery, helped reduce the total number of residen-
tial line losses by 12.6% in 2009, slowing the annual rate of 
residential NAS erosion to 7.9% in 2009 from 8.3% in 2008. 
However, total NAS losses at Bell increased 2.5% year over 
year due to a greater number of business access line discon-
nections and fewer new installations because of the economic 
slowdown, resulting in a business NAS erosion rate of 3.7% in 
2009 compared with 1.7% in 2008.
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(3) Free cash flow is a non-GAAP financial measure. See Non-GAAP Financial Measures – Free cash flow in this MD&A for more details, including a reconciliation to the most 
comparable Canadian GAAP financial measure.

Operating income at Bell was 13.5% higher in 2009, due to 
lower restructuring and other charges and higher EBITDA. 
Bell’s EBITDA grew by 1.4% in 2009 as higher operating rev-
enues and cost reductions more than offset higher pension 
expense, foreign exchange losses stemming from higher U.S. 
dollar hedge rates in 2009 on our U.S. dollar-denominated 
purchases, and increased sponsorship-related costs for the 
Vancouver Winter Olympics. EBITDA growth in 2009 also 
reflected the reversal of a liability for CRTC video broadcast 
licence fees in the amount of $54 million resulting from a 
settlement with the federal government. With the slower 
pace of erosion in our high-margin residential wireline busi-
ness, disciplined execution of our wireless strategy, contin-
ued strong results at Bell TV and ongoing execution in our 
efficiency programs to reduce overall costs, Bell’s EBITDA 
margin remained essentially unchanged year over year at 
38.1% in 2009 compared with 37.9% in 2008. 

Bell invested $2,390 million of capital in 2009, or 2.8% less 
than 2008, which corresponds to a capital intensity ratio of 
15.9% of revenues compared with 16.5% in 2008. Capital 
expenditures in 2009 supported Bell’s strategic imperatives 
with a particular focus on completing the deployment of  
the HSPA/HSPA+ network and continuing to add fibre to our 
wireline broadband network. At year end, our FTTN broad-
band network reached more than 2.9 million homes.

BCE’s operating revenues increased 0.4% in 2009 while 
EBITDA improved 1.2%, reflecting our disciplined focus on con-
trolling costs in a challenging economic and competitive 
environment.

BCE’s cash flow from operating activities was $4,884 mil-
lion in 2009, down from $5,909 million in the previous year. 
Free cash flow (3) available to BCE Inc.’s common shareholders 
was $1,456 million in 2009 versus $1,689 million in 2008. The 
year-over-year decrease was due to higher pension plan 
contributions, including a $500 million voluntary contribution, 
and increased investment in working capital at Bell, partly 
offset by higher EBITDA, reduced capital spending and a 
decrease in restructuring cost payments. The $500 million 
voluntary cash contribution was made at the end of 2009 in 
respect of Bell Canada’s defined benefit pension plan, and is 
expected to improve our financial flexibility by reducing our 
overall future pension funding requirements as well as the 
volatility of that funding.

Net earnings applicable to common shares for 2009 were 
$1,631 million, or $2.11 per share, compared with $819 million, 
or $1.02 per share, in 2008. The year-over-year increase in 
earnings was due mainly to asset write-downs in 2008 
related to non-core investments, lower restructuring and 
other charges, the favourable resolution of uncertain tax 
positions, and gains on sales of non-core assets. Adjusted 
EPS increased 11.1% to $2.50 per common share in 2009 from 
$2.25 per common share, primarily as a result of the favour-
able resolution of uncertain tax positions, higher EBITDA, lower 
interest expense and fewer common shares outstanding due 
to share repurchases under BCE Inc.’s 2008/2009 NCIB pro-
gram completed in May 2009.

Some of our segments’ revenues vary slightly by season. 
Wireline segment revenues tend to be higher in the fourth 
quarter because of higher levels of voice and data equip-
ment sales to business customers and higher consumer elec-
tronics sales at The Source during the holiday period. Our 
operating income can also vary by season. Wireless segment 
operating income tends to be lower in the fourth quarter due 
to higher subscriber acquisition costs associated with a 
higher number of new subscriber activations during the holi-
day season.
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SELECTED ANNUAL AND QUARTERLY INFORMATION

Annual Financial Information

The following tables show selected consolidated financial data of BCE, prepared in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted accounting principles (GAAP), for each year from 2005 to 2009. We discuss the factors that caused our results to vary 
over the past three years throughout this MD&A.

       2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

OPERATIONS

Operating revenues       17,735   17,661   17,707   17,516   17,428 

Cost of revenue, exclusive of depreciation and amortization    (4,525)  (4,389)  (4,058)  (3,945)  (4,020)

Selling, general and administrative expenses     (6,121)  (6,268)  (6,658)  (6,780)  (6,568)

EBITDA (1)        7,089   7,004   6,991   6,791   6,840 

Depreciation        (2,595)  (2,537)  (2,547)  (2,503)  (2,505)

Amortization of intangible assets      (776)  (727)  (634)  (612)  (550)

Restructuring and other       (527)  (871)  (331)  (354)  (55)

Operating income       3,191   2,869   3,479   3,322   3,730 

Other (expense) income       (18)  (253)  2,406   (186)  13 

Interest expense        (723)  (791)  (859)  (940)  (934)

Pre-tax earnings from continuing operations     2,450   1,825   5,026   2,196   2,809 

Income taxes        (368)  (469)  (735)  (78)  (795)

Non-controlling interest       (333)  (323)  (332)  (222)  (192)

Earnings from continuing operations      1,749   1,033   3,959   1,896   1,822 

Discontinued operations       (11)  (90)  98   111   139 

Net earnings        1,738   943   4,057   2,007   1,961 

Dividends on preferred shares      (107)  (124)  (131)  (70)  (70)

Net earnings applicable to common shares     1,631   819   3,926   1,937   1,891 

Net earnings per common share

Continuing operations – basic       2.12   1.13   4.76   2.12   1.89 

Continuing operations – diluted      2.12   1.12   4.75   2.12   1.89 

Net earnings – basic       2.11   1.02   4.88   2.25   2.04 

Net earnings – diluted       2.11   1.01   4.87   2.25   2.04 

Included in net earnings

Net gains (losses) on investments 

 Continuing operations       48   (358)  2,125   419   33 

 Discontinued operations       (7)  (62)  123   106   (6)

Restructuring and other       (339)  (572)  (206)  (222)  (37)

Cost incurred to form Bell Aliant     – – –  (42) –

Adjusted net earnings (2)       1,929   1,811   1,884   1,676   1,901 

Adjusted EPS (2)        2.50   2.25   2.34   1.95   2.05 

Ratios

EBITDA margin (%)      40.0% 39.7% 39.5% 38.8% 39.2%

Operating margin (%)      18.0% 16.2% 19.6% 19.0% 21.4%

Return on equity (%)      11.3% 5.6% 30.0% 15.7% 14.9%

(1) EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization of intangible assets) is a non-GAAP financial measure. See Non-GAAP Financial Measures – 
EBITDA in this MD&A for more details, including a reconciliation to the most comparable Canadian GAAP financial measure.

(2) The terms Adjusted net earnings and Adjusted EPS are non-GAAP financial measures. See Non-GAAP Financial Measures – Adjusted net earnings in this MD&A for more 
details, including a reconciliation to the most comparable Canadian GAAP financial measures.
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       2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

BALANCE SHEET 

Total assets       38,050   39,663   38,230   37,415   40,834 

Cash         687   3,052   2,646   557   336 

Debt due within one year (including bank advances  
 and notes payable)     600   2,201   721   1,004   1,178 

Long-term debt       10,299   10,099   10,766   12,007   12,033 

Common shareholders’ equity      14,204   14,541   14,462   11,697   13,051 

Ratios 

Total debt to total assets (times)       0.29   0.31   0.30   0.35   0.32 

Long-term debt to total shareholders’ equity (times)      0.64   0.70   0.65   0.97   0.89 

Cash flows 

Cash flows from operating activities       4,884   5,909   5,730   5,353   5,313 

Cash flows used in investing activities      (3,217) (3,948) (58) (3,683) (3,758)

 Capital expenditures      (2,854) (2,986) (3,140) (3,120) (3,349)

 Business acquisitions      (338) (56) (163) (65) (226)

 Business dispositions      11  (10)  3,123  – –

 Formation of Bell Aliant       – – (7) (255)  – 

 Other investing activities      (89) (726) 13  (3) 39

Cash flows used in financing activities      (4,044) (1,559) (3,914) (3,639) (1,613)

 Repurchase of common shares     (894) (92) (227) (1,241) –

 Issue of common shares     2  50  153  29  25 

 Net repayment of debt instruments     (1,385) (451) (1,766) (432) (47)

 Financing activities of subsidiaries with third parties     – – (333) (292) (77)

 Cash dividends paid on common shares     (1,201) (587) (1,147) (1,169) (1,195)

 Cash dividends paid on preferred shares     (107) (129) (124) (84) (86)

 Cash dividends/distributions paid by subsidiaries to 
  non-controlling interest    (369) (366) (404) (293) (169)

Cash provided by discontinued operations     2  3  319  2,105  128 

Ratios 

Free cash flow      1,456  1,689  1,960  1,810   1,803 

Capital intensity (%)      16.1% 16.9% 17.7% 17.8% 19.2%

SHARE INFORMATION 

Average number of common shares (millions)      772.9   805.8   804.8   861.4   926.8 

Common shares outstanding at end of year (millions)     767.2   803.1   805.3   807.6   927.3 

Market capitalization        22,249   20,182   31,930   25,359   25,844 

Dividends declared per common share (dollars)      1.58   0.73   1.46   1.32   1.32 

Book value per share (dollars)      18.51   18.11   17.96   14.48   14.07 

Total dividends declared on common shares     (1,218) (588) (1,172) (1,132) (1,222)

Total dividends declared on preferred shares     (107) (124) (131) (70) (70)

Market price per common share (dollars) 

 High (end of day)      29.00 40.23 41.74  32.92   32.95 

 Low (end of day)      23.35 21.23 29.13  25.56   26.60 

 Close      29.00 25.13 39.65  31.40   27.87 

Ratios 

Common dividend yield (%)     5.4% 2.9% 3.6% 4.6% 4.6%

Common dividend payout ratio (%)     73.6% 71.7% 29.2% 60.4% 63.2%

Price to earnings ratio (times)     13.74 24.64 8.13 13.96 13.66

Price to book ratio (times)     1.57 1.39 2.21 2.17 1.98

Price to cash flow ratio (times)     11.03 6.92 12.31 12.12 13.15

Other data 

Number of employees (thousands)      51 50 53 53 55
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higher new wireless subscriber acquisition costs. The increase 
in new wireless subscriber activations in the fourth quarter of 
2009 can be attributed to the success of Bell’s new handset 
lineup that uses the new HSPA/HSPA+ network that was 
launched in November 2009. These factors were partly off-
set by the reversal of a liability totalling $54 million for CRTC 
video broadcast licence fees for the period from September 
2006 to August 2009.

Restructuring and other of $82 million in the fourth quarter 
of 2009 decreased by $125 million from $207 million for the 
same period in 2008 due to lower workforce reduction initia-
tives at both Bell and Bell Aliant and a decrease in other 
charges as the fourth quarter of 2008 included costs associ-
ated with the proposed privatization transaction.

Earnings from continuing operations of $377 million in the 
fourth quarter of 2009 was $354 million higher compared  
to $23 million for the same period last year as the fourth quar-
ter of 2008 included a charge of $372 million related mainly to 
the write-down of most of our available-for-sale investments.

Free cash flow decreased to $15 million in the fourth quar-
ter of 2009 from $647 million in the same period last year 
due in part to a $500 million voluntary pension contribution 
and increased pension plan funding in 2009.

Fourth Quarter Highlights

BCE’s operating revenue was $4,650 million in the fourth 
quarter of 2009, or 3.9% higher compared to the same period 
last year.

Revenues at Bell increased 4.8% in the fourth quarter of 
2009, reflecting higher year-over-year product sales from 
the acquisitions of The Source and Virgin. Growth in revenues 
from our video, wireless data and IP broad band connectivity 
services were offset by the ongoing impact of the slow pace 
of economic recovery in our Business Markets unit, which 
experienced higher NAS line losses and reduced equipment 
sales this quarter. 

BCE’s operating income in the fourth quarter of 2009 was 
$751 million compared to $666 million in the fourth quarter of 
2008. BCE’s EBITDA was $1,737 million in the fourth quarter of 
2009, or 0.2% lower compared to the same period last year. 

Bell’s operating income in the fourth quarter of 2009 was 
$572 million compared to $520 million for the same period 
last year due to higher EBITDA and lower restructuring and 
other. Bell’s EBITDA grew 1.0% to $1,395 million in the fourth 
quarter of 2009 from $1,381 million for the same period last 
year as higher revenues and continued tight cost control 
more than offset the impact of higher pension costs and 

Quarterly Financial Information

The following table shows selected consolidated financial data by quarter for 2009 and 2008. This quarterly information is 
unaudited but has been prepared on the same basis as the annual consolidated financial statements. We discuss the factors that 
caused our results to vary over the past eight quarters throughout this MD&A.

  2009       2008

    Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

Operating revenues  4,650   4,457   4,297   4,331   4,476   4,437   4,388   4,360 

EBITDA   1,737   1,801   1,791   1,760   1,741   1,769   1,743   1,751 

Depreciation  (704)  (636)  (630)  (625)  (683)  (619)  (612)  (623)

Amortization of intangible assets  (200)  (192)  (191)  (193)  (185)  (173)  (175)  (194)

Restructuring and other  (82)  (191)  (146)  (108)  (207)  (310)  (71)  (283)

Operating income  751   782   824   834   666   667   885   651 

Earnings from continuing operations  377  584 376 412  23  303 415 292

Discontinued operations  (1) –  (4)  (6)  (41)  (23)  (23)  (3)

Net earnings (loss)  376   584   372   406   (18) 280 392 289

Net earnings (loss) applicable to common shares  350   558   346   377   (48) 248 361 258

Net earnings (loss) per common share

 Continuing operations – basic  0.46  0.72 0.45 0.49  (0.01) 0.34 0.48 0.32

 Continuing operations – diluted  0.46  0.72 0.45 0.49  (0.01) 0.33 0.48 0.32

 Net earnings – basic  0.46  0.72 0.45 0.48  (0.06) 0.31 0.45 0.32

 Net earnings – diluted   0.46  0.72 0.45 0.48  (0.06) 0.30 0.45 0.32

Included in net earnings

 Net gains (losses) on investments

  Continuing operations  11   36  –  1   (346)  (14)  4   (2)

  Discontinued operations –  (4)  (3) –  (26)  (16)  (20) –

 Restructuring and other  (48)  (123)  (98)  (70)  (117)  (210)  (48)  (197)

Adjusted net earnings applicable to  
 common shares  387   649   447   446   441   488   425   457

Adjusted EPS  0.51   0.84   0.58   0.57   0.55   0.60   0.53   0.57

Average number of common shares 
 outstanding – basic (millions)  767.2   767.2   769.0   788.3   806.4   806.0   805.6   805.3
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FINANCIAL RESULTS ANALYSIS

This section provides detailed information and analysis about our performance in 2009 compared with 2008 and 2008  
compared with 2007. It focuses on our consolidated operating results and provides financial information for each of our  
operating segments.

Consolidated Analysis
          % CHANGE

     2009 2008 2007 2009 VS. 2008 2008 VS. 2007

Operating revenues 17,735  17,661  17,707  0.4% (0.3%)

Cost of revenue, exclusive of depreciation and amortization  (4,525) (4,389) (4,058) (3.1%) (8.2%)

Selling, general and administrative expenses (6,121) (6,268) (6,658) 2.3% 5.9%

EBITDA  7,089  7,004  6,991  1.2% 0.2%

Depreciation (2,595) (2,537) (2,547) (2.3%) 0.4%

Amortization of intangible assets (776) (727) (634) (6.7%) (14.7%)

Restructuring and other (527) (871) (331) 39.5% n.m.

Operating income 3,191  2,869  3,479  11.2% (17.5%)

Other (expense) income (18) (253) 2,406  92.9% n.m.

Interest expense (723) (791) (859) 8.6% 7.9%

Pre-tax earnings from continuing operations 2,450  1,825  5,026  34.2% (63.7%)

Income taxes (368) (469) (735) 21.5% 36.2%

Non-controlling interest (333) (323) (332) (3.1%) 2.7%

Earnings from continuing operations 1,749  1,033  3,959  69.3% (73.9%)

Discontinued operations (11) (90) 98  87.8% n.m.

Net earnings 1,738  943  4,057  84.3% (76.8%)

Dividends on preferred shares (107) (124) (131) 13.7% 5.3%

Net earnings applicable to common shares 1,631  819  3,926  99.1% (79.1%)

Earnings per share (EPS) 2.11 1.02 4.88 n.m. (79.1%)

n.m.: not meaningful

usage, and the revenue contribution from the acquisitions  
of Virgin and The Source. Although Bell Wireless contributed 
positively to Bell’s overall revenue growth, wireless service 
revenue increased only modestly as a result of weaker voice 
ARPU in 2009 compared with the previous year. The year-
over-year decline in voice ARPU was due to a softer econ-
omy, which reduced overall wireless usage and discretionary 
consumer and business spending, as well as to ongoing com-
petitive pricing pressures stemming from increased industry 
penetration of flanker brands.

Revenues at Bell Aliant were 3.7% lower in 2009 compared 
with 2008 due to the continued erosion of its local wireline 
and long distance businesses, and lower telecom product 
sales. These were partly offset primarily by higher revenues 
from growth in Internet and IP-based broadband connectivity 
services and an increase in wireless and IT revenues. The 
wind-down of the operations of Atlantic Mobility Products 
(AMP) in the third quarter of 2008 following Bell Canada’s 
notification that it would terminate its contract with AMP as 
its exclusive distributor in Atlantic Canada also adversely 
impacted Bell Aliant’s revenues in 2009. 

See Segmented Analysis for a discussion of operating rev-
enues on a segmented basis.

Operating Revenues

2009 COMPARED TO 2008

Total operating revenues at BCE were $17,735 million in 2009, 
up from $17,661 million in 2008.

Bell revenues increased 1.0% in 2009 to $15,020 million from 
$14,871 million in 2008, due to higher revenues generated by 
both our Bell Wireline and Bell Wireless segments. Total Bell 
revenues in 2009 were comprised of service revenues total-
ling $13,611 million, representing a 0.6% decline when com-
pared with 2008, and product revenues of $1,409 million 
representing a 19.8% increase year over year.

Bell Wireline’s revenues in 2009 were essentially unchanged, 
increasing by 0.2% year over year. Higher product revenues 
resulting from the acquisition of The Source in the third quar-
ter of 2009, as well as growth in revenues from our video, 
Internet and IP broadband connectivity services, were largely 
offset by lower residential local voice and long distance  
revenues reflecting a decline in the NAS customer base, 
higher business NAS access line losses and reduced equip-
ment sales to business customers given the weak economy, 
and decreased connectivity revenues stemming mainly from 
business customer losses and competitive pricing pressures.

Bell Wireless segment revenue growth of 1.8% in 2009 was 
driven primarily by a larger subscriber base, increased data 
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2008 COMPARED TO 2007

Total operating revenues at BCE were $17,661 million in 2008, 
compared with $17,707 million in 2007. Despite higher reve-
nues at Bell, the year-over-year decrease in total operating 
revenues was attributable primarily to the sale of Telesat on 
October 31, 2007, which contributed revenues of $458 million 
in 2007. Lower revenues at Bell Aliant also contributed to the 
annual decline in total operating revenues at BCE.

Bell’s revenues grew 1.6% to $14,871 million in 2008 from 
$14,643 million in 2007. The year-over-year increase was 
driven by revenue growth of 7.9% at Bell Wireless, reflecting 
the combined impact of a larger subscriber base, greater 
data usage and increased roaming revenues. This increase 
was partly offset by a 0.7% decline at our Bell Wireline seg-
ment brought about largely by the loss of residential local 
voice and long distance business to alternative service pro-
viders, competitive pressures in our wholesale business, and 
lower overall product sales consistent with our continued 
focus on not pursuing low-margin business. Growth in reve-
nues from video, Internet, IP broadband connectivity and ICT 
services moderated the year-over-year decline in Bell Wire-
line’s revenues in 2008. 

Revenues at Bell Aliant were 0.5% lower in 2008 compared 
with the previous year, due mainly to the wind-down in the 
operations of AMP in the third quarter of 2008, as well as  
to continued erosion of its local wireline and long distance 
businesses. This was largely offset by the increase in reve-
nues from growth in data (including Internet), wireless and  
IT revenues.

See Segmented Analysis for a discussion of operating rev-
enues on a segmented basis.

Operating Expenses

2009 COMPARED TO 2008

Operating expenses for BCE were virtually unchanged in 
2009, decreasing 0.1% to $10,646 million from $10,657 million 
in 2008. The year-over-year improvement was due to lower 
selling, general and administrative expenses, offset partly by 
higher cost of revenue.

Cost of revenue was $4,525 million in 2009, up 3.1% when 
compared to $4,389 million last year. The increase in cost of 
revenue can be attributed mainly to higher product costs, 
consistent with growth in total product revenues, due to the 
acquisitions of The Source and Virgin. Higher costs associ-
ated with increased wireless data usage and more mobile 
data content, higher cost of service at Bell TV from a larger 
subscriber base and increased programming costs, as well as 
higher U.S. dollar hedge rates in 2009 on our U.S. dollar-
denominated purchases of wireless devices, video STBs and 
cross-border exchange traffic, also contributed to the year-
over-year increase in cost of revenue. These factors were 
partly offset by the reversal of a liability totalling $54 million 
for CRTC video broadcast licence fees for the period from 
September 2006 to August 2009, lower wireless network 
expenses, as well as by decreased payments to other carriers 
resulting from reduced rates and lower volumes settled on 

other carriers’ networks. In addition, 2008 cost of revenue 
was adversely affected by a $31 million charge related to the 
Federal Court of Appeal’s decision in early 2008 in respect of 
CRTC video broadcast licence fees for the period from Sep-
tember 2006 to June 2008 and a $28 million charge for a loss 
on a long-term large business customer contract.

Selling, general and administrative expenses include sala-
ries, wages and benefits not directly attributable to a service 
or a product, net benefit plans cost, bad debt expense, taxes 
other than income, marketing, advertising and sales commis-
sion costs, customer billing, call centre and IT costs, profes-
sional service fees and rent. Selling, general and administrative 
expenses decreased 2.3% to $6,121 million in 2009 from 
$6,268 million in 2008. The year-over-year improvement 
was the result of:

lower labour costs due to a reduced workforce (excluding 
the impact of acquisitions), decreased use of consultants and 
contractors, and a cutback in outsourced labour resulting 
mainly from reduced call centre volumes and IT project-
related activity

lower wireless subscriber acquisition costs and retention 
spending

decreased wireless sales promotion and advertising 
expenses

reduced discretionary spending in areas such as travel 
and entertainment

the adverse impact in 2008 from a $14 million net charge 
associated with the termination of Bell Internet’s PC equip-
ment sales program.

These factors were partly offset by a number of cost 
increases at Bell in 2009, including:

increased customer care costs, including increased war-
ranty and repair costs, as a result of supporting more sophis-
ticated wireless devices and mobile services

higher operating expenses from the consolidation of The 
Source and Virgin in our results

higher net benefit plans cost.

2008 COMPARED TO 2007

Total operating expenses at BCE declined 0.6% in 2008 to 
$10,657 million from $10,716 million in 2007. The year-over-
year improvement was due to lower selling, general and 
administrative expenses, offset partly by higher cost of  
revenue. Telesat contributed $195 million to total operating 
expenses in 2007 until its sale on October 31, 2007.

Cost of revenue was $4,389 million in 2008, compared  
with $4,058 million in the previous year, representing a year-
over-year increase of 8.2%. Higher cost of revenue was due 
primarily to increased wireless operating expenses to sup-
port a larger subscriber base and growth in data usage, 
higher wireless roaming costs, increased cost of product 
sales at Bell Wireless stemming from a higher proportion of 
higher-end data devices sold and more handset upgrades, 
higher operating costs at Bell TV, and increased sales of busi-
ness ICT solutions. In addition, cost of revenue was adversely 
affected by a number of unusual items in 2008: a $31 million 
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(4) Operating income before restructuring and other is a non-GAAP financial measure. See Non-GAAP Financial Measures – Operating income before restructuring and 
other in this MD&A for more details, including a reconciliation to the most comparable Canadian GAAP financial measure.

At Bell, operating income in 2009 totalled $2,432 million, up 
from $2,143 million in 2008, due to lower restructuring and 
other costs year over year.

Bell’s operating income before restructuring and other was 
$2,915 million in 2009, down 1.3% from $2,953 million in 2008. 
The year-over-year decrease was the result of higher net 
benefit plans cost and increased depreciation and amortiza-
tion expense, offset partly by lower operating expenses and 
higher operating revenues as previously described.

Higher operating income at Bell Aliant also positively con-
tributed to overall operating income at BCE in 2009. Bell 
Aliant’s operating income amounted to $759 million, up 4.5% 
from $726 million in 2008. The year-over-year increase was 
due mainly to lower operating expenses driven largely by 
the positive impact of cost containment initiatives such as 
workforce reductions and tight control over discretionary 
expenses, offset partly by lower operating revenues.

See Segmented Analysis for a discussion of operating 
income on a segmented basis.

2008 COMPARED TO 2007

BCE’s operating income was $2,869 million in 2008, com-
pared with $3,479 million in 2007. The year-over-year decline 
was due mainly to lower operating income at Bell, resulting 
largely from higher restructuring and other charges in 2008 
as described above, and to the reduction in operating income 
as a result of the sale of Telesat on October 31, 2007. Telesat 
contributed $157 million of operating income to BCE’s results 
in 2007. Higher operating income at Bell Aliant, driven  
mainly by lower net benefit plans cost and cost containment 
initiatives, moderated the year-over-year decrease in BCE’s 
operating income in 2008.

Operating income at Bell totalled $2,143 million in 2008, 
down from $2,652 million in 2007. The results for 2008 
included restructuring and other charges totalling $810 mil-
lion, compared with restructuring and other charges of  
$308 million in 2007.

Bell’s operating income before restructuring and other in 
2008 was $2,953 million, down 0.2% from $2,960 million in 
2007. The year-over-year decrease was driven mainly by 
higher operating expenses primarily at our Bell Wireless seg-
ment, increased depreciation and amortization expense, as 
well as by the adverse impact of a number of unusual items, 
which included a $31 million charge recorded in the second 
quarter of 2008 related to the Federal Court of Appeal’s 
decision in respect of CRTC video broadcast licence fees for 
the period from September 2006 to June 2008; a $14 million 
charge related to a write-down of assets associated with  
the termination of Bell Internet’s PC equipment sales program 
in the second quarter of 2008; and a $28 million charge 
recorded in the fourth quarter of 2008 for a loss on a long-
term large business customer contract. Higher operating rev-
enues and lower net benefit plans cost moderated the decline 
in Bell’s operating income in 2008.

charge taken in the second quarter of 2008 related to the 
Federal Court of Appeal’s decision in early 2008 in respect  
of CRTC video broadcast licence fees for the period from 
September 2006 to June 2008, and a $28 million charge 
recorded in the fourth quarter of 2008 for a loss on a long-
term large business customer contract. Higher cost of product 
sales at Bell Aliant, mainly from increased IT-related sales, 
also contributed to the increase in cost of revenue in 2008. 
These factors were partly offset by lower cost of product 
sales at Bell Wireline, driven primarily by reduced equipment 
sales under Bell Internet’s PC equipment sales program, which 
was terminated in the second quarter of 2008, as well as 
lower network termination costs from reduced southbound 
call traffic to the United States.

Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased 
5.9% to $6,268 million in 2008 from $6,658 million in 2007. The 
year-over-year improvement can be attributed mainly to: 

lower labour costs at Bell from a reduced workforce 
lower wireless handset subsidies at Bell Mobility 
decreased bad debt expense resulting mainly from our 

on going focus on accounts receivable collections and cash 
flow 

reduced advertising costs and lower promotional spending 
cost containment initiatives at Bell and Bell Aliant 
lower net benefit plans cost
the adverse impact in 2008 from a $14 million net charge 

associated with the termination of Bell Internet’s PC equip-
ment sales program.

Operating Income

2009 COMPARED TO 2008

BCE’s operating income was $3,191 million in 2009, compared 
with $2,869 million in 2008. The year-over-year increase 
was due primarily to higher restructuring and other charges 
in 2008 totalling $871 million, which included amounts 
recorded for involuntary workforce reduction initiatives, the 
relocation of employees and closing of real estate facilities 
that are no longer needed as a result of a reduced workforce, 
the CRTC’s decision in the first quarter of 2008 to approve 
the use of a portion of the deferral account funds for the 
uneconomic expansion of broadband service, and costs 
associated with the proposed privatization of BCE Inc. This 
compared with restructuring and other items of $527 million 
in 2009, reflecting amounts for voluntary and involuntary 
workforce reduction initiatives, including a retirement incen-
tive for unionized employees, the consolidation of employees 
to campus environments, and a charge recorded as a result 
of a Supreme Court of Canada ruling relating to the use of 
Bell’s remaining deferral account balance with the CRTC.

Operating income before restructuring and other (4) for BCE 
in 2009 was $3,718 million, down 0.6% as compared with 
$3,740 million in 2008. The year-over-year decrease was 
attributable mainly to lower operating income before restruc-
turing and other items at Bell.
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2008. Accordingly, net benefit plans cost for BCE increased 
to $355 million in 2009 from $250 million in the previous year.

2008 COMPARED TO 2007

EBITDA at BCE increased 0.2% to $7,004 million in 2008  
from $6,991 million in 2007, due to higher EBITDA at both Bell 
and Bell Aliant. The sale of Telesat on October 31, 2007 that 
resulted in no EBITDA being recorded for Telesat in our con-
solidated results in 2008, compared with $263 million in 2007 
largely offset the year-over-year improvement.

Bell’s EBITDA totalled $5,638 million in 2008, up 2.2%  
compared with $5,519 million in 2007. The increase was 
driven by higher EBITDA at Bell Wireless, while EBITDA at our 
Bell Wireline segment remained relatively unchanged.

Bell Wireless’s EBITDA growth in 2008 was driven primarily 
by higher revenues and lower subscriber acquisition costs, 
which more than offset the negative impact of higher cost of 
revenue and increased customer retention and handset 
upgrade spending resulting from a larger subscriber base 
year over year. 

EBITDA at our Bell Wireline segment was fairly constant 
year over year as the loss of higher-margin legacy voice and 
data revenues was offset by increased revenues from growth 
services, lower labour costs due mainly to a reduced work-
force, careful control over selling, general and administrative 
costs, and lower net benefit plans cost. 

Bell’s EBITDA was also adversely impacted in 2008 by 
three unusual items: a $31 million charge in respect of CRTC 
video broadcast licence fees, a $14 million charge related to 
the termination of Bell Internet’s PC equipment sales program 
and a $28 million charge related to a loss on a long-term 
large business customer contract.

Bell Aliant’s EBITDA increased 5.4% in 2008. The improve-
ment was mainly the result of higher revenues and lower  
net benefit plans cost, partly offset by higher cost of revenue 
related to increased product sales and higher labour costs 
due to increased IT service contract labour and annual  
wage increases.

Lower net benefit plans cost had a positive impact on 
EBITDA for all of BCE’s segments in 2008. Net benefit plans 
cost totalled $250 million in 2008, representing a 39% 
decrease compared with $410 million in 2007. The year-over-
year decline was due primarily to lower amortization of 
actuarial losses, driven by a higher discount rate, the impact 
of prior period gains, a greater asset base and the reversal 
of a valuation allowance at Bell Aliant, partly offset by a 
lower return on plan assets.

Depreciation and Amortization of Intangible Assets

The amount of our depreciation and amortization of intangi-
ble assets in any year is affected by: 
 how much we invested in new capital assets in previous 
years 
 how many assets we retired during the year 
 changes in accounting rules and estimates.

See Segmented Analysis for a discussion of operating 
income on a segmented basis.

EBITDA

2009 COMPARED TO 2008

EBITDA at BCE increased 1.2% in 2009 to $7,089 million from 
$7,004 million in 2008. BCE’s EBITDA margin in 2009 increased 
to 40.0% from 39.7% in 2008, reflecting higher revenues, year 
over year, and tight control over operating expenses.

Bell’s EBITDA was $5,719 million in 2009, up 1.4% from 
$5,638 million in 2008. This corresponds to an EBITDA margin 
of 38.1%, representing a 0.2 percentage point improvement 
over 2008. The year-over-year increase was driven by 
higher EBITDA at both our Bell Wireline and Bell Wireless seg-
ments, despite higher net benefit plans cost and the acquisi-
tion of a greater number of new wireless and TV subscribers 
compared with 2008.

Bell Wireless’s EBITDA increased 2.4% in 2009, despite mod-
est year-over-year revenue growth and higher cost of prod-
uct sales, mainly as a result of reduced network expenses, 
decreased roaming costs, lower subscriber acquisition costs, 
reduced marketing and advertising expenses, and controlled 
customer retention and handset upgrade spending.

EBITDA at our Bell Wireline segment increased 1.0% in 2009, 
due primarily to a decline in overall labour costs attributable 
to a reduced workforce and strict management of selling, 
general and administrative costs. The reversal of a liability 
totalling $54 million for CRTC video broadcast licence fees 
for the three years ended August 31, 2009 also contributed  
to higher EBITDA at Bell in 2009. The ongoing decrease in 
higher-margin legacy voice and data revenues, increased 
net benefit plans cost, foreign exchange losses on our U.S. 
dollar-denominated purchases stemming from higher U.S. 
dollar hedge rates in 2009, and increased expenses related 
to our sponsorship of the Vancouver Winter Olympics partly 
offset the year-over-year EBITDA improvement. In addition, 
2008 EBITDA was adversely affected by a $31 million charge 
related to the Federal Court of Appeal’s decision in early 
2008 in respect of CRTC video broadcast licence fees for the 
period from September 2006 to June 2008, a $28 million 
charge for a loss on a long-term large business customer 
contract and a $14 million net charge associated with the 
termination of Bell Internet’s PC equipment sales program.

Bell Aliant’s EBITDA in 2009 was consistent with 2008, 
increasing by 0.3%. Reduced operating expenses were offset 
largely by lower operating revenues.

Higher net benefit plans cost had an adverse impact on 
Bell’s EBITDA in 2009. Net benefit plans cost at Bell totalled 
$263 million in 2009, representing an increase of 58%, com-
pared with $166 million in 2008. The year-over-year increase 
was due to a lower expected return on plan assets, prior 
period gains that were fully amortized in 2008 and higher 
amortization of actuarial losses, offset partly by a higher dis-
count rate. Net benefit plans cost at Bell Aliant increased 
year over year to $92 million in 2009 from $84 million in 
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2008

We recorded restructuring and other charges of $871 million 
in 2008. These included: 

charges related to involuntary workforce reduction initia-
tives of $274 million at Bell and $61 million at Bell Aliant

charges of $81 million for real estate costs of which $32 mil-
lion related to relocating employees and closing real estate 
facilities that are no longer needed because of workforce 
reduction initiatives and $49 million related to the relocation 
to campus environments

charges of $455 million related to a charge of $236 million 
for the CRTC’s decision to approve the use of the deferral 
account funds for the uneconomic expansion of our broad-
band network, $187 million for employee retention costs, and 
other financial advisory, professional and consulting costs 
associated with the proposed privatization transaction and 
costs related to Bell’s rebranding.

2007

We recorded restructuring and other charges of $331 million 
in 2007. These included: 

charges related to voluntary and involuntary workforce 
reduction initiatives of $63 million at Bell and $27 million at 
Bell Aliant

charges of $77 million for real estate costs of which $61 mil-
lion related to relocating employees and closing real estate 
facilities that are no longer needed because of workforce 
reduction initiatives and $16 million related to the relocation 
to campus environments

charges of $164 million related to employee retention costs, 
other financial advisory, professional and consulting costs 
associated with the proposed privatization transaction and a 
charge of $37 million for uneconomic broadband expansion 
approved by the CRTC.

Other (Expense) Income 

Other (expense) income includes expenses and income that 
we incur and receive from activities that are not part of our 
main business operations, such as: 

net gains or losses on investments, including gains or 
losses when we dispose of, write down or reduce our owner-
ship in investments 

foreign currency gains and losses 
interest income on cash and cash equivalents 
other miscellaneous income or expense. 

2009

Other expense of $18 million in 2009 included premiums paid 
on the early redemption of debt of $45 million, partly offset 
by gains on investments.

DEPRECIATION 

Depreciation of $2,595 million in 2009 represented an 
increase of $58 million, or 2.3%, compared to $2,537 million in 
2008. The increase was due to a higher asset base and asset 
write-downs and depreciation adjustments, partly offset by 
charges in 2008 of $12 million as a result of an impairment of 
certain fixed assets and $7 million at Bell Aliant on the final-
ization of the purchase price allocation related to its privati-
zation of the Bell Nordiq Income Fund (Bell Nordiq).

Depreciation of $2,537 million in 2008 decreased $10 mil-
lion, or 0.4%, compared to $2,547 million in 2007. The $10 mil-
lion decrease reflected a decrease of $62 million from the 
sale of Telesat offset by an increase of $52 million, or 2.1%, 
from our continuing operations. The $52 million increase in 
2008 was due to a higher asset base, lower asset retirements 
and the charges described in the previous paragraph.

AMORTIZATION OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Amortization of intangible assets in 2009 of $776 million 
increased $49 million, or 6.7%, compared to $727 million in 
2008 and $93 million, or 14.7%, compared to $634 million in 
2007. The increases resulted from our continued investment 
in finite-life intangible assets. In 2008, we incurred charges 
of $11 million for an impairment of certain intangible assets 
and $9 million at Bell Aliant related to its privatization of Bell 
Nordiq. Both of these charges contributed to the increase in 
amortization of intangible assets in 2008.

Restructuring and Other

This category includes various income and expenses that are 
not directly related to the operating revenues generated 
during the year.

2009

We recorded restructuring and other charges of $527 million 
in 2009. These 2009 charges included:

charges related to voluntary and involuntary workforce 
reduction initiatives of $219 million at Bell and $41 million at 
Bell Aliant

charges of $80 million at Bell for relocating employees and 
closing real estate facilities that are no longer needed 

other charges of $187 million primarily related to the 
Supreme Court of Canada decision rendered in September 
2009 to uphold the CRTC’s decision that the funds remaining 
in our deferral account could be used for broadband expan-
sion or returned to our customers. In light of this ruling, we 
recorded a charge of $152 million for the years 2002 to 2006, 
which reflects our estimate of the remaining amount of our 
deferral account commitment. Our commitment under the 
deferral account is fully accrued in the financial statements.
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2008

Other expense of $253 million in 2008 included losses on 
investments of $308 million in 2008 from the write-down of 
most of our available-for-sale investments, partly offset by 
interest income on investments.

2007 

Other income of $2,406 million in 2007 included a $2,300 mil-
lion gain on the sale of Telesat in October 2007 and a $92 mil-
lion dilution gain resulting from an issuance of units by Bell 
Aliant, in conjunction with its privatization of Bell Nordiq.

Interest Expense

2009 COMPARED TO 2008

Interest expense of $723 million in 2009 represented a 
decrease of $68 million, or 8.6%, compared to $791 million for 
the same period last year as a result of interest capitalized 
on spectrum licences not yet in use and lower interest rates 
on debt, partly offset by higher average debt levels.

2008 COMPARED TO 2007

In 2008, interest expense of $791 million decreased $68 mil-
lion, or 7.9%, compared to interest expense of $859 million  
in 2007. The decrease was the result of lower average debt  
balances and refinancing debt at lower interest rates.

Income Taxes

2009 COMPARED TO 2008

Income taxes of $368 million represented a decrease of  
$101 million, or 21.5%, compared to $469 million for the same 
period last year as a result of the resolution of uncertain tax 
positions, higher depreciation and amortization expense and 
a decrease in the Ontario income tax rate at the end of 2009. 
This was partly offset by higher EBITDA and lower restructur-
ing and other expense.

As a result, the effective tax rate decreased to 15.0% in 
2009 compared to 25.7% in 2008.

2008 COMPARED TO 2007

Income taxes of $469 million in 2008 decreased $266 million, 
or 36%, compared to $735 million in 2007. In 2008, lower pre-
tax earnings due to higher restructuring charges contributed 
to the lower tax expense as well as a decrease in the  
statutory tax rate in 2008. Income taxes in 2007 included 
$407 million of tax expense on the gain on sale of Telesat. 
This was partly offset by the reversal of a tax liability due to 
the settlement of an uncertain tax position in connection 
with the sale of an investment in a prior year, as well as the 
non-taxable dilution gain from the issuance of units by Bell 
Aliant in conjunction with the privatization of Bell Nordiq.

As a result, the effective tax rate increased to 25.7% in 
2008 compared to 14.6% in 2007.

Discontinued Operations

In 2009, we incurred a net loss from discontinued operations 
of $11 million as compared to $90 million in 2008. The net loss 
in 2008 was due mainly to losses incurred and asset impair-
ments related to our decisions to cease operations or to  
sell certain of our businesses, including our investment in 
Expertech Network Installation (U.S.) Inc. (Expertech US). A 
loss of $15 million was recorded in 2008 in anticipation of the 
sale of Expertech US. In 2009, we ceased the operations of 
Expertech US.

The net gain from discontinued operations of $98 million in 
2007 related mainly to Bell Aliant’s gain on sale of its directory 
business, Aliant Directory Services (ADS), of approximately 
$110 million.

Net Earnings and EPS

2009 COMPARED TO 2008

Net earnings applicable to common shares for 2009 were 
$1,631 million, or $2.11 per common share, compared to net 
earnings of $819 million, or $1.02 per common share, for the 
same period last year. Net earnings were higher in 2009 due 
in part to a decrease in restructuring and other charges 
compared to 2008, as well as gains on investments in 2009 
compared to losses on investments last year.

Excluding the impact of restructuring and other and net 
(gains) losses on investments, Adjusted net earnings increased 
by $118 million, from $1,811 million to $1,929 million in 2009. 
The increase is due to higher EBITDA and lower income tax 
expense from the resolution of uncertain tax positions partly 
offset by increased depreciation and amortization expense 
and higher net benefit plans cost. As a result, Adjusted EPS 
increased 11.1% in 2009 to $2.50 per common share from 
$2.25 per common share in 2008, which also reflects the 
impact of fewer average outstanding common shares.

2008 COMPARED TO 2007

Net earnings applicable to common shares for 2008 were 
$819 million, or $1.02 per common share, a decrease of 79%, 
compared with net earnings of $3,926 million, or $4.88 per 
common share, in 2007. Net earnings were lower in 2008 due 
in part to an increase in restructuring and other charges as 
well as losses on investments in 2008 compared to gains on 
investments in 2007. 

Excluding the impact of restructuring and other and net 
(gains) losses on investments, Adjusted net earnings decreased 
by $73 million, from $1,884 million to $1,811 million in 2008. 

Higher EBITDA, lower interest expense, higher interest 
income and foreign exchange gains were more than offset by 
higher income tax expense and higher amortization expense 
resulting in the decrease of $73 million. Consequently, Adjusted 
EPS decreased by $0.09 per common share, year over year, 
to $2.25 in 2008.
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Segmented Analysis

Our reporting structure reflects how we manage our business and how we classify our operations for planning and measur ing 
performance.
          % CHANGE

OPERATING REVENUES 2009 2008 2007 2009 VS. 2008 2008 VS. 2007

Bell Wireline 10,666 10,640 10,719 0.2% (0.7%)

Bell Wireless 4,558 4,479 4,151 1.8% 7.9%

Inter-segment eliminations  (204)  (248)  (227) 17.7% (9.3%)

Bell   15,020 14,871 14,643 1.0% 1.6%

Bell Aliant 3,174 3,297 3,315 (3.7%) (0.5%)

Telesat  – – 458 – n.m.

Inter-segment eliminations  (459)  (507)  (709) 9.5% 28.5%

Total operating revenues 17,735 17,661 17,707 0.4% (0.3%)

n.m.: not meaningful
          % CHANGE

OPERATING INCOME 2009 2008 2007 2009 VS. 2008 2008 VS. 2007

Bell Wireline 1,148 902 1,454 27.3% (38.0%)

Bell Wireless 1,284 1,241 1,198 3.5% 3.6%

Bell   2,432 2,143 2,652 13.5% (19.2%)

Bell Aliant 759 726 714 4.5% 1.7%

Telesat  – – 157 – n.m.

Inter-segment eliminations – –  (44) – n.m.

Total operating income 3,191 2,869 3,479 11.2% (17.5%)

n.m.: not meaningful

Bell Wireline Segment

BELL WIRELINE REVENUE
          % CHANGE

BELL WIRELINE REVENUE 2009 2008 2007 2009 VS. 2008 2008 VS. 2007

Local and access 3,159 3,360 3,617 (6.0%) (7.1%)

Long distance 1,078 1,165 1,219 (7.5%) (4.4%)

Data   3,696 3,723 3,573 (0.7%) 4.2%

Video  1,593 1,450 1,317 9.9% 10.1%

Equipment and other 817 574 653 42.3% (12.1%)

Total external revenues 10,343 10,272 10,379 0.7% (1.0%)

Inter-segment revenues 323 368 340 (12.2%) 8.2%

Total Bell Wireline revenue 10,666 10,640 10,719 0.2% (0.7%)

2009 Compared to 2008

Bell Wireline’s revenues totalled $10,666 million, up 0.2% from 
$10,640 million in 2008. Year-over-year revenue increases  
of $143 million in video and $243 million in equipment and 
other were partly offset by decreases of $201 million, $87 mil-
lion and $27 million in local and access, long distance and 
data, respectively.

Local and Access

Local and access revenues declined 6.0% in 2009 to $3,159 mil-
lion from $3,360 million in 2008. The decrease was due 
largely to ongoing residential NAS erosion. Higher year-
over-year business line losses and the decline in our pay-
phone business driven by reduced usage also negatively 
impacted local and access revenues this year. The upselling 

of additional optional features to residential customers and 
the positive impact of price increases applied since the 
beginning of 2009 on various business and wholesale access 
services moderated the year-over-year decrease in local 
and access revenues.

At December 31, 2009, our combined residential and busi-
ness NAS customer base totalled 6,862,000 lines (comprised 
of 3,887,000 residential lines and 2,975,000 business lines), 
compared with 7,309,000 (comprised of 4,221,000 residential 
lines and 3,088,000 business lines) at the end of 2008. These 
figures include retroactive adjustments that we made to our 
NAS customer base as at the beginning of 2008 after an 
extensive company-wide review of subscriber metrics com-
pleted in 2009 that resulted in a reduction of 3,000 lines and 
111,000 lines, respectively, to our residential and business 
NAS subscriber counts. 
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Internet services revenue driven by a greater number of 
high-speed Internet customer connections, higher residential 
Internet ARPU, and increased IP broadband connectivity rev-
enue from both our business and wholesale customers. Leg-
acy data revenue erosion continued as a result of business 
customer migrations to IP-based systems, competitive losses, 
continued market pricing pressures, and a lower number of 
digital network access circuits used by existing customers 
due to a reduced level of overall business activity and cost 
rationalization given the slowdown in the economy.

We added 38,000 net high-speed Internet subscribers in 
2009 compared with 50,000 in 2008. Despite increased resi-
dential sales through our direct channels, driven by competi-
tive product offers and improvements in service delivery, 
total net subscriber activations decreased in 2009 as a result 
of higher economy-related business deactivations, fewer 
wholesale net activations and a maturing Internet market. At 
December 31, 2009, we had 2,057,000 high-speed Internet 
subscribers, representing a 0.1% increase over 2008. This fig-
ure includes an end-of-year subscriber base adjustment fol-
lowing a company-wide review of subscriber metrics, which 
resulted in a decrease of 35,000 customers. The subscriber 
base adjustment did not impact net subscriber activations 
for 2009.

Video

Video revenues increased 9.9% in 2009 to $1,593 million from 
$1,450 million in 2008 as a result of higher ARPU and a larger 
customer base. Video ARPU in 2009 was up 6.5%, or $4.22, to 
$69.59 per month from $65.37 per month in 2008. The year-
over-year improvement in video ARPU was due to customer 
upgrades to higher-priced programming packages, driven 
partly by increased customer adoption of premium STBs.

We added 113,000 net video subscribers in 2009, com-
pared with 30,000 in 2008. The year-over-year improve-
ment can be attributed to higher activations through our 
direct channels and increased customer subscriptions from 
MDUs. Our video churn rate in 2009 remained unchanged 
year over year at 1.2%. At December 31, 2009, our video sub-
scriber base totalled 1,949,000, representing a 5.2% increase 
over 2008. This figure includes an end-of-year subscriber 
base adjustment following a company-wide review of sub-
scriber metrics, which resulted in a decrease of 16,000 cus-
tomers. The subscriber base adjustment did not impact net 
subscriber activations for 2009.

Equipment and Other

Equipment and other revenues increased 42.3% to $817 mil-
lion in 2009 from $574 million last year, mainly as a result of 
the acquisition of The Source in the third quarter of 2009.

NAS net losses in 2009 were 447,000, up from 436,000 in 
the previous year, representing an annual rate of NAS ero-
sion of 6.1% in 2009 compared with 5.6% in 2008. The year-
over-year increase in line losses can be attributed to the 
weaker economy in 2009 that brought about a higher num-
ber of business customer disconnections and fewer new 
installations in Ontario and Québec. As a result, we experi-
enced a higher rate of business NAS erosion in 2009, which 
increased to 3.7% from 1.7% in 2008. However, our residential 
local business has exhibited resiliency to the economy as 
evidenced by the reduction in residential NAS line losses in 
2009, which improved 12.6% year over year, despite ongoing 
aggressive competition from both cable TV operators and 
CLECs for local telephone service. Effective marketing of our 
Home phone packages, the benefits of service bundling, cus-
tomer winbacks and better service delivery all contributed to 
lowering the annual rate of residential NAS erosion, which 
improved to 7.9% in 2009 from 8.3% in 2008.

Long Distance

Long distance revenues were $1,078 million in 2009, com-
pared with $1,165 million in 2008. The 7.5% decrease was 
driven by lower billed minute volumes resulting from residen-
tial and business NAS line erosion, toll competition, pricing 
pressures in our business and wholesale markets, as well as 
technological substitution to wireless and Internet. Increased 
adoption of unlimited or large usage packages for a set 
monthly price instead of per-minute rates by residential cus-
tomers also contributed to lower long distance revenues in 
2009 compared with the previous year.

Consistent with NAS erosion, technological substitution 
and the impacts of a weaker economy, particularly in our 
business markets, total minute volumes decreased by 4.4% in 
2009 to 11,248 million conversation minutes from 11,771 million 
in 2008. The year-over-year decline reflected lower volumes 
in both our residential and business markets, as well as com-
petitive pressures in wholesale. As a result of a decrease in 
total minutes of usage and lower per-minute rates resulting 
from intense price competition and the shift by residential 
customers to set-price packages, average revenue per min-
ute (ARPM) decreased by $0.006 in 2009 to $0.083 from 
$0.089 in the previous year.

Data

Data revenues decreased 0.7% in 2009 to $3,696 million from 
$3,723 million in 2008. The modest decline in 2009 was attrib-
utable to decreased equipment sales to business customers 
who have deferred buying decisions and are spending more 
cautiously during the economic downturn. Although legacy 
data revenues decreased year over year, total data service 
revenues increased 1.1% in 2009, mainly as a result of higher 
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Consistent with NAS erosion and competitive substitution, 
total minute volumes decreased by 5.8% in 2008 to 11,771 mil-
lion conversation minutes from 12,500 million in 2007. The 
year-over-year decline reflected lower domestic and over-
seas minute volumes in both our consumer and business sec-
tors, as well as competitive pressures in wholesale. Despite 
the positive impact of price increases at the beginning of 
2008 for residential and business customers, ARPM decreased 
$0.002 in 2008 to $0.089 from $0.091 in 2007.

Data

Data revenues were 4.2% higher year over year, increasing 
to $3,723 million in 2008 from $3,573 million in 2007. The 
main drivers of data revenue growth in 2008 included higher 
Internet services revenues, higher IP broadband connectivity 
services revenues, increased sales of ICT solutions to business 
customers, and higher Internet portal revenues. These fac-
tors, which had a positive impact on data revenues in 2008, 
were partly offset by lower revenues from legacy products 
and services. We added 50,000 net high-speed Internet sub-
scribers in 2008 compared with 124,000 in 2007. This brought 
our total Internet subscriber count at December 31, 2008 to 
2,054,000, representing a 2.5% increase since the end of the 
previous year. The year-over-year decrease in net activa-
tions in 2008 can be attributed primarily to our competitors’ 
aggressive acquisition offers and lower overall market 
demand due to the relatively high broadband Internet pene-
tration rate in Canada.

Video

Video revenues increased 10.1% in 2008 to $1,450 million from 
$1,317 million in 2007, due to higher ARPU and a larger cus-
tomer base. Video ARPU grew considerably in 2008, increas-
ing by $5.68 to reach $65.37 per month from $59.69 per 
month in the previous year.

We added 30,000 net new video subscribers in 2008, com-
pared with 2,000 in the previous year. The year-over-year 
improvement can be attributed mainly to higher sales through 
our call centre channels largely as a result of our integrated 
household strategy marketing campaign and increased cus-
tomer subscriptions from MDUs. Our video churn rate in 2008 
remained unchanged year over year at 1.2%. At December 31, 
2008, our video subscriber base totalled 1,852,000.

Equipment and Other

Consistent with our strategy of not pursuing low-margin 
business, equipment and other revenues decreased 12.1% in 
2008 to $574 million from $653 million in 2007, largely as a 
result of lower business equipment sales, reduced mainte-
nance of legacy voice equipment, and the termination in the 
second quarter of 2008 of Bell Internet’s PC equipment  
sales program.

2008 Compared to 2007

Bell Wireline’s revenues totalled $10,640 million in 2008, 
down 0.7% from $10,719 million in 2007. Year-over-year rev-
enue improvements of $150 million in data and $133 million in 
video were more than offset by decreases of $257 million, 
$54 million and $79 million in local and access, long distance, 
and equipment and other, respectively.

Local and Access

Local and access revenues declined 7.1% in 2008 to  
$3,360 mil lion from $3,617 million in 2007. The year-over-
year decrease was due largely to ongoing residential NAS 
erosion and the related loss of revenue from optional fea-
tures. The reversal of a regulatory provision in 2007 related 
to the price caps deferral account also contributed to the 
year-over-year decrease in local and access revenues in 
2008. The positive revenue impact of price increases over 
2007 on certain basic voice products and features, as well  
as various other business and wholesale access services, 
helped to moderate the year-over-year decrease in local 
and access revenues in 2008.

At December 31, 2008, our combined residential and busi-
ness NAS customer base totalled 7,309,000 lines, compared 
with 8,062,000 at the end of 2007. This corresponds to an 
annualized rate of NAS erosion of 9.3% in 2008 compared 
with 6.7% in 2007. The decrease in total NAS line losses was 
further impacted by a number of adjustments that we made 
at the beginning of 2008. At that time, we adjusted our 
beginning-of-period business NAS customer base to write-
off 273,000 lines following notification from a major whole-
sale customer in the fourth quarter of 2007 that it was in the 
process of migrating all its subscribers onto its own network 
facilities. As a result, the NAS subscriber count was adjusted 
in 2007. In addition, we adjusted our beginning-of-year resi-
dential NAS subscriber count down by 44,000 to reflect the 
results of an extensive review of our historical customer 
records. 

Excluding the impact of these adjustments, our annualized 
rate of NAS erosion at December 31, 2008 was 5.6%, com-
pared with 7.1% at December 31, 2007. In terms of NAS lines, 
our net losses on an adjusted basis in 2008 were 436,000, 
compared with 594,000 in 2007. The approximate 27% year-
over-year improvement in adjusted total NAS line losses can 
be attributed to the effectiveness of our integrated house-
hold marketing campaign, continued solid demand for our 
Bell Home Phone packages, ongoing customer winbacks, and 
reduced losses to CLECs. At the end of 2008, we had 4,221,000 
residential lines and 3,088,000 business lines, compared with 
customer bases of 4,603,000 and 3,142,000, respectively, at 
the end of 2007.

Long Distance

Long distance revenues decreased 4.4% in 2008 to $1,165 mil-
lion from $1,219 million in 2007, for primarily the same reasons 
as in 2009. 
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BELL WIRELINE OPERATING INCOME

2009 Compared to 2008

Operating income for our Bell Wireline segment was $1,148 mil-
lion in 2009, up from $902 million in 2008. The year-over-
year increase was due primarily to lower restructuring and 
other charges in 2009 of $475 million, reflecting amounts  
for voluntary and involuntary workforce reduction initiatives, 
including a retirement incentive for unionized employees, the 
relocation of employees to campus environments, and a 
charge recorded as a result of a Supreme Court of Canada 
ruling upholding the CRTC’s decision as to the disposition of 
Bell’s remaining deferral account balance. This compared 
with restructuring and other items of $773 million in 2008, 
which included amounts recorded for involuntary workforce 
reduction initiatives, the relocation of employees and closing 
of real estate facilities that are no longer needed as a result 
of a reduced workforce, the CRTC’s decision in the first quar-
ter of 2008 to approve the use of a portion of the deferral 
account funds for the uneconomic expansion of broadband 
service, and costs associated with the proposed privatization 
of BCE Inc.

Bell Wireline’s operating income before restructuring  
and other decreased 3.1% to $1,623 million in 2009 from 
$1,675 million in the previous year, mainly as a result of the 
following:

loss of higher-margin legacy voice and data revenues due 
to erosion of our residential NAS customer base and business 
customer losses

higher TV programming and customer acquisition costs 
consistent with the addition of multiple new channels and an 
increased number of new video subscriber activations

higher U.S. dollar hedge rates in 2009 on our U.S. dollar-
denominated purchases

increased wireline marketing and sales expenses
costs related to Bell’s sponsorship of the Vancouver Winter 

Olympics 
higher depreciation and amortization expense
higher net benefit plans cost.

These factors, which had an unfavourable impact on operat-
ing income this year, were partly offset by:

higher video, Internet and IP broadband connectivity 
revenues

a decline in overall labour costs due to a reduced work-
force, a reduction in outsourced labour, and decreased use 
of consultants and contractors

lower overall general and administrative expenses
the reversal of a liability for CRTC video broadcast licence 

fees for the three years ended August 31, 2009 related to a 
settlement with the federal government

the adverse impact on 2008 operating income of a $31 mil-
lion charge related to the Federal Court of Appeal’s decision 
in early 2008 in respect of CRTC video broadcast licence fees 
for the period from September 2006 to June 2008, a $28 mil-
lion charge for a loss on a long-term large business customer 
contract and a $14 million net charge associated with the ter-
mination of Bell Internet’s PC equipment sales program.

2008 Compared to 2007

Operating income for our Bell Wireline segment was $902 mil-
lion in 2008, down from $1,454 million in the previous year. 
The results for 2008 included restructuring and other charges 
totalling $773 million as described above, compared with 
restructuring and other charges of $304 million in 2007. 
Excluding the impact of these items, operating income before 
restructuring and other in 2008 decreased 4.7% to $1,675 mil-
lion from $1,758 million in 2007, mainly as a result of the 
following: 

loss of higher-margin legacy voice and data revenues due 
to erosion of our residential NAS customer base and business 
customer migration towards IP-based networks 

higher outsourcing costs from increased call volumes and 
IT service contract labour

increased expenses related to ongoing service 
im provements 

higher fleet expenses due mainly to increased fuel costs 
higher depreciation and amortization expense.

In addition, a number of unusual items occurred in 2008, 
which adversely affected operating income. These included a 
$31 million charge related to the Federal Court of Appeal’s 
decision in respect of CRTC video broadcast licence fees for 
the period from September 2006 to June 2008, a $14 million 
net charge related to a write-down of assets associated with 
the termination of Bell Internet’s PC equipment sales program 
in the second quarter of 2008, and a $28 million charge 
recorded in the fourth quarter of 2008 for a loss on a long-
term large business customer contract.

The year-over-year decrease in operating income in 2008 
was moderated by: 

higher video, Internet, broadband connectivity and ICT ser-
vices revenues 

lower labour costs from a reduced workforce and lower 
compensation expense 

lower cost of product sales consistent with a decrease in 
overall business equipment sales and the termination of Bell 
Internet’s PC equipment sales program in the second quarter 
of 2008 

lower cost of revenue due to reduced long distance traffic 
and lower international rates 

decreased bad debt expense resulting mainly from our 
focus on accounts receivable collections and cash flow 

lower net benefit plans cost.
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Postpaid ARPU was $62.87 per month in 2009, down from 
$66.09 per month in 2008, while prepaid ARPU was essen-
tially unchanged at $17.15 per month in 2009 compared with 
$17.14 per month in the previous year. Accordingly, blended 
ARPU declined to $51.70 per month in 2009 from $54.29 per 
month in 2008.

On a pro forma basis, assuming the acquisition of Virgin 
occurred on January 1, 2008, postpaid and prepaid ARPU 
decreased, year over year, in 2009. Postpaid ARPU was 
$62.81 per month in 2009, compared with $66.02 per month 
in 2008. Prepaid ARPU declined to $17.53 per month in 2009 
from $17.83 per month in the previous year. Accordingly, 
blended ARPU declined to $50.88 per month in 2009 from 
$52.70 per month in 2008.

Notwithstanding the softer economy and intense competi-
tion, our gross wireless activations increased 8.7% in 2009 to 
1,794,000 compared with 1,651,000 in 2008. The year-over-
year improvement was driven by both higher postpaid and 
prepaid gross activations.

Postpaid gross activations grew 8.9% in 2009 to 1,056,000 
from 970,000 last year, reflecting the positive consumer 
response to the launch of the new HSPA/HSPA+ network, our 
expanded handset and smartphone lineup (including the 
Apple iPhone, BlackBerry Bold, LG Xenon and Palm Pre), 
growth in activations of wireless Internet sticks and our  
promotional offers. 

Prepaid gross activations increased 8.4% in 2009 to 
738,000 from 681,000 in 2008, reflecting growth at Virgin 
and relatively higher demand for prepaid products as con-
sumers curbed spending in a weak economy.

Our blended churn rate increased to 1.7% in 2009 from  
1.6% in 2008, reflecting higher postpaid and prepaid churn. 
Postpaid churn increased to 1.3% in 2009 from 1.2% in the pre-
vious year, due to higher economy-driven deactivations and 
aggressive acquisition offers from our competitors. Prepaid 
churn increased to 3.2% in 2009 from 3.1% in 2008. 

On a pro forma basis, our blended churn rate increased to 
1.8% in 2009 from 1.7% last year, reflecting higher postpaid 
and prepaid churn. Postpaid churn increased to 1.3% in 2009 
from 1.2% in 2008. Prepaid churn increased to 3.2% in 2009 
from 3.1% in 2008. 

As a result of higher gross subscriber activations, total 
wireless net activations increased 6.3% in 2009 to 373,000 
compared with 351,000 in 2008. Postpaid net activations, 
which represented 89% of total net activations in 2009, were 

2009 Compared to 2008

Bell Wireless operating revenues, comprised of network ser-
vice and product revenues, increased 1.8% to $4,558 million in 
2009 from $4,479 million in 2008. Despite subscriber base 
growth and the July 2009 acquisitions of Virgin and The 
Source, operating revenues were adversely affected by the 
economic downturn, which has resulted in reduced usage 
and lower overall spending by both our consumer and busi-
ness customers.

Wireless service revenue in 2009 grew by 1.1%, or $43 mil-
lion, to $4,102 million from $4,059 million in 2008. The year-
over-year increase was driven by higher wireless data usage, 
subscriber base growth and the acquisition of Virgin. Lower 
voice ARPU moderated the growth in wireless service reve-
nue in 2009, reflecting the impacts of a weaker economy 
and competitive pricing pressures due to increased penetra-
tion by flanker brands in the market.

Product revenues increased 8.0% in 2009 to $405 million 
from $375 million in 2008. The year-over-year increase was 
due to the acquisitions of Virgin and The Source, and 
increased sales of smartphones.

Beginning in the third quarter of 2009, wireless ARPU, 
churn and COA reflect 100% of Virgin’s results. These metrics, 
prior to this time, reflected our previous 50% ownership. 
Wireless gross activations, net activations and end-of-period 
subscribers in prior periods have always included 100% of 
Virgin’s subscribers.

Wireless ARPU decreased in 2009 mainly as a result of 
declining voice usage triggered by the soft economy. The 
decline in the voice component of ARPU can be attributed to 
a decrease in usage reflecting reduced employment levels 
and increased customer adoption of richer rate plans with 
more services and voice minutes included at lower monthly 
prices, and decreased roaming revenues from lower in-bound 
roaming rates and customers curtailing travel. These factors 
were partly offset by growth in data revenues, reflecting 
increased usage and features penetration consistent with 
the sale of a greater number of smartphones, wireless Inter-
net sticks and other data-capable devices. In addition, due to 
the inclusion of a higher proportion of Virgin prepaid custom-
ers in our ARPU calculation, blended ARPU for 2009 was 
impacted adversely when compared to 2008, while postpaid 
ARPU remained virtually unaffected. Although wireless ARPU 
decreased in 2009, the year-over-year decline improved in 
the second half of the year.

Bell Wireless Segment

BELL WIRELESS REVENUE
          % CHANGE

BELL WIRELESS REVENUE 2009 2008 2007 2009 VS. 2008 2008 VS. 2007

Service  4,102 4,059 3,773 1.1% 7.6%

Product  405 375 319 8.0% 17.6%

Total external revenues 4,507 4,434 4,092 1.6% 8.4%

Inter-segment revenues 51 45 59 13.3% (23.7%)

Total Bell Wireless revenue 4,558 4,479 4,151 1.8% 7.9%
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essentially stable year over year at 331,000 compared with 
332,000 in 2008, while prepaid net activations increased to 
42,000 in 2009 from 19,000 in the previous year.

At December 31, 2009, we provided service to 6,833,000 
wireless subscribers, representing a 5.2% increase since the 
end of 2008. This figure includes an end-of-year subscriber 
base adjustment following a company-wide review of sub-
scriber metrics, which resulted in a decrease of 37,000 cus-
tomers (35,000 postpaid and 2,000 prepaid). The subscriber 
base adjustment did not impact net subscriber activations 
for 2009.

2008 Compared to 2007

Bell Wireless operating revenues increased 7.9% to $4,479 mil-
lion in 2008 from $4,151 million in 2007. Wireless service  
revenues grew 7.6% to $4,059 million in 2008, driven mainly 
by the combination of a larger subscriber base, significantly 
higher data usage and increased roaming revenues. Product 
revenues were 17.6% higher in 2008 at $375 million, com-
pared with $319 million in 2007. The year-over-year improve-
ment in product revenues reflected a higher volume of 
handset sales and customer upgrades, driven primarily by 
continued subscriber base growth, as well as an increase in 
the average handset price due to a higher proportion of 
high-end data devices sold.

Both postpaid and prepaid ARPU in 2008 increased mar-
ginally, year over year, to $66.09 per month and $17.14 per 
month, respectively, from $65.88 per month and $17.11 per 
month in 2007. Accordingly, on a combined postpaid and pre-
paid basis, blended ARPU increased in 2008 to $54.29 per 
month compared with $53.92 per month in the previous year.

Gross wireless activations increased 0.7% in 2008 to 
1,651,000 from 1,640,000 in 2007, driven by higher postpaid 
gross activations. Postpaid gross activations grew by 6.7% in 
2008, reflecting our promotional offers, the growing demand 
for high-end data handsets and smartphones, a higher num-
ber of points of sale, and Virgin’s introduction of postpaid 
rate plans at the beginning of 2008. Prepaid gross activations 
in 2008 decreased 6.6%, year over year, mainly as a result of 
our increased focus on postpaid customer acquisition.

Our blended churn rate for 2008 decreased slightly year 
over year to 1.6% from 1.7% in 2007. Postpaid churn decreased 
to 1.2% in 2008 from 1.3% in 2007, due mainly to our customer 
retention and service improvement strategies, while prepaid 
churn increased to 3.1% from 2.8% in 2007, mainly as a result 
of a higher number of inactive customer deactivations.

Postpaid net activations improved significantly in 2008, 
increasing 61% to 332,000 from 206,000 in 2007. The year-
over-year improvement can be attributed to the combined 
impact of higher postpaid gross activations and lower post-
paid customer churn. Despite significantly higher postpaid 
net activations, our total wireless net activations decreased 
to 351,000 in 2008 from 408,000 in the previous year, as a 
result of lower prepaid net activations, which totalled 19,000 
in 2008 compared with 202,000 in 2007. 

At the end of 2008 we adjusted our end-of-period wireless 
subscriber base. During the fourth quarter of 2008, we 
decommissioned our analog wireless network that was 
deployed in the mid-1980s and had reached the end of its 
useful service life. We began notifying customers of the 
pending network shutdown approximately one year earlier. 
These customers were offered free digital handsets and the 
option of higher-powered long-range phones at a low cost. 
The deactivation of the remaining analog subscribers resulted 
in the removal of approximately 37,000 subscribers (11,000 
postpaid and 26,000 prepaid) from our wireless subscriber 
base. In addition, we adjusted our end-of-period wireless 
subscriber base by 32,000 postpaid customers to reflect 
customers with credit issues when postpaid service was 
introduced at Virgin at the beginning of 2008. These adjust-
ments were not included in the determination of net activa-
tions or customer churn for 2008. Taking into account the 
aforementioned subscriber-base adjustments, we ended 
2008 with 6,497,000 wireless subscribers, representing a 
4.5% increase over 2007.

BELL WIRELESS OPERATING INCOME

2009 Compared to 2008

Our Bell Wireless segment reported operating income of 
$1,284 million in 2009, up 3.5% from $1,241 million in 2008. The 
year-over-year increase was due to higher operating reve-
nues, lower subscriber acquisition costs, decreased network 
operating expenses, reduced payments to other carriers as a 
result of lower overall roaming volumes in combination with 
lower rates, lower marketing and sales expenses, as well as 
decreased customer retention and handset upgrade spend-
ing. These factors were partly offset by:

higher costs to support a larger number of subscribers and 
wireless data usage growth

increased costs to provide more data content and support 
services being offered

increased customer care costs, including increased war-
ranty and repair costs, as a result of supporting more sophis-
ticated devices and services

higher cost of product sales driven by a significant year-
over-year increase in smartphone activations

increased operating expenses consistent with the acquisi-
tions of Virgin and The Source

higher U.S. dollar hedge rates in 2009 on our U.S. dollar-
denominated purchases of wireless devices.

Wireless COA decreased by 11.4% in 2009 to $350 per gross 
activation from $395 per gross activation in 2008. On a pro 
forma basis, wireless COA decreased by 9.9% in 2009 to 
$336 per gross activation from $373 in the previous year. The 
improvement in wireless COA was the result of reductions in 
selling and advertising costs, and a higher proportion of 
wireless Internet stick activations compared to last year. 
Handset subsidies were higher, year over year, due to for-
eign exchange losses on U.S. dollar hedges incurred on the 
purchase of wireless devices and a shift in handset mix 
towards higher-priced smartphones and data devices.
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higher cost of product sales consistent with increased 
equipment revenues 

increased customer retention and handset upgrade 
expenses 

higher labour costs associated with increased call centre 
volumes and new stores.

Wireless COA decreased 2.2% in 2008 to $395 per gross acti-
vation from $404 per gross activation. The year-over-year 
improvement was due mainly to lower handset subsidies, 
despite increased sales of higher-end data devices, and 
reduced marketing costs.

2008 Compared to 2007

Our Bell Wireless segment reported operating income of 
$1,241 million in 2008, up 3.6% from $1,198 million in 2007. The 
year-over-year increase was due primarily to higher reve-
nues and lower subscriber acquisition costs. These factors 
were partly offset by: 

higher network operating expenses to sustain a larger 
subscriber base, increased data usage and roaming 

increased costs to provide data content and to support 
services being offered 

Bell Aliant Segment

BELL ALIANT REVENUE
          % CHANGE

BELL ALIANT REVENUE 2009 2008 2007 2009 VS. 2008 2008 VS. 2007

Local and access 1,348 1,394 1,426 (3.3%) (2.2%)

Long distance 399 429 445 (7.0%) (3.6%)

Data   632 598 522 5.7% 14.6%

Wireless 78 72 53 8.3% 35.8%

Equipment and other 428 462 471 (7.4%) (1.9%)

Total external revenues 2,885 2,955 2,917 (2.4%) 1.3%

Inter-segment revenues 289 342 398 (15.5%) (14.1%)

Total Bell Aliant revenue 3,174 3,297 3,315 (3.7%) (0.5%)

2009 Compared to 2008

Bell Aliant revenues decreased 3.7% to $3,174 million in 2009 
from $3,297 million in 2008. The year-over-year decline 
resulted from the continued erosion of Bell Aliant’s local wire-
line and long distance businesses and reduced telecom prod-
uct sales. These declines were partly offset by higher revenues 
from growth in Internet and IP-based broadband connectiv-
ity services, and an increase in wireless and IT revenue. The 
wind-down of the operations of AMP in the third quarter  
of 2008, following Bell’s notification that it would terminate 
its contract with AMP as its exclusive distributor in Atlantic 
Canada, also adversely impacted Bell Aliant’s operating rev-
enues in 2009.

Local and access revenues decreased 3.3% in 2009 to 
$1,348 million from $1,394 million in 2008. This was due to a 
5.1% decline in the NAS customer base in 2009, reflecting com-
petitive losses driven by aggressive pricing and increased 
promotional activity by competitors, as well as expansion in 
the cable telephony footprint and substitution for other ser-
vices including wireless and VoIP services. The decline in rev-
enue was moderated by retention programs that targeted 
high-value customers, pricing increases in certain areas of 
Bell Aliant’s territory, and increased penetration of features 
and service bundles. At December 31, 2009, Bell Aliant had 
2,926,000 NAS in service, compared with 3,082,000 NAS one 
year earlier.

Long distance revenues were $399 million in 2009, down 
7.0% compared with $429 million in 2008. The decrease was 
due to a 4.1% annual decline in conversation minutes in 2009 
resulting from competitive losses and technology substitution 
to wireless calling and IP-based services. ARPM decreased 
2.1% in 2009 to $0.093 from $0.095 in 2008, due to price 
reductions, primarily for business customers, and the contin-
ued shift by residential customers from per-minute rate plans 
to fixed-price packages.

Data revenues increased 5.7% in 2009 to $632 million from 
$598 million in 2008. The year-over-year improvement can 
be attributed to higher Internet revenues driven by a 7.0% 
increase in the number of high-speed subscribers and higher 
residential ARPU from growth in VAS and price increases over 
the past year. At December 31, 2009, Bell Aliant had 810,000 
high-speed Internet subscribers compared with 757,000 sub-
scribers one year earlier.

Wireless revenues grew 8.3% in 2009 to $78 million from 
$72 million in 2008, due mainly to a larger subscriber base 
and higher ARPU. At December 31, 2009, Bell Aliant had 121,000 
wireless customers, representing a 6.1% increase since the 
end of 2008.

Equipment and other revenues decreased 7.4% in 2009 to 
$428 million from $462 million in 2008. The year-over-year 
decline was due to lower telecom product sales in 2009 com-
pared with 2008. Equipment and other revenues in 2009 
were also adversely impacted by the wind-down in the oper-
ations of AMP in the third quarter of 2008.
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also contributed to higher operating income in 2009. These 
favourable factors were partly offset by lower total operating 
revenues and higher net benefit plans cost year over year.

2008 Compared to 2007

Operating income at Bell Aliant increased 1.7% in 2008 to 
$726 million from $714 million in 2007. Lower net benefit plans 
cost and strict management of selling, general and adminis-
trative expenses more than offset decreased operating  
revenues, higher cost of revenue driven by increased IT-
related sales, higher depreciation and amortization expense, 
and higher restructuring and other charges reflecting a 
charge recorded in the fourth quarter of 2008 related to  
a workforce reduction initiative to remove approximately 
500 management positions in 2009.

FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

This section tells you how we manage our cash and capital 
resources to carry out our strategy and deliver financial 
results. It provides an analysis of our financial condition, cash 
flows and liquidity on a consolidated basis.

Net Debt
  2009 2008

Debt due within one year (1)   600  2,201 

Long-term debt   10,299  10,099 

Securitization of accounts receivable   1,305  1,305 

Preferred shares   2,770  2,770 

Less: Cash and cash equivalents   (687) (3,052)

Total net debt   14,287  13,323 

(1) Includes bank advances and notes payable.

Net debt increased $964 million to $14,287 million in 2009 
due mainly to a decrease in cash and cash equivalents.  
BCE Inc. paid dividends on common shares of $1,201 million, 
repurchased and cancelled 36 million outstanding common 
shares for $894 million and invested $338 million for business 
acquisitions, including Virgin and The Source. These decreases 
in cash were partly offset by free cash flow of $1,456 million 
in 2009.

Outstanding Share Data

(in millions)    2009 2008

Common shares     767.2 803.1

Stock options    11.3   15.0 

We had 767.2 million common shares outstanding at the end 
of 2009, a decrease of 35.9 million from 2008 resulting from 
BCE Inc.’s repurchase of 36 million of its outstanding common 
shares for cancellation through a NCIB, partly offset by stock 
options that were exercised in 2009. At February 28, 2010, 
765.2 million common shares and 10.3 million stock options 
were outstanding.

2008 Compared to 2007

Bell Aliant segment revenues decreased 0.5% to $3,297 mil-
lion in 2008 from $3,315 million in 2007. The year-over-year 
decline was due primarily to the wind-down in the opera-
tions of AMP in the third quarter of 2008, as well as to the 
continued decrease in revenues from its local and access 
and long distance services, which was offset largely by  
higher revenues from data (including Internet), IT services 
and wireless.

Local and access revenues decreased 2.2% in 2008 to 
$1,394 million from $1,426 million in 2007. This was due to a 
3.4% decline in the NAS customer base since the end of 2007. 
The year-over-year revenue decline was lower than Bell 
Aliant’s NAS erosion rate, due primarily to the impact of price 
increases in certain areas of Bell Aliant’s territory and 
increased penetration of value-added features and service 
bundles. At December 31, 2008, Bell Aliant had 3,082,000 
NAS in service, compared with 3,191,000 one year earlier.

Long distance revenues totalled $429 million in 2008, down 
3.6% compared with $445 million in 2007. This was due pri-
marily to a decline in annual long distance minutes of 3.7%. 
ARPM decreased to $0.095 in 2008 from $0.096 in 2007.

Data revenues, including Internet, increased 14.6% in 2008 
to $598 million from $522 million in 2007, mainly as a result 
of a 9.9% increase in the number of high-speed subscribers, 
as well as to growth in IP connectivity broadband services 
such as VPN. At December 31, 2008, Bell Aliant had 757,000 
high-speed Internet subscribers compared with 689,000 one 
year earlier.

Wireless revenues grew 35.8% in 2008 to $72 million from 
$53 million in 2007. The year-over-year increase was due to 
the combined impact of a larger subscriber base and higher 
ARPU driven primarily by growth in data services. At Decem-
ber 31, 2008, Bell Aliant had 114,000 wireless customers, rep-
resenting an approximate 20% increase since the end of 2007.

Equipment and other revenues decreased 1.9% in 2008 to 
$462 million from $471 million in 2007. The decrease in 2008 
was due primarily to the wind-down in the operations of 
AMP, offset partly by higher year-over-year IT services  
revenue driven by growth in IT project activity within the 
healthcare industry and by increased IT product sales to a 
few key customers.

BELL ALIANT OPERATING INCOME

2009 Compared to 2008

Operating income at Bell Aliant was higher year over year, 
increasing by 4.5% to $759 million in 2009 from $726 million 
in 2008. The year-over-year improvement was due mainly 
to lower labour costs as a result of workforce reduction pro-
grams initiated in the fourth quarter of 2008 and the first 
quarter of 2009, and to decreased use of consultants and IT 
services contract labour. Other cost containment initiatives 
that resulted in reduced selling, general and administrative 
expenses, as well as lower restructuring and other charges 
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were exercisable at a weighted average exercise price of 
$34. In 2009:

0.1 million previously granted options were exercised 
3.6 million previously granted options were forfeited.

The number of stock options outstanding at the end of 
2009 was 11.3 million, a decrease of 3.7 million from 2008. 
The weighted average exercise price of the stock options 
outstanding at December 31, 2009 was $32. Of the total out-
standing stock options at December 31, 2009, 8.8 million 

Cash Flows

The following table is a summary of our cash inflows and outflows.
          % CHANGE

    2009 2008 2007 2009 VS. 2008 2008 VS. 2007

Cash flows from operating activities  4,884   5,909   5,730  (17.3%) 3.1%

Bell Aliant distributions to BCE  291   290   282  0.3% 2.8%

Capital expenditures  (2,854)  (2,986)  (3,140) 4.4% 4.9%

Other investing activities  (89)  (726)  13  87.7% n.m.

Cash dividends paid on preferred shares  (107)  (129)  (124) 17.1% (4.0%)

Cash dividends/distributions paid by subsidiaries  
 to non-controlling interest  (369)  (366)  (404) (0.8%) 9.4%

Bell Aliant free cash flow  (300)  (303)  (397) 1.0% 23.7%

Free cash flow  1,456   1,689   1,960  (13.8%) (13.8%)

Bell Aliant undistributed free cash flow  9   13   115  (30.8%) (88.7%)

Business acquisitions  (338)  (56)  (163) n.m. 65.6%

Business dispositions  11   (10)  3,123  n.m. n.m.

Formation of Bell Aliant   – –  (7) – 100.0%

Going-private costs  (7)  (163)  (49) 95.7% n.m.

Increase in investments  (53)  (8)  (27) n.m. 70.4%

Decrease in investments 113 1 192 n.m. (99.5%)

Net repayment of debt instruments  (1,385)  (451)  (1,766) n.m. 74.5%

Cash dividends paid on common shares  (1,201)  (587)  (1,147) n.m. 48.8%

Issue of common shares 2 50 153 (96.0%) (67.3%)

Repurchase of common shares  (894)  (92)  (227) n.m. 59.5%

Redemption of equity securities by subsidiaries from  
 non-controlling interest – –  (333) – 100.0%

Other financing activities  (90)  16   (66) n.m. n.m.

Cash provided by discontinued operations  2   3  319 (33.3%) (99.1%)

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents  (2,375)  405   2,077  n.m. (80.5%)

n.m.: not meaningful

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

2009 COMPARED TO 2008

Cash flows from operating activities were $4,884 million, a 
decrease of $1,025 million, or 17.3%, compared to $5,909 mil-
lion in 2008. The decrease was due to:

an increase of $836 million in pension contributions, includ-
ing a $500 million voluntary pension contribution at Bell

a decrease of $88 million in interest received as a result  
of lower interest rates on temporary cash investments and 
lower average cash balances

an increase of $56 million in income taxes paid 
an increase in investment in working capital.
This was partly offset by higher cash earnings from an 

increase in EBITDA, exclusive of net benefit plans cost of  
$190 million.

2008 COMPARED TO 2007

Cash flows from operating activities were $5,909 million  
in 2008, an increase of $179 million, or 3.1%, compared to 
$5,730 million in 2007. The increase was due to:

a decrease of $152 million in net interest paid as a result of 
both lower average debt and higher interest income 

a decrease of $33 million in pension contributions made 
an improvement in working capital.
These increases were partly offset by: 
an increase of $187 million in payments of restructuring 

and other from workforce reduction initiatives 
a decrease in EBITDA, exclusive of net benefit plans cost of 

$147 million
an increase of $76 million in income taxes paid due to 

higher refunds received in 2007
a decrease of $21 million from the securitization of  

accounts receivable.
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primarily by the sale of Telesat on October 31, 2007 that 
resulted in no capital expenditures being reported for Telesat 
in 2008, compared with $188 million in 2007. 

Reduced spending at Bell Aliant, particularly in the first half 
of 2008, also contributed to the overall decrease in BCE’s 
capital expenditures in 2008. These reductions stemmed 
from the completion of the accelerated phase of its invest-
ment in FTTN technology in 2007 and planned reduced capi-
tal spending for 2008. Bell Aliant’s capital expenditures in 
2008 decreased 1.9% to $527 million, compared with $537 mil-
lion in the previous year.

At Bell, capital expenditures increased 1.8% in 2008 to 
$2,459 million from $2,415 million in 2007, corresponding to a 
stable capital intensity ratio of 16.5% year over year. The 
majority of spending was focused on strategic priorities 
within the growth areas of our business, including invest-
ments to enhance and update our wireless network, and 
expand broadband access and capabilities through Bell’s 
FTTN program, as well as to meet customer demand and  
service expectations. Higher spending on wireless cell site 
capacity and signal quality, the implementation of a card 
swap program at Bell TV, and our move to campus environ-
ments in Montréal, Toronto and Calgary also contributed  
to increased capital expenditures year over year. This  
was offset partly by lower expenditures to maintain our 
legacy network infrastructure and reduced IT project-
related spending on system upgrades, office equipment and 
process improvements.

Business Acquisitions

We invested $338 million in 2009 for business acquisitions, 
including Virgin and The Source.

We invested $56 million in 2008 for various business acqui-
sitions, compared to $163 million in 2007, mainly due to the 
privatization of Bell Nordiq by Bell Aliant.

Business Dispositions

On October 31, 2007, we sold Telesat, our satellite services 
subsidiary, which represented our Telesat segment, and real-
ized net cash proceeds of $3,123 million.

Going-Private Costs

Going-private costs of $163 million in 2008 increased $114 mil-
lion compared to $49 million in 2007. Amounts paid in 2008 
included employee retention costs and costs associated with 
the proposed privatization transaction for financial advisory, 
professional and consulting fees. 

Increase/Decrease in Investments

The cash provided by investments in 2009 and 2007 related 
to the sales of available-for-sale investments in those periods. 

The cash used in investments in 2009 represents our  
purchase of a minority interest investment in the Montréal 
Canadiens Hockey Club and Bell Centre.

Free Cash Flow

2009 COMPARED TO 2008

Free cash flow was $1,456 million in 2009, a decrease of  
$233 million, or 13.8%, compared to $1,689 million in 2008. 
This was due to lower cash flows from operating activities of 
$1,025 million, partly offset by a reduction in capital expendi-
tures of $132 million and a smaller investment in 2009 for 
AWS spectrum licences. In 2009, we invested $40 million in 
spectrum licences compared to $741 million in 2008.

2008 COMPARED TO 2007

Free cash flow was $1,689 million in 2008, a decrease of  
$271 million, or 13.8%, compared to free cash flow of $1,960 mil-
lion in 2007. This decrease was due to our purchase of AWS 
spectrum licences for $741 million, partly offset by higher 
cash flows from operating activities of $179 million and lower 
capital expenditures of $154 million.

Capital Expenditures 

2009 COMPARED TO 2008

Capital expenditures for BCE were $2,854 million in 2009, 
compared with $2,986 million in 2008. As a percentage of 
revenues, capital expenditures for BCE decreased to 16.1% in 
2009 from 16.9% in 2008. 

At Bell, capital expenditures decreased 2.8% in 2009 to 
$2,390 million from $2,459 million in the previous year. This 
represents a capital intensity ratio of 15.9% in 2009 com-
pared with 16.5% in 2008. Although total expenditures were 
lower year over year, we maintained spending on our key 
priorities within the growth areas of our business with more 
than 80% of the capital spent in 2009 centred on our five 
strategic imperatives. In 2009, we made new investments in 
both our wireless and wireline broadband networks, includ-
ing the deployment of a nation-wide HSPA/HSPA+ network, 
the continued rollout of FTTN in residential neighbourhoods 
and fibre to new condominiums and other MDUs primarily in 
the Québec-Windsor corridor, as well as speed and capacity 
enhancements to our IP backbone network infrastructure. 
However, reduced spending to maintain our legacy network 
infrastructure and to support large business customer con-
tracts, as well as higher real estate expenditures in 2008 to 
form campus environments in Montréal, Toronto and Calgary, 
resulted in lower overall capital expenditures in 2009. 

Capital spending at Bell Aliant decreased to $464 million in 
2009 from $527 million in 2008, due to a planned reduction 
in capital spending for 2009 and higher spending in 2008 on 
the expansion of its broadband footprint.

2008 COMPARED TO 2007

Capital expenditures for BCE were $2,986 million in 2008, 
compared with $3,140 million in 2007. As a percentage of 
revenues, capital expenditures for BCE decreased to 16.9% in 
2008 from 17.7% in 2007. The decrease can be explained  
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Repurchase of Common Shares

2009

BCE Inc. repurchased and cancelled 36 million outstanding 
common shares for a total cash outlay of $894 million under 
the 2008/2009 NCIB program. The program is complete.

2008

In 2008, BCE Inc. repurchased 7.5 million outstanding com-
mon shares under the 2008/2009 NCIB program for a total 
cash outlay of $178 million. Of the shares repurchased, 4 mil-
lion were cancelled in 2008 for a total cost of $92 million and 
the remaining 3.5 million were cancelled in early 2009 for a 
total cost of $86 million.

2007

In 2007, BCE Inc. repurchased and cancelled 7.4 million  
outstanding common shares for a total cash outlay of  
$227 million under the 2007 NCIB program. Common share 
repurchases under the NCIB were suspended for the remain-
der of the program.

Financing Activities of Subsidiaries with Third Parties

In 2007, Bell Aliant repurchased 10.6 million units under an 
NCIB program for a total cash outlay of $330 million.

Cash Relating to Discontinued Operations

Cash provided by discontinued operations was $319 million 
in 2007. The net proceeds on the sale of ADS by Bell Aliant 
amounted to $327 million.

Credit Ratings

The interest rates we pay are based partly on the quality of 
our credit ratings. As of March 11, 2010, the BCE Inc. and Bell 
Canada ratings have remained unchanged at investment 
grade levels and assigned stable outlooks from Standard & 
Poor’s Financial Services LLC, a subsidiary of The McGraw-
Hill Companies, Inc. (S&P), DBRS Limited (DBRS) and Moody’s 
Investors Service, Inc. (Moody’s). Investment grade ratings 
usually mean that when we borrow money, we qualify for 
lower interest rates than companies that have ratings lower 
than investment grade.

Debt Instruments

We use a combination of short-term and long-term debt to 
finance our operations. Our short-term debt consists mostly 
of bank facilities and notes payable under commercial paper 
programs. We usually pay fixed rates of interest on our long-
term debt and floating rates on our short-term debt.

2009

We repaid $1,385 million of debt, net of issuances, in 2009. 
The debt repayments included the redemption of $1,450 mil-
lion of debentures at Bell Canada and of $650 million of 
notes at BCE Inc., the repayment of $150 million of credit 
facilities at Bell Aliant, payments of bank advances and notes 
payable of approximately $200 million and payments under 
capital leases. This was partly offset by Bell Canada’s issu-
ance of medium-term debentures having a principal amount 
of $1 billion and the issuance by Bell Aliant Regional Commu-
nications, Limited Partnership of medium-term notes with a 
principal amount of $350 million.

2008

We repaid $451 million of debt, net of issuances, in 2008, 
which were primarily payments under capital leases.

2007

We repaid $1,766 million of debt, net of issuances, in 2007. 
The repayments included $1,175 million of debentures at  
Bell Canada, $1,135 million of credit facilities at Bell Aliant  
and payments under capital leases. This was partly offset by  
Bell Aliant’s net issuances of $900 million of medium-term 
notes and increased borrowings in notes payable and  
bank advances.

Cash Dividends Paid on Common Shares

In 2009, BCE Inc. paid an annual dividend of $1.54 per com-
mon share. BCE Inc. announced three increases in the annual 
dividend payable on BCE Inc.’s common shares, which repre-
sents an increase of 19% from $1.46 per common share at the 
beginning of 2009 to $1.74 per common share at the begin-
ning of 2010.

In 2008, the lower dividends paid of $0.73 per common 
share were due to dividends on our common shares not being 
paid in the second and third quarters in 2008 as a result of the 
terms associated with the proposed privatization transaction.

In 2007, we paid a dividend of $1.425 per common share.



52  BCE INC. 2009 ANNUAL REPORT

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The table below lists BCE Inc.’s and Bell Canada’s key credit ratings at March 11, 2010.

BCE INC.

   DBRS MOODY’S S&P

Long-term debt  BBB (high) Baa2 BBB+

Preferred shares  Pfd-3 (high) – P-2 (low)

BELL CANADA

   DBRS MOODY’S S&P

Commercial paper  R-1 (low) P-2 A-2 

Long-term debt  A (low) Baa1 BBB+

Subordinated long-term debt  BBB Baa2 BBB

The investment grade credit ratings by Moody’s, S&P and 
DBRS reflect the strength of our balance sheet and our busi-
ness prospects in current economic conditions.

Our financial policy is to maintain investment grade credit 
metrics to allow financial flexibility and access to low-cost 
funding. Our financial policy targets for Bell are to maintain 
a net debt to Adjusted EBITDA ratio of between 1.5 and 2.0 
times and an Adjusted EBITDA to net interest expense ratio 
greater than 7.5 times. In these target ratios, net debt includes 
amounts outstanding under our accounts receivable securiti-
zation program and our total outstanding preferred shares. 
Net interest expense includes dividends on preferred shares 
and losses on sales due to our accounts receivable securiti-
zation program. Adjusted EBITDA includes cash distributions 
received from Bell Aliant. The calculation and components of 
these ratios are intended to reflect the methodologies gener-
ally used by the credit rating agencies.

Liquidity

Sources of Liquidity

Our cash balances at the end of 2009 were $687 million. We 
expect that these cash balances and our 2010 estimated 
cash flows from operations will permit us to meet our cash 
requirements in 2010 for capital expenditures, employee 
benefit plans funding, dividend payments, repurchases of 
BCE Inc.’s common shares under BCE Inc.’s 2010 NCIB pro-
gram, the payment of contractual obligations and outstand-
ing debt, ongoing operations and other cash requirements. 

Should our 2010 cash requirements exceed our cash bal-
ances and cash generated from our operations, we expect to 
cover such shortfall through the committed and uncommit-
ted financing facilities that we currently have in place or 
through new facilities, to the extent available.

Our cash flows from operations, cash balances and financ-
ing facilities should give us flexibility in carrying out our plans 
for future growth. If necessary, we may, to the extent possi-
ble, supplement our liquidity sources by issuing additional 
debt or equity, or by selling non-core assets. We might do 
this to help finance business acquisitions or for contingencies.

The table below is a summary of our total bank credit facilities at December 31, 2009.

       ISSUED AND  
       UNDRAWN   
     TOTAL  LETTERS OF NET 
     AVAILABLE DRAWN CREDIT AVAILABLE

Committed credit facilities

 Bell Canada (1) –  
  Revolving facility (including supporting commercial paper program)    1,400  –  268   1,132 

 Bell Aliant (1) –  
  Revolving facility (including supporting commercial paper program)    550  –  27   523 

  Other      558   40   241   277 

Total committed credit facilities      2,508   40   536   1,932 

Non-committed credit facilities 

 Bell Canada      225   2   89   134 

 Bell Aliant      14  –  1   13 

Total non-committed credit facilities      239   2   90   147 

Total committed and non-committed credit facilities      2,747   42   626   2,079  

(1) Bell Canada’s current $1,400 million supporting committed revolving bank credit facility expires in May 2012 and Bell Aliant’s current $550 million supporting  
committed revolving bank credit facility expires in July 2011.
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Bell Canada and Bell Aliant may issue notes under their com-
mercial paper programs up to the net available amount of 
their supporting committed revolving bank credit facilities, 
which may be drawn at any time. Bell Canada and Bell Aliant 
had no commercial paper outstanding at December 31, 2009. 

Our expectations relating to our ability to meet our cash 
requirements in 2010 with our cash flows from operations 
and our cash balances are based on certain key economic, 
market and operational assumptions that are described in 
the section entitled Business Outlook and Assumptions. For a 
description of risk factors that could affect our business and, 
consequently, our cash flows from operations refer to Our 
Competitive Environment, Our Regulatory Environment and 
Risks that Could Affect Our Business and Results. In addition, 
our ability to supplement our liquidity sources by issuing 
additional debt and equity depends largely on prevailing 
market conditions and the outlook for our business and credit 
ratings at the time capital is raised. For a description of risk 
factors that could affect our ability to issue additional debt 
or equity refer to the risk entitled If we are unable to raise 
the capital we need, we may need to limit our capital expen-
ditures or our investments in new business, or try to raise 
capital by disposing of assets under Risks that Could Affect 
Our Business and Results.

Cash Requirements

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

In 2010, our capital spending will be focused on our strategic 
priorities, demand growth and service quality, reflecting an 
appropriate level of investment in our networks and services.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS FUNDING

Our employee benefit plans include both defined benefit and 
defined contribution plans, as well as other post-employment 
benefits. The funding requirements of our employee benefit 
plans, resulting from valuations of our plan assets and liabil-
ities, depend on a number of factors, including actual returns 
on pension plan assets, long-term interest rates, plan demo-
graphics and pension regulations. Our expected funding  
for 2010 is detailed in the following table and is subject to 
actuarial valuations being completed in 2010. An actuarial 
valuation was last performed on most of our pension plans 
as at December 31, 2008. 

For a more detailed description of risks that could cause 
our actual employee benefit plans funding to differ materially 
from our current estimates, please refer to the risk entitled 
We may be required to increase contributions to our employee 
benefit plans in the future depending on various factors 
under Risks that Could Affect Our Business and Results.

2010 EXPECTED FUNDING BELL BELL ALIANT TOTAL

Defined benefit pension –  
 service cost 200 50 250

Defined benefit pension –  
 deficit 170 100 270

Defined benefit 370 150 520

Other post-employment benefits 90 10 100

Defined contribution 40 10 50

Total net benefit plans 500 170 670

We expect to contribute approximately $520 million to all of 
our defined benefit pension plans in 2010, including subsidiary 
and supplemental plans, subject to actuarial valuations being 
completed. We also expect, in 2010, to pay approximately 
$100 million to beneficiaries under other post-employment 
benefit plans and to contribute approximately $50 million to 
the defined contribution pension plans. 

In 2010, funding of our defined benefit pension plans is 
expected to be lower than 2009 mainly as a result of higher 
returns on pension plan assets in 2009 and a $500 million 
voluntary pension contribution made in 2009, partly offset 
by an increase in the solvency discount rate. Our cash fund-
ing estimate does not take into account the proposed fed - 
eral pension reform announced by the Minister of Finance on 
October 27, 2009. 

Bell Canada closed the membership of its defined benefit 
plan in January 2005 to eliminate its pension obligation vola-
tility in respect of all new employees who now enroll in the 
defined contribution plan. Similarly in 2006, we announced 
the phase-out over a ten-year period of post-employment 
benefits for all employees, which will result in Bell’s post-
employment benefits funding being gradually phased out 
after 2016.

DIVIDEND PAYMENTS

In 2010, the cash dividends to be paid on BCE Inc.’s common 
shares are expected to be higher than in 2009 as the board 
of directors of BCE Inc. approved three increases in the 
annual dividend on BCE Inc.’s common shares in 2009. As a 
result, BCE Inc.’s common share dividend increased by 19% 
from $1.46 per common share at the beginning of 2009 to $1.74 
per common share at the beginning of 2010. These increases 
are consistent with BCE Inc.’s common share dividend policy 
of a target payout ratio of 65% to 75% of Adjusted EPS.  
BCE Inc.’s dividend policy and the declaration of dividends 
are subject to the discretion of BCE Inc.’s board of directors.

BCE INC.’S 2010 NCIB PROGRAM

Under BCE Inc.’s 2010 NCIB program, it is authorized to repur-
chase up to $500 million of its outstanding common shares 
over the course of 2010. As at February 28, 2010, BCE Inc. has 
spent approximately $75 million under its 2010 NCIB program.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

GUARANTEES

As a regular part of our business, we enter into agreements 
that provide for indemnifications and guarantees to counter-
parties in transactions involving business dispositions, sales 
of assets, sales of services, purchases and development of 
assets, securitization agreements and operating leases.

We cannot reasonably estimate the maximum potential 
amount we could be required to pay counterparties because 
of the nature of almost all of these indemnifications. As a 
result, we cannot determine how they could affect our future 
liquidity, capital resources or credit risk profile. We have not 
made any significant payments under these indemnifications 
in the past. See Note 25 to the consolidated financial state-
ments for more information.

SECURITIZATION OF ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Bell Canada and Bell Aliant have sale of receivable agree-
ments in place that provide them with what we believe is an 
attractive form of financing compared to debt financing.

Under the agreements, Bell Canada and Bell Aliant sold 
interests in accounts receivable to securitization trusts for a 
total of $1,305 million.

The accounts receivable that were sold must meet mini-
mum performance targets. These are based on specific delin-
quency, default and receivable turnover ratio calculations, as 
well as minimum credit ratings. If these accounts receivable 
fail to meet these performance targets, Bell Canada and Bell 
Aliant would no longer be able to sell their receivables and 
would need to find an alternate source of financing. 

These securitization agreements are an important part of 
our capital structure and liquidity. If we did not have them, 
we would have had to issue $1,305 million of additional debt 
and/or equity to replace the financing they provided at year 
end. See Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements for 
more information.

Our treasury strategy, executed over the past years, has 
resulted in an attractive long-term debt maturity schedule. 

Capital leases include imputed interest of $1,157 million.
Rental expense relating to operating leases was $236 mil-

lion in 2009, $233 million in 2008 and $260 million in 2007.
Purchase obligations consist mainly of contractual obliga-

tions under service contracts. Our commitments for capital 
expenditures include investments to expand and update our 
networks, and to meet customer demand.

At December 31, 2009, we had other long-term liabilities 
that are excluded from the table, including an accrued 
em ployee benefit liability, future income tax liabilities, deferred 
revenue and various other long-term liabilities.

The accrued employee benefit liability and future income 
tax liabilities are excluded as we cannot accurately deter-
mine the timing and cash requirements as: 

future contributions to the pension plans depend largely 
on how well they are funded. This varies based on the results 
of actuarial valuations that are performed periodically and 
on the investment performance of the pension fund assets.

future payments of income taxes depend on the amount  
of taxable earnings and on whether there are tax loss carry-
forwards available to reduce income tax liabilities.

Deferred revenue and gains on assets are excluded as they 
do not represent future cash payments.

OTHER CASH REQUIREMENTS

Our cash requirements may also be affected by the liquidity 
risks related to our contingencies and off-balance sheet 
arrange ments. We may not be able to quantify all of these 
risks for the reasons described as follows.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

The following table is a summary of our contractual obligations at December 31, 2009 that are due in each of the next five years 
and thereafter.
       THERE- 
  2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 AFTER TOTAL

Long-term debt (1)  357 1,009 513 73 1,559 5,349 8,860

Notes payable and bank advances   53 – – – – –  53 

Capital leases  332 363 224 225 199 1,784 3,127

Operating leases  215 185 154 139 127 686  1,506 

Commitments for capital expenditures  78 56 98 88 82 826  1,228 

Purchase obligations   1,364 994 696 360 350 887  4,651 

Interest payable on long-term debt, notes payable  
 and bank advances  567 530 470 450 400 5,516 7,933

Net interest receipts on derivatives   (32)  (23)  (13)  (8)  (3)  (2)  (81)

Total      2,934   3,114   2,142   1,327   2,714   15,046   27,277 

(1) Includes $750 million of long-term debt maturing in 2011, comprised of Bell Aliant’s $750 million 4.72% Series 1 medium-term notes.
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to foreign participation in the telecommunications and broad-
cast industry. On March 3 and 4, 2010, the federal govern-
ment issued its Speech from the Throne and federal budget, 
respectively, wherein it indicated that the limits on foreign 
ownership in the Canadian telecommunications industry will 
be reviewed. No specific proposals were put forward and 
there are no details regarding the timing of any review of  
the foreign ownership limits. Removing or easing the limits on 
foreign ownership could result in more foreign companies 
entering the Canadian market by making acquisitions or 
investments. This could result in greater access to capital  
for our competitors or the arrival of new competitors with 
global scale, which would increase competitive pressure. 
Until further details are released, we cannot predict what 
action the Government of Canada will take and we are 
unable to determine how any potential reform proposals 
may affect us.

Wireline

Our main competitors in local and access services are: Rog-
ers Cable Inc. (Rogers Cable); TELUS Corporation (TELUS); All-
stream Enterprise Solutions (a division of MTS Allstream Inc.) 
(Allstream); Primus Telecommunications Canada Inc. (Primus); 
Vidéotron Ltée (Vidéotron), in Québec; Cogeco Cable Inc. (a 
subsidiary of Cogeco Inc.) (Cogeco Cable), in Ontario and 
Québec; Bragg Communications Inc. operating under the 
Eastlink trade-name, in New Brunswick, Nova Scotia and 
Prince Edward Island; Maskatel Inc., in Québec; and Shaw 
Communications Inc. (Shaw), in British Columbia, Alberta, 
Saskatchewan and Manitoba.

Our major competitors in long distance services are: All-
stream; TELUS; Primus; Vonage Canada (a division of Vonage 
Holdings Corp.) (Vonage); dial-around providers, such as Yak 
and Looney Call, which are divisions of YAK Communications 
(Canada) Inc. which is owned by Globalive Communications 
Corporation; prepaid long distance providers, such as Group 
of Gold Line and Vonage; Cogeco Cable, in Ontario and Qué-
bec; Rogers Cable, in Ontario; Vidéotron, in Québec; and East-
link, in New Brunswick, Nova Scotia and Prince Edward Island.

We continue to face cross-platform competition as cus-
tomers replace traditional services with new and non- 
traditional technologies. For example, our wireline business 
competes with VoIP, wireless and Internet services, including 
chat services, instant messaging and e-mail. Industry Cana-
da’s licensing of AWS spectrum to ten new potential wireless 
competitors, one of which already started providing services, 
as discussed in more detail below, could result in additional 
technology substitution.

We are facing significant competitive pressure from cable 
companies as a result of them offering voice services over 
their networks. Cable telephony is being driven by its inclu-
sion in discounted bundles and is now offered by cable oper-
ators in most major and mid-sized communities and in small 
communities as well. Although we expect the rate of expan-
sion of the cable companies’ footprints to moderate, cable 
companies will continue to put downward pressure on our 

Litigation

We become involved in various claims and litigation as a part 
of our business. While we cannot predict the final outcome of 
claims and litigation that were pending at December 31, 2009, 
based on information currently available and management’s 
assessment of the merits of such claims and litigation, man-
agement believes that the resolution of these claims and liti-
gation will not have a material and negative effect on our 
consolidated financial position or results of operations.

You will find a more detailed description of the material 
claims and litigation pending at December 31, 2009 in the 
BCE 2009 AIF and in Note 24 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

OUR COMPETITIVE ENVIRONMENT

We face intense competition from cable companies and from 
other CLECs that could adversely affect our market shares, 
volumes and pricing strategies and, consequently, our finan-
cial results. The rapid development of new technologies, ser-
vices and products has altered the traditional lines between 
telecommunications, Internet and broadcasting services and 
brought new competitors to our markets. Technology substi-
tution and VoIP, in particular, have reduced barriers to entry 
in our industry. This has allowed competitors to launch new 
products and services and gain market share with far less 
investment in financial, marketing, personnel and technologi-
cal resources than has historically been required. We expect 
this trend to continue in the future, which could adversely 
affect our growth and our financial performance.

Competition affects our pricing strategies and could reduce 
our revenues and lower our profitability. We are under con-
stant pressure to keep our prices and service offerings com-
petitive. Changes in our pricing strategies that result in price 
increases for certain services or products, or changes in pric-
ing strategies by our competitors, could affect our ability to 
gain new customers and retain existing ones. We need to be 
able to anticipate and respond quickly to the constant 
changes in our businesses and markets. If we fail to do so, our 
business and market position could be adversely affected.

The CRTC regulates the prices we can charge for basic 
access services in areas where it determines there is not 
enough competition to protect the interests of users. Since 
August 2007, the CRTC has determined that competition was 
sufficient to grant forbearance from price regulation for over 
90% of Bell Canada’s residential local telephone service lines 
and over 80% of Bell Canada’s business local telephone ser-
vice lines in Ontario and Québec. See Our Regulatory Envi-
ronment for more information.

We already have several domestic and foreign competi-
tors. In recent years, the Government of Canada has reviewed 
the foreign ownership restrictions that apply to telecommu-
nications carriers and to broadcast distribution undertakings. 
On June 26, 2009, the Competition Policy Review Panel pro-
vided its report to the Government of Canada and suggested 
that the federal government adopt a two-phased approach 
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assurance that our efforts will be successful. If legacy ser-
vices margins decline faster than the rate of growth in mar-
gins for our newer growth services, our financial performance 
could be adversely affected. In addition, if a large portion of 
the customers who stop using our voice services also cease 
using our other services, our financial performance could be 
adversely affected. Bringing to market new growth products 
and services is expensive and inherently risky as it requires 
capital and other investments at a time when the demand for 
the products or services is uncertain. It may also require us 
to compete in areas outside our core connectivity business 
against highly capable competitors. The launch of new prod-
ucts or services could be delayed or cancelled due to reduc-
tions in the amount of available capital to be invested. Any 
such delay or cancellation could have an adverse effect on 
our business, cash flows and results of operations.

Wireless

Competition for subscribers to wireless services is based on 
price, products, services and enhancements, technical qual-
ity, coverage and capacity of the wireless networks, cus-
tomer service and distribution. The Canadian wireless 
telecommunications industry is highly competitive. We com-
pete for wireless subscribers, dealers and retail distribution 
outlets, content and device access, and personnel directly 
with the following wireless service providers: Rogers Wireless 
Inc. (including its subsidiary Fido Solutions Inc.), TELUS Mobil-
ity (a business unit of TELUS), Globalive Wireless Manage-
ment Corp. (Globalive), and with a multitude of resellers 
known as mobile virtual network operators that aggressively 
introduce, price and market their products and services. We 
expect competition to intensify as new technologies, prod-
ucts and services are developed which could adversely affect 
our ability to achieve our subscriber additions and ARPU  
targets. For example, mobile handsets that bypass wireless 
service providers’ networks to access the Internet are now 
available from a number of manufacturers and service pro-
viders. If these products significantly penetrate the market-
place, usage of our wireless networks may decline, which 
could adversely affect our wireless revenues.

Competition is also expected to increase as a result of 
Industry Canada’s licensing of AWS spectrum to ten new 
facilities-based wireless competitors that each acquired 
spectrum in separate regions, many of which overlap. In 
addition to Globalive, which started providing services in 
Toronto and Calgary in December 2009, and which may 
launch services in other cities in 2010 where Globalive owns 
spectrum, and Data and Audio Visual Enterprises Wireless Inc. 
(DAVE), which has announced its launch for spring 2010 in 
Toronto, spectrum was also awarded to the following entities, 
or one of their affiliates, which have indicated launch dates 
of mid-2010 or later: Shaw, Vidéotron, Bragg Communica-
tions Inc., Public Mobile Inc., Celluworld Inc., Rich Telecom 
Corp., Blue Canada Wireless Inc. and Novus Wireless Inc.

The increase in the level of competitive intensity in the 
Canadian wireless industry will depend on when and in what 
regions these new competitors will start providing wireless 

market share, especially in the residential market. This could 
continue to have an adverse effect on our business and 
results of operations.

Although we expect the rate of our residential NAS losses 
in 2010 to remain relatively steady and the rate of our busi-
ness NAS losses to improve, there is a risk that adverse 
changes in certain factors, including, in particular, competitive 
actions by cable providers and higher wireless substitution 
that may result especially from new entrants starting to pro-
vide wireless services at lower prices relative to our prices 
and those of other existing wireless service providers, may 
result in acceleration, beyond our current assumptions, in  
our rates of NAS erosion. This could have an adverse effect 
on our results of operations. Furthermore, additional  
competitive pressure from the adoption of alternative tech-
nologies, products and services is making significant inroads 
into our legacy services, which typically represent our higher-
margin business.

Prices for long distance services have been declining since 
this segment was opened to competition. Our long distance 
services continue to face intense competitive pressure given 
the expanded presence of cable telephony and the continu-
ing impact of non-traditional suppliers, including prepaid 
card suppliers, dial-around services and VoIP providers, as 
well as from traditional competitors such as inter-exchange 
carriers and resellers. We also experience competition from 
telecommunications providers such as Skype Technologies  
(a division of eBay) that provide long distance service at low 
prices using personal computers and broadband connections.

Competition for contracts to supply long distance services 
to large business customers is very intense. Customers may 
choose to switch to competitors that offer lower prices to 
gain market share. Such competitors may be less concerned 
about the quality of service or impact on their margins than 
we are. Competitors are also offering IP-based telephony to 
business customers at attractive prices.

In Bell Aliant’s residential markets, competition for most 
product lines is well established. Competition for local tele-
phone service is most established in Nova Scotia and Prince 
Edward Island, where it was introduced in the residential 
market in 1999 and 2001, respectively. In more recent years, 
the competitive local service market has continued to expand 
with the introduction of local service competition in New 
Brunswick and Newfoundland and Labrador, as well as in 
Ontario and Québec. In the business customer base, Bell 
Aliant operates in an increasingly competitive marketplace, 
with competition emerging from VoIP providers, cable televi-
sion operators and system integrators.

The current competitive environment suggests that the 
number of our legacy wireline customers and the volume of 
our long distance traffic will continue to decline in the future. 
Continued decline will lead to reduced economies of scale in 
those businesses and, in turn, lower margins. Our strategy is 
to seek to mitigate these declines through cost reductions 
and by building the business for newer growth services, but 
the margins on newer services are generally less than the 
margins on legacy services and we cannot provide any 
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products and services compared to our competitors would 
adversely affect the pricing of our products and services and 
our results of operations. Furthermore, as penetration of the 
Canadian broadband Internet market reaches higher levels, 
the possibility to acquire new customers increasingly depends 
on our ability to win customers away from our competitors. 
However, as customers increasingly choose to bundle services, 
our ability to acquire customers from our competitors is 
adversely affected.

Developments in wireless broadband services may also 
lead to increased competition in certain geographic areas. 
This could have an adverse effect on the financial perfor-
mance of our Internet access services business.

In the high-speed Internet access services market, we 
compete with large cable companies such as: Rogers Cable, 
in Ontario and New Brunswick, Nova Scotia and Prince Edward 
Island; Vidéotron, in Québec; Cogeco Cable, in Ontario and 
Québec; Eastlink, in New Brunswick, Nova Scotia and Prince 
Edward Island; and Persona Communications Inc., which was 
acquired by Eastlink in 2007, in all provinces except New 
Brunswick, Nova Scotia and Prince Edward Island.

Video

Competition for subscribers is based on the number and 
kinds of channels offered, quality of the signal, STB features, 
availability of service in the region, price and customer ser-
vice. Bell TV competes throughout Canada directly with Shaw 
Direct (a business unit of Shaw Communications Inc.), which 
like Bell TV operates a DTH satellite TV service, and with cable 
companies across Canada. Most of these cable companies 
continue to upgrade their networks, operational systems and 
services, which will improve their competitiveness. This could 
negatively affect our financial performance.

Bell Canada holds broadcasting distribution licences for 
major centres in Ontario and Québec to offer video services 
on a wireline basis. Bell Canada and Bell TV offer video ser-
vices through DTH satellite, VDSL and hybrid fibre co-axial 
cable. Bell Canada is currently offering IPTV services on a 
limited basis and intends to start offering IPTV services on a 
broader basis in the course of 2010 starting with the cities of 
Toronto and Montréal. The launch of our IPTV services will 
provide us the opportunity to gain market share and enhance 
our competitive position in core urban markets starting with 
the cities of Toronto and Montréal.

Bell TV’s and Bell Canada’s competitors also include Cana-
dian cable companies such as: Rogers Cable, in Ontario, New 
Brunswick and Newfoundland; Vidéotron, in Québec; Cogeco 
Cable, in Ontario and Québec; Shaw, in British Columbia, Alberta, 
Saskatchewan, Manitoba and northwestern Ontario; Eastlink, 
in New Brunswick, Nova Scotia and Prince Edward Island; and 
Persona Communications Inc., in all provinces except New 
Brunswick, Nova Scotia and Prince Edward Island. In addition 
to these traditional video competitors, certain traditional 
telephone companies have recently launched or are contem-
plating the launch of IPTV services that would compete with 
Bell TV in certain markets.

services, as well as their pricing, marketing and other strate-
gies. In order to gain market share, the new wireless com-
petitors’ strategies are expected to include price discounting 
relative to our and other incumbents’ pricing as well as 
increased competition at the distribution level. The pricing 
and other strategies of these new wireless competitors, as 
well as the pricing and other strategies of existing wireless 
service providers in response to the new wireless competi-
tors’ actions, could adversely affect our ability to gain new 
customers and retain existing ones and require us to adjust 
our own pricing and other strategies, which in turn could 
have an adverse effect on our business and results of opera-
tion. The new wireless carriers could achieve higher market 
shares than we currently expect particularly as a result of 
their pricing strategies and focused product offerings. The 
ultimate number and viability of new competitors will remain 
unknown until they actually commence operations or make 
specific announcements in relation thereto. See Our Regula-
tory Environment – Radiocommunication Act – AWS Spectrum 
for more details on this subject.

The wireless communications industry commits significant 
resources to research and development (R&D). A majority of 
this work is expended in the refinement of mainstream wire-
less standardization activities that result in highly successful 
technology such as HSPA and long-term evolution (LTE). Some 
of this technology is transferable into competing or comple-
mentary technology tracks that can be standards-based in 
the case of wireless fidelity (Wi-Fi) and WiMAX or proprietary 
vendor-specific solutions. Although these technology tracks 
have not gained significant revenue market share in Canada, 
we expect that continued development and refinement of 
the business model will increase competition.

Pressures on our ARPU, COA and costs of retention would 
likely result if competitors increase subsidies for handsets, 
particularly for smartphones, lower airtime and wireless data 
prices and offer other incentives to attract new customers. 
Wireless competition has also intensified due to an increased 
emphasis on multi-product bundles and new data plans. This 
emphasis could also pressure our ARPU and increase churn 
and COA.

Internet Access

We compete with cable companies and Internet service pro-
viders (ISPs) to provide high-speed and dial-up Internet 
access and related services. In particular, cable companies 
have focused on increased bandwidth and discounted pric-
ing on bundles to compete against us, which could directly 
affect our ability to maintain ARPU performance and could 
adversely affect our results of operations.

Cable companies have aggressively rolled out Internet 
networks offering higher speeds to their customers, forcing 
us to incur significant capital expenditures in order to also  
be able to offer higher speeds on our networks. The failure  
to make continued investments in our Internet networks 
enabling us to offer Internet services at higher speeds to our 
customers as well as our inability to offer a different range of 
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Under the Telecommunications Act, all telecommunications 
common carriers must seek regulatory approval for all pro-
posed tariffs for telecommunications services, unless the ser-
vices are exempt from regulation or are not regulated. The 
CRTC may exempt an entire class of carriers from regulation 
under the Telecommunications Act if the exemption meets 
the objectives of Canada’s telecommunications policy.

The Telecommunications Act includes the following owner-
ship requirements for companies, such as Bell Canada, Bell 
Aliant and Bell Mobility, that operate as telecommunications 
common carriers: 

they must be eligible to operate as Canadian carriers; 
they must be Canadian owned and controlled corpora-

tions. Direct ownership must be at least 80% Canadian own-
ership of voting shares and indirect ownership, such as 
indirect ownership through BCE Inc., must be at least 66 2/3% 
Canadian ownership of voting shares; 

they must not otherwise be controlled by non-Canadians; 
and 

at least 80% of the members of their board of directors 
must be Canadian.

BCE Inc. monitors and periodically reports on the level of 
non-Canadian ownership of its common shares.

Key Telecommunications Issues 

This section describes key regulatory issues which are being 
addressed, or have been addressed in past years, that influ-
ence or have influenced our business and may continue to 
affect our flexibility to compete in the marketplace.

COMMITMENT UNDER THE CRTC DEFERRAL  

ACCOUNT MECHANISM

Bell Canada’s accumulated deferral account commitment is 
estimated at $488 million. The clearing of the deferral account 
is subject to CRTC approval. 

In Telecom Decision 2008-1, the CRTC approved Bell Cana-
da’s proposed initiatives to improve access to telecommuni-
cations services for persons with disabilities using $24 million 
from its deferral account. The CRTC determined that these 
funds should be fully utilized within a four-year period end-
ing in 2011, and directed Bell Canada to file a report each 
year, by March 31, providing updates on the status. The CRTC 
also approved the use of deferral account funds to fund the 
uneconomic cost of expanding broadband services to 112 
communities, and determined that the remainder in Bell Can-
ada’s deferral account should be returned to residential cus-
tomers in urban, non-high-cost serving areas within the 
Ontario and Québec portions of the serving areas of Bell 
Canada and Bell Aliant.

Pursuant to the follow-up processes related to Telecom 
Decision 2008-1, on February 26, 2010, Bell Canada and Bell 
Aliant advised the CRTC that as part of their deferral account-
funded broadband expansion program, they intended to pro-
vide wireless broadband services to the approved communities 
and indicated that the uneconomic cost of this program would 

Bell TV continues to face competition from unregulated U.S. 
DTH satellite television services that are sold illegally in Can-
ada. In response, we are participating in legal actions that 
are challenging the sale of U.S. DTH satellite television equip-
ment in Canada. This competition and the outcome of the 
related legal actions could have an adverse effect on the 
business and results of operations of Bell TV. 

In addition to the licenced broadcast distribution under-
takings noted above, new unregulated video services and 
offerings available over high-speed Internet connections are 
beginning to compete with traditional television services. The 
continued growth and adoption by customers of these alter-
native TV services could negatively affect the financial per-
formance of Bell TV and Bell Canada.

Wholesale

The main competitors in our wholesale business include both 
traditional carriers and emerging carriers. Traditional com-
petitors include Allstream and TELUS, both of which may 
wholesale some or all of the same products and services as 
Bell Canada. Non-traditional competitors include electrical 
utility-based telecommunications providers, cable operators, 
domestic CLECs and U.S.-based carriers for certain services. 
Despite intense competitive pressure, our new products and 
unregulated services markets continue to grow. However, 
growth of end-user technologies such as VoIP is continuing 
to increase pressure on some legacy product lines.

OUR REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT

This section describes the legislation that governs our busi-
nesses, and provides highlights of recent regulatory initiatives 
and proceedings and government consultations that affect 
us. Bell Canada, Bell Aliant and several of Bell Canada’s direct 
and indirect subsidiaries and significantly influenced compa-
nies, including NorthernTel, Limited Partnership (NorthernTel), 
Télébec, Limited Partnership (Télébec), Northwestel, Bell 
Mobility and Bell TV, are governed by the Telecommunica-
tions Act, the Broadcasting Act, the Radiocommunication Act 
and the Bell Canada Act. Our business is affected by deci-
sions made by various regulatory agencies, including the 
CRTC. The CRTC, an independent agency of the Government 
of Canada, is responsible for regulating Canada’s telecom-
munications and broadcasting industries. Other aspects of 
the businesses of these companies are regulated in various 
ways by federal government departments, in particular 
Industry Canada. 

Telecommunications Act 

The Telecommunications Act governs telecommunications in 
Canada. It defines the broad objectives of Canada’s telecom-
munications policy and provides the Government of Canada 
the power to give general direction to the CRTC on any of 
these objectives. It applies to several of the Bell Canada 
companies and partnerships, including Bell Canada, Bell 
Mobility, Bell Aliant, NorthernTel, Northwestel and Télébec.
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structure service rates and declared that each ILEC’s current 
support structure service rates have interim approval effec-
tive the date of the CRTC’s notice. This proceeding will review 
the rates that competitors must pay ILECs such as Bell Can-
ada in order to lease space on the poles and underground 
conduit owned by the ILECs. Current support structure rates 
are expected to increase given the rise in costs since the last 
review, which ended in 1993, but there is also a slight risk that 
they will decrease. A decision is expected in the fourth quar-
ter of 2010, after which the new rates may be retroactively 
applied to competitors back to the date of interim approval.

REVIEW OF THE INTERNET TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT  

PRACTICES (ITMPS) OF ISPS

On November 20, 2008, the CRTC issued Telecom Public Notice 
2008-19 where it initiated a proceeding to consider ITMPs  
for retail and wholesale Internet services. The CRTC sought 
comments with supporting rationale on the changes in band-
width consumption that can lead to network congestion, 
technical or economic ITMPs that are currently available or 
may be developed in the future, and the impact of these 
practices on end-users. In addition, the CRTC examined the 
appropriateness of implementing regulatory measures in 
relation to Internet traffic management by ISPs. The CRTC 
issued its decision on October 21, 2009, in which it: preserved 
ISPs’ flexibility to manage their networks and established 
certain transparency requirements. The CRTC approved the 
use of technical ITMPs, including application-specific ITMPs 
such as those applied by Bell Canada; encouraged the use of 
economic ITMPs such as usage-based billing; established a 
framework against which future complaints about traffic 
management will be assessed; and established certain pri-
vacy and notification requirements with which Bell Canada is 
already largely compliant.

PROCEEDING TO REVIEW ACCESS TO BASIC  

TELECOMMUNICATIONS SERVICES AND OTHER MATTERS

The CRTC has a $208 million subsidy (contribution) regime 
(using 2009 data) to support local service in high-cost (i.e. 
rural and remote) areas. This subsidy is funded by an indus-
try tax on revenues which was set at 0.81% of eligible tele-
com revenues in 2009. While Bell Canada draws monies from 
the contribution subsidy fund, it is also the largest payer into 
the fund. On January 28, 2010, the CRTC initiated a proceed-
ing to review issues associated with access to basic telecom-
munications service. The proceeding will include a review of 
the obligation to serve, the basic service objective, and the 
local service subsidy (contribution) regime. It will also re-
examine the local competition and wireless number portabil-
ity frameworks in the territories of the small ILECs. Finally, as 
wireless data was forborne completely from retail and 
wholesale regulation in 1996, the CRTC will examine whether 
it would be appropriate to modify the wireless data forbear-
ance framework in order for the guidelines established in the 
previously mentioned ITMPs proceeding to be applicable to 
wireless service providers. 

be approximately $454 million, leaving $10 mil lion for returns 
to eligible customers. On January 29, 2010, Bell Canada and 
Bell Aliant also filed their proposals on the manner in which 
funds would be returned to customers, and will be filing addi-
tional information in this regard on March 15, 2010. 

CRTC approval of these proposals is pending, and a deci-
sion is expected later this year.

REVIEW OF REGULATORY FRAMEWORK  

FOR WHOLESALE SERVICES 

In light of several CRTC decisions and appeals to the Governor- 
in-Council, the CRTC is required to rule on several wholesale 
issues by September 1, 2010. An oral proceeding is scheduled 
to begin on May 31, 2010 and will include a consideration of 
whether aggregated wholesale DSL services must be made 
available at speeds equivalent to the incumbents’ retail offer-
ings (speed-matching). This proceeding will also include an 
examination of the appropriateness of mandating access to 
any new types of Internet access infrastructure as well as 
whether the respective wholesale obligations imposed on 
incumbent telephone companies and cable companies are 
equitable or represent a competitive disadvantage. The CRTC 
will examine whether such wholesale obligations: 1) would 
unduly diminish incentives to invest in new network infra-
structure, 2) are necessary to enable sufficient competition 
to protect the interest of users, and 3) unduly impair the abil-
ity of incumbent telephone companies to offer new con-
verged services like IPTV. This proceeding introduces the 
possibility that new additional wholesale obligations could 
be imposed on Bell Canada or that, on a going-forward basis, 
certain wholesale services could be priced at lower rates. 
Neither would have a retroactive effect on current rates or 
revenues. Depending on the outcome, these issues could, 
however, require Bell Canada to modify its investment plans 
and its retail and wholesale commercial practices, pricing 
and plans.

REVIEW OF UNBUNDLED LOCAL LOOP RATES

On June 2, 2009, Bell Canada and Bell Aliant proposed changes 
to the existing rates for their wholesale service that provides 
unbundled local loops to competitors in their Ontario and 
Québec serving areas, and requested the CRTC to make the 
current rates interim until it issues its final determination.  
The companies filed updated cost studies to support their 
tariff application. On December 14, 2009, the CRTC issued 
Telecom Order 2009-775 and made the current loop rates 
interim, pending a complete review of the companies’ 
updated cost studies. The process is scheduled to conclude 
on May 28, 2010, with unbundled loop rates expected to be 
finalized within 120 days of the close of the record. The 
CRTC’s newly determined rates may then be retroactively 
applied to the date of interim approval (December 14, 2009).

REVIEW OF SUPPORT STRUCTURE RATES

In August 2009, the CRTC launched a proceeding to review 
the large incumbent local exchange carriers’ (ILECs) support 
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reorganization, BCE Inc. has ceased to be a broadcasting 
licencee, with the result that foreign ownership in BCE Inc. is 
now permitted up to a maximum of 331/3%.

Bell Canada holds broadcasting distribution licences, for 
major centres in Ontario and Québec, to offer video on a 
wireline basis. In addition, Bell TV, Bell Aliant, Northwestel and 
Cablevision du Nord du Québec Inc., a Télébec subsidiary, have 
broadcasting distribution licences that allow them to offer 
services. Bell TV is permitted to offer services nationally. Bell 
Aliant is permitted to offer services in Newfoundland and 
Labrador, Nova Scotia and New Brunswick. Télébec is permit-
ted to offer services in specific areas of Ontario and Québec. 
Northwestel is permitted to offer services in specific areas of 
the Northwest Territories.

Bell TV 

Bell TV is subject to programming and carriage requirements 
under CRTC regulations. Changes to the regulations that 
govern broadcasting could negatively affect Bell TV’s com-
petitive position or the cost of providing its services. Bell TV’s 
DTH satellite television distribution undertaking licence was 
renewed in March 2004 and expires on August 31, 2010. While 
we expect this licence will be renewed at term, there is no 
assurance that this will happen, or of the terms under which 
renewal will be granted.

On October 30, 2008, the CRTC issued Broadcasting Public 
Notice 2008-100, in which it established its regulatory frame-
works for broadcast distribution undertakings and discre-
tionary programming services, and set out its policies related 
to signal carriage and distant signals. The majority of the 
CRTC’s determinations are to be implemented on August 31, 
2011 and in certain respects will provide Bell TV a measure of 
added flexibility in service packaging.

The CRTC rejected the over-the-air broadcasters’ fee-for-
carriage proposal, which would have required cable and  
satellite operators to pay for the right to carry local signals. 
However, the CRTC determined that cable and satellite oper-
ators would be required, starting in September 2009, to con-
tribute 1% of their annual revenue to a new local programming 
improvement fund (LPIF) administered by an independent 
third party chosen by the Canadian Association of Broad-
casters (CAB).

The CRTC’s Broadcasting Public Notice 2008-100 also 
altered its policies regarding delivery of distant or out-of-
market signals. Cable and satellite operators can continue to 
deliver these signals without consent or fees within the prov-
ince of origin but will require the permission of broadcasters 
to deliver the signals to subscribers in other provinces. The 
CRTC determined that broadcasters and cable and satellite 
operators should negotiate the terms under which the signals 
will be delivered but that it will arbitrate disputes when par-
ties are unable to reach mutually satisfactory agreements. 
Those negotiations have subsequently been suspended pend-
ing the determination of the FFC/VFS (as defined below) 
hearings described below.

The proceeding will include a two-week oral hearing 
scheduled to begin on October 25, 2010. This proceeding may 
result in changes to various regulatory regimes, including 
possible increased annual contributions to the subsidy 
regime, which could have an adverse effect on Bell Canada’s 
business and financial results. A decision is expected in the 
first quarter of 2011.

Broadcasting Act 

The Broadcasting Act assigns the regulation and supervision 
of the broadcasting system to the CRTC. Key policy objec-
tives of the Broadcasting Act are to: 

protect and strengthen the cultural, political, social and 
economic fabric of Canada; and 

encourage the development of Canadian expression. 

Most broadcasting activities require a broadcasting licence 
or broadcasting distribution licence from the CRTC. The CRTC 
may exempt broadcasting undertakings from complying with 
certain licensing and regulatory requirements if the CRTC is 
satisfied that complying with those requirements will not 
materially affect the implementation of Canadian broad-
casting policy. A corporation must meet the following owner-
ship requirements to obtain a broadcasting or a broadcasting 
distribution licence: 

it must be Canadian-owned and controlled. At least 80% of 
all outstanding and issued voting shares and at least 80% of 
the votes must be beneficially owned directly by Canadians; 

it must not otherwise be controlled by non-Canadians; 
at least 80% of the board of directors, as well as the Chief 

Executive Officer (CEO), must be Canadian; and 
at least 662/3% of all outstanding and issued voting shares, 

and at least 66 2/3% of the votes of the parent corporation 
must be beneficially owned and controlled, directly or indi-
rectly, by Canadian interests. 

If the parent corporation of a broadcasting licencee has 
fewer than 80% Canadian directors on its board of directors, 
a non-Canadian CEO or less than 80% Canadian ownership, 
the parent corporation must demonstrate to the CRTC that  
it or its directors do not have control or influence over any  
of the broadcasting licencee’s programming decisions. Cor-
porations must have the CRTC’s approval before they can 
transfer effective control of a broadcasting licencee. The 
CRTC may impose certain requirements, including the pay-
ment of certain benefits, as a condition of the transfer.

The Canadian ownership rules for broadcasting licencees, 
such as Bell TV, set out in the Direction to the CRTC (ineligibil-
ity of Non-Canadians) issued by the Governor General in 
Council under the Broadcasting Act, restrict allowable for-
eign investments in voting shares at the licencee operating 
company level, and at the level of any broadcasting licencee, 
to a maximum of 20%, and at the holding company level to a 
maximum of 331/3%. Because BCE Inc. previously held a 
broadcasting licence as a limited partner in Bell TV, BCE Inc. 
was also subject to the 20% foreign ownership limit for 
broadcasting licencees. However, following a recent corporate 
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set technical standards for radio equipment 
establish licensing conditions 
decide how radio spectrum is allocated and used. 

Under the Radiocommunication Regulations, companies that 
are eligible for radio licences, such as Bell Canada and Bell 
Mobility, must meet the same ownership requirements that 
apply to corporations under the Telecommunications Act.

The Radiocommunication Act contains provisions which 
make it a criminal offence to manufacture, offer for sale or 
sell any device used to decode an encrypted subscription 
sig nal in connection with unauthorized reception of satellite 
signals. Bell TV, Bell Canada, the CAB and members of  
Canada’s broadcasting production community continue to 
encourage the Government of Canada to strengthen the Radio-
 commu ni cation Act in order to combat the black market in 
signal theft.

Spectrum Licences 

Companies must have a spectrum licence to operate wireless 
systems in Canada. The Minister of Industry awards spec-
trum licences, through a variety of methods, at his or her 
discretion under the Radiocommunication Act. While we 
anticipate that the licences under which we provide cellular 
and personal communications services (PCS) will be renewed 
at term, there is no assurance that this will happen. In Indus-
try Canada’s November 28, 2007 decision regarding the 
licensing and auction policy for the auctioning of AWS spec-
trum, Industry Canada indicated that an upcoming consulta-
tion regarding the renewal process may affect the renewal 
of both existing cellular and PCS as well as future AWS spec-
trum licence renewals. Industry Canada can revoke a com-
pany’s licence at any time if the company does not comply 
with the licence’s conditions. Moreover, in its AWS decision, 
Industry Canada indicated that even with full compliance 
with the conditions of a licence, Industry Canada could with-
draw a licence based on circumstances in existence at the 
time of renewal. While we believe that we comply with the 
conditions of our licences, there is no assurance that Industry 
Canada will agree. Should there be a disagreement, this could 
have a negative effect on our business and financial results.

As a result of a 2003 Industry Canada decision, the cellular 
and PCS licences under which we provide service, which 
would have expired on March 31, 2006, will now expire in 2011. 
The PCS licences that were awarded in the 2001 PCS auction 
will expire on November 29, 2011. As a result, our cellular and 
PCS licences are now classified as “spectrum licences”, that is, 
licences issued on a geographic basis rather than on a radio-
site-by-radio-site basis, with a standard ten-year licence term.

Wireless and Radio Towers 

In its November 28, 2007 AWS decision, Industry Canada 
adopted a new policy which mandates the sharing of wire-
less towers and cell sites at commercial rates, where techni-
cally feasible, and prohibits exclusive rooftop arrangements 
with landlords. On February 29, 2008, Industry Canada issued 
its conditions of licence for mandated roaming and antenna 

On March 27, 2009, the CRTC announced that it would re-
examine the LPIF in its consultation on licence renewals for 
private conventional television stations to determine if the 1% 
contribution will provide sufficient support for local program-
ming in non-metropolitan markets, either on a short-term or a 
longer-term basis. At the same time, and in light of the impact 
of the current economic uncertainty on broadcasters, the 
CRTC announced that it would again address the issue of 
fee-for-carriage for local signals as part of its spring 2010 
licence renewal process.

On July 6, 2009, and before the LPIF was implemented, the 
CRTC issued a decision increasing the required amount to be 
contributed by cable and satellite operators to 1.5% and 
deciding that funds generated by the LPIF do not need to be 
spent on additional local programming by TV stations. Sub-
sequently, regulations were issued under the Broadcasting 
Act requiring cable and satellite operators to commence 
paying the LPIF as of September 1, 2009. In order to meet the 
CRTC’s orders without impacting the current and future qual-
ity of our products and services, Bell TV has decided to apply 
a monthly fee to customer bills which will not exceed 1.5% of 
the total monthly Bell TV charges incurred by a customer on 
and after September 1, 2009. The CRTC held a public hearing 
from November 16 to November 27, 2009 to, among other 
things, consider the appropriate contribution level for the 
LPIF. There can be no assurance that the LPIF contribution 
level will be reduced, maintained, or increased.

On August 11, 2009, the CRTC also decided to consider 
whether it would be appropriate for over-the-air broadcast-
ers to be compensated for the “value” of their conventional 
TV signals. This form of compensation is commonly called 
fee-for-carriage (FFC) but is referred to by the CRTC as value 
for signal (VFS). Under one proposal, all distributors, including 
Bell TV, would be required to compensate the conventional 
broadcasters in order to distribute their signals. The CRTC 
held a public hearing from November 16 to November 27, 
2009 to consider whether FFC/VFS is appropriate and, if so, 
how it should be implemented. In addition, the CRTC held a 
public hearing from December 7 to December 11, 2009, after 
being ordered to do so by the Governor-in-Council, in order 
to issue a report to the Governor-in-Council on FFC/VFS tak-
ing into account how FFC/VFS would impact the affordability 
of cable and satellite TV services and the impact of FFC/VFS, 
on the broadcast industry. Because it is uncertain whether a 
FFC/VFS regime will be adopted, or at what levels, we are 
unable to estimate the potential impact of FFC/VFS at this 
time. The CRTC is required to issue a report to the Governor-
in-Council on the FFC/VFS issue as soon as practicable.

Radiocommunication Act 

Industry Canada regulates the use of radio spectrum by Bell 
Canada, Bell Mobility and other wireless service providers 
under the Radiocommunication Act. Under the Radiocommu-
nication Act, Industry Canada ensures that radio communi-
cation in Canada is developed and operated efficiently.

The Minister of Industry has the discretion to: 
issue and amend radio licences 
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Canada. Bell Mobility also argued that no renewal fees should 
apply at all, but if any such fees are imposed, that they should 
be restricted to a level sufficient to recover Industry Cana-
da’s cost of managing the spectrum, as is currently the case 
in the U.S. It is not possible to estimate, at this time, the impact 
that Industry Canada’s conclusions will have on our opera-
tions and financial results.

Consultation on Revisions to the Framework for 
Spectrum Auctions in Canada

On April 8, 2009, Industry Canada initiated the previously 
announced consultation regarding, among other issues, the 
renewal of long-term spectrum licences. The consultation, 
which considers changes to the 2001 Framework for spec-
trum auctions in Canada, invites comments on: the use of 
auction types other than the currently used simultaneous 
multiple-round ascending auction format; the use of auctions 
to award satellite licences; restructuring the tier service 
areas for licensing so as to distinguish between rural and 
urban areas; and on the continued need for the condition of 
licence requiring that licencees invest a percentage of their 
adjusted gross revenues in R&D.

Industry Canada’s consultation also invites comments on 
the renewal of long-term, or ten-year, auctioned and non-
auctioned spectrum licences including Industry Canada’s 
proposal to apply licence fees to subsequent terms beyond 
the initial ten-year term. Industry Canada also seeks com-
ments on its proposal that licence fees, applicable in subse-
quent renewal terms, be based on an estimation of the 
market value of the spectrum in question. Industry Canada 
has stated that market value could be estimated by consid-
ering fees for similar spectrum in Canada, the fees charged 
for similar spectrum in other jurisdictions, or as reflected in 
the prices paid at auction for similar spectrum. Determining 
the market value of spectrum will likely be a contentious 
issue and could significantly affect the cost of spectrum for 
all carriers, including Bell Mobility. Bell Mobility filed its com-
ments on June 15, 2009, and reply comments on July 15, 2009. 
Among other things, Bell Mobility argued for significantly lon-
ger licence terms and supported Industry Canada’s proposal 
to remove the 2% R&D investment requirement applicable to 
cellular and PCS licences. The 2% R&D condition of licence 
requires licencees to invest an amount equal to a minimum  
of 2% of the adjusted gross revenues derived from its opera-
tions using the spectrum in telecommunications-related  
R&D. In 2008, Bell Mobility’s R&D requirement amounted to 
$48 million. It is not possible to estimate, at this time, the 
impact that Industry Canada’s conclusions will have on our 
operations and results.

Consultation on Transition to Broadband Radio 
Services (BRS) in the Band 2500–2690 Megahertz (MHz)

In March 2009, Industry Canada issued its long anticipated 
consultation which addresses issues surrounding the imple-
mentation of mobile service in the 2500 MHz band. The con-
sultation is the next phase in Industry Canada’s 2006 2500 

tower and site sharing and to prohibit exclusive site arrange-
ments. On November 21, 2008, the conditions of licence came 
into effect, incorporating the arbitration rules and proce-
dures issued on the same day. As noted by Industry Canada, 
the revised conditions of licence are intended to facilitate 
competitive entry into the Canadian wireless market and, 
taken collectively, are intended to result in increased compe-
tition. On April 14, 2009, Industry Canada issued its guidelines 
for compliance with its conditions of licence for mandated 
roaming and antenna tower and site sharing. The guidelines 
outlined the content which should be included in requests for 
preliminary tower and cell site information and established 
the time lines for licencee response. Industry Canada also 
clarified its tower space reservation considerations with 
respect to licencee’s future requirements and third-party 
contracts, as well as its site access and confidentiality requi-
rements. Due to the nature and number of uncertainties that 
remain concerning mandated tower sharing, we are unable 
to estimate the potential impact of the revised conditions of 
licence on our business at this time.

Consultation on the Renewal of Cellular and  
PCS Spectrum Licences

Spectrum licences are issued with a ten-year term. Bell Mobil-
ity holds a number of cellular and PCS spectrum licences that 
expire in 2011 and that are used for providing cellular and 
PCS services. Industry Canada’s policy for spectrum licences 
is to hold consultations two years prior to licence expiry to 
consider the renewal of existing licences as well as the terms 
and conditions that will apply to renewed licences. Accord-
ingly, on March 25, 2009, Industry Canada initiated a consul-
tation to consider the renewal of those cellular and PCS 
spectrum licences which expire in 2011. The proposed renewal 
conditions of licence include retention of the ten-year licence 
term and elimination of the implementation of spectrum 
usage requirement. Industry Canada has also indicated that 
the current R&D investment requirement is under active con-
sideration in the concurrent consultation regarding changes 
to Canada’s spectrum auction framework (see below Consul-
tation on Revisions to the Framework for Spectrum Auctions  
in Canada).

Industry Canada has commissioned a separate study to 
assess the current market value of cellular and PCS spectrum 
as input into its consideration of renewal fees. This study was 
completed for Industry Canada late in the fourth quarter of 
2009 and is expected to be publicly released late in the first 
quarter or in the second quarter of 2010. It will include an 
international fee comparison and a review of auction prices 
paid for similar spectrum in Canada as well as internationally. 
The Industry Canada decision on renewal fees has the poten-
tial to significantly affect the cost of spectrum for all carriers 
including Bell Mobility. Bell Mobility filed comments in response 
to the initial Industry Canada consultation on May 29, 2009 
and filed reply comments on June 30, 2009. Among other 
things, Bell Mobility argued for indefinite or 20-year licence 
terms, as opposed to the ten-year term proposed by Industry 
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700 MHz Auction

Industry Canada is also planning to auction the 700 MHz 
band for mobile and fixed wireless service, likely within the 
next five years. The band is currently used by broadcasters 
for over the air analog TV service and a decision to auction 
the 700 MHz band is complicated by the requirement to first 
move the broadcasters off the spectrum. In this regard, cur-
rent policy dictates that the broadcasters must vacate the 
band by August 31, 2011. However, it is uncertain whether 
broadcasters will meet this deadline. This auction is expected 
to provide an opportunity for incumbents to expand their 
services and may also enable new entrants.

Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act,  
2005 (AODA) – Proposed Standard for  
Pay Telephone Furniture

The Ontario government is currently considering a proposed 
standard under the AODA process which could require sig-
nificant changes to the arrangement of all pay telephone 
furniture in Ontario. Bell Canada currently has in excess of 
35,000 pay telephones installed in Ontario. The average cost 
of renovating pay telephones to comply with the proposed 
standard is estimated to exceed $1,000 per unit. Bell Canada 
has submitted comments on October 16, 2009 to reduce the 
cost of compliance.

Bell Canada Act 

Under the Bell Canada Act, the CRTC must approve any sale 
or other disposal of Bell Canada voting shares that are held 
by BCE Inc., unless the sale or disposal would result in BCE Inc. 
retaining at least 80% of all of the issued and outstanding 
voting shares of Bell Canada. Except in the ordinary course 
of its business, the CRTC must also approve the sale or other 
disposal of facilities integral to Bell Canada’s telecommuni-
cations activities.

RISKS THAT COULD AFFECT OUR BUSINESS  
AND RESULTS

This section describes the principal risks that could have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition 
or results of operations, and cause actual results or events  
to differ materially from our expectations expressed in or 
implied by our forward-looking statements, in addition to the 
risks previously described under Our Competitive Environment 
and Our Regulatory Environment or those described else-
where in the MD&A. A risk is the possibility that an event 
might happen in the future that could have a negative effect 
on our business, financial condition or results of operations. 
The actual effect of any event could be materially different 
from what we currently anticipate. The risks described below 
are not the only ones that could affect us. Additional risks 
and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we  
currently deem to be immaterial may also have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results 
of operations.

MHz policy, which enables use of the Bell–Rogers Inukshuk 
Wireless Inc. spectrum for mobile services, provided that 
approximately one-third of the licensed (fixed-use) spectrum 
is returned to Industry Canada. Among other things, the con-
sultation addresses whether to apply a firm transition date 
to existing multipoint communication system (MCS) and mul-
tipoint distribution service (MDS) licences, the criteria to be 
used when issuing BRS licences, treatment of incumbents and 
proposed licence conditions applicable to BRS licences. 
Regarding licence fees, Industry Canada indicated its inten-
tion to consult on a new licence fee regime that will apply to 
BRS licences. The consultation also indicates that a forth-
coming stakeholder proposal development (SPD) process 
would facilitate discussions among incumbents with the goal 
of developing proposals for an internationally compatible 
band plan for BRS. A joint submission, on behalf of Bell Canada, 
Inukshuk and Rogers Communications Inc., was filed in response 
to Industry Canada’s consultation on June 15, 2009 and reply 
comments on July 17, 2009. Although it is not possible to esti-
mate, at this time, the impact that Industry Canada’s conclu-
sions will have on our operations and financial results, it is 
anticipated that Industry Canada will hold an auction to 
award the returned and unused 2500 MHz spectrum in 2011.

AWS Spectrum 

As previously mentioned, on November 28, 2007, Industry 
Canada released its decision concerning the policy and rules 
governing the licensing of additional mobile spectrum for AWS 
in the 1.7 and 2.1 gigahertz (GHz) bands. The licensing process 
also made an additional 10 MHz of PCS spectrum available  
in the 1.9 GHz band and 5 MHz in the 1.6 GHz band. In total, 
105 MHz of spectrum, 90 MHz of which is AWS spectrum, was 
available to be licensed through the competitive spectrum 
auction, the bidding stage of which ended on July 21, 2008. 
Industry Canada’s AWS decision set aside 40 MHz of the 
available 90 MHz of AWS spectrum for which only new 
entrants were able to bid. The remaining 50 MHz of AWS 
spectrum was open to bidding by any party, including incum-
bent carriers and new entrants. In order to provide an expan-
sion path for next-generation technologies and future 
services, we purchased new wireless licences in the AWS 
spectrum auction. We acquired 20 MHz of spectrum in 
Ontario (including Toronto and surrounding areas), in Cana-
da’s Atlantic provinces, and in Northern Canada, as well as  
10 MHz in Québec and in Western Canada, for a total invest-
ment of $741 million.

Industry Canada’s policies relating to the auction and to 
the licensing of AWS spectrum favoured the entry of new 
competitors into the Canadian wireless market and resulted 
in ten potential new competitors, one of which already started 
providing services, securing blocks of spectrum in the auction, 
some of which are on a regional basis. 

Refer to Our Competitive Environment – Wireless for more 
details, including the identity of the ten new entrants.
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number of smartphone users could require more support 
from our customer contact centres than currently antici-
pated, which could have an adverse effect on customer ser-
vice and on our costs of providing such service. Delays in the 
planned implementation of improvements within our cus-
tomer contact centres could also adversely affect customer 
service and delay the achievement of cost reductions.

Accordingly, there is a risk that customer service improve-
ments will be delayed or not be achieved or that, even if 
achieved, that they will not necessarily translate into an 
enhanced public perception of Bell Canada’s service offer-
ings or the achievement of customer retention objectives. 
There is also a risk that customer service improvements will 
be more costly to implement than currently anticipated, 
which could adversely affect our results of operations.

If we are unable to achieve any or all of these objectives, 
our business and results of operations could be adversely 
affected.

We need to anticipate technological change and invest in or 

develop new technologies, products and services. If we are 

unable to launch new technologies, products and services on 

a timely basis or if regulation expands to delay newer tech-

nologies, our business and results of operations may be 

adversely affected.

We operate in markets that are affected by constant techno-
logical change, evolving industry standards, changing client 
needs, frequent introductions of new products and services 
and short product life cycles. Investment in new technologies, 
products and services and the ability to launch, on a timely 
basis, such technologies, products and services are critical to 
increasing the number of our subscribers and achieving our 
financial performance objectives.

We may face additional risks as we develop new products, 
services and technologies, and update our networks to stay 
competitive. Newer technologies, for example, may quickly 
become obsolete or may need more capital than initially 
expected. Development could be delayed for reasons beyond 
our control. Substantial investments usually need to be made 
before new technologies prove to be commercially viable. 
There is also a risk that current regulation could be expanded 
to apply to newer technologies which could delay our launch 
of new services.

There is no assurance that we will be successful in devel-
oping, implementing and marketing new technologies, prod-
ucts, services or enhancements in a reasonable time, or that 
they will gain market acceptance. New products or services 
that use new or evolving technologies could reduce demand 
for our existing offerings or cause prices for those services 
to decline. Our failure to successfully develop, implement and 
market new technologies, products, services or enhance-
ments in a reasonable time could have an adverse effect on 
our business and results of operations.

A decline in economic growth and in retail and commercial 

activity and/or adverse conditions in the financial markets 

could decrease demand for our products and services, poten-

tially reducing profitability and threatening the ability of our 

customers to pay their expenses.

Our business is affected by general economic and financial 
conditions, consumer confidence and spending, and the 
demand for, and prices of, our products and services. Declines 
in economic growth and in retail and commercial activity, 
and/or adverse conditions in the financial markets, could 
result in lower demand for our products and services. During 
these periods, customers may delay buying our products 
and services, reduce purchases or discontinue using them. 
Weak economic and financial conditions could lower our 
profitability and reduce cash flows from operations. Such 
conditions could also negatively affect the financial condi-
tion and creditworthiness of our customers, which could 
increase uncertainty about our ability to collect receivables 
and potentially increase our bad debt expenses, which could 
adversely affect our results of operations.

Failure to achieve our business objectives could have an 

adverse impact on our financial performance and growth 

prospects.

We continue to pursue our goal to be recognized by custom-
ers as Canada’s leading communications company through 
focused execution against our five strategic imperatives.

Executing against these imperatives requires shifts in 
employee skills, investing capital to implement our strategies 
and operating priorities as well as targeted cost reductions. 
If our management, processes or employees are not able to 
adapt to these changes or if required capital is not available 
on favourable terms, we may fail to achieve our business 
objectives, which could have an adverse effect on our busi-
ness, financial performance and growth prospects.

Our strategies require us to continue to transform our cost 
structure. Accordingly, we are continuing to implement sev-
eral initiatives to reduce costs while containing our capital 
expenditures. Our objectives for targeted cost reductions 
continue to be aggressive and there is no assurance that we 
will be successful in reducing costs, especially because on an 
ongoing basis, incremental cost savings are more difficult to 
achieve. Our cost reduction objectives require aggressive 
negotiations with our key suppliers and there can be no 
assurance that such negotiations will be successful or that 
replacement products or services provided will not lead to 
operational issues.

Improved customer service and an enhanced perception 
of Bell Canada’s service offerings by existing and potential 
customers are critical to increasing customer retention and 
ARPU and attracting new customers. However, there is a risk 
that the increasing complexity of our networks could hinder 
the effective management of such networks, which could 
adversely affect service levels. In addition, the increasing 
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Our networks are connected with the networks of other 
telecommunications carriers, and we rely on them to deliver 
some of our services. Any of the events mentioned above, as 
well as strikes or other work disruptions, bankruptcies or 
other insolvency proceedings, technical difficulties or other 
events affecting the networks of these other carriers, could 
also harm our business and our customer relationships.

We depend on key third-party suppliers to provide products 

and services that we need to operate our business.

We depend on key third-party suppliers over which we have 
no operational or financial control for certain products and 
services that are critical to our operations. These critical 
products and services may only be available from a limited 
number of suppliers.

If, at any time, suppliers cannot provide us with products or 
services, including, without limitation, telecommunications 
equipment, software and maintenance services, that comply 
with evolving telecommunications standards or that are 
compatible with our equipment, IT systems and software, our 
business and results of operations could be adversely affected. 
In addition, if we are unable to obtain products or services 
that are essential to our operations on a timely basis and  
at an acceptable cost, or if telecommunications equipment, 
such as handsets, that we sell or otherwise provide to cus-
tomers or network equipment that we use to provide ser-
vices has manufacturing defects, our ability to offer our 
products and services and to roll out our advanced services, 
and the quality of our services and networks, may be nega-
tively impacted, our network development and expansion 
could be impeded, and our business, strategy and results of 
operations could be adversely affected. These suppliers may 
be subject to litigation with respect to technology that we 
depend on for our service offerings. In addition, the business 
and operations of our suppliers and their ability to continue 
to provide us with products and services could be adversely 
affected by various factors, including, without limitation, 
general economic and financial market conditions, the inten-
sity of competitive activity, labour disruptions, availability of 
and accessibility to capital, bankruptcy or other insolvency 
proceedings, and changes in technological standards.

Renegotiating collective bargaining agreements with employ-

ees could result in higher labour costs and work disruptions.

Approximately 45% of our employees are represented by 
unions and are covered by collective bargaining agreements. 
Renegotiating collective bargaining agreements could result 
in higher labour costs and work disruptions, including work 
stoppages or work slowdowns. There can be no assurance 
that should a strike or work disruption occur, it would not 
adversely affect service to our customers and our results  
of operations. In addition, work disruptions at our service 
providers, including work slowdowns and work stoppages due 
to strikes, could harm our business, including our customer 
relationships and results of operations.

We may be required to increase contributions to our employee 

benefit plans in the future depending on various factors.

The funding requirements of our employee benefit plans, 
resulting from valuations of our plan assets and liabilities, 
depend on a number of factors, including actual returns on 
pension plan assets, long-term interest rates, plan demo-
graphics and pension regulations. Changes in these factors 
could cause actual future contributions to significantly differ 
from our current estimates and could require us to increase 
contributions to our employee benefit plans in the future and, 
therefore, could have a negative effect on our liquidity and 
results of operations.

There is no assurance that our pension plans will be able to 
earn their assumed rate of return. A substantial portion of 
our pension plans’ assets is invested in both public equity and 
debt securities. As a result, the ability of our pension plans to 
earn the rate of return that we have assumed significantly 
depends on the performance of capital markets. Market con-
ditions also impact the discount rate used to calculate our 
solvency obligations and thereby could also significantly 
affect our cash funding requirements.

In addition, our estimated funding requirements for 2010 
are based on preliminary calculations which do not take into 
account the Federal Minister of Finance’s announcement on 
October 27, 2009 of a proposed federal pension reform in 
2010. Based on our interpretation of the information cur-
rently available, if this reform project is applicable to actu-
arial calculations with an effective date of December 31, 
2009 or later, the impact on funding requirements would not 
be materially negative. However, such funding requirements 
may still be higher than expected if the results of our actu-
arial valuations materially and negatively differ from our 
preliminary calculations and if the final federal pension 
reform law and regulations differ significantly from what we 
currently anticipate.

Our operations depend on how well we protect, maintain and 

replace our networks, equipment, IT systems and software.

Our operations depend on how well we protect our networks, 
equipment, IT systems and software, and the information 
stored in our data centres, against damage from fire, natural 
disaster (including seismic and severe weather-related 
events such as ice, snow and wind storms, flooding and tor-
nadoes), power loss, hacking, computer viruses, disabling 
devices, acts of war or terrorism, sabotage, vandalism and 
other events. Global climate change could exacerbate cer-
tain of those threats, including the frequency and severity of 
weather-related events. Our operations also depend on the 
timely replacement, maintenance and upgrade of our net-
works, equipment, IT systems and software. Any of these and 
other events could result in network failures, billing errors 
and delays in customer service. Our operations also depend 
on our ability to protect the information stored in our data 
centres against theft. The theft of such information could 
adversely affect our customer relationships and expose us to 
claims in damages by customers.
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In general, our capital needs are funded from cash gener-
ated by our operations or investments, by borrowing from 
commercial banks, through debt and equity offerings in the 
capital markets, or by selling or otherwise disposing of assets 
(including the sale of accounts receivable).

Our ability to raise financing depends on our ability to 
access the public equity and debt capital markets as well as 
the bank credit market. Our ability to access such markets 
and the cost and amount of funding available depend largely 
on prevailing market conditions and the outlook for our busi-
ness and credit ratings at the time capital is raised. An 
increased level of debt borrowings could result in lower credit 
ratings, increased borrowing costs and a reduction in the 
amount of funding available to us (including through equity 
offerings). Business acquisitions could also adversely affect 
our outlook and credit ratings and have similar adverse con-
sequences. In addition, participants in the public capital and 
bank credit markets have internal policies limiting their abil-
ity to invest in, or extend credit to, any single entity or entity 
group or to a particular industry.

Our bank credit facilities, including credit facilities sup-
porting our commercial paper programs, are with various 
financial institutions. While it is our intention to renew such 
credit facilities from time to time, there are no assurances 
that these facilities will be renewed on favourable terms or in 
similar amounts.

If we cannot raise the capital we need to implement our 
business plan upon acceptable terms, we may have to limit 
our ongoing capital expenditures, limit our investment in  
new businesses, or try to raise additional capital by selling or 
otherwise disposing of assets. Any of these could have an 
adverse effect on our cash flows from operations and on our 
growth prospects.

We may not be able to discontinue certain services as neces-

sary to improve capital and operating efficiencies.

We are in the process of moving traffic on our core circuit-
based infrastructure to IP technology. As part of this move, 
we are in the process of discontinuing certain services that 
are based on circuit-based infrastructure. This is a necessary 
component of improving capital and operating efficiencies. 
In some cases, this could be delayed or prevented by cus-
tomers or regulatory actions. If we cannot discontinue these 
services as planned, we will not be able to achieve the effi-
ciencies as expected and this may adversely affect our 
results of operations.

Regulatory initiatives or proceedings, pending or future liti-

gation, changes in laws or regulations or government tax 

audits could have an adverse effect on our business and 

results of operations.

Our business is affected by decisions made by various regu-
latory agencies, including the CRTC. Decisions of the CRTC 
may have an adverse effect on our business and results of 

The following collective agreements will expire in 2010:
the collective agreement between the CEP and Bell Can-

ada covering approximately 770 communications sales 
employees will expire on December 31, 2010

the collective agreement between the CEP and Expertech 
Network Installation Inc. covering approximately 165 clerical 
employees will expire on November 30, 2010

the collective agreement between the CEP and Bell Can-
ada covering approximately 115 craft employees located in 
Western Canada will expire on May 10, 2010.

In addition, negotiations with respect to a first collective 
agreement between the CEP and Bell Canada covering 
approximately 50 clerical employees located in Western 
Canada are scheduled to commence later this year.

The significant increase in broadband demand could have an 

adverse effect on our business and financial results.

With the rapid growth in video and other bandwidth-inten-
sive applications on the Internet and on mobile devices, we 
may need to incur significant capital expenditures to provide 
additional capacity on our Internet and wireless networks. 
We may not be able to recover these costs from customers 
due to competitors’ short-term pricing of comparable ser-
vices. There is also a risk that our efforts to optimize network 
performance, in the face of increasing broadband demand, 
through paced fibre deployment, traffic management and 
rate plan changes could be unsuccessful and/or generate 
adverse publicity, potentially resulting in an increase in our 
subscriber churn rate beyond our current expectations, or 
new regulation, and thereby compromising our efforts to 
attract new customers. This could have an adverse effect on 
our business and results of operations.

If we are unable to raise the capital we need, we may need to 

limit our capital expenditures or our investments in new busi-

nesses, or try to raise capital by disposing of assets.

As previously discussed under Financial and Capital Manage-
ment – Liquidity, we have significant cash requirements to 
implement our business plan and meet our financial obliga-
tions. These cash requirements may be adversely affected 
by the risks associated with our contingencies, off-balance 
sheet arrangements and assumptions built into our business 
and financial plans. Our ability to meet our cash require-
ments and provide for planned growth depends on our hav-
ing access to adequate sources of capital and on our ability 
to generate cash flows from operations, which is subject to 
general economic, market, competitive, regulatory and other 
risk factors described in this document, many of which are 
not within our control. Also, the amount of working capital 
available to operate our business and our ability to achieve 
our working capital objectives could be adversely impacted 
by the quality of, and our level of success in collecting, 
accounts receivable through the use of our employees, sys-
tems and technology.
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Any loss, failure, manufacturing defects, damage or des-
truc tion of these satellites, of Bell TV’s terrestrial broadcasting 
infrastructure or of Telesat’s tracking, telemetry and control 
facilities to operate the satellites could have an adverse 
effect on Bell TV’s business and results of operations and 
could result in many customers terminating their subscription 
to Bell TV’s DTH satellite television service.

In addition, there are certain risks related to the construc-
tion and launch of new satellites. Launch delays can result 
from delays in the construction of satellites and launch vehi-
cles, the periodic unavailability of reliable launch opportuni-
ties, possible delays in obtaining regulatory approvals, and 
launch failures. If satellite construction schedules are not met, 
a launch opportunity may not be available at the time the 
satellite is ready to be launched. Launch vehicles may fail 
resulting in significant delays in the deployment of satellites 
because of the need to construct replacement satellites, 
which typically takes up to 30 months or longer, and to 
obtain another launch vehicle. Such significant delays could 
adversely affect Bell TV’s ability to launch new services and 
reduce the competitiveness of its television services, and 
may adversely affect our results of operations.

The theft of our satellite television services could have an 

adverse effect on Bell TV’s business and results of operations.

Bell TV faces a loss of revenue resulting from the theft of its 
services. In 2008, Bell TV introduced and completed a smart 
card exchange for its authorized digital receivers that is 
designed to block unauthorized reception of Bell TV’s signals. 
However, as with any technology-based security system, it 
is not possible to prevent with absolute certainty the com-
promise or circumvention of that security system. As is the 
case for all other television distributors, Bell TV has experi-
enced, and continues to experience, ongoing efforts to steal 
its services by way of compromise or circumvention of Bell 
TV’s signal security systems. The theft of Bell TV’s services 
could have an adverse effect on Bell TV’s business and results 
of operations.

BCE Inc. is dependent on the ability of its subsidiaries, joint 

ventures and other companies in which it has an interest to 

pay dividends or otherwise make distributions to it.

BCE Inc. has no material sources of income or assets of its 
own, other than the interests that it has in its subsidiaries, 
joint ventures and other companies, including its direct own-
ership of the equity of Bell Canada. BCE Inc.’s cash flow and, 
consequently, its ability to service its indebtedness and to 
pay dividends on its equity securities are therefore depen-
dent upon the ability of its subsidiaries, joint ventures and 
other companies in which it has an interest to pay dividends 
or otherwise make distributions to it.

operations. In addition, we become involved in various claims 
and litigation as a part of our business. Pending or future  
litigation, including an increase in class action claims which, 
by their nature, could result in sizeable damage awards, 
could have an adverse effect on our business and results  
of operations.

Changes in laws or regulations or in how they are inter-
preted, and the adoption of new laws or regulations, could 
negatively affect us. These include changes in tax laws or the 
adoption of new tax laws that result in higher tax rates or 
new taxes. They also include amendments to Canadian secu-
rities laws that introduced statutory civil liability for misrep-
resentations in continuous disclosure. These amendments 
have facilitated the introduction in Canada of class action 
lawsuits by secondary market investors against public com-
panies for alleged misrepresentations in public disclosure 
documents and oral statements. Significant damages could 
be awarded by courts in these types of actions should they 
be successful. Such awards of damages and costs relating to 
litigation could adversely affect our results of operations.

We believe that we have adequately provided for all 
income and commodity taxes based on all of the information 
that is currently available. The calculation of income taxes 
and the applicability of commodity taxes in many cases, 
however, require significant judgment in interpreting tax 
rules and regulations. Our tax filings are subject to govern-
ment audits which could result in material changes to the 
amount of current and future income tax assets and liabili-
ties and other liabilities and could, in certain circumstances, 
result in an assessment of interest and penalties.

For a description of the principal regulatory initiatives and 
proceedings affecting us, see Our Regulatory Environment. 
For a description of the principal legal proceedings involving 
us, please see the section Legal Proceedings contained in the 
BCE 2009 AIF.

Satellites used by Bell TV are subject to significant opera-

tional risks and satellites that are not yet built are subject to 

construction and launch delays that could have an adverse 

effect on Bell TV’s business and financial results.

In conjunction with the sale by BCE Inc. of its subsidiary Tele-
sat on October 31, 2007, a set of commercial arrangements 
between Telesat and Bell TV were put into place that provide 
Bell TV access to satellite capacity. Pursuant to these com-
mercial arrangements, Bell TV currently uses three satellites. 
Telesat operates or directs the operation of these satellites.

Satellites utilize highly complex technology and operate in 
the harsh environment of space and are therefore subject to 
significant operational risks while in orbit. The risks include 
in-orbit equipment failures, malfunctions and other kinds of 
problems commonly referred to as anomalies that could 
reduce the commercial usefulness of a satellite used by Bell 
TV. Acts of war or terrorism, magnetic, electrostatic or solar 
storms, and space debris or micrometeoroids could also 
damage the satellites used by Bell TV.
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We cannot guarantee that BCE Inc.’s dividend policy will  

be maintained or that dividends will be declared.

The board of directors of BCE Inc. reviews from time to time 
the adequacy of BCE Inc.’s dividend policy. On February 10, 
2009, the board of directors of BCE Inc. adopted a new com-
mon share dividend policy with a target dividend payout 
ratio of 65% to 75% of Adjusted EPS. This new dividend policy 
was adopted with the objective of allowing sufficient finan-
cial flexibility to continue investing in BCE’s business while 
growing returns to shareholders. Under this dividend policy, 
increases in the common share dividend are directly linked to 
growth in BCE Inc.’s Adjusted EPS. BCE Inc.’s dividend policy 
and the declaration of dividends are subject to the discretion 
of BCE Inc.’s board of directors and, consequently, there can 
be no guarantee that BCE Inc.’s dividend policy will be main-
tained or that dividends will be declared. 

A major decline in the market price of BCE Inc.’s securities 

may negatively impact our ability to raise capital, issue debt, 

retain employees, make strategic acquisitions or enter into 

joint ventures.

Differences between BCE Inc.’s actual or anticipated finan-
cial results and the published expectations of financial ana-
lysts may contribute to volatility in BCE Inc.’s securities. A 
major decline in the capital markets in general, or an adjust-
ment in the market price or trading volumes of BCE Inc.’s 
securities, may negatively affect our ability to raise capital, 
issue debt, retain employees, make strategic acquisitions or 
enter into joint ventures.

Health concerns about radio frequency emissions from wire-

less devices, as well as epidemics and other health risks, could 

have an adverse effect on our business.

It has been suggested that some radio frequency emissions 
from cellular phones may be linked to certain medical condi-
tions. Interest groups have also requested investigations into 
claims that digital transmissions from handsets used with 
digital wireless technologies pose health concerns and cause 
interference with hearing aids and other medical devices. 
Increasing concern over the use of cellular phones and the 
possible related health risks is expected to put additional 
pressure on the wireless communications industry to demon-
strate their safe use and could lead to additional government 
regulation, which could have a negative effect on our business. 
In addition, actual or perceived health risks of using wireless 
communications devices could result in fewer new network 
subscribers, lower network usage per subscriber, higher churn 
rates, product liability lawsuits or less outside financing being 
available to the wireless communications industry. We rely 
on our suppliers to ensure that the network equipment and 
customer equipment supplied to us meets all applicable safety 
requirements. Epidemics, pandemics and other health risks 

BCE Inc.’s subsidiaries, joint ventures and other companies 
in which it has an interest are separate and distinct legal 
entities and have no obligation, contingent or otherwise, to 
pay any dividends or make any other distributions to BCE Inc. 
In addition, any right of BCE Inc. to receive assets of its sub-
sidiaries, joint ventures and other companies in which it has 
an interest upon their liquidation or reorganization will be 
structurally subordinated to the prior claims of creditors of 
such subsidiaries, joint ventures and other companies.

As for Bell Aliant, it intends, subject to approval of the 
trustees of Bell Aliant, to make cash distributions to its unit-
holders, including BCE Inc. and Bell Canada, but there can be 
no guarantee regarding the amounts of these cash distribu-
tions, which may fluctuate with Bell Aliant’s performance and 
other variables. Bell Aliant also has the discretion to establish 
cash reserves for the proper conduct of its business, which 
would reduce the amount of cash available for distributions 
in the year. Accordingly, we cannot provide any assurance 
regarding the actual levels of distributions by Bell Aliant.

The Government of Canada’s changes to the tax treatment 
of income trusts announced on October 31, 2006 received 
royal assent and were enacted into law on June 22, 2007 (the 
SIFT Rules). Effective in 2011, income trusts that were publicly 
traded before November 2006, like Bell Aliant, will be subject 
to taxation at corporate tax rates and certain distributions 
to unitholders will be taxed like dividends received from a 
corporation. All else being equal, the taxation of income 
trusts at corporate tax rates is likely to result in less cash 
being available to Bell Aliant to pay distributions. The Gov-
ernment of Canada specified that while there was no inten-
tion to prevent existing income trusts from normal growth 
during the transitional period, any undue expansion of an 
existing income trust before 2011 would make the new rules 
effective immediately. To qualify for the delay in applying the 
SIFT Rules, Bell Aliant must comply with the government’s 
normal growth guidelines regarding equity capital that were 
issued on December 15, 2006, as amended from time to time. 
In particular, the equity of Bell Aliant is only permitted to 
grow by a prescribed annual amount up to and including  
the 2010 calendar year. In December 2008, the Minister of 
Finance released Explanatory Notes to the November 28, 
2008 Notice of Ways and Means Motion which revised the 
normal growth guidelines to accelerate the safe harbour 
amounts for 2009 and 2010 to make them available on and 
after December 4, 2008. This change did not alter the maxi-
mum permitted growth of a trust, but generally allowed a 
trust, like Bell Aliant, to use the remaining growth room in a 
single year, rather than incrementally over 2009 and 2010. 
Because there is still uncertainty as to the interpretation of 
these guidelines and what constitutes growth in certain situ-
ations, there can be no assurance that Bell Aliant will be able 
to retain the benefit of the deferral of the SIFT Rules. A reduc-
tion in distributions from Bell Aliant could have an adverse 
effect on our cash flows and results of operations.
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assessments of the quality of controls. On a quarterly basis 
the Internal Audit group reports to the Audit Committee on 
the results of their internal audits and on areas identified for 
specific improvement. The Internal Audit group also promotes 
effective risk management in our lines of business.

The Audit Committee considers the effectiveness of the 
operation of our internal control procedures, reviewing reports 
from the Internal Audit group and BCE Inc.’s external auditors. 
The Audit Committee reports its conclusions to BCE Inc.’s 
board of directors.

OUR ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This section discusses key estimates and assumptions that 
management has made and how they affect the amounts 
reported in the financial statements and notes. It also describes 
key changes in accounting standards and our accounting 
policies, and how they affect our financial statements.

We have prepared our consolidated financial statements 
according to Canadian GAAP. Other significant accounting 
policies, not involving the same level of measurement uncer-
tainty as those discussed in this section, are nevertheless 
important to an understanding of our financial statements. 
Estimates related to revenues, allowance for doubtful accounts, 
useful lives of capital assets, asset impairments, inventory 
reserves, employee compensation plans, evaluation of mini-
mum lease terms for operating leases, and business combi-
nations require difficult judgments on complex matters that 
are often subject to multiple sources of authoritative guid-
ance. See Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements for 
more information about the accounting principles we used to 
prepare our financial statements.

Critical Accounting Estimates

As required under Canadian GAAP, we make estimates when 
we account for and report assets, liabilities, revenues and 
expenses, and disclose contingent assets and liabilities in our 
financial statements. We are also required to regularly evalu-
ate the estimates that we make. 

We base our estimates on a number of factors, including 
historical experience, current events and actions that we 
may undertake in the future, and other assumptions that we 
believe are reasonable based on information available at the 
time they are made. Given the inherent uncertainty involved 
in making estimates, actual results reported in future periods 
could differ from these estimates.

We consider the estimates described in this section to be 
an important part of understanding our financial statements 
because they require management to make assumptions 
about matters that are highly uncertain at the time the esti-
mate was made and changes to these estimates could have 
a material impact on our financial statements.

could also occur which could adversely affect our ability to 
maintain operational networks and provide services to our 
customers. Any of these events could have an adverse effect 
on our business and results of operations.

Our business depends on the performance of and our ability 

to retain our employees.

Our business depends on the efforts, abilities and expertise 
of our employees and, more specifically, of our senior exec-
utives and other key employees. A key component of our 
retention strategy for our key personnel lies in our ability to 
provide clear, meaningful and challenging objectives that will 
drive performance and enhance their skills and expertise. 
Our senior executives and other key employees are impor-
tant to our success because they have been instrumental in 
setting our strategic direction, operating our business, iden-
tifying, recruiting and training key personnel, and identifying 
business opportunities. The loss of one or more of these key 
individuals could impair our business and development until 
qualified replacements are found. We cannot assure you that 
these individuals could quickly be replaced with persons of 
equal experience and capabilities. Although we have reten-
tion plans in place and employment agreements with certain 
of these individuals, we cannot prevent them from terminat-
ing their employment with us.

In addition, deterioration in employee morale resulting 
from recent significant staff reductions, wage freezes, ongo-
ing cost reductions or unresolved collective agreements could 
also adversely affect our business and financial results.

Risk Management Practices

BCE Inc.’s audit committee (Audit Committee) is responsible 
for the oversight of our risk management processes. Such 
processes are designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the 
risk of failure to achieve our business objectives. The Audit 
Committee also takes into account significant social, envi-
ronmental and ethical matters that relate to our business.

We have enterprise-wide risk assessment processes which 
incorporate the internal control and enterprise risk manage-
ment frameworks of the Committee of Sponsoring Organiza-
tions of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Risk assessment 
and evaluation is an important part of the annual business 
planning cycle. In developing their annual plans, BCE’s busi-
ness units identify and assess significant risks to the achieve-
ment of their business objectives and, where necessary, 
develop mitigation plans. The risk information generated is 
reviewed with senior management and BCE Inc.’s board of 
directors in evaluating the business plans for each of the 
business units and the company as a whole. The Internal 
Audit group plans its annual activities employing a risk-based 
review of internal control processes in the company. Through-
out the year the Internal Audit group carries out continuing 
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  IMPACT ON 
  ACCRUED 
  IMPACT ON NET BENEFIT ASSET 
 BENEFIT PLANS AT DECEMBER 31, 
 COST FOR 2010 2010 
 INCREASE/ INCREASE/ 
 (DECREASE) (DECREASE)

Discount rate increased to 6.9%

 Bell Wireline (42) 42

 Bell Wireless (1) 1

 Bell Aliant (19) 19

Total   (62) 62

Discount rate decreased to 5.9%

 Bell Wireline 69 (69)

 Bell Wireless 1 (1)

 Bell Aliant 22 (22)

Total   92 (92)

Although there is no immediate impact on our balance sheet, 
a lower discount rate results in a higher accrued benefit obli-
gation and a higher pension deficit.

EXPECTED LONG-TERM RATE OF RETURN

The expected long-term rate of return is a weighted average 
rate of our forward-looking view of long-term returns on 
each of the major plan asset categories in our funds.

We determine the appropriate expected long-term rate of 
return at the end of every year. We assumed an expected 
long-term rate of return on plan assets of 7.0% in 2009, com-
pared to 7.25% in 2008. The following table shows the impact 
of a 0.5% increase and a 0.5% decrease in the expected rate 
of return on plan assets on the net benefit plans cost for 
2009 and the accrued benefit asset at December 31, 2010.

  IMPACT ON 
  ACCRUED 
 IMPACT ON NET BENEFIT ASSET 
 BENEFIT PLANS AT DECEMBER 31, 
 COST FOR 2010 2010 
 INCREASE/ INCREASE/ 
 (DECREASE) (DECREASE)

Expected rate of return increased to 7.5%

 Bell Wireline (58) 58

 Bell Wireless (1) 1

 Bell Aliant (14) 14

Total   (73) 73

Expected rate of return decreased to 6.5%

 Bell Wireline 58 (58)

 Bell Wireless 1 (1)

 Bell Aliant 14 (14)

Total   73 (73)

Our senior management has discussed the development 
and selection of the critical accounting estimates described 
in this section with the Audit Committee of our board of 
directors. The Audit Committee has reviewed these critical 
accounting estimates.

Any sensitivity analysis included in this section should be 
used with caution as the changes are hypothetical and the 
impact of changes in each key assumption may not be linear.

Employee Benefit Plans

We maintain defined benefit plans that provide pension and 
other post-employment benefits for most of our employees. 
The amounts reported in the financial statements relating to 
these benefits are determined using actuarial calculations 
that are based on several assumptions.

We perform a valuation at least every three years to deter-
mine the actuarial present value of the accrued pension and 
other post-employment benefits. The valuation uses man-
agement’s assumptions for the discount rate, expected long-
term rate of return on plan assets, rate of compensation 
increase, trends in healthcare costs and expected average 
remaining years of service of employees.

While we believe that these assumptions are reasonable, 
differences in actual results or changes in assumptions could 
materially affect employee benefit obligations and future net 
benefit plans costs. 

We account for differences between actual and assumed 
results by recognizing differences in benefit obligations and 
plan performance over the estimated average working lives 
of the employees who benefit from the plans. 

The two most significant assumptions used to calculate the 
net employee benefit plans cost are the discount rate and 
the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets. Each of 
our operating segments is affected by these assumptions.

DISCOUNT RATE

The discount rate is the interest rate used to determine the 
present value of the future cash flows that we expect will be 
needed to settle employee benefit obligations. It is based on 
the yield on long-term high-quality corporate fixed income 
investments, with maturities matching the estimated cash 
flows from the plan.

We determine the appropriate discount rate at the end of 
every year. Our discount rate was 6.4% at December 31, 
2009, a decrease from 7.0% at December 31, 2008. The fol-
lowing table shows the impact of a 0.5% increase and a 0.5% 
decrease in the discount rate on the net benefit plans cost for 
2009 and the accrued benefit asset at December 31, 2009.
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Any changes in each of the estimates used could have a 
material impact on the calculation of the fair value and 
resulting impairment charge. As a result, we are unable to 
reasonably quantify the changes in our overall financial per-
formance if we had used different assumptions. 

We cannot predict whether an event that triggers impair-
ment will occur, when it will occur or how it will affect the 
asset values we have reported.

There were no impairment charges recorded in 2009, 2008 
or 2007.

Contingencies

We become involved in various claims and litigation and reg-
ulatory matters as a part of our business. Each of our operat-
ing segments may be affected. Pending litigation, regulatory 
initiatives or regulatory proceedings represent potential 
financial loss to our business.

We accrue a potential loss if we believe the loss is proba-
ble and it can be reasonably estimated. We base our decision 
on information that is available at the time. We estimate the 
amount of the loss by consulting with the outside legal coun-
sel that is handling our defence. This involves analyzing 
potential outcomes and assuming various litigation and set-
tlement strategies. 

If the final resolution of a legal or regulatory matter results 
in a judgment against us or requires us to pay a large settle-
ment, it could have a material effect on our results of opera-
tions, cash flows and financial position in the period in which 
the judgment or settlement occurs. Any accrual would be 
charged to operating income and included in Accounts pay-
able and accrued liabilities or Other long-term liabilities. Any 
cash settlement would be deducted from cash from operat-
ing activities.

None of our operating segments had any significant provi-
sions relating to pending litigation, regulatory initiatives or 
regulatory proceedings at December 31, 2009. We have not 
made any significant changes to our estimates in the past 
two years.

Income Taxes

The calculation of income tax expense requires significant 
judgment in interpreting tax rules and regulations, which are 
changing constantly. There are many transactions and cal-
culations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncer-
tain. Our tax filings are also subject to audits, the outcome of 
which could materially change the amount of current and 
future income tax assets and liabilities. 

Although there is no immediate impact on our balance sheet, 
poor fund performance results in a lower fair value of plan 
assets and a higher pension deficit. This means that we may 
have to increase cash contributions to the pension fund.

Useful Lives of Property, Plant and Equipment

We review estimates of the useful lives of property, plant and 
equipment on a periodic basis and adjust them on a prospec-
tive basis, if necessary.

A significant proportion of our total assets consist of prop-
erty, plant and equipment. Changes in technology or in our 
intended use of these assets, as well as changes in business 
prospects or economic and industry factors may cause the 
estimated useful lives of these assets to change.

We perform internal studies to assess the appropriateness 
of depreciable lives of property, plant and equipment. These 
studies use models, which take into account actual and 
expected future usage, physical wear and tear, replacement 
history and assumptions about technology evolution to cal-
culate the remaining life of our assets. When these factors 
indicate that assets’ useful lives are different from the origi-
nal assessment, we depreciate the remaining carrying values 
prospectively over the adjusted estimated useful lives.

Goodwill Impairment

We assess goodwill impairment of individual reporting units 
in the fourth quarter of every year and when events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that goodwill might be impaired. 

We test goodwill impairment in two steps: 
we compare the fair value of a reporting unit to its carry-

ing value. Fair value is based on estimates of discounted 
future cash flows or other valuation methods. When the fair 
value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value, fair 
values are determined for all of its identifiable assets and 
liabilities. The excess of the fair value of the reporting unit 
over the total of the amounts assigned to its assets and  
liabilities is the fair value of goodwill. 

an impairment charge is deducted from earnings for any 
excess of the carrying value of goodwill over its fair value.

We make a number of significant estimates when calculating 
fair value using discounted future cash flows or other valua-
tion methods. These estimates include the assumed growth 
rates for future cash flows, the numbers of years used in the 
cash flow model, the discount rate and others.

We believe that all of our estimates are reasonable. They 
are consistent with our internal planning and reflect our best 
estimates, but they have inherent uncertainties that man-
agement may not be able to control.
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International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

The AcSB has set January 1, 2011 as the date that IFRS will 
replace Canadian GAAP for publicly accountable enterprises, 
which includes Canadian reporting issuers. We will prepare 
our financial statements in accordance with IFRS commenc-
ing January 1, 2011. Financial reporting under IFRS differs 
from Canadian GAAP in a number of respects, some of which 
are significant. IFRS on the date of adoption also is expected 
to differ from current IFRS due to new IFRS that are expected 
to be issued before the changeover date. 

We describe below our IFRS changeover plan, selected key 
activities and their status, and the significant known impacts 
on our financial reporting. This information is provided to 
allow investors and others to obtain a better understanding 
of our IFRS changeover plan and the resulting possible effects 
on our financial statements and operating performance 
measures. Readers are cautioned, however, that it may not 
be appropriate to use such information for any other pur-
pose. This information also reflects our most recent assump-
tions and expectations; circumstances may arise, such as 
changes in IFRS, regulations or economic conditions, which 
could change these assumptions or expectations.

IFRS Changeover Plan

We have developed a detailed plan for our changeover to 
IFRS comprised of three related phases:
 Review and Assessment
 Design
 Implementation.

PHASE 1: REVIEW AND ASSESSMENT

The objective of this phase was to identify the required 
changes to our accounting policies and practices resulting 
from the changeover to IFRS to determine the scope of  
the work effort required for the Design and Implementation 
phases. Phase 1 involved:

a detailed review of all relevant IFRS standards to identify 
differences with our current accounting policies and practices

the separate consideration of one-time accounting choices 
that must be addressed at the changeover date and those 
accounting policy choices that will be applied on an ongoing 
basis in periods subsequent to the changeover to IFRS

the prioritization of those differences that could have a 
more than inconsequential impact on our financial statements, 
business processes or IT systems

the identification of internal stakeholders and business 
areas that may be affected by the changeover.

Management believes that it has sufficient amounts accrued 
for outstanding income tax matters based on all of the infor-
mation that is currently available.

Future tax assets and liabilities require management judg-
ment in determining the amounts to be recognized. In par-
ticular, significant judgment is required when assessing the 
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences to which 
future tax rates are applied. Further, the amount of future tax 
assets, which is limited to the amount that is more likely than 
not to be realized, is estimated with consideration given to 
the timing, sources and level of future taxable profit.

Recent Changes to Accounting Standards

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The Canadian Accounting Standards Board (AcSB) issued 
section 3064, Goodwill and Intangible Assets, which estab-
lishes standards for the recognition, measurement, presenta-
tion and disclosure of intangible assets. Section 3064 came 
into effect on January 1, 2009, replacing section 3062, Good-
will and Other Intangible Assets and section 3450, Research 
and Development Costs. Adoption of this new standard did 
not have a significant impact on our financial results.

Future Changes to Accounting Standards

Multiple Deliverable Revenue Arrangements

In December 2009, the Emerging Issues Committee of the 
AcSB issued EIC-175, Multiple Deliverable Revenue Arrange-
ments, which addresses certain aspects of accounting by a 
vendor for arrangements under which it will perform multiple 
revenue-generating activities, amending the previous guid-
ance under EIC-142, Revenue Arrangements with Multiple 
Deliverables. The amendments require a vendor to allocate 
arrangement consideration at the inception of an arrange-
ment to all deliverables using the relative selling price method, 
thus prohibiting the use of the residual method. EIC-175 also 
changes the level of evidence of the standalone selling price 
required to separate deliverables when more objective evi-
dence of the selling price is not available.

EIC-175 may be applied prospectively and must be applied 
to revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables entered 
into or materially modified in the first annual fiscal period 
beginning on or after January 1, 2011. Early adoption is 
permitted.

We are currently evaluating the impact and effective date 
of adoption of EIC-175.
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PHASE 2: DESIGN

Phase 2 involved the design and development of detailed 
solutions to address the differences identified in the first 
phase of our changeover plan. These solutions resulted in 
certain necessary changes to our internal business processes 
and financial systems to comply with IFRS accounting and 
disclosure requirements. Phase 2 activities included:

the evaluation of accounting policy alternatives
the investigation, development and documentation of 

solutions to resolve differences identified in Phase 1, reflect-
ing changes to existing accounting policies and practices, 
business processes, IT systems and internal controls

the implementation of a change management strategy to 
address the information and training needs of internal and 
external stakeholders.

PHASE 3: IMPLEMENTATION

In the third and final phase of our changeover plan, currently 
underway, we will implement the changes to affected account-
ing policies and practices, business processes, systems and 
internal controls. These changes will be tested prior to the 
formal reporting requirements under IFRS to ensure all sig-
nificant differences are appropriately addressed in time for 
the changeover.

Progress towards Completion of Our IFRS  
Changeover Plan

We have identified the differences between Canadian GAAP 
and IFRS that impact our financial statements. Our detailed 
analysis identified a number of accounting differences and 
policy alternatives under IFRS as compared to Canadian 
GAAP. We also have determined, however, that our account-
ing policies generally are aligned with IFRS requirements in 
many key areas. We will continue to monitor changes to IFRS 
throughout 2010. We will review and assess any new or mod-
ified standards that are issued prior to our changeover.

Phase 2 of our changeover plan is substantially complete. 
During 2010, we will complete our selection of our accounting 
policies and transition options under IFRS.

Phase 3 work on development and implementation of sys-
tem changes is complete. During 2010, we will complete the 
work effort undertaken to ready our business processes and 
internal controls for the changeover.

Appropriate resources have been secured to complete the 
changeover on a timely basis according to our plan mile-
stones. We have ensured training needs are met and will con-
tinue to be addressed throughout the changeover period.

We have detailed project plans and progress reporting in 
place to support and communicate the changeover. Summa-
rized below is a description of our progress towards comple-
tion of selected key activities of our IFRS changeover plan as 
of December 31, 2009. At this time, we cannot quantify the 
impact that the future adoption of IFRS will have on our 
financial statements and operating performance measures; 
however, such impact may be material. The changeover to 
IFRS will impact internal controls over financial reporting, dis-
closure controls and procedures, and IT systems and pro-
cesses. Additional information will be provided as we move 
towards the changeover date.
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IT systems

Contractual

arrangements and 

compensation

    SELECTED KEY ACTIVITIES MILESTONES/DEADLINES PROGRESS TO DATE

Financial 

statement  

preparation

Identify relevant differences between IFRS 
and our accounting policies and practices 
and design and implement solutions

Evaluate and select one-time and ongoing 
accounting policy alternatives

Benchmark findings with peer companies

Prepare financial statements and related 
note disclosures to comply with IFRS

Quantify the effects of changeover to IFRS

Assessment and 
quantification of the 
significant effects of the 
changeover completed  
by approximately the  
third quarter of 2010

Final selection of accounting 
policy alternatives by the 
changeover date

Completed the identification of  
IFRS differences

Completed the design of solutions, 
including business processes, 
to resolve substantially all IFRS 
differences

Implementation decisions on  
virtually all accounting differences 
have been made

Assessment and quantification of 
the impact of one-time transition 
choices is underway

Evaluation and preliminary  
selection of accounting policies 
is substantially complete but will 
continue to be assessed

Training and 

communication

Provide training to affected employees 
of operating units, management and the 
board of directors and relevant committees 
thereof, including the Audit Committee

Engage subject matter experts to assist  
in the transition

Communicate progress of changeover plan 
to internal and external stakeholders

Timely training provided 
to align with work under 
changeover – training com-
pleted by mid-2010

Communicate effects of 
changeover in time for 2011 
financial planning process  
by the third quarter of 2010

Completed detailed training for 
resources directly engaged in the 
changeover and general training to 
broader group of finance employees, 
including senior finance man age-
ment and the board of directors

Periodic internal and external 
communications about our progress  
are ongoing

Change management plans have 
been developed to address training 
needs for the remainder of the 
changeover period to the end  
of 2010

Third-party subject matter experts 
have validated our design work  
and continue to provide assistance 
in the transition

Our auditors are providing input  
as significant milestones are met

Identify and address IFRS differences that 
require changes to financial systems

Evaluate and select methods to address 
need for dual record-keeping during 2010 
(i.e., IFRS and Canadian GAAP) for compara-
tives and budget and planning purposes  
in 2011

Changes to significant 
systems and dual record-
keeping process completed 
in time for the first quarter 
of 2010

IFRS differences with system 
impacts identified and design of 
significant IT solutions is complete

IT development and testing of dual 
record-keeping, capital account-
ing and other system solutions is 
complete

Financial accounting systems have 
been modified and we have com-
menced dual record-keeping

Identify impact of changeover on contrac-
tual arrangements, including customer and 
supplier agreements, financial covenants 
and employee compensation plans

Make any required changes to arrange-
ments and plans

Changes completed by  
the third quarter of 2010

IFRS differences with potential  
impacts on contractual arrange-
ments and compensation plans  
are minimal

The impact of IFRS differences on 
debt and other financial covenants 
has been assessed and is not 
significant

Progress towards Completion of Our IFRS Changeover Plan
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    SELECTED KEY ACTIVITIES MILESTONES/DEADLINES PROGRESS TO DATE

Internal controls 

Internal control 

over financial 

reporting (ICFR)

Monitored design of solutions to  
address IFRS differences to design 
or revise and implement the  
necessary internal controls

Testing of automated controls  
has commenced

Changes completed by  
the first quarter of 2010

Conduct management 
evaluation of new or revised 
controls throughout 2010

Update CEO/Chief Financial  
Officer (CFO) certifi cation 
process by the fourth quarter 
of 2010

Internal controls

Disclosure  

controls and  

procedures (DC&P)

For changes to accounting policies and 
practices identified, assess the DC&P  
design and effectiveness implications

See ICFR deadlines above

Under IFRS, we plan to recognize actuarial gains and losses 
on a current basis directly in equity with no impact to earn-
ings. Vested past service costs are recognized immediately  
in earnings; unvested past service costs are amortized on a 
straight-line basis over the vesting period. IFRS also requires 
that plan assets be measured using market values, instead of 
the market-related values we currently use.

AMORTIZATION OF CAPITAL ASSETS

We amortize most of our telecommunications assets using 
the group depreciation method under Canadian GAAP. When 
we retire assets in the ordinary course of business, we charge 
their original cost to accumulated depreciation; no gain or 
loss is recorded on retirement of the asset.

We will discontinue the use of the equal life group depre-
ciation method under IFRS, and gains and losses on retire-
ment of assets will be included in earnings as incurred. In 
addition, the estimated useful life of assets will not be deter-
mined using the group method. 

Under IFRS, we will depreciate capital assets using the 
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives.

BORROWING COSTS

We capitalize borrowing costs under Canadian GAAP on cap-
ital assets that we build or develop when the expenditure is 
significant. 

Under IFRS, we will capitalize borrowing costs to capital 
assets that take in excess of one year to build or develop. 
Amounts capitalized will be amortized using the method and 
over the estimated useful life of the corresponding asset, 
similar to Canadian GAAP.

SECURITIZATION OF ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

We currently account for a transfer of receivables as a sale 
when we give up control of the accounts receivable in 
exchange for proceeds other than our retained beneficial 
ownership interest in those receivables. We recognize a loss 
on the derecognition of the receivables, calculated as the 

First-Time Adoption of IFRS

Our financial statements for the year ended December 31, 
2011, will be prepared according to IFRS with comparative 
amounts for the year ended December 31, 2010. IFRS 1, First-
Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards, 
generally requires that we apply IFRS on a retrospective basis 
in our opening balance sheet as at January 1, 2010. IFRS 1 
also provides certain mandatory exceptions and elective 
exemptions to retrospective application. We expect that our 
IFRS 1 elections will be approved by senior management  
during the first half of 2010, once we have completed our anal-
ysis of, and quantified on a preliminary basis, each exemption.

Accounting Policies under IFRS

Our analysis of IFRS and comparison with our accounting 
policies under Canadian GAAP has identified a number of  
differences. Many of these differences are not expected to 
have a significant impact on our financial position or results 
of operations.

In certain cases, IFRS provides for a choice of accounting 
policies. Set out below is a description of our proposed changes 
in accounting policies under IFRS that we believe may result 
in a significant impact to our consolidated financial state-
ments, based on Canadian GAAP and IFRS issued at Decem-
ber 31, 2009, except as otherwise noted.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

We use the corridor method approach under Canadian GAAP 
to recognize actuarial gains and losses in earnings relating 
to our defined benefit pension and other post-employment 
benefit plans. We deduct 10% of the greater of the benefit 
obligation or the market-related value of plan assets from 
the unamortized net actuarial gains or losses on a market-
related value basis. Any excess is amortized to earnings on a 
straight-line basis over the average remaining service period 
of active employees. Past service costs under Canadian GAAP 
are also amortized on a straight-line basis over the average 
remaining service period of active employees.

Revise existing internal control processes 
and procedures to address sig nificant  
changes to existing accounting policies  
and practices, including the need for dual 
record-keeping during 2010

Design and implement internal controls  
with respect to one-time changeover  
ad  just ments and related communications 

MD&A disclosures began in  
December 2008

Project steering committee,  
including Investor Relations, meets 
monthly to track progress
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excess of the carrying value of the receivables over the fair 
value of the consideration received.

Under IFRS, the criteria to derecognize financial assets  
are substantially different than under Canadian GAAP. Our 
securitization of accounts receivable program will not qual-
ify for derecognition under current IFRS. Therefore, both the 
accounts receivable balance and related obligation will be 
shown on the balance sheet as a current asset and current 
liability, respectively. 

PROVISIONS, INCLUDING ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

Under Canadian GAAP, we record provisions when a present 
obligation exists as a result of past transactions or events, 
there is a likely outflow of resources required to settle the 
obligation and the amount of the obligation can be reliably 
estimated. Asset retirement obligations are recorded when a 
legal or contractual obligation exists.

Provisions are recorded under IFRS when an outflow of 
resources is more likely than not, instead of the higher “likely” 
threshold under Canadian GAAP. Other specific differences 
exist in relation to the methods used to estimate the amount 
of provisions. Asset retirement obligations are recorded when 
a legal, contractual or constructive obligation exists. 

JOINT VENTURE INTERESTS

We account for our interests in joint ventures using the  
proportionate consolidation method under Canadian GAAP. 
Under this method, we record our pro-rata share of the rev-
enues and expenses, cash flows and balance sheet amounts 
of our joint ventures.

Although IFRS currently permits the use of the proportion-
ate consolidation method to account for joint venture inter-
ests, we expect that IFRS will be modified prior to January 1, 
2011 to require the use of the equity method to account for 
joint venture interests.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND CONSOLIDATION

We consolidate 100% of the assets and liabilities of our sub-
sidiaries under Canadian GAAP; any non-controlling interest 
in subsidiaries is recorded in our balance sheet based on 
carrying values. When we acquire control of an entity in steps, 
each step is recorded based on the fair value of consideration 
paid; any previously held investment in that entity continues 
to be reflected in our consolidated financial statements 
based on our carrying value for that investment. Subsequent 
decreases in our ownership may result in gains and losses 
recorded through income; increases in ownership are accounted 
for as an acquisition in steps. We also include certain trans-
action and restructuring costs relating to acquisitions in the 
cost of the purchase or the purchase price allocation.

Under IFRS, non-controlling interest in a subsidiary is 
recorded based on fair values at the date of acquisition; 
when we acquire control of an entity, any previously held 
interest is remeasured to fair value resulting in a gain or loss 
recorded in current period earnings. Subsequent increases or 
decreases in ownership interest are accounted for as equity 

transactions. Transaction costs and most restructuring costs 
relating to acquisitions are expensed as incurred.

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

Under Canadian GAAP, we initially record our portfolio 
investments in privately-held securities at their fair value  
at the date of acquisition; subsequent changes in the fair 
value of these investments are recorded when realized  
or when we determine that a decline in fair value is other 
than temporary.

Under IFRS, changes in the fair value of portfolio invest-
ments in privately-held securities are recorded if the range 
of fair value estimates is not significant or the probabilities of 
the estimates within the range can be reasonably assessed 
and used in estimating fair value. Changes in fair value would 
be recorded in other comprehensive income, similar to Cana-
dian GAAP.

IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

Under Canadian GAAP, we determine whether to record an 
impairment of assets, other than goodwill and indefinite-life 
intangible assets, using a two-step approach. The first step 
identifies whether an impairment of assets exists by com-
paring the carrying value of assets to their associated undis-
counted future cash flows. If the undiscounted future cash 
flows are insufficient to demonstrate recoverability of the 
carrying value of assets, we proceed with the second step, 
which involves measuring the amount of impairment to record 
as the difference between the carrying value and the fair 
value of assets. Impairment of assets recognized under 
Canadian GAAP cannot be reversed in a subsequent period if 
circumstances change.

Under IFRS, identification and measurement of impairment 
of assets is performed in a single test by comparing the car-
rying value of assets to the greater of their fair value less 
costs to sell and value-in-use (generally discounted future 
cash flows). Impairment of assets, other than goodwill, is 
reversed in a subsequent period if circumstances change 
such that the previously determined impairment is reduced 
or eliminated.

EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to  
provide reasonable assurance that information required to 
be disclosed by us is recorded, processed, summarized and 
reported within the time periods specified under Canadian 
and U.S. securities laws and include controls and procedures 
that are designed to ensure that the information is accumu-
lated and communicated to management, including BCE Inc.’s 
President and CEO and Executive Vice-President and CFO, to 
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

As of December 31, 2009, management evaluated, under 
the supervision of and with the participation of the CEO and 
the CFO, the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and  
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NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

This section describes the non-GAAP financial measures we 
use in the MD&A to explain our financial results. It also pro-
vides reconciliations of the non-GAAP financial measures to 
the most comparable Canadian GAAP financial measures.

EBITDA

The term EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depre-
ciation and amortization of intangible assets) does not have 
any standardized meaning according to GAAP. It is therefore 
unlikely to be comparable to similar measures presented by 
other companies.

We define EBITDA as operating revenues less cost of revenue 
and selling, general and administrative expenses, meaning it 
represents operating income before depreciation, amortiza-
tion of intangible assets and restructuring and other.

We use EBITDA, among other measures, to assess the oper-
ating performance of our ongoing businesses without the 
effects of depreciation, amortization of intangible assets and 
restructuring and other. We exclude these items because 
they affect the comparability of our financial results and 
could potentially distort the analysis of trends in business 
performance. We exclude depreciation and amortization of 
intangible assets because it largely depends on the account-
ing methods and assumptions a company uses, as well as 
non-operating factors such as the historical cost of capital 
assets. Excluding restructuring and other does not imply they 
are non-recurring.

EBITDA allows us to compare our operating performance 
on a consistent basis. We believe that certain investors and 
analysts use EBITDA to measure a company’s ability to ser-
vice debt and to meet other payment obligations, or as a 
common measurement to value companies in the telecom-
munications industry.

The most comparable Canadian GAAP financial measure is 
operating income. The following tables are reconciliations of 
operating income to EBITDA on a consolidated basis for BCE, 
Bell and for our Bell Wireline and Bell Wireless segments.

BCE 2009 2008 2007

Operating income 3,191 2,869 3,479

Depreciation and amortization  
 of intangible assets 3,371 3,264 3,181

Restructuring and other 527 871  331

EBITDA  7,089 7,004 6,991

BELL 2009 2008 2007

Operating income 2,432 2,143  2,652 

Depreciation and amortization  
 of intangible assets 2,804 2,685  2,559

Restructuring and other 483  810  308 

EBITDA  5,719 5,638 5,519 

procedures, as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the U.S. Securi-
ties Exchange Act of 1934 and under National Instrument 
52-109 – Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and 
Interim Filings. The CEO and CFO have limited the scope of 
their design and evaluation of our disclosure controls and 
procedures to exclude the disclosure controls and proce-
dures of BCE Inc.’s wholly-owned subsidiary The Source. We 
acquired the assets held by The Source on July 1, 2009. The 
Source’s contribution to our consolidated financial state-
ments for the year ended December 31, 2009 was less than 
2% of consolidated revenues and less than 1% of consolidated 
earnings. Additionally, at December 31, 2009, The Source’s 
current assets and current liabilities were 7% and 2% of con-
solidated current assets and current liabilities, respectively, 
and its long-term assets and long-term liabilities were both 
less than 1% of consolidated long-term assets and long-term 
liabilities. Further details related to acquisitions are disclosed 
in Note 13 to BCE’s consolidated financial statements for the 
year ended December 31, 2009.

Based on that evaluation, which excluded The Source’s 
disclosure controls and procedures, the CEO and CFO con-
cluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were 
effective as of December 31, 2009.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining 
adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined 
in Rule 13a-15(f) under the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934 
and under National Instrument 52-109. Our internal control 
over financial reporting is a process designed under the super-
vision of the CEO and CFO to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial report ing and the prepa-
ration of financial statements for external purposes in accor-
dance with GAAP. However, because of its inherent limitations, 
internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or 
detect misstatements on a timely basis.

Management evaluated, under the supervision of and with 
the participation of the CEO and the CFO, the effectiveness 
of our internal control over financial reporting as of Decem-
ber 31, 2009, based on the framework and criteria estab-
lished in the Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued 
by the COSO. The CEO and CFO have limited the scope of 
their design and evaluation of our internal control over finan-
cial reporting to exclude The Source’s internal control over 
financial reporting.

Based on that evaluation, which excluded The Source’s 
internal control over financial reporting, the CEO and CFO 
concluded that our internal control over financial reporting 
was effective as of December 31, 2009. There were no mate-
rial weaknesses that have been identified by management 
as of December 31, 2009. 

No changes were made in our internal control over finan-
cial reporting during the year ended December 31, 2009 that 
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materi-
ally affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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BELL WIRELINE 2009 2008 2007

Operating income 1,148 902 1,454

Depreciation and amortization  
 of intangible assets 2,284 2,193 2,121

Restructuring and other 475 773  304 

EBITDA  3,907 3,868 3,879

BELL WIRELESS 2009 2008 2007

Operating income 1,284 1,241 1,198

Depreciation and amortization  
 of intangible assets 520 492 438

Restructuring and other 8 37 4

EBITDA  1,812 1,770 1,640 

The following tables are reconciliations of operating income 
to EBITDA on a consolidated basis for BCE, Bell and for our 
Bell Wireline and Bell Wireless segments for the fourth quar-
ter of 2009 and 2008.

BCE  Q4 2009 Q4 2008

Operating income  751 666

Depreciation and amortization  
 of intangible assets  904 868

Restructuring and other  82 207 

EBITDA   1,737 1,741 

BELL  Q4 2009 Q4 2008

Operating income  572 520

Depreciation and amortization  
 of intangible assets  758 715

Restructuring and other  65 146 

EBITDA   1,395 1,381 

BELL WIRELINE  Q4 2009 Q4 2008

Operating income  280 226

Depreciation and amortization  
 of intangible assets  622 580

Restructuring and other  58 131 

EBITDA   960 937 

BELL WIRELESS  Q4 2009 Q4 2008

Operating income  292 294

Depreciation and amortization  
 of intangible assets  136 135

Restructuring and other  7 15

EBITDA   435 444

Operating Income before Restructuring and Other

The term operating income before restructuring and other 
does not have any standardized meaning according to Cana-
dian GAAP. It is therefore unlikely to be comparable to similar 
measures presented by other companies.

We use operating income before restructuring and other, 
among other measures, to assess the operating performance 
of our ongoing businesses without the effects of restructur-
ing and other. We exclude these items because they affect 
the comparability of our financial results and could poten-
tially distort the analysis of trends in business performance. 
Excluding restructuring and other does not imply they are 
non-recurring.

The most comparable Canadian GAAP financial measure is 
operating income. The following tables are reconciliations of 
operating income to operating income before restructuring 
and other on a consolidated basis for BCE, Bell and our Bell 
Wireline and Bell Wireless segments.

BCE 2009 2008 2007

Operating income  3,191  2,869   3,479 

Restructuring and other  527   871   331 

Operating income before  
 restructuring and other 3,718   3,740   3,810 

BELL 2009 2008 2007

Operating income  2,432   2,143   2,652 

Restructuring and other  483   810   308 

Operating income before  
 restructuring and other  2,915   2,953   2,960 

BELL WIRELINE 2009 2008 2007

Operating income  1,148   902   1,454 

Restructuring and other  475   773   304 

Operating income before  
 restructuring and other  1,623   1,675   1,758 

BELL WIRELESS 2009 2008 2007

Operating income  1,284   1,241   1,198 

Restructuring and other  8   37   4 

Operating income before  
 restructuring and other  1,292   1,278   1,202 
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Adjusted Net Earnings 

The terms Adjusted net earnings and Adjusted EPS do not 
have any standardized meaning according to Canadian 
GAAP. They are therefore unlikely to be comparable to similar 
measures presented by other companies.

We define Adjusted net earnings as net earnings before 
restructuring and other and net (gains) losses on investments. 
We define Adjusted EPS as Adjusted net earnings per BCE Inc. 
common share.

We use Adjusted net earnings and Adjusted EPS, among 
other measures, to assess the operating performance of our 

ongoing businesses without the effects of after-tax restruc-
turing and other, and net (gains) losses on investments. We 
exclude these items because they affect the comparability of 
our financial results and could potentially distort the analysis 
of trends in business performance. Excluding these items 
does not imply they are non-recurring.

The most comparable Canadian GAAP financial measures 
are net earnings applicable to common shares and earnings 
per share. The following table is a reconciliation of net earn-
ings applicable to common shares and earnings per share to 
Adjusted net earnings on a consolidated basis and per BCE 
Inc. common share (Adjusted EPS), respectively.

  2009 2008 2007

     TOTAL PER SHARE TOTAL PER SHARE  TOTAL PER SHARE

Net earnings applicable to common shares 1,631 2.11 819 1.02 3,926 4.88

Restructuring and other 339 0.44 572  0.71 206 0.25 

Net (gains) losses on investments (41) (0.05) 420 0.52 (2,248) (2.79)

Adjusted net earnings 1,929 2.50 1,811  2.25  1,884  2.34 

Free Cash Flow

The term free cash flow does not have any standardized 
meaning according to Canadian GAAP. It is therefore unlikely 
to be comparable to similar measures presented by other 
companies.

We define free cash flow as cash flows from operating 
activities and distributions received from Bell Aliant less capital 
expenditures, preferred share dividends, dividends/distribu-
tions paid by subsidiaries to non-controlling interest, other 
investing activities and Bell Aliant free cash flow.

We consider free cash flow to be an important indicator  
of the financial strength and performance of our business 
because it shows how much cash is available to repay debt 
and reinvest in our company. We present free cash flow con-
sistently from period to period, which allows us to compare 
our financial performance on a consistent basis.

We believe that certain investors and analysts use free 
cash flow to value a business and its underlying assets.

The most comparable Canadian GAAP financial measure is 
cash from operating activities. The following table is a recon-
ciliation of cash flows from operating activities to free cash 
flow on a consolidated basis.

 2009 2008 2007

Cash flows from  
 operating activities 4,884  5,909  5,730 

Bell Aliant distributions to BCE 291  290  282 

Capital expenditures (2,854) (2,986) (3,140)

Other investing activities (89) (726) 13 

Dividends paid on  
 preferred shares (107) (129) (124)

Dividends/distributions paid  
 by subsidiaries to  
 non-controlling interest (369) (366) (404)

Bell Aliant free cash flow (300) (303) (399)

Telesat free cash flow – – 2 

Free cash flow 1,456  1,689  1,960 
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL  
CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management of BCE Inc. (BCE) is responsible for estab-
lishing and maintaining adequate internal control over finan-
cial reporting. Our internal control over financial reporting is 
a process designed under the supervision of the President 
and Chief Executive Officer and the Executive Vice-President 
and Chief Financial Officer of BCE to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and 
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes 
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Due to its inherent limitations, internal control over finan-
cial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements on  
a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the 
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that  
the controls may become inadequate because of changes in 
conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies 
or procedures may deteriorate. 

Management evaluated, under the supervision of and with 
the participation of the President and Chief Executive Officer 
and the Executive Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer, 
the effectiveness of our internal control over financial report-
ing as of December 31, 2009, based on the framework and 
criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Frame-
work issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations 
of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Management’s evalua-
tion of and conclusion on the effectiveness of our internal 
control over financial reporting did not include an evaluation 
of the internal control over financial reporting of BCE’s 
wholly-owned subsidiary The Source (Bell) Electronics Inc. 
(The Source). We acquired the assets held by The Source on 
July 1, 2009. The Source’s contribution to our consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2009 
was less than 2% of consolidated revenues and less than 1% 
of consolidated earnings. Additionally, at December 31, 2009, 

The Source’s current assets and current liabilities were 7% 
and 2% of consolidated current assets and current liabilities, 
respectively, and its long-term assets and long-term liabili-
ties were both less than 1% of consolidated long-term assets 
and long-term liabilities. 

Based on that evaluation, which excluded The Source’s 
internal control over financial reporting, the President and 
Chief Executive Officer and the Executive Vice-President and 
Chief Financial Officer concluded that our internal control 
over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 
2009. There were no material weaknesses that have been 
identified by management as of December 31, 2009. 

Our internal control over financial reporting as of Decem-
ber 31, 2009 has been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, 
Independent Registered Chartered Accountants, who also 
audited our consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended December 31, 2009. Deloitte & Touche issued an 
unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of our internal con-
trol over financial reporting.

(signed) George A. Cope

President and Chief Executive Officer

(signed) Siim A. Vanaselja

Executive Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer

(signed) Karyn A. Brooks

Senior Vice-President and Controller

March 11, 2010

Reports on Internal Control
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statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control 
over financial reporting includes those policies and proce-
dures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in 
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transac-
tions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) pro-
vide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as 
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, 
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being 
made only in accordance with authorizations of management 
and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable 
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unau-
thorized acquisition, use or disposition of the company’s assets 
that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control  
over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion 
or improper management override of controls, material mis-
statements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or 
detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evalua-
tion of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial 
reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the 
controls may become inadequate because of changes in 
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies 
or procedures may deteriorate. 

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material 
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting  
as of December 31, 2009, based on the criteria established  
in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission. 

We have also audited, in accordance with Canadian gen-
erally accepted auditing standards and the standards of the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), 
the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of 
and for the year ended December 31, 2009, and our report 
dated March 11, 2010 expressed an unqualified opinion on 
those financial statements.

(signed) Deloitte & Touche LLP (1)

Independent Registered Chartered Accountants

Montréal, Canada
March 11, 2010
(1) Chartered accountant auditor permit no. 13633

REPORTS ON INTERNAL CONTROL

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED 
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

To the board of directors and shareholders of BCE Inc.

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting 
of BCE Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 
2009 based on the criteria established in Internal Control – 
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsor-
ing Organizations of the Treadway Commission. As described 
in Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial 
Reporting, management excluded from its assessment the 
internal control over financial reporting at The Source (Bell) 
Electronics Inc. (The Source), which was acquired on July 1, 
2009. The Source’s financial results constituted less than 2% of 
consolidated revenues and less than 1% of consolidated earn-
ings, its current assets and current liabilities were 7% and 2% 
of consolidated current assets and current liabilities, respec-
tively, and its long-term assets and long-term liabilities were 
both less than 1% of consolidated long-term assets and long-
term liabilities as of and for the year ended December 31, 
2009. Accordingly, our audit did not include the internal con-
trol over financial reporting at The Source. The Company’s 
management is responsible for maintaining effective internal 
control over financial reporting and for its assessment of  
the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting 
included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Inter-
nal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards 
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
effective internal control over financial reporting was main-
tained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining 
an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, 
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing 
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of 
internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing 
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the 
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reason-
able basis for our opinion. 

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a 
process designed by, or under the supervision of, the com-
pany’s principal executive and principal financial officers,  
or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the 
company’s board of directors, management, and other per-
sonnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reli-
ability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
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Consolidated Financial Statements

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY  
FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

These financial statements form the basis for all of the finan-
cial information that appears in this annual report.

The financial statements and all of the information in this 
annual report are the responsibility of the management of 
BCE Inc. and have been reviewed and approved by the board 
of directors. The board of directors is responsible for ensuring 
that management fulfills its financial reporting responsi bil-
ities. Deloitte & Touche LLP, Independent Registered Char-
tered Accountants, have audited the financial statements.

Management has prepared the financial statements accord-
ing to generally accepted accounting principles. Under these 
principles, management has made certain estimates and 
assumptions that are reflected in the financial statements 
and notes. Management believes that these financial state-
ments fairly present BCE’s consolidated financial position, 
results of operations and cash flows.

Management has a system of internal controls designed  
to provide reasonable assurance that the financial state-
ments are accurate and complete in all material respects. 
This is supported by an internal audit group that reports to 
the Audit Committee, and includes communication with employ-
ees about policies for ethical business conduct. Management 
believes that the internal controls provide reasonable assur-
ance that our financial records are reliable and form a proper 
basis for preparing the financial statements, and that our 
assets are properly accounted for and safeguarded.

The board of directors has appointed an Audit Committee, 
which is made up of unrelated and independent directors. 
The Audit Committee’s responsibilities include reviewing the 
financial statements and other information in this annual 
report, and recommending them to the board of directors for 
approval. You will find a description of the Audit Committee’s 
other responsibilities on page 124 of this annual report. The 
internal auditors and the shareholders’ auditors have free 
and independent access to the Audit Committee.

(signed) George A. Cope

President and Chief Executive Officer

(signed) Siim A. Vanaselja

Executive Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer 

(signed) Karyn A. Brooks

Senior Vice-President and Controller

March 11, 2010
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED 
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

To the board of directors and shareholders of BCE Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheets of BCE Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as at 
December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the related consolidated 
statements of operations, comprehensive income, deficit and 
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 2009. These financial statements are the respon-
sibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is 
to express an opinion on these financial statements based  
on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted auditing standards and the standards of 
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An 
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence support-
ing the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles 
used and significant estimates made by management, as 
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presenta-
tion. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis 
for our opinion. 

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements 
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
BCE Inc. and subsidiaries as at December 31, 2009 and 2008 
and the results of their operations and their cash flows for 
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 
2009 in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles. 

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of 
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States), the Company’s internal control over financial report-
ing as of December 31, 2009, based on the criteria estab-
lished in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by 
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission, and our report dated March 11, 2010 expressed 
an unqualified opinion on the Company’s internal control 
over financial reporting. 

(signed) Deloitte & Touche LLP (1)

Independent Registered Chartered Accountants

Montréal, Canada
March 11, 2010
(1) Chartered accountant auditor permit no. 13633
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated Statements of Operations
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 (in $ millions, except share amounts)     NOTE 2009 2008 2007

Operating revenues            17,735   17,661  17,707 

Cost of revenue, exclusive of depreciation and amortization         (4,525) (4,389) (4,058)

Selling, general and administrative expenses          (6,121) (6,268) (6,658)

Depreciation         11 (2,595) (2,537) (2,547)

Amortization of intangible assets        11 (776) (727) (634)

Restructuring and other          3 (527) (871) (331)

Total operating expenses           (14,544) (14,792) (14,228)

Operating income            3,191   2,869  3,479 

Other (expense) income         4 (18) (253) 2,406 

Interest expense          5 (723) (791) (859)

Pre-tax earnings from continuing operations            2,450   1,825  5,026 

Income taxes         6 (368) (469) (735)

Non-controlling interest           (333) (323) (332)

Earnings from continuing operations           1,749   1,033  3,959 

Discontinued operations          7 (11) (90) 98 

Net earnings           1,738  943  4,057 

Dividends on preferred shares          (107) (124) (131)

Net earnings applicable to common shares           1,631   819  3,926 

Net earnings per common share – basic         8      

 Continuing operations            2.12   1.13   4.76 

 Discontinued operations           (0.01)  (0.11)  0.12 

 Net earnings             2.11   1.02   4.88 

Net earnings per common share – diluted         8      

 Continuing operations            2.12   1.12   4.75 

 Discontinued operations           (0.01)  (0.11)  0.12 

 Net earnings             2.11   1.01   4.87 

Dividends per common share           1.58   0.73   1.46 

Average number of common shares outstanding – basic (millions)         772.9   805.8   804.8 

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 (in $ millions)     NOTE 2009 2008 2007

Net earnings           1,738  943  4,057 

Other comprehensive income (loss) – net of income taxes and non-controlling interest 

 Net change in unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale financial assets   22 82  (33) 49 

 Net change in unrealized (losses) gains on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges  22  (29)  2   16 

 Net change in unrealized gains (losses) on currency translation adjustment   22 –   2   (2)

Other comprehensive income (loss)          53  (29) 63 

Comprehensive income           1,791  914  4,120 

Consolidated Statements of Deficit
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 (in $ millions)     NOTE 2009 2008 2007

Balance at beginning of year       (1,468) (1,679) (4,343)

Adjustments to deficit upon adoption of new 
 financial instruments accounting standards on January 1, 2007      – –  4 

Net earnings        1,738   943   4,057 

Dividends declared on preferred shares       (107) (124) (131)

Dividends declared on common shares     19 (1,218) (588) (1,172)

Excess of purchase price over stated capital of cancelled common  
 shares and related contributed surplus     20 (244) (20) (95)

Other        – –  1 

Balance at end of year       (1,299) (1,468) (1,679)
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
AT DECEMBER 31 (in $ millions)      NOTE 2009 2008

ASSETS

Current assets 

Cash and cash equivalents        687  3,052 

Accounts receivable      9 1,605 1,826 

Future income taxes      6 110  86 

Inventory      10 448  272 

Prepaid expenses        296  249 

Other current assets        137  54 

Current assets of discontinued operations      7 1  39 

Total current assets        3,284  5,578 

Capital assets 

Property, plant and equipment        19,441  19,406 

Finite-life intangible assets        2,541 2,693 

Indefinite-life intangible assets        3,803  3,697 

Total capital assets      11 25,785  25,796 

Other long-term assets      12 3,207  2,610 

Goodwill      13 5,774  5,659 

Non-current assets of discontinued operations       7 –  20 

Total assets        38,050  39,663 

LIABILITIES 

Current liabilities 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities      14 3,716  3,528

Interest payable        113  139

Dividends payable        354  337 

Debt due within one year      15  600 2,201

Current liabilities of discontinued operations      7 3  22

Total current liabilities        4,786  6,227

Long-term debt      16 10,299  10,099

Other long-term liabilities      17 4,942  4,946

Total liabilities        20,027  21,272 

Non-controlling interest      18 1,049  1,080 

Commitments and contingencies      24 

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

Preferred shares      20 2,770  2,770 

Common shareholders’ equity 

Common shares      20 12,921  13,525 

Treasury stock      20 –  (86)

Contributed surplus      20 2,490  2,531 

Accumulated other comprehensive income      22 92  39 

Deficit         (1,299)  (1,468)

Total common shareholders’ equity        14,204  14,541 

Total shareholders’ equity        16,974  17,311 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity        38,050  39,663 

On behalf of the board of directors:

(signed) Thomas C. O’Neill (signed) Paul R. Weiss
Director Director
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 (in $ millions)     NOTE 2009 2008 2007

Cash flows from operating activities 

Net earnings       1,738  943   4,057

Less: (Losses) earnings from discontinued operations,  
 net of income tax and non-controlling interest        (11)  (90)  98 

Earnings from continuing operations        1,749   1,033   3,959 

Adjustments to reconcile earnings from continuing operations to 
 cash flows from operating activities 

 Depreciation and amortization of intangible assets     2, 11  3,371   3,264   3,181 

 Net benefit plans cost     23  355   250   410 

 Restructuring and other     2, 3  527   871   331 

 (Gains) losses on investments     4  (49)  308   (2,414)

 Future income taxes        32   129   413 

 Non-controlling interest        333   323   332 

 Contributions to employee pension plans     23  (1,068)  (232)  (265)

 Other employee future benefit plan payments     23  (96)  (96)  (96)

 Payments of restructuring and other        (310)  (305)  (118)

 Operating assets and liabilities     26  40   364   (3)

Cash flows from operating activities        4,884   5,909   5,730 

Cash flows used in investing activities 

Capital expenditures     2  (2,854)  (2,986)  (3,140)

Business acquisitions     13  (338)  (56)  (163)

Business dispositions     13  11   (10)  3,123 

Formation of Bell Aliant        – –  (7)

Going-private costs        (7)  (163)  (49)

Increase in investments        (53)  (8)  (27)

Decrease in investments        113   1   192 

Other investing activities        (89)  (726)  13 

Cash flows used in investing activities        (3,217)  (3,948)  (58)

Cash flows used in financing activities

(Decrease) increase in notes payable and bank advances        (194)  1   211 

Issue of long-term debt        1,348   50   1,071 

Repayment of long-term debt        (2,539)  (502)  (3,048)

Issue of common shares     20  2   50   153 

Repurchase of common shares     20  (894)  (92)  (227)

Redemption of equity securities by subsidiaries from non-controlling interest      –   –   (333)

Cash dividends paid on common shares     19  (1,201)  (587)  (1,147)

Cash dividends paid on preferred shares        (107)  (129)  (124)

Cash dividends/distributions paid by subsidiaries to non-controlling interest      (369)  (366)  (404)

Other financing activities        (90)  16   (66)

Cash flows used in financing activities        (4,044)  (1,559)  (3,914)

Cash flows (used in) from continuing operations        (2,377)  402   1,758 

Cash flows used in discontinued operations activities        (9)  (22)  (19)

Cash flows from discontinued investing activities        11   27   338 

Cash flows used in discontinued financing activities       –  (2) – 

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents         (2,375)  405   2,077 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year        3,063   2,658   581 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year        688   3,063   2,658 

 Consists of: 

   Cash and cash equivalents of continuing operations        687   3,052   2,646 

   Cash and cash equivalents of discontinued operations    7  1   11   12 

Total          688   3,063   2,658 

Income taxes paid (net of refunds)        168   112   36 

Interest paid        789   787   880 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

This section of our annual report contains the audited con-
solidated financial statements of BCE Inc. and detailed notes 
with explanations and additional information.

The financial statements contain our results and financial 
history for the past three years. The notes are an important 
part of understanding our financial results. They explain how 
we arrived at the numbers in the financial statements, 
describe significant events or changes that affect the num-
bers, and explain certain items in the financial statements. 

The notes also include details about our results that do not 
appear in the financial statements.

We, us, our and BCE mean BCE Inc., its subsidiaries and 
joint ventures; Bell means our Bell Wireline and Bell Wireless 
segments on an aggregate basis; and Bell Aliant means  
Bell Aliant Regional Communications Income Fund and its 
subsidiaries.

All amounts are in millions of Canadian dollars, except 
where noted.

NOTE 1: SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

We have prepared the consolidated financial statements  
according to Canadian generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples (GAAP).

Basis of Consolidation

We consolidate the financial statements of all of the compa-
nies we control. We proportionately consolidate our share  
of the financial statements of our joint venture interests. All 
transactions and balances between these companies have 
been eliminated on consolidation.

Comparative Figures

We have reclassified some of the amounts for the previous 
periods in the consolidated financial statements to make 
them consistent with the presentation for the current period.

We have restated financial information for the previous 
periods to reflect our decisions in 2009 to cease the opera-
tions of or to sell certain of our businesses.

Using Estimates

When preparing financial statements according to GAAP, 
management makes estimates and assumptions relating to: 
 reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
 reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
 disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.

We base our estimates on a number of factors, including his-
torical experience, current events and actions that the com-
pany may undertake in the future, and other assumptions 
that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. By 
their nature, these estimates are subject to measurement 
uncertainty and actual results could differ, the impact of 

which would be recorded in future periods. In particular, we 
use estimates when accounting for certain items such as  
revenues, allowance for doubtful accounts, useful lives of 
capital assets, asset impairments, legal and tax contingen-
cies, employee compensation plans, employee benefit plans, 
retained interest in securitized receivables, and income  
taxes. We also use estimates when recording the fair values 
of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business 
combination.

Recognizing Revenue

We recognize revenues when they are earned, specifically 
when all the following conditions are met:
 services are provided or products are delivered to cus-
tomers
 there is clear evidence that an arrangement exists 
 amounts are fixed or can be determined 
 our ability to collect is reasonably assured. 

In particular, we recognize:
 fees for local, long distance and wireless services when we 
provide the services 
 other fees, such as network access fees, licence fees, host-
ing fees, maintenance fees and standby fees, over the term 
of the contract 
 subscriber revenues when customers receive the service
 revenues from the sale of equipment when the equipment 
is delivered and accepted by customers 
 revenues on long-term contracts as services are provided, 
equipment is delivered and accepted, and contract milestones 
are met
 rebates and allowances to customers as a reduction of 
revenue. 

Revenues exclude sales taxes and other taxes we collect 
from our customers.



88  BCE INC. 2009 ANNUAL REPORT

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Multiple-Element Arrangements

We enter into arrangements that may include the sale of a 
number of products and services, notably in our wireless and 
video product lines and in our business portfolio. In all such 
cases, we separately account for each product or service 
according to the methods previously described when the fol-
lowing three conditions are met: 

the product or service has value to our customer on a 
stand-alone basis 

there is objective and reliable evidence of the fair value of 
any undelivered product or service 

if the sale includes a general right of return relating to a 
delivered product or service, the delivery or performance of 
any undelivered product or service is probable and substan-
tially in our control. 

If there is objective and reliable evidence of fair value for all 
products and services in a sale, the total price to the cus-
tomer is allocated to each product and service based on its 
relative fair value. Otherwise, we first allocate a portion of 
the total price to any undelivered products and services 
based on their fair value and the remainder to the products 
and services that have been delivered.

If the conditions to account separately for each product or 
service are not met, we recognize revenue pro rata over the 
term of the customer agreement.

Subcontracted Services

We may enter into arrangements with subcontractors who 
provide services to our customers. When we act as the prin-
cipal in these arrangements, we recognize revenue based on 
the amounts billed to our customers. Otherwise, we recog-
nize as revenue the net amount that we retain. 

Sales Returns

We accrue an estimated amount for sales returns, based on 
our past experience, when revenue is recognized.

Deferred Revenues

We record payments we receive in advance, including upfront 
non-refundable payments, as deferred revenues until we 
provide the service or deliver the product to customers. 
Deferred revenues also include amounts billed under multi-
ple-element sales contracts where the conditions to account 
separately for each product or service sold have not been 
met. Deferred revenues are presented in Accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities or in Other long-term liabilities on the 
balance sheet.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents is comprised mainly of highly  
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or 
less from the date of purchase.

Securitization of Accounts Receivable

We consider a transfer of accounts receivable to be a sale 
when we give up control of the accounts receivable in 
exchange for proceeds other than our retained beneficial 
interest in the accounts receivable.

We determine the fair value of the accounts receivable 
transferred based on the present value of future expected 
cash flows, which we project using management’s best esti-
mates of discount rates, the weighted average life of accounts 
receivable, credit loss ratios and other key assumptions. We 
recognize a loss on the securitization, which we record in 
Other (expense) income. The loss is calculated by reference 
to the carrying amount of the transferred accounts receiv-
able and is allocated between accounts receivable sold and 
our retained interest, according to their relative fair values 
on the day the transfer is made.

We recognize a servicing liability on the day accounts 
receivable are transferred when we continue to service the 
accounts receivable after the transfer. We amortize this lia-
bility to earnings over the expected life of the transferred 
accounts receivable.

Inventory

We measure inventory at the lower of cost and net realizable 
value. Inventory includes all costs to purchase, convert and 
bring the inventories to their present location and condition. 
We determine cost using specific identification for major 
equipment for resale and the weighted-average cost formula 
for all other inventory items. We maintain inventory valua-
tion provisions for inventory that is slow-moving or obsolete, 
calculated using an inventory aging analysis.

Capital Assets

We carry capital assets at cost less accumulated amortiza-
tion. Most of our telecommunications assets are amortized 
using the group depreciation method. When we retire assets 
in the ordinary course of business, we charge their original 
cost to accumulated amortization. In general, we amortize 
capital assets other than indefinite-life intangible assets on a 
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. We review 
the estimates of the useful lives of the assets on a periodic 
basis and adjust them on a prospective basis, if needed.

 ESTIMATED USEFUL LIFE

Telecommunications assets 3 to 50 years

Machinery and equipment 2 to 20 years

Buildings 10 to 40 years

Satellites 12 to 15 years

Finite-life intangible assets

 Software 2 to 7 years

 Customer relationships 5 to 30 years

We capitalize construction costs, including labour and over-
head, and interest when the project cost is significant, related 
to assets we build or develop.
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We capitalize certain costs of developing or buying soft-
ware for internal use. We expense software maintenance 
and training costs when they are incurred. The expense is 
included in Selling, general and administrative expenses in 
the statement of operations. 

We initially measure and record asset retirement obliga-
tions at fair value using a present value methodology, 
adjusted subsequently for any changes to the timing or 
amount of the original estimate of cash flows. We capitalize 
asset retirement costs as part of the related assets and 
amortize them into earnings over time. We also increase the 
recorded asset retirement obligation and record a corre-
sponding amount in earnings to reflect the passage of time.

We assess capital assets for impairment when events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that we may not be able 
to recover their carrying value. We calculate impairment by 
deducting the assets’ fair value, based on discounted cash 
flows expected from their use and disposition, from their car-
rying value. If the fair value is less than the carrying value, 
the difference is deducted from earnings.

We account for leases that transfer substantially all of the 
benefits and risks of ownership of an asset to us as capital 
leases. We record an asset when we enter into a capital lease 
together with a related long-term obligation. Rental pay-
ments under operating leases are expensed as incurred.

Indefinite-Life Intangible Assets

Our indefinite-life intangible assets consist mainly of the Bell 
brand and wireless spectrum licences. We assess these assets 
for impairment every year and when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that an asset might be impaired. 

We assess impairment by comparing the assets’ fair value, 
based on estimates of discounted future cash flows or other 
valuation methods, to their carrying value. If the fair value  
is less than the carrying value, the difference is deducted 
from earnings.

Available-for-Sale (AFS) Financial Assets

We generally designate our portfolio investments in securi-
ties as AFS. They are classified in our balance sheet as Other 
long-term assets. These securities initially are recorded at 
their fair value on the date of acquisition, plus related trans-
action costs. Investments in publicly-traded securities are 
adjusted to fair value at each balance sheet date. The cor-
responding unrealized gains and losses are recorded in our 
statement of comprehensive income and are reclassified to 
Other (expense) income in the statement of operations when 
realized or when management assesses a decline in fair 
value to be other than temporary. Investments in our pri-
vately-held securities are recorded at cost as their fair value 
cannot be measured reliably. Gains and losses are recorded 
in our statement of operations when realized or when manage-
ment assesses a decline in fair value, calculated using valua-
tion techniques, compared to cost to be other than temporary. 
Other earnings from investments are also recorded in Other 
(expense) income in the statement of operations.

Costs of Issuing Debt and Equity

The cost of issuing debt is included as part of long-term debt 
and is accounted for at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method, unless the debt is recorded at fair value as 
part of a hedging relationship. The cost of issuing equity is 
reflected in the statement of deficit.

Goodwill

We assess goodwill for impairment for each of our reporting 
units in the fourth quarter of every year and when events  
or changes in circumstances indicate that goodwill might  
be impaired. 

We test goodwill impairment in two steps: 
we compare the fair value of a reporting unit to its carry-

ing value. Fair value is based on estimates of discounted 
future cash flows or other valuation methods. When the fair 
value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value, fair 
values are determined for all of its identifiable assets and 
liabilities. The excess of the fair value of the reporting unit 
over the total of the amounts assigned to its assets and lia-
bilities is the fair value of goodwill. 

an impairment charge is deducted from earnings for any 
excess of the carrying value of goodwill over its fair value.

Derivative Financial Instruments

We do not use derivative financial instruments for speculative 
purposes. We use derivative financial instruments to manage: 

interest rate risk
foreign currency risk 
changes in the price of BCE Inc. common shares relating to 

restricted share units (RSUs), deferred share units (DSUs) and 
special compensation payments (SCPs).

We document all relationships between derivatives and the 
items they hedge and our risk management objective and 
strategy for using hedges. This process includes linking every 
derivative to: 

a specific asset or liability, or 
a specific firm commitment, or 
an anticipated transaction. 

We assess the effectiveness of a derivative in managing an 
identified risk when hedge accounting is initially applied, and 
on an ongoing basis thereafter. If a hedge becomes ineffec-
tive, we stop using hedge accounting. Any premiums paid for 
derivatives used in hedging relationships are deferred and 
expensed to earnings over the term of the contract. Any for-
ward premiums or discounts on foreign currency forward 
contracts that are used to hedge long-term debt denomi-
nated in foreign currencies are amortized to interest expense 
over the term of the forward contract.
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Fair Value Hedges

Our fair value hedges primarily consist of interest rate swaps 
used to manage the effect of changes in interest rates relat-
ing to fixed-rate long-term debt. These swaps usually involve 
exchanging interest payments without exchanging the notional 
amount on which the payments are based. We record the 
exchange of payments as an adjustment to interest expense 
on the hedged debt. We include the related net receivable  
or payable from counterparties in Other current assets or 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities for swaps that 
mature within one year, and in Other long-term assets or Other 
long-term liabilities for swaps that have a maturity of more 
than one year. Changes in the fair value of these derivatives 
and the related long-term debt are recognized in Other 
(expense) income in the statement of operations and offset, 
except for any ineffective portion of the hedging relationship.

Cash Flow Hedges

Our cash flow hedges are used to mitigate the foreign cur-
rency risk on certain long-term debt instruments and pur-
chase commitments. We use cross-currency swaps to hedge 
firm commitments to pay interest and/or principal amounts 
in a foreign currency. We use foreign currency forward con-
tracts to manage the exposure to anticipated transactions 
denominated in foreign currencies. Changes in the fair value 
of these derivatives are recognized in our statement of com-
prehensive income, except for any ineffective portion, which 
is recognized immediately in income. Realized gains and 
losses in accumulated other comprehensive income are 
reclassified to the statement of operations in the same peri-
ods as the corresponding hedged items are recognized in 
income. Cash flow hedges that mature within one year are 
included in Other current assets or Accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities, whereas hedges that have a maturity of 
more than one year are included in Other long-term assets 
or Other long-term liabilities.

Economic Hedges

Derivatives that are economic hedges but do not qualify for 
hedge accounting are recognized at fair value. We record 
changes in the fair value of these derivatives in the state-
ment of operations as they occur. Unrealized gains and 
losses are included in Other current assets or Accounts pay-
able and accrued liabilities.

Employee Benefit Plans

Defined Benefit (DB) Pension and Other  
Post-Employment Benefit Plans 

We maintain DB plans that provide pension benefits for most 
of our employees. Benefits are based on the employee’s 
length of service and highest average rate of pay during  
five consecutive years of service. Most employees are not 
required to contribute to the plans. The plans provide increas-
ing pension benefits to help protect a portion of the income 
of retired employees against inflation.

We are responsible for adequately funding our DB pension 
plans. We make contributions to them based on various actu-
arial cost methods permitted by pension regulatory bodies. 
Contributions reflect actuarial assumptions about future 
investment returns, salary projections and future service. We 
also may make voluntary contributions up to the maximum 
allowed as per applicable pension legislation.

We also provide other post-employment benefits to some 
of our employees, including: 

healthcare and life insurance benefits during retirement. 
The provision of such benefits is being phased out over a ten-
year period ending on December 31, 2016. We do not fund 
most of these other post-employment benefit plans. 

other benefits, including various disability plans, workers’ 
compensation and medical benefits to former or inactive 
employees, their beneficiaries and dependants, from the time 
their employment ends until their retirement starts, under 
certain circumstances. 

We accrue our obligations and related costs under employee 
benefit plans, net of the fair value of plan assets. Pension and 
other post-employment benefit costs are determined using: 

the projected benefit method, prorated based on years of 
service, which takes into account future pay levels 

a discount rate based on market interest rates of high-
quality corporate bonds with maturities that match the timing 
of benefits expected to be paid under the plans 

management’s best estimate of the plans’ expected invest-
ment performance, pay increases, retirement ages of 
employees and expected healthcare costs. 
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We value pension plan assets at fair value using current  
market values. We use a market-related value to calculate 
the expected return on plan assets. This value is based on a 
four-year weighted average of the fair value of the pension 
plan assets.

We amortize past service costs from plan amendments on 
a straight-line basis over the average remaining service 
period of employees who were active on the day of the 
amendment. This represents the period during which we 
expect to realize economic benefits from the amendments.

Transitional assets and obligations that arose upon imple-
mentation of new accounting standards for employee future 
benefits are amortized on a straight-line basis over the aver-
age remaining service period of employees expected to 
receive benefits under the plans.

We use the corridor approach to recognize actuarial gains 
and losses in earnings. We deduct 10% of the benefit obliga-
tion or the market-related value of plan assets, whichever is 
greater, from the unamortized net actuarial gains or losses 
on a market-related value basis. Any excess is amortized 
over the average remaining service period of active employ-
ees. At the end of 2009, this period ranged from 9 to 13 years, 
with a weighted average period of 10.2 years.

December 31 is the measurement date for our employee 
benefit plans. Our actuaries perform a valuation at least 
every three years to determine the actuarial present value of 
the accrued pension and other post-employment benefits. 
An actuarial valuation was last performed on most of our 
pension plans on December 31, 2008.

When the restructuring of a benefit plan results in both a 
curtailment and a settlement of obligations, we account for 
the curtailment before we account for the settlement.

Defined Contribution (DC) Plans

We also maintain DC plans that provide certain employees 
with pension benefits. Under these plans, we are responsible 
for contributing an amount to an employee’s retirement  
savings, based on a predetermined percentage of that 
employee’s salary and certain incentive compensation  
subject to company rules.

We recognize a pension cost for DC plans when the 
employee provides service to the company, essentially coin-
ciding with our cash contributions.

Generally, new employees participate only in the DC  
pension arrangements.

Income Taxes

The income tax expense for the period comprises current  
and future tax expense.

We use the liability method to account for future income 
taxes. Future income taxes reflect: 

the temporary differences between the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities for accounting purposes and the 
amounts used for tax purposes 

the benefit of unutilized tax losses that will more likely 
than not be realized and carried forward to future years to 
reduce income taxes. 

We calculate future income taxes using the rates enacted by 
tax law and those substantively enacted at the end of the 
reporting period that are expected to apply when the future 
tax asset or liability is recovered or settled. The effect of a 
change in tax rates on future income tax assets and liabilities 
is included in earnings in the period when the change is  
substantively enacted.

Investment Tax Credits

We recognize investment tax credits (ITCs) when there is rea-
sonable assurance that they will be realized, and they are 
presented as part of Accounts receivable and Other long-
term assets on the balance sheet. We use the cost reduction 
method to account for ITCs, under which the credits are 
applied against the qualifying expense or asset to which the 
ITC relates.

Subscriber Acquisition Costs

We expense all subscriber acquisition costs when the related 
services are activated. 

Stock-Based Compensation Plans

BCE Inc.’s stock-based compensation plans include stock 
option plans, RSUs, DSUs and the employee savings plan (ESP). 
Before 2000, the long-term incentive plans included SCPs.

Any liabilities relating to stock-based compensation plans 
are recorded as part of Accounts payable and accrued liabil-
ities or Other long-term liabilities.
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Stock Options 

We use the fair value-based method to account for employee 
stock options granted on or after January 1, 2002 and the 
Black-Scholes option pricing model to measure compensa-
tion expense relating to options. 

We credit contributed surplus for the stock option expense 
recorded over the vesting period, based on management’s 
estimate of the number of options that are expected to vest. 
Upon the exercise of stock options, we credit share capital 
for the amount paid by the employees as well as the amounts 
previously credited to contributed surplus.

RSUs

For each RSU granted, we record compensation expense 
equal to the market value of a BCE Inc. common share at  
the date of grant, prorated over the vesting period and based 
on management’s estimate of the number of RSUs that are 
expected to vest. 

Compensation expense is adjusted for subsequent changes 
in the market value of BCE Inc. common shares and any 
change in management’s estimate of the number of RSUs 
that are expected to vest. The cumulative effect of any change 
in value is recognized in the period of the change. Vested 
RSUs are paid in cash, except for executives who can settle 
either in BCE Inc. common shares purchased on the open 
market, in cash, in DSUs or through a combination of these. 

DSUs

For each DSU granted, we record compensation expense 
equal to the market value of a BCE Inc. common share at the 
date of grant. Compensation expense is adjusted for subse-
quent changes in the market value of BCE Inc. common 
shares. DSUs are settled in BCE Inc. common shares purchased 
on the open market following the cessation of a participant’s 
employment or when a director leaves the board.

ESP and SCPs

We recognize our contributions under the ESP as compensa-
tion expense. We also recognize compensation expense or 
recovery relating to SCPs.

Regulation of the Telecommunications Industry

Some of our subsidiaries, such as Bell Canada and Bell Aliant, 
are regulated by the Canadian Radio-television and Tele-
communications Commission (CRTC) pursuant to the Tele-
communications Act. Although the majority of our services 
are forborne from economic regulation, our business is 
affected by CRTC decisions over the prices we charge for 
specific services that remain subject to economic regulation 
and other operating requirements. 

Recent Changes to Accounting Policies and Standards

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The Canadian Accounting Standards Board (AcSB) issued 
section 3064, Goodwill and Intangible Assets, which estab-
lishes standards for the recognition, measurement, presenta-
tion and disclosure of intangible assets. Section 3064 came 
into effect on January 1, 2009, replacing section 3062, Good-
will and Other Intangible Assets and section 3450, Research 
and Development Costs. Adoption of this new standard did 
not have a significant impact on our financial results.

Future Changes to Accounting Policies and Standards

Multiple Deliverable Revenue Arrangements

In December 2009, the Emerging Issues Committee of the 
AcSB issued EIC-175, Multiple Deliverable Revenue Arrange-
ments, which addresses certain aspects of accounting by a 
vendor for arrangements under which it will perform multiple 
revenue-generating activities, amending the previous guid-
ance under EIC-142, Revenue Arrangements with Multiple 
Deliverables. The amendments require a vendor to allocate 
arrangement consideration at the inception of an arrange-
ment to all deliverables using the relative selling price method, 
thus prohibiting the use of the residual method. EIC-175 also 
changes the level of evidence of the stand-alone selling price 
required to separate deliverables when more objective evi-
dence of the selling price is not available.

EIC-175 may be applied prospectively and must be applied 
to revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables entered 
into or materially modified in the first annual fiscal period 
beginning on or after January 1, 2011. Early adoption is 
permitted.

We are currently evaluating the impact and effective date 
of adoption of EIC-175.



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BCE INC. 2009 ANNUAL REPORT  93

NOTE 2: SEGMENTED INFORMATION

The accounting policies used by the segments are the same 
as those we describe in Note 1, Significant Accounting Poli-
cies. Segments negotiate sales with each other as if they 
were unrelated parties.

We measure the profitability of each segment based on its 
operating earnings before interest, income taxes, and depre-
ciation and amortization (EBITDA). For financial reporting 
purposes, we allocate depreciation and amortization, and 
restructuring and other to the segments to calculate operat-
ing income by segment.

Our operations, including most of our revenues, capital 
assets and goodwill, are located in Canada.

Our results of operations are reported in four segments: 
Bell Wireline, Bell Wireless, Bell Aliant and Telesat. Our report-
ing structure reflects how we manage our business and how 
we classify our operations for planning and measuring per-
formance. Accordingly, we operate and manage our seg-
ments as strategic business units organized by products and 
services. Substantially all of our interest expense, other 
(expense) income, income tax and non-controlling interest 
are managed on a total company basis and are, accordingly, 
not reflected in segment results. The inter-segment elimina-
tions eliminate any intercompany transactions included in 
each segment’s results.

The Bell Wireline segment provides local telephone, long 
distance, data (including Internet access), video and other 
services to Bell Canada’s residential, small and medium-sized 
business and large enterprise customers, primarily in the 
urban areas of Ontario and Québec. Video services are pro-
vided nationwide. Also included in this segment is our whole-
sale business, which provides and purchases local telephone, 
long distance, data and other services to or from resellers 
and other carriers.

The Bell Wireless segment provides wireless telephone and 
products to Bell Canada’s residential, small and medium-sized 
business and large enterprise customers across Canada.

The Bell Aliant segment provides local telephone, long dis-
tance, Internet, data, video, wireless, IT services and products, 
and other information and communications technology solu-
tions to residential and business customers in the Atlantic 
provinces, and in rural Ontario and Québec.

Telesat provides satellite communications and systems 
management and also provides consulting services in estab-
lishing, operating and upgrading satellite systems worldwide. 
On October 31, 2007, we sold Telesat, which represents all of 
our Telesat segment. We have maintained continuing com-
mercial arrangements between Telesat and Bell TV that pro-
vide Bell TV continued access to satellite capacity. As a result 
of these arrangements, we have not accounted for Telesat  
as a discontinued operation.
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Segmented Information    INTER-   INTER-
    SEGMENT   SEGMENT
  BELL BELL ELIMINA-   BELL ELIMINA- CONSOLI-
  WIRELINE WIRELESS TIONS BELL ALIANT TIONS  DATED

For the year ended December 31, 2009 

Operating revenues 

 External customers   10,343   4,507  –   14,850   2,885  –   17,735 

 Inter-segment   323   51   (204)  170   289   (459) – 

Total operating revenues   10,666   4,558   (204)  15,020   3,174   (459)  17,735 

Operating expenses   (6,759)  (2,746)  204   (9,301)  (1,804)  459   (10,646)

Depreciation and amortization of intangible assets   (2,284)  (520)  –   (2,804)  (567) –  (3,371)

Restructuring and other   (475)  (8)  –  (483)  (44) –  (527)

Operating income   1,148   1,284  –  2,432   759  –  3,191 

Other expense               (18)

Interest expense               (723)

Income taxes               (368)

Non-controlling interest               (333)

Earnings from continuing operations               1,749 

Segment assets   24,236   7,868  –  32,104   6,198   (252)  38,050 

Capital expenditures   1,717   673  –  2,390   464  –  2,854 

Additions to advanced wireless services (AWS) 
 spectrum licences  –  40   –  40  – –  40 

For the year ended December 31, 2008 

Operating revenues 

 External customers   10,272   4,434  –   14,706   2,955  –   17,661 

 Inter-segment   368   45   (248)  165   342   (507) – 

Total operating revenues   10,640   4,479   (248)  14,871   3,297   (507)  17,661 

Operating expenses   (6,772)  (2,709)  248   (9,233)  (1,931)  507   (10,657)

Depreciation and amortization of intangible assets   (2,193)  (492)  –   (2,685)  (579) –  (3,264)

Restructuring and other   (773)  (37)  –  (810)  (61) –  (871)

Operating income   902   1,241  –  2,143   726  –  2,869 

Other expense               (253)

Interest expense               (791)

Income taxes               (469)

Non-controlling interest               (323)

Earnings from continuing operations               1,033 

Segment assets   25,836   7,823  –  33,659   6,306   (302)  39,663 

Capital expenditures   1,966   493  –  2,459   527  –  2,986 

Additions to AWS spectrum licences  –  741   –  741  – –  741 
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Segmented Information   INTER-    INTER-
   SEGMENT    SEGMENT
 BELL BELL ELIMINA-  BELL   ELIMINA- CONSOLI-
 WIRELINE WIRELESS TIONS BELL ALIANT TELESAT TIONS  DATED

For the year ended December 31, 2007

Operating revenues

 External customers  10,379   4,092  –  14,471   2,917   319   –  17,707 

 Inter-segment  340   59   (227)  172   398   139   (709) – 

Total operating revenues  10,719   4,151   (227)  14,643   3,315   458   (709)  17,707 

Operating expenses  (6,840)  (2,511)  227   (9,124)  (2,019)  (195)  622   (10,716)

Depreciation and amortization of  
 intangible assets  (2,121)  (438) –  (2,559)  (559)  (106)  43   (3,181)

Restructuring and other  (304)  (4) –  (308)  (23) – –  (331)

Operating income  1,454   1,198  –  2,652   714   157   (44)  3,479 

Other income                2,406 

Interest expense                (859)

Income taxes                (735)

Non-controlling interest                (332)

Earnings from continuing operations                3,959 

Capital expenditures  1,960   455  –  2,415   537   188  –  3,140 

Revenues by Product

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31      2009 2008 2007

Revenues 

Local and access        3,159  3,360   3,617

Long distance        1,078  1,165   1,219

Data          3,696  3,723   3,573

Wireless       4,102   4,059   3,773

Video        1,593   1,450   1,317

Equipment and other       1,222   949   972

Total external revenues       14,850   14,706   14,471

Inter-segment revenues       170   165   172

Bell          15,020  14,871   14,643

Bell Aliant       3,174   3,297   3,315

Telesat        –  –  458

Inter-segment eliminations       (459)   (507)  (709)

BCE          17,735  17,661   17,707
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NOTE 3: RESTRUCTURING AND OTHER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2009 2008 2007

Employee costs

 Bell  (219) (274) (63)

 Bell Aliant (41) (54) (23)

Real estate     

 Bell  (80) (81) (77)

 Bell Aliant – (7) (4)

Total restructuring costs  (340) (416) (167)

Other charges (187) (455) (164)

Total restructuring and other  (527) (871) (331)

The liability for restructuring costs at December 31, 2009 is 
as follows:
  BELL  CONSOLI-
 BELL ALIANT DATED

Balance at December 31, 2008 205 66 271

Employee costs (1) 162 41 203

Real estate 80 – 80

Less: Cash payments  (231)  (66)  (297)

Balance at December 31, 2009 216 41 257

(1) Excludes amounts related to net benefit plans costs for Bell Canada ($57 million) 
included in the net pension liability.

Restructuring Costs

Restructuring costs at Bell consist of:
employee termination charges related to voluntary and 

involuntary workforce reduction initiatives. The 2009 charge of 
$219 million includes $139 million relating to a voluntary retire-
ment incentive. The 2008 charge of $274 million is related to 
involuntary departures. The 2007 charge of $63 million includes 
$26 million relating to a voluntary retirement incentive.

real estate costs for relocating employees and closing real 
estate facilities that are no longer needed because of work-
force reduction initiatives, charges for relocation and lease 
vacancy, and buyout costs related to the relocation to cam-
pus environments in Calgary, Toronto and Montréal.

 2009 2008 2007

Workforce reduction 24 32 61

Campus environments 56 49 16

Real estate costs 80 81 77

Our cumulative expense since 2004 as a result of workforce 
reduction initiatives is $242 million and since 2007 for costs 
related to campus environments is $121 million. We expect to 
incur additional real estate costs of approximately $8 million 
to relocate employees and close additional real estate facili-
ties as a result of our workforce initiatives, which will be 
expensed as incurred in our Bell Wireline segment. 

Restructuring costs at Bell Aliant consist mainly of employee 
termination charges related to workforce reduction initiatives. 
Employee termination charges in 2009 related to voluntary 
and involuntary employee departures. Employee termination 
charges in 2008 and 2007 related to involuntary employee 
departures.

Other Charges

We recorded other charges of $187 million in 2009. Of the 
total, $152 million related to the Supreme Court of Canada 
decision rendered in September 2009 to uphold the CRTC’s 
decision that the funds remaining in our deferral account 
could be used for uneconomic broadband expansion or 
returned to customers. This charge relates to the years 2002 
to 2006 and reflects the remaining amount of our deferral 
account commitment. Our commitment under the deferral 
account is fully accrued in the financial statements. 

We recorded other charges of $455 million in 2008 com-
prised of $236 million for the CRTC’s decision in the first 
quarter of 2008 on the use of deferral account funds for the 
uneconomic expansion of broadband, $187 million for 
employee retention (see Note 21, Stock-Based Compensation 
Plans), other costs associated with the proposed privatiza-
tion transaction and costs related to Bell’s rebranding. 

We recorded other charges of $164 million in 2007 related 
primarily to transaction costs associated with the proposed 
privatization transaction, employee retention costs (see  
Note 21, Stock-Based Compensation Plans) and a charge for 
uneconomic broadband expansion approved by the CRTC. 
The transaction costs relate mainly to financial advisory,  
professional and consulting fees.
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NOTE 4: OTHER (EXPENSE) INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31     NOTE 2009 2008 2007

Gains (losses) on investments      49  (308) 2,414

Interest income       14  97  47

Securitization losses     9 (27)  (52) (64)

Foreign currency gains (losses)       3 19  (30)

Premium on redemption of debt     16  (45) – –

Other          (12) (9) 39

Total other (expense) income        (18)  (253)  2,406

NOTE 5: INTEREST EXPENSE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31     NOTE 2009 2008 2007

Interest expense on long-term debt        (745) (755) (812)

Interest expense on other debt       (34) (36) (56)

Capitalized interest     11 56 – 9 

Total interest expense      (723) (791) (859)

Included in interest expense on long-term debt is $148 million of interest on capital leases for 2009, $99 million for 2008  
and $61 million for 2007.

Gains (Losses) on Investments

Losses on investments of $308 million in 2008 resulted from 
write-downs of our AFS investments. The decline in fair  
values of these investments was assessed to be other than 
temporary. The impairments were based on business valua-
tions or quoted market prices. 

Gains on investments of $2,414 million in 2007 resulted 
mainly from: 

a $2,300 million gain on the sale of Telesat, our satellite 
services subsidiary, on October 31, 2007

a $92 million dilution gain from the privatization of the Bell 
Nordiq Income Fund in the first quarter of 2007.

NOTE 6: INCOME TAXES

The following table reconciles the amount of reported income tax expense in the statements of operations with income tax 
expense at Canadian statutory rates of 32.3% in 2009, 32.6% in 2008 and 34.7% in 2007.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31      2009 2008 2007

Income tax expense computed at statutory rates       (791)  (595)  (1,744)

Non-taxable portion of gains (losses) on investments       15  (97)  420 

Non-taxable portion of Bell Aliant’s income       112  109   111 

Resolution of uncertain tax positions (1)       132  70   348 

Recognition of previously unrecognized non-capital loss carryforwards    7  17  –

Effect of changes in future tax rates on temporary differences      39  4   87

Tax rate differential on reversal of temporary differences and other      118  23   43

Total income tax expense       (368)  (469)  (735)

(1) Included in this amount for 2007 are settlements with tax authorities on uncertain tax positions in connection with the sale of an investment in a prior year and other 
audit issues.
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The following table shows the significant components of income tax expense that related to earnings from continu ing 
operations.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31      2009 2008 2007

Current income taxes      (336) (340) (322)

Future income taxes 

 Recognition and utilization of loss carryforwards      (27) (61) (478)

 Resolution of uncertain tax positions      132 70  348 

 Effect of changes in future tax rates on temporary differences     39 4   87 

 Change in temporary differences and other      (176) (142) (370)

Total income tax expense      (368) (469)  (735)

The following table shows future income taxes resulting from temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities for accounting purposes and the amounts used for tax purposes, as well as tax loss carryforwards.

AT DECEMBER 31      NOTE 2009 2008

Non-capital loss carryforwards        225  215 

Employee benefit plans        (116)  104 

Property, plant and equipment and finite-life intangible assets       (804) (795)

Indefinite-life intangible assets        (440) (426)

Investment tax credits        (175) (240)

Partnership income deferral (1)        (118) (116)

Other         (427) (574)

Total future income taxes        (1,855) (1,832)

Future income tax balances are comprised of: 

Future income tax asset – current portion        110 86 

Future income tax asset – long-term portion      12 52  76

Future income tax liability – current portion      14 (31) (86)

Future income tax liability – long-term portion      17 (1,986) (1,908)

Total future income taxes        (1,855) (1,832)

(1) The taxation year end of certain of Bell Aliant’s corporate subsidiaries differs from their partnership year ends. This results in a deferral of partnership income for  
tax purposes.

At December 31, 2009, BCE had $832 million of non-capital 
loss carryforwards. We: 

recognized a future tax asset of $225 million, of which  
$181 million related to Bell Aliant, on approximately $734 mil-
lion of the non-capital loss carryforwards. Of the total non-
capital loss carryforwards recognized, $41 million expires in 
varying annual amounts until the end of 2019. The balance 
expires in varying annual amounts from 2020 to 2029.

did not recognize a future tax asset for approximately  
$98 million of non-capital loss carryforwards. This balance 
expires in varying annual amounts from 2020 to 2029.

At December 31, 2009, BCE had $1,021 million in unrecognized 
capital loss carryforwards which can be carried forward 
indefinitely.
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NOTE 7: DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2009 2008 2007

Expertech Network Installation  
 (US) Inc. (Expertech US)  1   (43)  (3)

ADS   –  (5)  114 

Other (1)   (12)  (42)  (13)

Net (loss) gain from  
 discontinued operations  (11)  (90)  98 

(1) Due mainly to asset impairments related to our decisions to cease the opera-
tions of or to sell certain of our businesses.

The following table is a summarized statement of operations 
for the discontinued operations.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2009 2008 2007

Revenue 43 125 167

(Loss) income from discontinued  
 operations (7)  (43)  (35)

(Loss) gain from discontinued  
 operations (13)  (55)  338

Income tax recovery on  
 operating loss – –   4

Income tax expense on gain –  –   (56)

Non-controlling interest 9  8   (153)

Net (loss) gain from  
 discontinued operations (11)  (90)  98 

Expertech US

In 2008, we decided to sell our investment in Expertech US. 
As such, we accounted for Expertech US as a discontinued 
operation and no longer consolidated its financial results.  
A loss of $15 million was recorded in anticipation of the sale 
of Expertech US.

In 2009, we ceased operations of Expertech US. Expertech 
US was previously included in the Bell Wireline segment.

ADS

In February 2007, Yellow Pages Group (YPG), through Yellow 
Pages Income Fund, and Bell Aliant announced that they had 
entered into a memorandum of understanding for YPG  
to acquire the assets of ADS, a partnership held 87.14% by 
Bell Aliant and the balance by YPG. At March 31, 2007, we 
accounted for ADS as a discontinued operation and no  
longer proportionately consolidated its financial results. ADS 
was previously included in the Bell Aliant segment.

On April 30, 2007, the transaction was completed and we 
realized net proceeds of $327 million. The gain on disposition 
was approximately $110 million.

NOTE 8: EARNINGS PER SHARE 

The following table is a reconciliation of the components used in the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per common share 
from continuing operations.

      2009 2008 2007

Earnings from continuing operations

Earnings from continuing operations      1,749 1,033 3,959 

Dividends on preferred shares      (107) (124)  (131)

Earnings from continuing operations – basic      1,642 909  3,828

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding (in millions) 

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding – basic      772.9 805.8   804.8

Assumed exercise of stock options (1)      – 1.4  2.1

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding – diluted     772.9 807.2 806.9

(1) The calculation of the assumed exercise of stock options includes the effect of the average unrecognized future compensation cost of dilutive options. It does not 
include anti-dilutive options, which are options that would not be exercised because their exercise price is higher than the average market value of a BCE Inc. common 
share. The number of excluded options was 10,508,239 in 2009, 4,646,531 in 2008 and 5,278,529 in 2007.
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NOTE 9: ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

AT DECEMBER 31  2009 2008

Trade accounts receivable   1,245 1,394

Allowance for doubtful accounts    (105) (131)

Allowance for revenue adjustments   (83) (82)

Income taxes receivable   118 63 

Investment tax credits      300 408 

Other accounts receivable      130 174

Total accounts receivable    1,605 1,826

Securitization of Accounts Receivable

At December 31, 2009, an interest of $1,140 million of Bell 
Canada’s accounts receivable had been sold to a securitiza-
tion trust for cash ($1,140 million in cash at December 31, 2008) 
under a revolving sales agreement that expires on May 13, 
2012. Bell Canada had a retained interest of $192 million in 
the accounts receivable at December 31, 2009 ($130 million 
at December 31, 2008), which equals the amount of overcol-
lateralization in the receivables sold.

At December 31, 2009, an interest of $165 million of Bell 
Aliant’s accounts receivable had been sold to a securitization 
trust for cash ($165 million in cash at December 31, 2008) 
under a revolving sales agreement that expires on July 7, 
2011. Bell Aliant had a retained interest of $43 million in the 
accounts receivable at December 31, 2009 ($44 million at 
December 31, 2008).

Bell Canada and Bell Aliant continue to service these 
accounts receivable. The buyers’ interest in the collection of 
these accounts receivable ranks ahead of the interests of 
Bell Canada and Bell Aliant, which means that Bell Canada 
and Bell Aliant are exposed to certain risks of default on the 
amount securitized. Bell Canada and Bell Aliant have provided 
various credit enhancements in the form of overcollateral-
ization and subordination of their retained interests.

The buyers will reinvest the amounts collected by buying 
additional interests in the Bell Canada and Bell Aliant accounts 

receivable until the agreements expire. The buyers and their 
investors have no further claim on Bell Canada’s and Bell 
Aliant’s other assets if customers do not pay amounts owed.

In 2009, we recognized a loss of $27 million on the revolving 
sale of accounts receivable for the combined securitiza-
tions, compared to losses of $52 million in 2008 and $64 mil-
lion in 2007. 

The following table shows balances for the securitization 
programs at December 31, 2009 and the assumptions that 
were used on the date of transfer and at December 31, 2009. 
A 10% or 20% adverse change in each of these assumptions 
would have no significant effect on the current fair value of 
the retained interest.

 RANGE FOR 2009 2009 2008

Securitized interest in  
 accounts receivable     1,305  1,305

Retained interest      235  174

Servicing liability      2  2

Average accounts  
 receivable managed      2,146  2,091

Assumptions         

 Cost of funds  2.05%–3.86% 2.05% 4.05%

 Average  
  delinquency ratio 11.60%–12.00%  11.60% 11.60%

 Average net  
  credit loss ratio  1.00%–1.02%  1.00% 0.96%

 Weighted average  
  life (days)  34–36  34  37

 Servicing fee liability  2.00% 2.00% 2.00%

The following table is a summary of certain cash flows  
received from and paid to the trusts during the year.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31    2009 2008 2007

Collections reinvested  
 in revolving sales 19,423 18,374  18,579

Decrease in sale proceeds – (27) (6)

NOTE 10: INVENTORY

AT DECEMBER 31       2009 2008

Inventory 

 Work in progress         57 54

 Finished goods         433 236

 Provision        (42) (18)

Total inventory        448 272

The total amount of inventories recognized as an expense was $1,505 million in 2009, $1,307 million in 2008 and $1,277 million  
in 2007.
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NOTE 11: CAPITAL ASSETS  2009 2008

  ACCUMULATED NET BOOK  ACCUMULATED NET BOOK 
AT DECEMBER 31 COST  AMORTIZATION VALUE COST  AMORTIZATION VALUE

Property, plant and equipment   

Telecommunications assets  

 Inside plant   21,686 16,386 5,300 21,408 15,782  5,626

 Outside plant   16,786 10,979 5,807 16,401 10,754  5,647

 Station equipment   3,351 1,656 1,695 3,322 1,728  1,594

Machinery and equipment   8,024 5,104 2,920 7,002 4,560  2,442

Buildings   3,604 1,671 1,933 3,530 1,602  1,928

Plant under construction   889 – 889 1,099  –   1,099

Satellites   1,303 595 708 1,395 562  833

Land    77 – 77 77  –   77

Other    239 127 112 262 102  160

Total property, plant and equipment   55,959 36,518 19,441  54,496   35,090   19,406

Finite-life intangible assets 

Software   4,910 3,102 1,808 4,802 2,831 1,971

Customer relationships   924 204 720 874 169   705

Other    28 15 13 33 16  17

Total finite-life intangible assets   5,862 3,321 2,541  5,709   3,016   2,693

Indefinite-life intangible assets   

Brand name   2,024 – 2,024 2,014 –   2,014

Spectrum licences   1,763 – 1,763 1,667  –   1,667

Cable licences   16 – 16 16  –  16

Total indefinite-life intangible assets   3,803 – 3,803  3,697  –   3,697

Total capital assets   65,624 39,839 25,785  63,902   38,106   25,796

   2009 2008

Assets under capital leases:

Cost    3,198 3,396

Additions  196 935

Net book value  1,955  2,218 

Additional information on additions:

Finite-life intangible asset additions  660 694

Indefinite-life intangible asset additions  106 784

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2009 2008 2007

Depreciation of property,  
 plant and equipment (1) 2,595 2,537 2,547

Amortization of finite-life  
 intangible assets 776 727 634

Capitalized interest on  
 spectrum licences 56 – 9

(1) Includes depreciation of capital leases of $213 million in 2009, $257 million in 
2008 and $143 million in 2007.

The future annual amortization expense for finite-life intangible 
assets, calculated based on the asset values at December 31, 
2009, is as follows.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

2010    (610)

2011    (438)

2012    (281)

2013    (174)

2014    (73)

Total estimated amortization expense    (1,576)
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NOTE 12: OTHER LONG-TERM ASSETS

AT DECEMBER 31      NOTE 2009 2008

Accrued benefit asset      23  2,316   1,636 

Future income taxes      6  52   76 

AFS publicly-traded and privately-held securities         283   275 

Investment tax credits (1)         141   130 

Long-term notes and other receivables         102   151 

Other          313   342 

Total other long-term assets         3,207   2,610 

(1) Our investment tax credits expire in varying annual amounts until the end of 2029.

NOTE 13: GOODWILL 

The consolidated statements of operations include the results of acquired businesses from the date they were purchased. We 
cease including results from businesses we have sold on the date they are sold. The following table provides details about the 
changes in the carrying amounts of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008.

     BELL BELL BELL   CONSOLI-
     WIRELINE WIRELESS ALIANT DATED

Balance – December 31, 2007       2,471   2,175   1,209   5,855 

2008 acquisitions       29   11   9   49 

Contingent consideration paid in respect of a prior year’s acquisition      3  – –  3 

Adjustments from completion of prior year’s purchase price allocation    (3) –  (194) (197)

Repurchase of units at Bell Aliant      – –  (48) (48)

Other       (3) – – (3)

Balance – December 31, 2008       2,497   2,186   976   5,659 

2009 acquisitions      –  115  –  115 

Contingent consideration paid in respect of a prior year’s acquisition      5  –  –  5 

Other       (1)  –  (4)  (5)

Balance – December 31, 2009      2,501   2,301   972   5,774 

2009 Acquisitions

On July 1, 2009, we acquired the remaining 50% interest that 
we did not already own in Virgin Mobile Canada, a mobile 
virtual network operator.

Also on July 1, 2009, we acquired substantially all of the 
assets of the national electronics retailer The Source.

Sale of Telesat

On October 31, 2007, we sold Telesat, our satellite services 
subsidiary, for net cash proceeds of $3,123 million and a  
gain on sale of approximately $1,893 million, net of taxes of 
$407 million. 

Bell Nordiq Income Fund

In January 2007, Bell Aliant purchased the remaining 36.7% 
interest that it did not already own in NorthernTel Limited 
Partnership and Télébec Limited Partnership (Télébec), the 
operating partnerships of the Bell Nordiq Income Fund, held 
through Bell Nordiq Group Inc. (Bell Nordiq). Goodwill was 
recognized on the transaction because the value of the net 
assets was lower than the future earnings potential. None of 
the goodwill is deductible for tax purposes.

Immediately prior to the acquisition, Bell Nordiq Income 
Fund unit holders received a special distribution of $4.00 
cash per unit and, on January 30, 2007, received 0.4113 of  
a Bell Aliant unit for each Bell Nordiq Income Fund unit  
held. As a result, our non-controlling interest increased by 
$156 million.

Repurchase of Units at Bell Aliant

In 2007, Bell Aliant repurchased 10.6 million outstanding units 
for a total cash outlay of $330 million as part of a normal 
course issuer bid (NCIB) program. No further units were 
repurchased in 2008 and the NCIB program was terminated 
on February 27, 2008.

Bell Aliant’s 2007 NCIB program, in which we did not par-
ticipate, resulted in a 2% increase in our ownership of Bell 
Aliant, which we recorded as an increase to our goodwill of 
$107 million. In 2008, we finalized the allocation of goodwill, 
which had the following impact on our balance sheet:

goodwill decreased by $48 million
property, plant and equipment increased by $4 million 
finite-life intangibles increased by $63 million 
other long-term liabilities increased by $19 million. 
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Purchase Price Allocations

The purchase price allocations for 2009 acquisitions include 
certain estimates. The final purchase price allocation for 
each business acquisition will be complete within 12 months 
of the acquisition date.

The following tables summarize the fair values assigned  
to each major asset and liability class for each of the last 
three years.

2009 Business Combinations

The table below includes acquisitions of The Source and  
Virgin Mobile Canada, which were individually immaterial.

   TOTAL

Consideration given

 Cash (1)   315

 Acquisition costs   8

Purchase price   323

Non-cash working capital   102

Property, plant and equipment   33

Other long-term assets   3

Finite-life intangibles (2)

 Dealer network   5

 Customer relationships   58

 Software   13

Indefinite-life intangible

 Brand   10

Other long-term liabilities   (22)

      202

Cash and cash equivalents   6

Fair value of net assets acquired   208

Goodwill (3)   115

(1) An additional $16 million of cash is held in escrow pending final working capital 
adjustments.

(2) The dealer network, customer relationships and the majority of software  
acquired are amortized over a weighted average period of ten, six and two 
years, respectively.

(3) None of the goodwill is deductible for tax purposes.

2008 Business Combinations

All acquisitions in 2008 were individually immaterial.

   TOTAL

Consideration given

 Cash    53

Purchase price   53

Property, plant and equipment   11

Finite-life intangibles (1)

 Customer relationships   6

Indefinite-life intangibles

 Brand   1

 Licences   1

Non-controlling interest   (15)

Fair value of net assets acquired   4

Goodwill (2)   49

(1) The customer relationships are amortized over a weighted average period  
of seventeen years.

(2) $9 million is deductible for tax purposes.

2007 Business Combinations

 BELL NORDIQ OTHER TOTAL

Consideration given 

 Cash   135   24   159 

 Acquisition costs   4  –  4 

 Non-cash   394   (2)  392 

Purchase price   533   22   555 

Property, plant and equipment   37   2   39 

Finite-life intangibles (1)

 Customer relationships  186   3   189 

 Roaming agreements  4   –  4 

Indefinite-life intangibles      

 Brand  27   –  27 

 Licences  14   –  14 

Long-term debt  (3)  –  (3)

Other long-term liabilities  (71)  –  (71)

Non-controlling interest   95   2   97 

Fair value of net assets acquired   289   7   296 

Goodwill (2)   244   15   259 

(1) The customer relationships and the roaming agreements are amortized over  
a weighted average period of twenty-three and four years, respectively.

(2) $8 million is deductible for tax purposes.
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NOTE 14: ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

AT DECEMBER 31      NOTE  2009 2008

Trade accounts payable and accruals          1,637 1,727

Compensation payable          499 501

Deferred revenues          615 540

Taxes payable          113 161

Restructuring costs payable          175 194

Future income taxes       6 31 86

Deferral account commitment      3 152 –   

Other current liabilities          494 319

Total accounts payable and accrued liabilities          3,716 3,528

NOTE 15: DEBT DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR    WEIGHTED  WEIGHTED 
    AVERAGE AVERAGE 
AT DECEMBER 31   NOTE INTEREST RATE MATURITY 2009 2008

Bank advances     1.03% n.a. 42  217 

Notes payable     n.m. n.a. 11  29 

Total bank advances and notes payable         53  246  

Long-term debt due within one year

 BCE Inc.         –  650 

 Bell Canada         529 1,189 

 Bell Aliant         19  116 

             548 1,955

Unamortized premium          5  7 

Unamortized debt issuance costs          (6)  (7)

Total long-term debt due within one year    16     547  1,955 

Total debt due within one year          600  2,201 

n.a.: Not applicable
n.m.: Not meaningful

Restrictions

Some of the credit agreements:
require us to meet specific financial ratios 
require us to offer to repay and cancel the credit agree-

ment upon a change of control of BCE Inc. or Bell Canada.

We are in compliance with all conditions and restrictions.

Credit Facilities

Bell Canada and Bell Aliant may issue notes under their com-
mercial paper programs up to the net available amount of their 
supporting committed revolving bank credit facilities. The total 
amount of these supporting committed revolving bank credit 
facilities may be drawn at any time. Bell Canada and Bell Aliant 
had no commercial paper outstanding at December 31, 2009. 

The table below is a summary of our total bank credit facilities at December 31, 2009.
      ISSUED AND  
      UNDRAWN  
    TOTAL  LETTERS OF NET 
    AVAILABLE DRAWN CREDIT AVAILABLE

Committed credit facilities 

 Bell Canada (1) –  
  Revolving facility (including supporting commercial paper program)  1,400 – 268 1,132

 Bell Aliant (1) –  
  Revolving facility (including supporting commercial paper program)  550 – 27 523

  Other      558  40  241 277

Total committed credit facilities     2,508  40 536 1,932

Non-committed credit facilities

 Bell Canada      225 2 89 134 

 Bell Aliant     14 – 1 13

Total non-committed credit facilities     239 2 90 147

Total committed and non-committed credit facilities        2,747 42 626  2,079 

(1) Bell Canada’s current $1,400 million supporting committed revolving bank credit facility expires in May 2012 and Bell Aliant’s current $550 million supporting committed 
revolving bank credit facility expires in July 2011.
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NOTE 16: LONG-TERM DEBT    WEIGHTED 
    AVERAGE 
AT DECEMBER 31   NOTE INTEREST RATE MATURITY 2009 2008

BCE Inc. (a)          – 650

Bell Canada (b) 

Debentures 

 1997 trust indenture      5.91% 2011–2035 4,100  4,400

 1976 trust indenture      9.73% 2010–2054 1,584  1,770

Subordinated debentures        8.21% 2026–2031  275  275

Capital leases        7.91% 2010–2047  1,929  2,129

Other               157  230

Total – Bell Canada              8,045 8,804

Bell Aliant (c)  

Non-revolving term facility        Floating  2009 –  100

Debentures, notes and bonds        5.41% 2011–2037  2,740  2,395

Other               45  81

Total – Bell Aliant              2,785  2,576

Total debt              10,830  12,030

Unamortized premium             57  66

Unamortized debt issuance costs              (41) (42)

Less: Amount due within one year    15, 19        (547) (1,955)

Total long-term debt    19           10,299 10,099 

Restrictions

Some of the debt agreements:
require us to meet specific financial ratios 
impose covenants, maintenance tests and new issue tests 
require us to make an offer to repurchase certain series of 

debentures upon the occurrence of a change of control trig-
gering event as defined in the relevant debt agreements. 

We are in compliance with all conditions and restrictions.

(a) BCE Inc. 

On June 8, 2009, BCE Inc. redeemed early its 7.35% Series C 
Notes, which were due on October 30, 2009. We incurred a 
$16 million charge for the premium costs on early redemption 
which is included in Other (expense) income.

(b) Bell Canada 

All outstanding debentures are issued under trust indentures 
and are unsecured. They include US$200 million maturing  
in 2010, which has been swapped into Canadian dollars.  
All debentures are issued in series and certain series are 
redeemable at Bell Canada’s option prior to maturity at the 
prices, times and conditions specified in each series.

On July 30, 2009, Bell Canada redeemed early its 5.5% 
Series M-16 debentures, issued under its 1997 trust indenture, 
having an outstanding principal amount of $600 million, 
which were due on August 12, 2010. We incurred a $29 million 
charge for the premium costs on early redemption, which is 
included in Other (expense) income.

On June 29, 2009, Bell Canada issued 4.85% Series M-20 
debentures under its 1997 trust indenture for a principal 
amount of $1 billion, which mature on June 30, 2014.

(c) Bell Aliant 

All outstanding debentures, notes and bonds are issued under 
trust indentures and are unsecured with the exception of 
Télébec’s debentures of $100 million, which are secured by a 
mortgage on a property located in the province of Québec. 
At December 31, 2009, the carrying value of this property was 
$12 million. All debentures, notes and bonds are issued in 
series and certain series are redeemable at Bell Aliant’s 
option prior to maturity at the prices, times and conditions 
specified in each series.

On May 12, 2009, Bell Aliant Regional Communications, 
Limited Partnership issued 6.29% medium-term notes with  
a principal amount of $350 million which mature on Febru-
ary 17, 2015.
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NOTE 17: OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

AT DECEMBER 31      NOTE 2009 2008

Future income taxes       6 1,986  1,908

Accrued benefit liability       23 2,016  2,090

Deferral account commitment      3 273  273

Deferred revenue on long-term contracts          154  178

Deferred contract payments          46  89

Restructuring costs payable          82  77

Other           385  331

Total other long-term liabilities          4,942  4,946

NOTE 18: NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST

AT DECEMBER 31       2009 2008

Non-controlling interest in subsidiaries

 Bell Aliant          1,030 1,061

 Other          19 19

Total non-controlling interest          1,049 1,080

NOTE 19: FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Financial Management

Management’s objectives are to protect BCE Inc. and its sub-
sidiaries on a consolidated basis against material economic 
exposures and variability of results against various financial 
risks that include credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, 
foreign currency risk and equity price risk. To minimize our 
exposure, we enter into derivative financial instruments to 
manage our risk as it relates to interest rate risk, foreign cur-
rency risk and equity price risk. We do not use derivative 
instruments for speculative purposes.

Derivatives

We use derivative instruments to manage our exposure to 
foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and changes in the 
price of BCE Inc. common shares that may be issued under 
our compensation plans (SCPs, DSUs and RSUs). We do not 
use derivative instruments for speculative purposes, and so 
we are not exposed to any significant liquidity risks relating 
to them.

The following derivative instruments were outstanding at 
December 31, 2009: 

cross-currency swaps and foreign currency forward con-
tracts that hedge foreign currency risk on a portion of our 
long-term debt 

foreign currency forward contracts that hedge certain 
purchase commitments 

interest rate swaps that hedge interest rate risk on a por-
tion of our long-term debt 

forward contracts on BCE Inc. common shares that hedge 
the fair-value exposure related to DSUs and RSUs.

At December 31, 2009, the amount of hedge ineffectiveness 
recorded in Other (expense) income in the statement of oper-
ations was not material.

Credit Risk

We are exposed to credit risk from operating activities and 
certain financing activities, the maximum exposure of which 
is represented by the carrying amounts reported on the bal-
ance sheet. 

We are exposed to credit risk if counterparties to our 
accounts receivable and derivative instruments are unable 
to meet their obligations. The concentration of credit risk 
from our customers is minimized because we have a large 
and diverse customer base. We regularly monitor our credit 
risk and credit exposure. There was minimal credit risk relat-
ing to derivative instruments at December 31, 2009. We deal 
with institutions that have strong credit ratings and as such 
we expect that they will be able to meet their obligations. 

The following table provides the change in allowance for 
doubtful accounts for trade accounts receivable.

Balance at December 31, 2008   (131)

Additions    (37)

Use     63

Balance at December 31, 2009   (105)

For many of our customers, accounts receivable are written 
off directly to bad debt expense if the account has not been 
collected after a predetermined period of time.
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The following table provides further details on trade accounts receivable past due but not provisioned.

AT DECEMBER 31       2009 2008

Trade accounts receivable not past due        835 935

Trade accounts receivable  past due and not provisioned

 Under 60 days       91 105

 60 to 120 days        108  138

 Over 120 days        106 85

Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts       1,140 1,263

Liquidity Risk

We generate enough cash from our operating activities to 
fund our operations and fulfill our obligations as they become 
due. We have sufficient committed financing facilities in place 
should our cash requirements exceed cash generated from 
our operations. 
         
       THERE- 
  2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 AFTER TOTAL

Long-term debt     357   1,009   513   73   1,559   5,349   8,860 

Notes payable and bank advances   53  – –  –  –  –  53 

Capital leases (1)    332   363   224   225   199   1,784   3,127 

Interest payable on long-term debt,  
 notes payable and bank advances   567   530   470   450   400   5,516   7,933 

Net interest receipts on derivatives   (32)  (23) (13) (8) (3) (2) (81)

Total (2)      1,277   1,879   1,194   740   2,155   12,647   19,892 

(1) Capital leases include imputed interest of $1,157 million.
(2) Excluded from the table are commitments under contractual obligations (see Note 24, Commitments and Contingencies).

Market Risk

CURRENCY EXPOSURES

We use cross-currency swaps and forward contracts to 
hedge debt that is denominated in foreign currencies. We 
also use foreign currency forward contracts to hedge foreign 
currency risk on anticipated transactions including certain 
purchase commitments.

At December 31, 2009, the amounts to be received under 
currency contracts were US$967 million and the amounts to 
be paid were $1,146 million. At December 31, 2008, the amounts 
to be received under currency contracts were US$405 mil-
lion and the amounts to be paid were $510 million. 

The effect on net earnings from a 10% increase or decrease 
in the CAD/USD exchange rate is not significant. The effect 
on other comprehensive income from a 10% change in the 
CAD/USD exchange rate is $42 million. 

The following table provides further details on our outstanding cross-currency swaps and forward contracts at December 31, 
2009 and 2008.
      AMOUNTS  AMOUNTS   
    TYPE OF BUY TO RECEIVE SELL TO PAY   
    HEDGE CURRENCY IN USD CURRENCY IN CAD MATURITY HEDGED ITEM

At December 31, 2009 Fair value USD  200 CAD  269 2010 Debt due within one year

    Cash flow USD  67 CAD  98 2013 Long-term debt 

    Cash flow USD 575 CAD  647 2010 Purchase commitments 

    Economic USD  125 CAD  132 2010 Purchase commitments 

At December 31, 2008 Fair value USD  200 CAD  269 2010 Long-term debt 

    Cash flow USD  75 CAD  111 2013 Long-term debt 

    Cash flow USD 58 CAD  57 2009 Purchase commitments 

    Cash flow USD  12 CAD  13 2009 Purchase commitments 

    Economic USD  60 CAD  60 2009 Purchase commitments 

Financial liabilities that are due within one year have  
been classified as current and presented as such on the bal-
ance sheet. 

The following table is a maturity analysis for each of the 
next five years and thereafter for financial liabilities with 
maturities that are greater than one year, including capital 
leases.
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INTEREST RATE EXPOSURES

We use interest rate swaps to manage the mix of fixed and floating interest rates on our debt. The effect on net earnings and 
other comprehensive income of a one percentage point increase or decrease in interest rates is not significant. The following 
table shows interest rate swaps outstanding at December 31, 2009 and 2008.

      RECEIVE PAY 
    TYPE OF NOTIONAL INTEREST INTEREST 
    HEDGE AMOUNT RATE RATE MATURITY HEDGED ITEM

At December 31, 2009 Fair value 700 5.00% 3-month CDOR(1) + 0.42% 2017 Long-term debt 

    Fair value USD 200 9.50% 3-month CDOR + 5.34% 2010 Debt due within one year

At December 31, 2008 Fair value 700 5.00% 3-month CDOR + 0.42% 2017  Long-term debt

    Fair value USD 200 9.50% 3-month CDOR + 5.34% 2010   Long-term debt

    Cash flow 100 3-month CDOR 4.9775% 2010 Debt due within one year

    Cash flow 100 3-month CDOR 4.9775% 2010 Debt due within one year

    Cash flow 50  3-month CDOR  3.7500% 2010  Debt due within one year

(1) CDOR: Canadian dollar offered rate

EQUITY PRICE EXPOSURES

We use equity forward contracts on BCE Inc. common shares 
to hedge the fair-value exposure related to RSUs and DSUs. 
See Note 21, Stock-Based Compensation Plans, for details on 
our RSU and DSU programs.

At December 31, 2009, the effect on net earnings and other 
comprehensive income from a ten percent change in the mar-
ket price of the BCE Inc. common share is not significant.

Fair Value

Fair value is the amount that willing parties would accept  
to exchange a financial instrument based on the current 
market for instruments with the same risk, principal and 
remaining maturity.

Certain fair value estimates are affected by assumptions 
we make about the amount and timing of estimated future 
cash flows and discount rates, all of which reflect varying 
degrees of risk. Income taxes and other expenses that would 

be incurred on disposition of financial instruments are not 
reflected in the fair values. As a result, the fair values are not 
necessarily the net amounts that would be realized if these 
instruments were settled. 

The carrying value of most of our financial instruments 
approximates fair value due to their short-term nature. Other 
financial instruments are measured as follows: 

AFS publicly-traded securities are recorded at fair value 
based on quoted prices in active markets for identical instru-
ments at the balance sheet date 

public long-term debt, which mainly includes senior and 
subordinated debentures, is recorded at amortized cost and 
its fair value is determined based on the trading values at the 
balance sheet date 

derivative financial instruments, such as currency con-
tracts, interest rate swaps and equity forward contracts, are 
recorded at fair value based on observable market data 
such as interest rates, swap rate curves and foreign currency 
exchange rates. 

The following table shows a comparison between the carrying value and fair value of our long-term debt and derivative  
financial instruments.
    2009  2008

     CARRYING  FAIR  CARRYING  FAIR  
AT DECEMBER 31 NOTE VALUE VALUE VALUE VALUE

Long-term debt due within one year 15 547 565 1,955 1,984

Long-term debt 16 10,299 10,926 10,099 9,393

Derivative financial instruments, net asset (liability) position

 Forward contracts – BCE Inc. shares  35 35 (10) (10)

 Currency contracts  (129) (129) (3) (3)

 Interest rate swaps   68 68 116 116
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NOTE 20: SHARE CAPITAL

Preferred Shares

BCE Inc.’s articles of amalgamation provide for an unlimited number of First Preferred Shares and Second Preferred Shares.  
The terms set out in the articles authorize BCE Inc.’s directors to issue the shares in one or more series and to set the number  
of shares and conditions for each series.

The following table is a summary of the principal terms of BCE Inc.’s First Preferred Shares. There were no Second Preferred 
Shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2009. BCE Inc.’s articles of amalgamation, as amended, describe the terms and 
conditions of these shares in detail.
      STATED 
    NUMBER OF SHARES       CAPITAL
       AT 
 ANNUAL    REDEMP-  ISSUED   DECEMBER 31 DIVIDEND  CONVERT- CONVERSION REDEMPTION TION  AND OUT-
SERIES RATE IBLE INTO DATE DATE PRICE AUTHORIZED STANDING 2009 2008 2007

Q  floating  Series R  December 1, 2015 At any time  $25.50 8,000,000 – – – –

R  4.54% Series Q  December 1, 2010 December 1, 2010 $25.00 8,000,000  8,000,000  200  200   200

S  floating  Series T  November 1, 2011 At any time  $25.50 8,000,000  2,279,791  57  57   57

T  4.502% Series S  November 1, 2011 November 1, 2011 $25.00 8,000,000  5,720,209  143  143   143

Y  floating  Series Z  December 1, 2012 At any time  $25.50 10,000,000  8,126,330  203  203   203

Z  4.331% Series Y  December 1, 2012 December 1, 2012 $25.00 10,000,000  1,873,670  47  47   47

A A  4.80% Series  A B  September 1, 2012 September 1, 2012 $25.00 20,000,000  10,081,586  257  257   257

A B  floating  Series  A A  September 1, 2012 At any time  $25.50 20,000,000  9,918,414  253  253   253

A C  4.60% Series  A D  March 1, 2013 March 1, 2013 $25.00 20,000,000  9,244,555  236  236   510

A D  floating  Series  A C  March 1, 2013 At any time  $25.50 20,000,000  10,755,445  274  274  –

A E  floating  Series  A F  February 1, 2010 At any time  $25.50 24,000,000  1,914,218  48  48   48

A F  4.40% Series  A E  February 1, 2010  February 1, 2010 $25.00 24,000,000  14,085,782  352  352   352

A G  4.35% Series  A H  May 1, 2011 May 1, 2011 $25.00 22,000,000  10,051,751  251  251   251

A H  floating  Series  A G  May 1, 2011 At any time  $25.50 22,000,000  3,948,249  99  99   99

A I  4.65% Series  A J  August 1, 2011 August 1, 2011 $25.00 22,000,000  14,000,000  350  350   350

A J  floating  Series  A I  August 1, 2016 At any time  $25.50 22,000,000 – – – –

                        2,770 2,770 2,770

Capital Management

We have various capital policies, procedures and processes 
which are utilized to achieve our objectives for capital man-
agement. These include optimizing our cost of capital and 
maximizing shareholder return while balancing the interests 
of our stakeholders.

Our definition of capital includes shareholders’ equity, 
debt, and cash and cash equivalents.

In order to meet our objectives, we monitor our capital 
structure and make adjustments, including to our dividend 
policy, as required. In 2009, the board of directors of BCE Inc. 
approved increases in the annual dividend on BCE Inc.’s com-
mon shares as follows:

5%, from $1.46 per common share to $1.54 per common 
share in February 2009

5%, from $1.54 per common share to $1.62 per common 
share in August 2009

7%, from $1.62 per common share to $1.74 per common 
share in December 2009.

In addition, on December 17, 2009, BCE Inc. announced 
plans to repurchase up to $500 million of its outstanding 
common shares through a NCIB during 2010. 

The following table summarizes some of our key ratios 
used to monitor and manage Bell Canada’s capital structure.

AT DECEMBER 31  2009 (1)  2008 (1)

Net debt to EBITDA (earnings before 
 interest, tax, depreciation and 
 amortization of intangible assets)  
 including Bell Aliant distributions  
 to Bell (2) (3)  1.89 1.75

EBITDA to interest, securitization 
 costs and preferred dividends  8.79 8.33

(1) These ratios are calculated for BCE, excluding Bell Aliant.
(2) We define net debt as debt due within one year plus long-term debt,  

securitization of accounts receivable and preferred shares less cash and  
cash equivalents.

(3) EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure. It therefore is unlikely to be comparable  
to similar measures presented by other companies. We define EBITDA as  
operating revenues less cost of revenue and selling, general and adminis-
trative expenses. The most comparable Canadian GAAP financial measure is  
operating income.
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Bell Canada Plan of Arrangement 

On January 25, 2007, the articles of amalgamation of BCE Inc. 
were amended to create six new series of First Preferred 
Shares. These new series of preferred shares were created 
further to the Bell Canada plan of arrangement whereby all 
of the issued and outstanding or authorized Bell Canada 
Class A Preferred Shares Series 15, 16, 17, 18, 19 and 20, having 
a stated capital of $1,100 million at December 31, 2006, were 
exchanged for the corresponding Series AE, AF, AG, AH, AI 
and AJ of First Preferred Shares of BCE Inc. The impact on our 
balance sheet was a reclassification from our non-controlling 
interest to preferred shares of $1,100 million. The Bell Canada 
plan of arrangement became effective on January 31, 2007. 
The characteristics of the preferred shares of BCE Inc. are 
described below. 

Voting Rights

All of the issued and outstanding preferred shares at  
December 31, 2009 are non-voting, except under special  
circumstances, when the holders are entitled to one vote  
per share.

Entitlement to Dividends

Holders of Series R, T, Z, AA, AC, AF, AG and AI shares are 
entitled to fixed cumulative quarterly dividends. The dividend 
rate on these shares is reset every five years, as set out in 
BCE Inc.’s articles of amalgamation, as amended. 

Holders of Series S, Y, AB, AD, AE and AH shares are entitled 
to floating adjustable cumulative monthly dividends. The float-
ing dividend rate on these shares is calculated every month, 
as set out in BCE Inc.’s articles of amalgamation, as amended.

If Series Q and AJ shares are issued, their holders will be 
entitled to floating adjustable cumulative monthly dividends.

Conversion Features

All of the issued and outstanding preferred shares at Decem-
ber 31, 2009 are convertible at the holder’s option into 
another associated series of preferred shares on a one-for-
one basis according to the terms set out in BCE Inc.’s articles 
of amalgamation, as amended.

If Series Q and AJ shares are issued, their holders will be 
entitled to convert them on December 1, 2015 and August 1, 
2016, respectively.

Redemption Features

BCE Inc. may redeem each of Series R, T, Z, AA, AC, AF, AG and 
AI shares at $25.00 per share on the applicable redemption 
date and every five years after that date.

BCE Inc. may redeem Series S, Y, AB, AD, AE and AH shares 
at any time at $25.50 per share. 

If Series Q and AJ shares are issued, BCE Inc. may redeem 
them at any time at $25.50 per share.

Conversion of Preferred Shares

On February 1, 2010, 592,772 of BCE Inc.’s 14,085,782 Cumu-
lative Redeemable First Preferred Shares, Series AF (Series AF 
Preferred Shares) were converted, on a one-for-one basis, 
into Cumulative Redeemable First Preferred Shares, Series AE 
(Series AE Preferred Shares). In addition, on February 1, 2010, 
1,084,090 of BCE Inc.’s 1,914,218 Series AE Preferred Shares 
were converted, on a one-for-one basis, into series AF Pre-
ferred Shares. The balance of the Series AE and Series AF 
Preferred Shares that have not been converted remains 
outstanding.

The Series AE Preferred Shares will continue to pay a 
monthly floating adjustable cash dividend. For the five-year 
period beginning on February 1, 2010, the Series AF Preferred 
Shares will pay a quarterly fixed dividend based on the 
annual dividend rate of 4.541%. Dividends will be paid as and 
when declared by the board of directors of BCE Inc.

On March 1, 2008, 10,755,445 of BCE Inc.’s 20,000,000 
Cumulative Redeemable First Preferred Shares, Series AC 
(Series AC Preferred Shares) were converted, on a one-for-
one basis, into Cumulative Redeemable First Preferred Shares, 
Series AD (Series AD Preferred Shares). The balance of the 
Series AC Preferred Shares that has not been converted 
remains outstanding.

On December 1, 2007, 6,991,775 of BCE Inc.’s 8,852,620 
Cumulative Redeemable First Preferred Shares, Series Z 
(Series Z Preferred Shares) were converted, on a one-for-
one basis, into Cumulative Redeemable First Preferred Shares, 
Series Y (Series Y Preferred Shares). In addition, 12,825 of its 
1,147,380 Series Y Preferred Shares were converted, on a 
one-for-one basis, into Series Z Preferred Shares. The bal-
ance of the Series Y and Series Z Preferred Shares that have 
not been converted remains outstanding.

On September 1, 2007, 9,918,414 of BCE Inc.’s 20,000,000 
Cumulative Redeemable First Preferred Shares, Series AA 
(Series AA Preferred Shares) were converted, on a one-for-
one basis, into Cumulative Redeemable First Preferred Shares, 
Series AB (Series AB Preferred Shares). The balance of the 
Series AA Preferred Shares that has not been converted 
remains outstanding.

Common Shares and Class B Shares

BCE Inc.’s articles of amalgamation provide for an unlimited 
number of voting common shares and non-voting Class B 
shares. The common shares and the Class B shares rank 
equally in the payment of dividends and in the distribution of 
assets if BCE Inc. is liquidated, dissolved or wound up, after 
payments due to the holders of preferred shares.
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The following table provides details about the outstanding common shares of BCE Inc. No Class B shares were outstanding at 
December 31, 2009, 2008 or 2007.
 2009 2008 2007

      NUMBER STATED NUMBER STATED  NUMBER STATED  
     NOTE OF SHARES CAPITAL OF SHARES CAPITAL OF SHARES CAPITAL

Outstanding, beginning of year   803,056,958 13,525 805,264,816 13,536 807,643,941   13,487

Shares issued under employee  
 stock option plan (1) 21 130,471 2 1,785,142 56 4,994,073   172

Shares repurchased and cancelled   (36,007,000) (606) (3,993,000) (67) (7,373,198) (123)

Outstanding, end of year     767,180,429 12,921 803,056,958 13,525 805,264,816   13,536

(1) Includes a nil reclassification in 2009 ($6 million in 2008 and $19 million in 2007) from contributed surplus relating to the exercise of employees’ stock options. The cash 
inflows in respect of the employee stock option plan were $2 million in 2009, $50 million in 2008 and $153 million in 2007.

NCIB
 2008/2009 NCIB  2007 NCIB

 2009   2008    TOTAL    2007

     NUMBER TOTAL NUMBER TOTAL NUMBER TOTAL  NUMBER TOTAL  
AT DECEMBER 31 OF SHARES COST OF SHARES COST OF SHARES COST OF SHARES COST

Shares repurchased (millions) 32.5 808.0  7.5 178.0 40.0 986.0 7.4   227.0

Shares cancelled  (36.0) (894.0) (4.0) (92.0) (40.0) (986.0) (7.4) (227.0)

2010 NCIB program

On December 17, 2009, BCE Inc. announced its plan to repur-
chase up to $500 million of its outstanding common shares 
through a NCIB to be executed over the course of 2010. On 
the same date, the Toronto Stock Exchange approved the 
2010 NCIB program.

2008/2009 NCIB program

On December 12, 2008, BCE Inc. announced its plan to repur-
chase up to 5% of its outstanding common shares through a 
NCIB. On December 19, 2008, the Toronto Stock Exchange 
approved the 2008 NCIB program. 

In 2008, BCE Inc. repurchased a total of 7.5 million com-
mon shares, of which 4 million were cancelled, for a total cost 
of $92 million. Of the total cost, $67 million represents stated 
capital and $5 million represents the reduction of the con-
tributed surplus attributable to these common shares. The 
remaining $20 million was charged to the deficit.

In 2009, BCE Inc. repurchased a total of 32.5 million com-
mon shares and cancelled 36 million common shares for  
a total cost of $894 million. Of the total cost, $606 million 
represents stated capital and $44 million reduced the con-
tributed surplus attributable to these common shares. The 
remaining $244 million was charged to the deficit.

The total cost of the program was $986 million and the 
program was completed in May 2009.

2007 NCIB program

In December 2006, BCE Inc. announced its plan to renew its 
share repurchase program for an additional 12-month period 
to repurchase up to 5% of its outstanding common shares 
through a NCIB. Common share repurchases under the NCIB 
were suspended in the second quarter of 2007. Prior to the 

suspension, BCE Inc. repurchased a total of 7.4 million com-
mon shares in 2007, representing approximately 18% of the 
total common shares targeted for repurchase, for a total 
cash outlay of $227 million.

Of the total cash outlay, $123 million represents stated 
capital and represents the reduction of the total value of 
common shares, and $9 million represents the reduction of 
the contributed surplus attributable to these common shares. 
The remaining $95 million was charged to the deficit.

Dividend Reinvestment Plan

The dividend reinvestment plan allows eligible common 
shareholders to use their dividends to buy additional com-
mon shares. A trustee buys BCE Inc. common shares for the 
participants on the open market, by private purchase or from 
treasury. BCE Inc. determines the method the trustee uses  
to buy the shares.

 2009 2008 2007

Shares purchased  
 on open market 2,234,159 882,438 1,823,652

Cost    56 33 66

Contributed Surplus

The following table is a reconciliation of the contributed  
surplus balance during the year.

 2009 2008 2007

Balance at January 1 2,531 2,537  2,555

Repurchase of common  
 shares – NCIB (44) (5) (9) 

Other   3 (1) (9) 

Balance at December 31 2,490 2,531 2,537
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NOTE 21: STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS 

The following stock-based compensation amounts are included 
in the consolidated statements of operations as selling, gen-
eral and administrative expenses(1).

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2009 2008 2007

Employee savings plans  (37) (39) (42)

Stock options  (3) (6) (10)

Restricted share units (1)  (91) (36) (95)

Deferred share units  (3) (3) (4)

Deferred unit plan – Bell Aliant (8) (13) (8)

Total stock-based  
 compensation expense (2)  (142) (97) (159)

Income tax benefit arising from  
 stock-based compensation  41 25 47

    (101) (72) (112)

(1) The total 2008 expense includes $44 million recorded as restructuring and other.
(2) The cash outflows in respect of stock-based compensation plans were  

$46 million in 2009, $212 million in 2008 and $65 million in 2007. In 2008,  
$79 million relates to going-private costs.

Description of the Plans

ESPs

ESPs are designed to encourage employees of BCE Inc. and 
its participating subsidiaries to own shares of BCE Inc. Each 
year, employees can choose to have a certain percentage  
of their annual earnings withheld through regular payroll 
deductions in order to buy BCE Inc. common shares. In some 
cases, the employer will also contribute up to a maximum 
percentage of the employee’s annual earnings to the plan.

Each participating company decides on its maximum per-
centage. For Bell Canada, employees can contribute up to 12% 
of their annual earnings. Bell Canada contributes up to 2%.

The trustee of the ESPs buys BCE Inc. common shares for 
the participants on the open market, by private purchase or 
from treasury. BCE Inc. determines the method the trustee 
uses to buy the shares.

There were 26,242 employees participating in the plans at 
December 31, 2009. The total number of common shares 
bought for employees was 4,717,877 in 2009, 4,058,498 in 
2008 and 4,518,245 in 2007. At December 31, 2009, 13,513,812 
common shares were authorized for issuance under the ESPs.

Stock Options

Under BCE Inc.’s long-term incentive plans, BCE Inc. may 
grant options to key employees to buy BCE Inc. common 
shares. Prior to 2008, the subscription price was equal to the 
market value of the shares on the last trading day before the 
grant came into effect. To conform to current Toronto Stock 
Exchange requirements, since 2008 the subscription price of 
a grant is based on the higher of: (1) the volume-weighted 
average of the trading price on the trading day immediately 
prior to the effective date of the grant, and (2) the volume-
weighted average of the trading price for the last five con-
secutive trading days ending immediately on the trading day 
prior to the effective date of the grant. At December 31, 2009, 
30,364,994 common shares were authorized for issuance 
under these plans.

Most options granted from 2004 to 2006 were forfeited in 
2007 as the required vesting conditions were not met. 

Most options granted in March 2007 vest evenly over a 
four-year period of continuous employment from the date of 
grant, unless a special vesting period applies. Options granted 
in December 2008 vest fully after two years of continuous 
employment from the date of the grant. All options become 
exercisable when they vest and generally can be exercised 
for a period of up to six years from the date of grant. 

Special vesting provisions may apply if:
there is a change in control of BCE Inc. and the option 

holder’s employment ends 
the option holder is employed by a designated subsidiary 

of BCE Inc. and BCE Inc.’s ownership interest in that subsid-
iary falls below the percentage set out in the plan.
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The following table summarizes BCE Inc.’s outstanding stock options as at December 31, 2009.

    WEIGHTED  
    AVERAGE   WEIGHTED  
 NUMBER    GRANT DATE   AVERAGE 
 OF OPTIONS    FAIR VALUE ($)       EXERCISE PRICE ($)

     NON-   NON-  NON-
    NOTE VESTED VESTED TOTAL VESTED VESTED VESTED VESTED TOTAL

Outstanding, January 1, 2009    3,476,250 11,550,638 15,026,888 $4 $6 $29 $34 $33

Exercised (1)  20 – (130,471) (130,471) – $6 – $18 $18

Vested      (898,750) 898,750 – $4 $4 $31 $31 –

Forfeited  (77,500) (3,520,678) (3,598,178) $4 $6 $31 $36 $36

Outstanding, December 31, 2009 (2)  2,500,000 8,798,239 11,298,239 $4 $5 $28 $34 $32

(1) The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised was $1 million.
(2) The aggregate intrinsic values of options outstanding were $5 million for non-vested options and $3 million for vested options.

The following table provides additional information about BCE Inc.’s stock option plans at December 31, 2009.

  STOCK OPTIONS EXERCISABLE      STOCK OPTIONS OUTSTANDING

     WEIGHTED  WEIGHTED   WEIGHTED  WEIGHTED  
     AVERAGE  AVERAGE   AVERAGE AVERAGE 
RANGE OF   REMAINING  EXERCISE   REMAINING EXERCISE  
EXERCISE PRICES NUMBER LIFE PRICE ($) NUMBER LIFE  PRICE ($)

$20–$29  2,285,790 3.0 $28 3,075,790 3.5 $26

$30–$39  4,181,286 2.4 $33 5,891,286 2.6 $32

$40 or more 2,331,163 0.8 $41 2,331,163 0.8 $41

      8,798,239 2.1 $34 11,298,239 2.5 $32

As at December 31, 2009, the unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock options was $2 million to be recorded 
over a weighted average period of one year.

The following table summarizes stock options outstanding at December 31, 2008 and 2007.

    2008       2007

       WEIGHTED  WEIGHTED 
      AVERAGE  AVERAGE 
     NUMBER EXERCISE  NUMBER EXERCISE  
    NOTE OF OPTIONS PRICE ($) OF OPTIONS PRICE ($)

Outstanding, January 1      17,697,380   $33   24,241,848   $33 

Granted      790,000   $23   5,739,106   $31 

Exercised (1)  20 (1,785,142)  $28  (4,994,073)  $31 

Expired/forfeited     (1,675,350)  $34  (7,289,501)  $32 

Outstanding, December 31      15,026,888   $33   17,697,380   $33 

Exercisable, December 31      11,550,638   $34   11,502,280   $35 

(1) The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised was $16 million and $31 million in 2008 and 2007, respectively.

ASSUMPTIONS USED IN STOCK OPTION PRICING MODEL

The following table shows the weighted average assumptions used to determine the stock-based compensation expense using 
the Black-Scholes option pricing model in 2008 and 2007.
        2008 2007

Weighted average fair value per option granted ($)        3 4

Dividend yield        6.5% 4.4%

Expected volatility        30% 20%

Risk-free interest rate        1.9% 4.0%

Expected life (years)        3.5 4.5
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RSUs

The following table summarizes RSUs outstanding at Decem-
ber 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007.

 NUMBER OF RSUS

 2009(1) 2008 2007

Outstanding, January 1   5,033,924   633,143  2,985,035

Granted   2,282,755   5,033,924  56,465

Dividends credited   435,875   6,074  118,329

Payments  – (561,859) (141,983)

Forfeited  (537,216) (77,358) (97,248)

Cancelled as part of  
 the proposed  
 privatization  
 transaction  – – (2,287,455)

Outstanding, December 31   7,215,338  5,033,924 633,143

(1) All RSUs were non-vested at December 31, 2009.

RSUs are granted to executives and other key employees. 
The value of an RSU is equal to the value of one BCE Inc.  
common share. Dividends in the form of additional RSUs  
are credited to the participant’s account on each dividend 
payment date and are equivalent in value to the dividend 
paid on BCE Inc. common shares. Executives and other key 
employees are granted a specific number of RSUs for a given 
performance period based on their position and level of con-
tribution. Prior to 2008, most RSUs vested at the end of a 
performance period if performance objectives were met as 
determined by the board or were forfeited. 

Most of the outstanding RSUs vest in December 2010, pro-
vided that the holder is employed by Bell Canada or one of 
its subsidiaries at that time. Vested RSUs are paid in cash, 
except for those of executives, who can choose from cash, 
BCE Inc. common shares purchased on the open market, 
DSUs or through a combination of each, as long as individual 
share ownership requirements are met. Special vesting provi-
sions apply if there is a change in control. At December 31, 
2009, the unrecognized compensation cost related to RSUs 
was $92 million.

As a result of the proposed privatization transaction, in 2007 
the board approved the implementation of a retention policy, 
in lieu of the RSU plan. RSUs held by executives who became 
eligible to a retention incentive were forfeited in 2007. Reten-
tion payments were paid in 2008 and were greater than  
the value of the original RSUs. The difference between what 
would have been paid under the original RSU plan and what 
was paid under the retention policy was expensed as restruc-
turing and other over the retention period. 

DSUs

Eligible bonuses may be paid in the form of DSUs when exec-
utives or other key employees elect to or are required  
to participate in the plan. For non-management directors, 
their compensation is paid in DSUs until the minimum share 
ownership requirement is met or as elected by the directors 
thereafter.

The value of a DSU is equal to the value of one BCE Inc. 
common share. Dividends in the form of additional DSUs are 
credited to the participant’s account on each dividend pay-
ment date and are equivalent in value to the dividends paid 
on BCE Inc. common shares.

DSUs are paid in BCE Inc. common shares purchased on 
the open market following the cessation of a participant’s 
employment or when a director leaves the board.

The following table is a summary of the status of DSUs.

 NUMBER OF DSUS

 2009(1) 2008 2007

Outstanding, January 1  1,098,978 1,538,640 1,287,422

Issued  337,478 72,880 408,341

Dividends credited  76,652 29,946 58,543

Payments   (329,413)  (542,488)  (215,666)

Outstanding, December 31  1,183,695 1,098,978 1,538,640

(1) All DSUs were fully vested at December 31, 2009.

SCPs

Prior to 2000, when BCE Inc. granted options to executives 
and other key employees, related rights to SCPs were also 
often granted. SCPs are cash payments representing the 
amount that the market value of the shares on the date of 
exercise of the related options exceeds the exercise price of 
those options. 

When the distribution of Nortel Networks Inc. (Nortel) com-
mon shares was made in 2000, the outstanding options were 
cancelled and replaced with options to buy BCE Inc. common 
shares and options to buy Nortel common shares. The related 
SCPs were adjusted accordingly. All SCPs expired or were 
paid during 2009.
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NOTE 22: ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

The following table summarizes the changes in the balance of each classification within accumulated other comprehensive 
income (loss).
    AVAILABLE- DERIVATIVES  ACCUMULATED
    FOR-SALE DESIGNATED CUMULATIVE OTHER 
    FINANCIAL AS CASH FLOW TRANSLATION COMPREHENSIVE 
    ASSETS HEDGES ADJUSTMENT INCOME (LOSS)

Balance in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)  
 at January 1, 2008 74  (2) (4) 68

Details of other comprehensive income (net of non-controlling interest)

  Unrealized (losses) gains  (159)  16 2 (141) 

  Income taxes on unrealized (losses) gains – (1)  – (1)

  Reclassification adjustments included in earnings 74 (15)  – 59

  Income taxes on reclassification adjustments included in earnings 52 2 – 54

Other comprehensive (loss) income for the year ended December 31, 2008  (33)  2 2 (29)

Balance in accumulated other comprehensive  
 income (loss) at December 31, 2008 41 – (2) 39

Details of other comprehensive income (net of non-controlling interest) 

 Unrealized gains (losses) 106 (25) – 81

 Income taxes on unrealized gains (losses) – 6 – 6

 Reclassification adjustments included in earnings  (24) (12) – (36)

 Income taxes on reclassification adjustments included in earnings  – 2 – 2

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2009 82 (29) – 53

Balance in accumulated other comprehensive  
 income (loss) at December 31, 2009 123 (29) (2) 92

In 2009, we received proceeds of $109 million on sales of AFS financial assets and realized a pre-tax gain of $35 million. We used 
the average cost method in determining the gain. 

The estimated net amount of existing gains and losses reported in accumulated other comprehensive income that is expected 
to be reclassified to earnings within the next 12 months as a result of 2010 cash flow hedges maturing is a pre-tax loss of  
$33 million.
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NOTE 23: EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS 

We provide pension and other post-employment benefits for most of our employees. These include DB pension plans and  
DC pension plans.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31      2009 2008 2007

Pension benefits

 DB plans cost      (239) (102)  (263)

 DC plans cost      (45) (45)  (38)

Other future benefits cost      (71) (103)  (109)

Net benefit plans cost (1)      (355) (250)  (410)

(1) Net benefit plans cost is included as part of selling, general and administrative expenses in the statement of operations.

Components of DB Plans Cost

The following table shows the DB plans cost before and after recognizing its long-term nature. The recognized net benefit plans 
cost reflects the amount reported in our statements of operations and is calculated according to our accounting policy.

 PENSION BENEFITS       OTHER BENEFITS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31   2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 

Current service cost    (175) (252) (278) (7) (11) (11)

Interest cost on accrued benefit obligation    (892) (864) (858) (99) (99) (97)

Actual return (loss) on plan assets    1,566 (2,610) 566 28 (6) 3

Past service credits arising during period    – – 58 – – 345

Actuarial (loss) gain on accrued benefit obligation    (1,043) 2,295 741 (94) 323 56

Elements of employee future benefit plans (cost)  
 before recognizing its long-term nature    (544) (1,431) 229 (172)  207  296

(Excess) deficiency of actual return over expected return (1)   (685) 3,634 462 (16) 18 9

Deferral of amounts arising during period 

 Past service credits    – – (58) – – (345)

 Actuarial loss (gain) on accrued benefit obligation    1,043 (2,295) (741) 94 (323) (56)

Amortization of previously deferred amounts 

 Net past service (costs) credits    (5) (5) (13) 27 28 27

 Net actuarial losses    (84) (29) (120) (3) (32) (38)

 Transitional asset (obligation)    3 3 6 (1) (1) (2)

Adjustments to recognize long-term nature of employee  
 future benefit plans cost    272  1,308  (464) 101 (310) (405)

Decrease (increase) in valuation allowance    33 19 (28) – – –

Other     – 2 – – –  –

DB plans cost, recognized    (239) (102) (263) (71) (103) (109)

(1) The expected return on plan assets for a given year is calculated based on the market-related value of plan assets at the beginning of that year. The market-related 
value of pension plan assets was $12,612 million at January 1, 2009, $14,775 million at January 1, 2008 and $14,269 million at January 1, 2007.
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Components of Accrued Benefit Asset (Liability)

The following table shows the change in benefit obligations, change in fair value of plan assets and the funded status of the  
DB plans.
    PENSION BENEFITS       OTHER BENEFITS

AT DECEMBER 31 2009 2008 2009 2008 

Accrued benefit obligation, beginning of the year  (13,602) (15,690) (1,518) (1,827)

 Current service cost  (175) (252) (7) (11)

 Interest cost on accrued benefit obligation  (892) (864) (99) (99)

 Actuarial (loss) gain on accrued benefit obligation  (1,043) 2,295 (94) 323

 Benefit payments  1,038 915 96 96

 Employee contributions  (6) (6) –  –

Accrued benefit obligation, end of the year  (14,680) (13,602) (1,622) (1,518)

Fair value of plan assets, beginning of the year  11,510 14,841 163 169

 Actual return (loss) on plan assets  1,566 (2,610) 28 (6)

 Benefit payments  (1,038) (915) (96) (96)

 Employer contributions 1,025 189 96 96

 Employee contributions  6 6 –  –

 Transfers to DC pension plans  – (1) –  –

Fair value of plan assets, end of the year  13,069 11,510 191 163

Plan (deficit) surplus  (1,611) (2,092) (1,431) (1,355)

Unamortized net actuarial losses  3,358 3,153 144 72

Unamortized net past service costs (credits)  56 62 (120) (163)

Unamortized transitional obligation (asset)   1 (1) 3 3

Valuation allowance  (100) (133) –  –

Accrued benefit asset (liability), end of the year  1,704 989 (1,404) (1,443)

Accrued benefit asset included in other long-term assets  2,316 1,636 – –

Accrued benefit liability included in other long-term liabilities  (612) (647) (1,404) (1,443)

For DB pension plans with an accrued benefit obligation that 
was more than plan assets: 

the accrued benefit obligation was $14,553 million at 
December 31, 2009 and $13,455 million at December 31, 2008. 

the fair value of plan assets was $12,811 million at Decem-
ber 31, 2009 and $11,276 million at December 31, 2008.

For DB pension plans with an accrued benefit obligation that 
was less than plan assets: 

the accrued benefit obligation was $127 million at Decem-
ber 31, 2009 and $147 million at December 31, 2008

the fair value of plan assets was $258 million at December 31, 
2009 and $234 million at December 31, 2008.
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Significant Assumptions

We used the following key assumptions to measure the accrued benefit obligation and the net benefit plans cost for the DB 
pension plans and plans that provide other employee future benefits. These assumptions are long-term, which is consistent with 
the nature of employee benefit plans.
 PENSION BENEFITS       OTHER BENEFITS

      2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 

At December 31

Accrued benefit obligation

 Discount rate, end of year   6.4% 7.0% 5.6% 6.4% 7.0% 5.6%

 Rate of compensation increase, end of year   3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%

For the year ended December 31

Net benefit plans cost

 Discount rate, end of preceding year   7.0% 5.6% 5.3% 7.0% 5.6% 5.3%

 Expected return on plan assets, end of preceding year  7.25% 7.25% 7.5% 7.25% 7.25% 7.5%

 Rate of compensation increase, end of preceding year  3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%

We assumed the following trend rates in healthcare costs: 
an annual rate of increase of 4.5% in the cost per person  

of covered healthcare benefits for 2009 and the foresee-
able future 

an annual rate of increase in the cost of medication:
 –  for retirees under age 65 of 7.0% for 2009 with a gradual 

decline to 4.5% over ten years
 – for retirees over age 65 of 4.5%. 

Assumed trend rates in healthcare costs have a significant 
effect on the amounts reported for the healthcare plans. The 
following table, for example, shows the effect of a 1% change 
in the assumed trend rates in healthcare costs.

  1% INCREASE 1% DECREASE

Effect on other benefits –  
 total service and interest cost  7 (7)

Effect on other benefits –  
 accrued obligation  120 (104)

Pension Plan Assets

The investment strategy for the major pension plans is to maintain a diversified portfolio of assets, invested in a prudent manner 
to maintain the security of funds while taking into account the liability structure of the pension plan and maximizing returns 
within our guidelines. The expected rate of return assumption is based on our target asset allocation policy and the expected 
future rates of return on these assets. 

The following table shows the allocation of our pension plan assets at December 31, 2009 and 2008, target allocations for 
2009 and the expected long-term rate of return by asset class.
    WEIGHTED  
 WEIGHTED    AVERAGE  
 AVERAGE   EXPECTED  
 TARGET PERCENTAGE OF PLAN ASSETS FAIR VALUE OF PLAN ASSETS  LONG-TERM  
 ALLOCATION  AT DECEMBER 31  AT DECEMBER 31   RATE OF RETURN

ASSET CATEGORY 2009 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009

Equity securities 35%–55% 44% 56% 5,789 6,423 9.0%

Debt securities 45%–65% 56% 44% 7,280 5,087 5.1%

Total/average  100% 100% 13,069 11,510 7.2%

Equity securities included approximately $34 million of BCE Inc. 
common shares and Bell Aliant units, or 0.3% of total plan 
assets at December 31, 2009, and approximately $43 million 
of BCE Inc. common shares and Bell Aliant units, or 0.4% of 
total plan assets at December 31, 2008. 

At December 31, 2009, the amount of BCE Inc. and affiliates’ 
debentures included in debt securities was not significant. At 
December 31, 2008, debt securities included approximately 
$5 million of BCE Inc. and affiliates’ debentures or 0.1% of total 
plan assets at December 31, 2008.

Estimated Future Benefit Payments

The following table shows the estimated future payments to 
pensioners for the next ten years at December 31, 2009.

  PENSION OTHER 
  BENEFITS BENEFITS

2010  (969) (100)

2011  (991) (109)

2012  (1,012) (113)

2013  (1,034) (117)

2014  (1,058) (121)

2015–2019  (5,665) (659)

Total estimated future benefit payments   (10,729) (1,219)
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The following table shows the amounts we contributed to the DB and DC pension plans and the payments made to beneficiaries 
under other employee future benefit plans.
 PENSION BENEFITS       OTHER BENEFITS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31   2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 

Bell Canada (1)   (933) (120) (168) (88) (89)  (89)

Bell Aliant   (135) (112) (97) (8) (7)  (7)

Total       (1,068) (232) (265) (96) (96)  (96)

Comprised of:

 Contributions to DB plans (1)   (1,025) (189) (232) (96) (96)  (96)

 Contributions to DC plans   (43) (43) (33) – –  –

(1) Included in 2009 is a $500 million voluntary pension contribution.

We expect to contribute approximately $520 million to all of our DB pension plans in 2010, subject to actuarial valuations being 
completed. We expect to pay approximately $100 million to beneficiaries under other employee benefit plans in 2010. We expect 
to contribute approximately $50 million to the DC pension plans in 2010.

NOTE 24: COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Contractual Obligations

The following table is a summary of our contractual obligations at December 31, 2009 that are due in each of the next five years 
and thereafter.
       THERE- 
  2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 AFTER TOTAL

Operating leases   215 185 154 139 127 686 1,506

Commitments for capital expenditures   78 56 98 88 82 826 1,228

Purchase obligations   1,364 994 696 360 350  887  4,651

Total    1,657 1,235 948 587 559 2,399 7,385

Rental expense relating to operating leases was $236 million 
in 2009, $233 million in 2008 and $260 million in 2007.

Purchase obligations consist mainly of contractual obliga-
tions under service contracts. Our commitments for capital 
expenditures include investments to expand and update our 
networks, and to meet customer demand.

Refer to Note 3, Restructuring and Other, for commitments 
to relocate employees to campus environments.

At December 31, 2009, we had other long-term liabilities that 
are not included in the table, including an accrued employee 
benefit liability, future income tax liabilities, deferred revenue 
and gains on assets and various other long-term liabilities.

The accrued employee benefit liability and future income 
tax liabilities are excluded as we cannot accurately deter-
mine the timing and cash requirements as:

future contributions to the pension plans depend largely 
on how well they are funded. This varies based on the results 
of actuarial valuations that are performed periodically and 
on the investment performance of the pension fund assets.

future payments of income taxes depend on the amount of 
taxable earnings and on whether there are tax loss carryfor-
wards available to reduce income tax liabilities. 

Deferred revenue and gains on assets are excluded as they 
do not represent future cash payments.

Cash Flows

We are responsible for adequately funding our DB pension 
plans. We make contributions to them based on various  
actuarial cost methods that are permitted by pension regula-
tory bodies. Contributions reflect actuarial assumptions about 

future investment returns, salary projections and future ser-
vice benefits.

We contribute to the DC pension plans as employees pro-
vide service. 
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Litigation

We become involved in various claims and litigation as a  
part of our business. This section describes important legal 
proceedings. While we cannot predict the final outcome of 
the claims and litigation described below or of any other 
claims and litigation pending at December 31, 2009, based  
on the information currently available and management’s 
assessment of the merits of such claims and litigation, man-
agement believes that the resolution of these claims and liti-
gation will not have a material and negative effect on our 
consolidated financial position or results of operations. We 
believe that we have strong defences and we intend to vig-
orously defend our position.

Teleglobe Lending Syndicate Lawsuit

On July 12, 2002, certain members of the Teleglobe Inc. and 
Teleglobe Holdings (U.S.) Corporation (collectively, Teleglobe) 
lending syndicate filed a lawsuit against BCE Inc. in the Ontario 
Superior Court of Justice. The lawsuit includes several allega-
tions, including that BCE Inc. made a legal commitment to 
repay the advances the plaintiffs made as members of the 
lending syndicate, and that the Court should disregard Tele-
globe Inc. as a corporate entity and hold BCE Inc. responsible 
to repay the advances as Teleglobe’s alter ego. 

On November 2, 2004, Canadian Imperial Bank of Com-
merce and Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce, N.Y. Agency 
withdrew from the lawsuit and on May 3, 2005, BNP Paribas 
(Canada) also withdrew from this lawsuit. BNP Paribas  
(Canada), which had advanced US$50 million to Teleglobe, is 
now pursuing a separate action against BCE Inc. and former 
Teleglobe directors and officers. The remaining plaintiffs 
claim damages of US$1.04 billion, plus interest and costs. This 
represents approximately 83% of the US$1.25 billion that the 
lending syndicate advanced to Teleglobe.

Kroll Restructuring Lawsuit

On February 26, 2003, a lawsuit was filed in the Ontario 
Superior Court of Justice by Kroll Restructuring Ltd., in its 
capacity as interim receiver of Teleglobe Inc., against five 
former directors of Teleglobe Inc. This lawsuit was filed in 
connection with Teleglobe Inc.’s redemption of its third series 
preferred shares in April 2001 and the retraction of its fifth 
series preferred shares in March 2001.

The plaintiff is seeking a declaration that such redemption 
and retraction were prohibited under the Canada Business 
Corporations Act and that the five former directors should  
be held jointly and severally liable to restore to Teleglobe Inc. 
all amounts paid or distributed on such redemption and 
retraction, being an aggregate of approximately $661 million, 
plus interest.

On February 26, 2007, the five former directors filed a 
third-party claim in the Ontario Superior Court of Justice 
against the former third series preferred shareholders of 
Teleglobe Inc. As provided by the Canada Business Corpora-
tions Act, the third party claim seeks to recover from those 
former third series preferred shareholders any amounts the 
former directors may have to restore to Teleglobe Inc. as a 
result of this lawsuit, on account of the redemption of the 
third series preferred shares. 

While BCE Inc. is not a defendant in this lawsuit, Teleglobe 
Inc. was at the relevant time a subsidiary of BCE Inc. Pursuant 
to standard policies and subject to applicable law, the five 
former Teleglobe Inc. directors are entitled to seek indemni-
fication from BCE Inc. in connection with this lawsuit.

Teleglobe Inc. Unsecured Creditors Lawsuit

On May 26, 2004, a lawsuit was filed in the United States 
Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware. The lawsuit  
is against BCE Inc. and ten former directors and officers  
of Teleglobe Inc. and certain of its subsidiaries. The plaintiffs 
are comprised of Teleglobe Communications Corporation, 
certain of its affiliated debtors and debtors in possession, 
and the Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors of these 
debtors. The lawsuit alleges breach of an alleged funding 
commitment of BCE Inc. towards the debtors, misrepresenta-
tion by BCE Inc. and breach and aiding and abetting breaches 
of fiduciary duty by the defendants. The plaintiffs seek an 
unspecified amount of damages against the defendants.

On June 19, 2009, BCE Inc. and the individual defendants 
filed a motion for summary judgment regarding all claims, 
which motion is still pending.

Teleglobe Inc. Plan Administrator Lawsuit

On November 16, 2005, Kathy Morgan, in her capacity as 
plan administrator for Teleglobe Inc., filed a lawsuit in the 
Ontario Superior Court of Justice against BCE Inc. and seven 
former directors of Teleglobe Inc. The plaintiff is seeking a 
declaration that Teleglobe Inc. and its creditors have been 
oppressed by the former directors of Teleglobe Inc. and by 
BCE Inc. within the meaning of the Canada Business Corpo-
rations Act. The plaintiff is also seeking a declaration that the 
former directors of Teleglobe Inc. breached their fiduciary 
duty to Teleglobe Inc. and failed to act in accordance with 
the standard of care prescribed under the Canada Business 
Corporations Act.

The plaintiff is seeking compensation for oppression in the 
amount of $3 billion and damages for breach of fiduciary 
duty in the amount of $3 billion, in each case plus interest 
and costs.
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Class Action Concerning Bell Canada and  
Bell Mobility Inc. (Bell Mobility) Late Payment Charges

On June 27, 2006, a motion to obtain the authorization to 
institute a class action was filed in the Québec Superior Court 
against Bell Canada and Bell Mobility on behalf of all physi-
cal persons and companies in Canada who were billed late 
payment charges despite having allegedly paid on time. On 
Sep tember 28, 2007, the plaintiffs filed an amended motion 
to reduce the classes to Québec customers only. 

On January 10, 2008, the Québec Superior Court granted 
the plaintiffs’ motion to be authorized to institute the class 
action and determined that members of the classes are all 
physical persons and companies in Québec, of 50 employees 

or less, who had been billed late payment charges since  
June 21, 2003 after allegedly having made full payment of 
amounts owing to Bell Canada and/or Bell Mobility to a 
financial institution and/or, for Bell Mobility’s customers only, 
by cheque, within the payment period indicated on their bills. 
The class action seeks an order requiring Bell Canada and 
Bell Mobility to repay all late payment charges to the mem-
bers of the classes. In addition to the reimbursement of such 
amounts, the class action also seeks payment of punitive 
damages by Bell Canada and Bell Mobility. 

On April 11, 2008, the plaintiffs filed their motion to institute 
the class action.

The following table represents guarantees that BCE has entered into that have a fixed maximum potential exposure, and their 
respective terms. BCE also has guarantees where no maximum potential amount is specified.

       INDEFI- 
  2010 2011 2012 2013 2014+ NITE TOTAL

Sale of assets and businesses    45   1  –  1  –  1,601  1,648

Sale of services   – –  75  –  40   5  120

Purchase and development of assets    1  – – – –  3  4

Other     6   7   4   4   27   9  57

Total    52 8 79 5 67  1,618   1,829 

NOTE 25: GUARANTEES 

As a regular part of our business, we enter into agreements 
that provide for indemnifications and guarantees to counter-
parties that may require us to pay for costs and losses 
incurred in various types of transactions. We cannot reason-
ably estimate the maximum potential amount we could be 
required to pay counterparties. While some of the agreements 

specify a maximum potential exposure, many do not specify 
a maximum amount or limited period. The amount also depends 
on the outcome of future events and conditions, which cannot 
be predicted. Historically, we have not made any significant 
payments under these indemnifications or guarantees.

Sale of Assets and Businesses

As part of transactions involving business dispositions and 
sales of assets, we may be required to pay counterparties  
for costs and losses incurred as a result of breaches of rep-
resentations and warranties, losses or damages to property, 
environmental liabilities, changes in or in the interpretation  
of laws and regulations (including tax legislation), valuation 
differences, earn-out guarantees if the disposed business 
does not meet specific targets, contingent liabilities of a dis-
posed business, or reassessments of previous tax filings of 
the corporation that carries on the business.

A nominal amount has been accrued in the consolidated 
balance sheet relating to this type of indemnification or 
guarantee at December 31, 2009. Historically, we have not 
made any significant payments under this type of indemnifi-
cation or guarantee.

Sale of Services

In transactions involving sales of services, we may be required 
to pay counterparties for costs and losses incurred as a 
result of breaches of representations and warranties, or 
changes in or in the interpretation of laws and regulations 
(including tax legislation).

No amount has been accrued in the consolidated balance 
sheet relating to this type of indemnification or guarantee at 
December 31, 2009. Historically, we have not made any signifi-
cant payments under such indemnifications or guarantees.



122  BCE INC. 2009 ANNUAL REPORT

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 26: SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE FOR STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31      2009 2008 2007

Cash from (used in) non-cash operating assets and liabilities is as follows:

 Accounts receivable       124 52 53

 Inventory      (149) (40) 51

 Prepaid expenses      (1) 25 (72)

 Other current assets      (104) – (5)

 Other long-term assets       (52) 86 (75)

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities       9 263 127

 Interest payable       (24) (6) (22)

 Other long-term liabilities       141 (29) (16)

 Other       96 13 (44)

Total cash from (used in) non-cash operating assets and liabilities      40 364 (3)

Purchase and Development of Assets

As part of transactions involving purchases and development 
of assets, we may be required to pay counterparties for 
costs and losses incurred as a result of breaches of represen-
tations and warranties, losses of or damages to property, or 
changes in or in the interpretation of laws and regulations 
(including tax legislation).

No amount has been accrued in the consolidated balance 
sheet relating to this type of indemnification or guarantee at 
December 31, 2009. Historically, we have not made any signifi-
 cant payments under such indemnifications or guarantees.

Other Transactions

As part of other transactions, we may be required to pay 
counterparties for costs and losses incurred as a result of 
breaches of representations and warranties, losses of or 
damages to property, or changes in or in the interpretation 
of laws and regulations (including tax legislation).

No amount has been accrued in the consolidated balance 
sheet relating to this type of indemnification or guarantee at 
December 31, 2009. Historically, we have not made any signifi-
cant payments under such indemnifications or guarantees.
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Glossary

Adjusted EPS 

This is earnings per share before restructuring and other and 
net (gains) losses on investments.

ARPU

Average revenue per unit expressed as a rate per month for 
the year.

Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model

The Black-Scholes option pricing model is the financial model 
we use to calculate the weighted-average fair value of a 
stock option granted using four key assumptions: stock divi-
dend yield, expected stock volatility, risk-free interest rate 
and expected life of the stock option.

Book Value Per Share

This is common shareholders’ equity divided by the number 
of common shares outstanding.

Capital Intensity

This is capital expenditures divided by operating revenues.

Churn

This is the rate at which existing subscribers cancel their  
services. Churn is calculated as the number of subscribers 
disconnected divided by the average subscriber base.

Common Dividend Payout Ratio

Dividends paid on common shares divided by net earnings 
applicable to common shares.

Common Dividend Yield 

Dividends paid on common shares divided by BCE Inc.’s share 
price at the end of the year multiplied by the number of com-
mon shares outstanding.

Cost of Acquisition (COA)

COA is also referred to as subscriber acquisition costs. This 
measure is expressed per gross activation. It includes costs 
associated with acquiring a customer such as hardware  
subsidies, marketing and distribution costs.

Curtailment

A curtailment is a significant reduction in plan benefits that 
can result when a defined benefit pension plan is amended or 
restructured. Types of curtailments include a reduction in the 
expected number of years of future service of active employ-
ees or the elimination of the right to earn defined benefits for 
some or all of the future service of employees.

EBITDA

We define EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depre-
ciation and amortization of intangible assets) as operating 
revenues less cost of revenue and selling, general and admin-
istrative expenses, meaning it represents operating income 
before depreciation, amortization of intangible assets and 
restructuring and other.

EBITDA Margin

This is EBITDA divided by operating revenues.

Free Cash Flow

We define free cash flow as cash flows from operating activi-
ties and distributions received from Bell Aliant less capital 
expenditures, preferred share dividends, dividends/distribu-
tions paid by subsidiaries to non-controlling interest, other 
investing activ ities and Bell Aliant free cash flow.

Goodwill

Goodwill may be created when we acquire a business. It is 
cal culated by deducting the fair value of the net assets 
acquired from the consideration given and represents the 
value of factors that contribute to greater earning power, 
such as a good reputation, customer loyalty or intellectual 
capital.

Long-Term Debt to Total Shareholders’ Equity 

This is long-term debt (including any portion due within one 
year) divided by shareholders’ equity.

Market Capitalization 

This is BCE Inc.’s share price at the end of the year multiplied 
by the number of common shares outstanding.

Operating Margin

Operating income divided by operating revenues.

Price to Book Ratio 

BCE Inc.’s share price at the end of the year divided by the 
book value per share.

Price to Cash Flow Ratio 

BCE Inc.’s share price at the end of the year divided by the 
cash flow per share. Cash flow per share is cash flow from 
operating activities less capital expenditures divided by the 
average number of common shares outstanding.

Price to Earnings Ratio

BCE Inc.’s share price at the end of the year divided by earn-
ings per share.

Return on Equity 

Return on common shareholders’ equity is net earnings avail-
able to common shares as a percentage of average common 
shareholders’ equity.

Total Debt to Total Assets 

Total long-term debt (including debt due within one year) 
divided by total assets.
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Board of Directors

Thomas C. O’Neill, FCA

Ontario, Canada 
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BCE Inc. and Bell Canada
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January 2003

Barry K. Allen

Wisconsin, United States
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Providence Equity Partners
Director since  
May 2009

André Bérard, O.C.

Québec, Canada 
Corporate Director 
Director since  
January 2003

Ronald A. Brenneman

Alberta, Canada
Corporate Director
Director since  
November 2003

Robert E. Brown

Québec, Canada
Corporate Director
Director since  
May 2009

George A. Cope

Ontario, Canada
President and Chief 
Executive Officer, 
BCE Inc. and Bell Canada
Director since  
July 2008

Anthony S. Fell, O.C.

Ontario, Canada
Corporate Director 
Director since  
January 2002

Donna Soble Kaufman

Ontario, Canada
Corporate Director 
Director since  
June 1998

Brian M. Levitt

Québec, Canada 
Partner and Co-Chair, 
Osler, Hoskin &  
Harcourt LLP 
Director since  
May 1998

The Honourable 

Edward C. Lumley, P.C.

Ontario, Canada
Vice-Chairman, 
BMO Nesbitt Burns Inc. 
Director since  
January 2003

Paul M. Tellier, P.C., C.C., Q.C.

Québec, Canada 
Corporate Director 
Director since  
April 1999

Paul R. Weiss, F.C.A.

Ontario, Canada
Corporate Director
Director since  
May 2009

Victor L. Young, O.C.

Newfoundland and  
Labrador, Canada
Corporate Director 
Director since  
May 1995

At March 11, 2010

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE (CGC)

R.E. Brown (Chair), B.K. Allen, A. Bérard, D. Soble Kaufman

The CGC assists the board in:

 developing and implementing BCE Inc.’s corporate gover-
nance guidelines
 identifying individuals qualified to become members of  
the board
 determining the composition of the board and its 
committees 
 determining the directors’ remuneration for board and 
committee service 
 developing and overseeing a process to assess the Chair  
of the board, the board, committees of the board, Chairs of 
committees and individual directors 
 reviewing and recommending for board approval BCE Inc.’s 
policies concerning business conduct, ethics, public disclosure 
of material information and other matters.

MANAGEMENT RESOURCES AND COMPENSATION  

COMMITTEE (MRCC)

B.M. Levitt (Chair), B.K. Allen, R.A. Brenneman, A.S. Fell

The MRCC assists the board in the oversight of the:

 compensation, nomination, evaluation and succession of 
officers and other management personnel 
 health and safety policies and practices.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

P.R. Weiss (Chair), A. Bérard, A.S. Fell, V.L. Young

The audit committee assists the board in the oversight of:

 the integrity of BCE Inc.’s financial statements and related 
information
 BCE Inc.’s compliance with applicable legal and regulatory 
requirements
 the independence, qualifications and appointment of the 
exter nal auditor
 the performance of both the external and internal auditors
 management’s responsibility for assessing and reporting 
on the effectiveness of internal controls and reporting  
on risk management.

PENSION FUND COMMITTEE (PFC)

P.M. Tellier (Chair), R.E. Brown, E.C. Lumley, P.R. Weiss, V.L. Young 

The PFC assists the board in the oversight of:

 the administration, funding and investment of BCE Inc.’s 
pension plans and fund
 the unitized pooled fund sponsored by BCE Inc. for the  
collective in vest ment of the fund and the participant subsid-
iaries’ pension funds.

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD

Members of Committees of the Board
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George A. Cope

President and Chief 
Executive Officer, 
BCE Inc.  
and Bell Canada 

J. Trevor Anderson

Executive Vice-President –  
Network, Bell Canada

Stéphane Boisvert

President – Bell Business 
Markets, Bell Canada

Charles W. Brown

Executive Vice-President –  
Strategic Initiatives,  
Bell Canada

Michael Cole

Executive Vice-President 
and Chief Information 
Officer, Bell Canada

Kevin W. Crull

President – Residential 
Services, Bell Canada

Wade Oosterman

President – Bell Mobility  
and Chief Brand Officer,  
Bell Canada

John Sweeney

President – Wholesale,  
Bell Canada

Mary Ann Turcke

Executive Vice-President – 
Field Services,  
Bell Canada

Martine Turcotte

Executive Vice-President 
and Chief Legal and 
Regulatory Officer,  
BCE Inc. and Bell Canada

Siim A. Vanaselja

Executive Vice-President 
and Chief Financial Officer, 
BCE Inc. and Bell Canada

David D. Wells

Executive Vice-President –  
Corporate Services,  
BCE Inc. and Bell Canada

Executives
At March 11, 2010
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SHARE FACTS

SYMBOL

BCE

LISTINGS

TSX and NYSE stock exchanges –
you will find a summary of the differences between our gov-
ernance practices and the NYSE corporate governance rules 
in the governance section of our website at www.bce.ca.

COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING

767,180,429 at December 31, 2009

QUARTERLY DIVIDEND*

$0.435 per common share

2010 DIVIDEND SCHEDULE*

Record Date  Payment Date
March 15, 2010  April 15, 2010
June 15, 2010  July 15, 2010
September 15, 2010  October 15, 2010
December 15, 2010  January 15, 2011

* Subject to dividends being declared by the board of directors

2010 QUARTERLY EARNINGS RELEASE DATES

First quarter  May 6, 2010
Second quarter  August 5, 2010
Third quarter November 4, 2010
Fourth quarter  February 10, 2011

Quarterly and annual reports as well as other corporate 
docu ments can be found on our website. If you wish to be 
notified electronically when documents are posted, register 
online at www.bce.ca for our e-mail alerts.

Corporate documents can also be requested from the 
Investor Relations group.

Shareholder Information – Tax Information

TAX INFORMATION

DIVIDENDS AND CAPITAL GAINS ON YOUR SHARES

Shareholders are required to pay tax on dividends as well as 
any capital gains they realize when they sell their shares or 
are deemed to have sold them. If you received Nortel Networks 
common shares in May 2000 and/or Bell Aliant Regional 
Communications Income Fund units in July 2006, you should 
contact BCE Inc.’s Investor Relations group to learn more on 
the tax implications impact on your cost or visit www.bce.ca.

Since January 1, 2006 and unless stated otherwise, divi-
dends paid by BCE Inc. to Canadian residents are eligible 
dividends as per the Canadian Income Tax Act. Since March 24, 
2006 and unless stated otherwise, dividends paid by BCE Inc. 
to Québec residents also qualify as eligible dividends.

FOREIGN INVESTORS

Dividends paid or credited to non-residents of Canada are 
subject to a 25% withholding tax unless reduced by treaty. 
Under current tax treaties, U.S. and U.K. residents are subject 
to a 15% withholding tax.

U.S. INVESTORS

We are required to solicit taxpayer identification numbers 
(TIN) and Internal Revenue Service (IRS) Form W-9 certi-
fications of residency from certain U.S. investors. Where 
these have not been received, we may be required to deduct 
the IRS’s specified backup withholding tax. For additional infor-
mation, please contact BCE Inc.’s Investor Relations group or 
the transfer agent, Computershare Trust Company of Canada.

NORMAL COURSE ISSUER BID

On December 17, 2009, BCE Inc. received acceptance from 
the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSX) of its Notice of Intention to 
Make a Normal Course Issuer Bid (Notice of Intention). The 
filing of this notice allows BCE Inc. to repurchase for cancel-
lation, from December 29, 2009 to December 28, 2010, up to 
20,000,000 of its common shares (subject to a maximum 
aggregate purchase price of $500 million), representing 
approximately 2.6% of BCE Inc.’s 767,166,281 issued and out-
standing common shares as of December 11, 2009. Purchases 
may be made through the facilities of the TSX and/or the 
New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) or by such other means as 
may be permitted by the TSX and/or the NYSE, and under 
applicable laws, including pre-arranged crosses, exempt 
offers, private agree ments under an issuer bid exemption 
order issued by a securities regulatory authority and block 
purchases in accordance with the applicable regulations of 
the TSX. In the event that BCE Inc. purchases common shares 
by pre-arranged crosses, exempt offers or private agreements, 
the purchase price of the common shares may be different 
than the market price of the common shares at the time of 
the acquisition. A copy of the Notice of Intention is available 
on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and on EDGAR at www.sec.gov. 
You can also obtain a copy on request without charge from 
BCE Inc.’s Investor Relations group.



SHAREHOLDER SERVICES

DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT AND STOCK PURCHASE PLAN

This plan provides a convenient method for eligible holders of 
common shares to reinvest their dividends and make optional 
cash contributions to purchase additional common shares 
without brokerage costs.

DIVIDEND DIRECT DEPOSIT SERVICE

Avoid postal delays and trips to the bank by joining the  
dividend direct deposit service.

E-DELIVERY SERVICE

Enrol in our e-delivery service to receive the proxy material, 
the annual report and/or quarterly documents by e-mail. By 
doing so, you will receive your documents faster and in an 
environmentally friendly manner while helping your company 
reduce printing and postage costs.

MANAGE YOUR SHAREHOLDER ACCOUNT

Enrol in Investor Centre on www.computershare.com and 
benefit from a wide variety of self-service tools to help track 
and manage your shares.

DUPLICATE MAILINGS

Help us control costs and eliminate duplicate mailings by 
consolidating your accounts.

For more details on any of these services, registered share-
holders (shares are registered under your name) must con-
tact the transfer agent. Non-registered shareholders must 
contact their brokers.

Cert no. SGS-COC-005437

PRINTED IN CANADA

CONTACT INFORMATION 

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

For information on shareholder services or any other inquiries 
regarding your account (including stock transfer, address 
change, lost certificates and tax forms), contact:

Computershare Trust Company of Canada
9th Floor, 100 University Avenue
Toronto, Ontario  M5J 2Y1

e-mail bce@computershare.com
tel 514 982-7555 or 1 800 561-0934
 (toll free in Canada and the U.S.)
fax  416 263-9394 or 1 888 453-0330
 (toll free in Canada and the U.S.) or visit their
 website at www.computershare.com.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Building A, 6th Floor 
1 Carrefour Alexander-Graham-Bell  
Verdun, Québec  H3E 3B3

e-mail investor.relations@bce.ca
tel 1 800 339-6353
fax 514 786-3970
 or visit the Investors section on our website
 at www.bce.ca.

Trademarks: The following is a list of all our trademarks referred to and used as 
such in this annual report. Aliant is a trademark of Bell Aliant Regional Communi-
cations, Limited Partnership; BCE is a trademark of BCE Inc.; Bell, Bell Canada, Bell 
Home phone, Bell Internet, Bell Mobility, Bell TV, Fibe and It’s ON are trademarks 
of Bell Canada; Solo is a trademark of Bell Mobility Inc.; The Source is a trademark 
of The Source (Bell) Electronics Inc.; Virgin Mobile is a trademark of Virgin Enter-
prises Limited. 

We believe that our trademarks and domain names are very important to our 
success. Our exclusive trademark rights are perpetual provided that their regis-
trations are timely renewed and that the trademarks are used in commerce by us 
or our licensees. We take appropriate measures to protect, renew and defend our 
trademarks. We also spend considerable time and resources overseeing, register-
ing, renewing, licensing and protecting our trademarks and domain names and 
prosecuting those who infringe on them. We take great care not to infringe on the 
intellectual property and trademarks of others. Any other trademarks, or corpo-
rate, trade or domain names used in this report are the property of their owners, 
including the following. Apple and iPhone are trademarks of Apple Inc., registered 
in the U.S. and other countries. BlackBerry and related trademarks, names and 
logos are the property of Research In Motion Limited and are registered and/or 
used in the U.S. and countries around the world – used under licence from  
Research In Motion Limited.

Cette publication est disponible en français. BCE’s annual report is printed with 
vegetable-based ink and is recyclable.

 © Bell Canada, 2010. All rights reserved.
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